
 

Extraordinary 

Council 

 

Title: Agenda 

Date: Tuesday 22 November 2016 

Time: 6.00 pm 

Venue: Council Chamber  
District Offices  

College Heath Road  
Mildenhall 

Membership: All Councillors 
 
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council 

to transact the business on the agenda set out below. 

 
Ian Gallin 
Chief Executive 
14 November 2016 

 

Quorum One quarter of the total number of Members 

Committee 
administrator: 

Helen Hardinge 
Democratic Services Advisor 

Tel: 01638 719363 
Email: helen.hardinge@westsuffolk.gov.uk 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Public Information 
 

Venue: District Offices 

College Heath Road 

Mildenhall  

Suffolk, IP28 7EY 

Tel: 01638 719000 

Email: democratic.services@ 

westsuffolk.gov.uk  

Web: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk 

Access to 

agenda and 

reports before 

the meeting: 

Copies of the agenda and reports are open for public inspection 

at the above address at least five clear days before the 

meeting. They are also available to view on our website. 

 

Attendance at 

meetings: 

The District Council actively welcomes members of the public 

and the press to attend its meetings and holds as many of its 

meetings as possible in public. 

 

Public 

speaking: 

At ordinary meetings of the Council, members of the public who 

live or work in the District may put questions about the work of 

the Council to members of the Cabinet or any Committee. 30 

minutes will be set aside for this. 30 minutes will also be set 

aside for questions at extraordinary meetings of the Council, 

but must be limited to the business to be transacted at that 

meeting. 

 

A person who wishes to speak must register at least fifteen 

minutes before the time the meeting is scheduled to start.  This 

can be done by sending the request to 

democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or by telephoning 

01638 719363 or in person by telling the Committee 

Administrator present at the meeting. 

 

Written questions, detailing the full question to be asked, may 

be submitted by members of the public to the Service Manager 

(Legal and Democratic Services) no later than 10.00am on the 

previous working day to the meeting of the Council. 

Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

Tel: 01638 719363 

 

Disabled 

access: 

The public gallery is on the first floor and is accessible via 

stairs. There is not a lift but disabled seating is available at the 

back of the Council Chamber on the ground floor. Please see 

the Committee Administrator who will be able to help you. 

 

 



 
 

   
 

Induction 

loop: 

An Induction loop operates to enhance sound for anyone 

wearing a hearing aid or using a transmitter.   

 

Recording of 

meetings: 

The Council may record this meeting and permits members of 

the public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the 

media and public are not lawfully excluded). 

 

Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to 

being filmed should advise the Committee Administrator who 

will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 

 
 

 

 



 Agenda 

 

 

 Procedural Matters  

  

Part 1 - Public 
 

            Page No 

1.   Apologies for Absence  

 

 

2.   Declarations of Interest  

 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 

disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 

sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a disclosable 

pecuniary interest. 
 

 

3.   Public Participation  

 Council Procedure Rule 6 Members of the public who live or 
work in the District are invited to put one question of not more 

than five minutes duration.  A person who wishes to speak must 
register at least fifteen minutes before the time the meeting is 
scheduled to start.* 

 
(Note: the maximum time to be set aside for this item is 30 

minutes, but if all questions are dealt with sooner, or if there are 
no questions, the Council will proceed to the next business.) 
 

Each person may ask one question only.  A total of five minutes 
will be allowed for the question to be put and answered.  

One further question will be allowed arising directly from the 
reply provided that the original time limit of five minutes is 
not exceeded. 

 
Written questions may be submitted by members of the pubic 

to the Service Manager (Legal and Democratic Services) no later 
than 10.00am on Monday 21 November 2016.  The written 
notification should detail the full question to be asked at the 

meeting of the Council.* 
 

*For further information, see the Public Information Sheet 
attached to this agenda. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 

   
 

4.   Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Agreement 1 - 36 

 Report No: COU/FH/16/023 

 
This report contains an attachment “Contents of Draft Norfolk 
and Suffolk Combined Authority”. This is not the Statutory 

Instrument but explains the content of the Statutory Instrument. 
 

The actual Statutory Instrument which will be laid before 
Parliament by the Secretary of State, which creates the 
Combined Authority and sets out the legal functions, in legal 

terms, that will be devolved is still being finalised by Government 
lawyers.  We anticipate this will be available to circulate to 

Members on Tuesday 15 November 2016. 
 

 

5.   RAF Mildenhall Vision and Prospectus 37 - 226 

 Report No: COU/FH/16/024 
 

 

6.   Community Governance Review 227 - 230 

 Report No: COU/FH/16/025 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



COU.FH.16.023 

Extraordinary 
Council  

 
Title of Report: Norfolk and Suffolk 

Devolution Agreement   

Report No: COU/FH/16/023 

Report to and 
date/s: 

Forest Heath 
District Council 

 

22 November 2016 

Portfolio holder: Councillor James Waters 

Tel: 01638 719324  
Email: james.waters@forest-heath.gov.uk  
 

Lead officer: Ian Gallin 
Chief Executive  

Tel: 01284 757001 
Email: ian.gallin@westsuffolk.gov.uk  

 

Purpose of report: 1. This report follows discussion at Council on 29 June 

2016 of the report: ‘East Anglia Devolution: Norfolk 
and Suffolk Devolution Proposal’.  The minutes of 
that meeting highlight that Council decided to: 

“endorse signing of the Norfolk and Suffolk 
Devolution Agreement by the Leader and support 

the publication of a draft Scheme to create a Norfolk 
and Suffolk Mayoral Combined Authority for 
consultation.” This decision was subsequently 

endorsed and agreed by Cabinet.  
 

2. It provides: a summary of the consultation 
responses; updates on the devolution process and a 
summary of a draft statutory order to establish a 

Mayoral Combined Authority for Norfolk and Suffolk 
with the content of the draft order attached at 

appendix A for the Council’s consideration. The 
actual Statutory Instrument which will be laid before 
parliament by the Secretary of State, which creates 

the Combined Authority and sets out the legal 
functions, in legal terms, that will be devolved is still 

being finalised by Government lawyers. We 
anticipate this will be available to circulate to 
Members on Tuesday 15 November 2016. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4

mailto:james.waters@forest-heath.gov.uk
mailto:ian.gallin@westsuffolk.gov.uk


COU.FH.16.023 

  

3. In order to realise the benefits associated with 
Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal and maximise 
potential for future devolution deals, this report asks 

the Council to consent to being included in an Order 
that will be laid before Parliament by the Secretary 

of State for Communities and Local Government, to 
create a Norfolk and Suffolk Mayoral Combined 
Authority that will receive devolved powers and 

funding.  As this is an Executive Decision, the 
recommendations of Council will be formally agreed 

by Cabinet immediately following the Council 
meeting. 
 

Recommendation: It is recommended that: 
1. That, on the basis of the earlier Governance 

Review (Appendix B to the 29 June Council 
papers), Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

and the results of the consultation, the Authority 
continues to conclude that the establishment of 
a Mayoral Combined Authority for Norfolk and 

Suffolk is the option which most fully permits 
the effective discharge of the functions that 

Government is prepared to devolve to this area.  
 

2. That the Council authorises the Chief Executive 

to consent to the Council being included in an 
Order that will be laid before Parliament by the 

Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government to create the Norfolk and Suffolk 
Combined Authority, such Order to: 

 establish a Norfolk and Suffolk Combined 
Authority and specify the high level 

constitutional arrangements; 
 confer functions on the Norfolk and Suffolk 

Combined Authority; and 
 specify those functions exercisable by the 

Mayor. 

 
3. In the event that any minor drafting changes are 

required to reflect legislative requirements and 
the contents of the Deal Agreement, authority is 
delegated to the Chief Executive, in consultation 

with the Leader and agreement with the other 
Chief Executives/Managing Directors of the 

Constituent Councils across Norfolk and Suffolk 
to make the necessary changes to the Order. 
 

4. That further reports are presented to the 
Authority, as appropriate, as the Devolution 

process progresses.   
 

Page 2



COU.FH.16.023 

Note for 

Recommendation: 

1. In order to create a Mayoral Combined Authority for 

Norfolk and Suffolk, there is a legislative 
requirement for Authorities proposing to participate 
in that Mayoral Combined Authority to consent to 

being included an Order to be laid before Parliament 
for the establishment of the Mayoral Combined 

Authority.  
 

2. The Secretary of State has indicated his preliminary 

view that the creation of a Mayoral Combined 
Authority for Norfolk and Suffolk meets the statutory 

test to: “improve the exercise of the statutory 
functions in the area”. In addition, the Secretary of 
State will have considered the evidence in the 

Governance Review (discussed as part of the June 
council debates) that the proposed areas of Norfolk 

and Suffolk represent a functional economic area as 
well as the outputs from the consultation and any 
other representations.  

 
3. If the Authorities do not consent to the Order, it will 

not be laid before Parliament, the Mayoral Combined 
Authority will not be established and the Norfolk and 
Suffolk Devolution Deal will no longer stand. The 

opportunities to: develop the benefits of the 
devolution process, access additional funding offered 

in the Deal and establish greater local determination 
over policy and spending priorities will no longer be 

available.  
 

Key Decision: 
 
(Check the appropriate 
box and delete all those 
that do not apply.) 

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which 

definition? 
Yes, it is a Key Decision - ☒ 

No, it is not a Key Decision - ☐ 

 
(a) A key decision means an executive decision 

which, pending any further guidance from the 
Secretary of State, is likely to:  

 
(i) be significant in terms of its effects on 

communities living or working in an area in the 
Borough/District; or 

 

(ii) result in any new expenditure, income or 
savings of more than £50,000 in relation to the 

Council’s revenue budget or capital programme; 
 

Page 3



COU.FH.16.023 

  

(iii) comprise or include the making, approval or 
publication of a draft or final scheme which may 
require, either directly or in the event of 

objections, the approval of a Minister of the 
Crown. 

 
(b) A decision taker may only make a key decision 

in accordance with the requirements of the 

Executive procedure rules set out in Part 4 of 
this [the] Constitution. 

 
(See Report No: CAB/FH/16/051 to Extraordinary 
Cabinet: 22 November 2016) 

 

The decisions made as a result of this report will usually be published within 

48 hours and cannot be actioned until five clear working days of the 
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is included on the 

Decisions Plan. 

Consultation: See main body of report. 

 

Alternative option(s): 1. That the Authority supports the 

recommendations in the report and gives 
consent to being included in the draft 
Order being laid before Parliament, 

triggering the Parliamentary process 
required for creating a Mayoral Combined 

Authority that is part of the Norfolk and 
Suffolk Devolution Deal.    
 

2. Alternatively, the Authority could decide 
not to give consent to the draft Order 

being laid before Parliament.      

Implications:  

Are there any financial implications? 
If yes, please give details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

Are there any staffing implications? 
If yes, please give details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

 

Are there any ICT implications? If 

yes, please give details 

Yes ☐    No ☒ 

Are there any legal and/or policy 

implications? If yes, please give 
details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

  

Are there any equality implications? 
If yes, please give details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

Page 4



COU.FH.16.023 

Risk/opportunity assessment: (potential hazards or opportunities 

affecting corporate, service or project 
objectives) 
  

Councils, organisations, residents and 
businesses in Suffolk and Norfolk will 

all be affected by the decision  

Ward(s) affected:  All 

Background papers: 
(all background papers are to be 

published on the website and a link 
included) 

Sources of further information: 
1. Report(s) to Council: 

 FHDC Extraordinary Council 16 
September 2015 “ Devolution in 
Suffolk” 

 FHDC Council 29 June 2016 
“Norfolk & Suffolk Devolution 

Agreement” 
2. Equality Assessment Phase 1 – 

Findings and Recommendations 

3. The Norfolk and Suffolk 
Devolution Deal Agreement  

4. The Norfolk and Suffolk 
Governance Review 

5. The Norfolk and Suffolk Scheme 

of Governance 
6. Cities and Local Government 

Devolution Act 
7. East Anglia Devolution website 

https://eastangliadevo.co.uk/  

Documents attached: Appendix A - Contents of Draft 
Norfolk and Suffolk Combined 

Authority Order   
 

Appendix B – Letter of support from 
businesses together with list of 
signatories 

 
 

 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 The Norfolk and Suffolk Deal 
 
1.2 The Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal is an ambitious first step in 

securing greater local autonomy, accountability and control over new and 
existing centrally held powers and funding. It offers the opportunity for a 

step change in the relationship with Government and having local 
certainty and control over resources that will help local people, places and 
businesses reach their full potential.  

 

Page 5

https://eastangliadevo.co.uk/


COU.FH.16.023 

1.3 Key elements of the Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal include:  
 

 £25 million a year of new money for the next 30 years (£750 million) to 

support economic growth, development of local infrastructure & jobs. 

40% (£10m) of this can be used to borrow in the order of £100 - £150 

million to invest in growth, housing and jobs. 

 £100 million over five years of new money to support the building of 

new homes across Norfolk and Suffolk. Recognising the housing market 

conditions in Norwich and Ipswich, Government will also provide the 

Combined Authority with an additional £30 million over five years, split 

equally for Norwich and Ipswich Borough, to meet its housing needs  

 A guaranteed £225 million annual transport budget until 2021  

 Control of an existing c£20 million a year adult skills funding to ensure 

the training offer matches the needs of local businesses and the local 

labour market. 

 Control of an existing c£2 million Apprenticeship Grant for Employers 

(AGE grant) to enable funding to better meet the needs of local Norfolk 

and Suffolk employers  

 Greater control over who delivers transport services in Norfolk and 

Suffolk and how, rather than it being imposed on us by Central 

Government  

 More control and influence over investment in key roads across Norfolk 

and Suffolk, so that local priorities and concerns can be met  

 A commitment that relevant authorities and partners take a Norfolk and 

Suffolk wide approach to flood & coastal risk management to reflect local 

priorities, get more for our money and ensure problems aren’t just 

shifted from one area to another.  

 A commitment that local authorities work to improve the planning 

process for residents and businesses  

 

1.4 The full Deal document was included in the papers of the 29 June Full 
Council discussion and is also available on the East Anglia devolution 

website: https://www.eastangliadevo.co.uk/ 
 

1.5 This Deal is underpinned by the expectation that it is a beginning of an 

ongoing dialogue with Government and therefore, the first, economically 
focussed deal that lays the foundation for further negotiation. This is 

similar to the way that Greater Manchester has negotiated four devolution 
deals covering a wide range of issues including criminal justice and health 
and care.  

 
1.6 In addition, the principle of subsidiarity (decisions being taken closest to 

where they have most effect) is embedded in the Deal. This is intended to 
ensure that the strategic focus of the Mayoral Combined Authority and 
Devolution Deal is grounded in local places and therefore, delivering 

what’s best for local people.  
 

Page 6

https://www.eastangliadevo.co.uk/


COU.FH.16.023 

1.7 It will be delivered through double devolution so that implementation on 
the ground is delivered by the relevant existing local authority and, given 

the connectivity across organisational boundaries in and beyond Norfolk 
and Suffolk, working with national and local partners as appropriate.  

 
1.8 Not simply a ‘top down’ approach, double devolution means that as 

constituent members of the Mayoral Combined Authority, local leaders will 

influence and make decisions as part of the Authority; therefore, enabling 
local perspectives to be reflected at that strategic level.  

 
2. The Devolution Process 
 

2.1 There is a statutory process that needs to be followed to establish a 
Mayoral Combined Authority in accordance with the Cities and Local 

Government Devolution Act 2016.  
 

2.2 Accordingly, the Devolution Deal, Governance Review and draft 

Governance Scheme for Norfolk and Suffolk were considered by 
authorities across Norfolk and Suffolk at their June Full Council meetings. 

Consequently, all councils across Norfolk and Suffolk debated whether to 
endorse the deal and consult the public and other stakeholders on the 

devolution proposals that include establishing a Combined Authority and 
directly elected Mayor.  
 

2.3 All Suffolk local authorities and four Norfolk local authorities (Broadland, 
District Council, King’s Lynn and West Norfolk Borough Council, Norfolk 

County Council and South Norfolk District Council) endorsed the proposals 
and agreed to go to consultation. Breckland District Council, Great 
Yarmouth Borough Council, North Norfolk District Council and Norwich 

City Council did not endorse the proposals and therefore, are no longer 
part of the process to establish the Mayoral Combined Authority.  

 
2.4 Discussions with the Secretary of State have confirmed that once the 

Combined Authority has been formally established these four districts are 

able to apply to join the Combined Authority should they so wish.  In the 
event that this is agreed, it is open to the Combined Authority to admit 

one or more of these councils as ‘non-constituent members’ and although 
voting rights cannot be conferred by the Secretary of State through the 
Order, the Combined Authority can confer the right to fully participate as 

voting members of the CA subject to agreeing to contribute to costs and 
to the other provisions agreed by the existing constituent authorities. 

 
2.5 Consultation forms part of the statutory process to establish a Combined 

Authority. It is evidence that the Secretary of State will consider when 

deciding whether the governance proposals meet the statutory test, which 
is to: “improve the exercise of statutory functions in the area”. (Cities and 

Local Government Devolution Act 2016 section 14 8) (1)).  
 

2.6 The Norfolk and Suffolk consultation closed on 23 August and a summary 

of the results was returned to the Secretary of State on 9 September. This 
summary and accompanying data are available on the East Anglia 

devolution web site: (https://www.eastangliadevo.co.uk/ ). The 

Page 7

https://www.eastangliadevo.co.uk/


COU.FH.16.023 

presentation slides from the Ipsos mori survey and a video of the Ben 
Page presentation are also available on the web site. Further details on 

the outcomes of the consultation are covered in the ‘Outcomes of 
consultation across Norfolk and Suffolk’ section below.  

 
2.7 During this time, as a result of the EU Referendum outcome, there were 

significant changes in Government with a new Prime Minister, Chancellor 

and Cabinet. Consequently, the Rt Hon. Sajid Javid MP replaced Rt Hon 
Greg Clark MP as the new Secretary of State for Communities and Local 

Government: The Secretary of State has visited Norfolk & Suffolk and met 
with the Council Leaders.  Whilst in Norwich he emphasised that the 
Norfolk & Suffolk agreement is a very good deal and a first step with more 

to come (in subsequent ‘deals’).  However, he was also very clear in his 
view that in the event that the agreement is not endorsed by the Councils 

“the money will be switched to another part of the country and that there 
will be no second chance” (to come back to the table). 
 

2.8 There has been no change in the advice from DCLG since the referendum 
and machinery of Government changes. Both officials and Ministers have 

clearly indicated continued support for devolution and enthusiasm to 
complete the Norfolk-Suffolk devolution deal. This is supported by the 

Prime Minister’s answer to Suffolk MP James Cartlidge at a recent Prime 
Minister’s Questions: “The point about devolution deals is people coming 
together with that ambition for their local area to generate the 

transformative investment he talks about” (Hansard 12 October 2016).  
 

2.9 In early September a strong message was sent to the North East 
Combined Authority where a majority of members voted against the 
devolution deal and DCLG swiftly withdrew the devolution offer. Other 

devolution deals continue to progress with DCLG recently announcing the 
first transfer of £15 million to Tees Valley as part of the Deal signed in 

October 2015. The press release (29 September 2016) announcing the 
deal referenced the North East: “Earlier this month council leaders in the 
North East walked away from a similar deal which would have brought 

significant benefits to local people.” 
 

3. Outcomes of consultation across Norfolk and Suffolk 
 
3.1 As previously highlighted, in order to comply with the statutory process 

for establishing a Combined Authority it is necessary to consult on the 
draft Scheme of Governance (attached to the 29 June Full Council 

papers). As this was the first opportunity to test support for the Norfolk 
and Suffolk devolution deal, there has been substantial engagement and 
consultation conducted across Norfolk and Suffolk to raise awareness and 

gather views from: statutory and non-statutory partners, the public and 
businesses. A number of mechanisms were used to gather views 

primarily:  
 Telephone Survey 

 Online Consultation 

 Business Survey 

 Engagement with key stakeholders 

Page 8



COU.FH.16.023 

 Leaflet to all Norfolk residents 

 

3.2 Further to Suffolk County Council’s discussion on 30 June, a question was 

added into the telephone and online surveys to include: “a clear and 
dedicated question to the consultees asking whether they support the 
establishment of a Directly Elected Mayor” (Suffolk County Council 

Confirmed minutes). The full results and supporting data are available on 
the East Anglia devolution website.  

 
3.3 In accordance with the statutory process, the consultation forms part of 

the evidence, along with the Governance Review and draft Governance 

Scheme (appendix B and appendix C to the 29 June Council papers) for 
the Secretary of State’s decision as to whether the proposal for a Norfolk 

and Suffolk Mayoral Combined Authority meets the statutory test to: 
“improve the exercise of statutory functions in the area” (Cities and Local 

Government Devolution Act 2016 section 105B 1) b)).  
 

3.4 In addition, it provides local councillors with additional information on how 

devolution and the creation of a Norfolk and Suffolk Mayoral Combined 
Authority are viewed. There was overall support for more local control 

over decision making. Businesses were particularly supportive of the 
opportunities the Deal would offer to the local economy.  
 

3.5 There were more mixed views on the proposed directly elected Mayor: 
52% in favour and 16% opposed (telephone survey); 29% in favour and 

62% opposed (online survey) and 47% in favour and 27% opposed 
(business survey). However, as highlighted in the report to Council in 
June, Government has been clear that without a Mayor any devolution 

deal would be much smaller in range and value and therefore, would not 
deliver the Norfolk and Suffolk’s ambition. Paragraphs 3.8 – 3.11.2 

provide a more detailed summary of the consultation results. 
 

3.6 The content of the draft Order is attached as appendix A and summarised 

in paragraphs 4.1 – 4.7 below. Taking into account that whilst many 
support devolution, there is also local concern at creating a directly 

elected Mayor for Norfolk and Suffolk, the Orders have been drafted to 
reflect this so that decision making is accountable and transparent. 
 

3.7 An overview of the results from each consultation approach is described 
below and full data can be accessed on the East Anglia devolution 

website: https://www.eastangliadevo.co.uk/   
 

3.8 Telephone Survey 

 
3.8.1 During the Summer a representative telephone survey was undertaken by 

Ipsos Mori which consisted of a 10 minute phone survey of 6,080 
residents aged 18+ across Norfolk and Suffolk. The interviews were 
carried out between 13 July and 22 August 2016. To ensure statistical 

robustness residents were selected from different age ranges, gender, 
employment status, ethnicity, tenure and disability. 

 

Page 9

https://www.eastangliadevo.co.uk/


COU.FH.16.023 

3.8.2 There were a total of 6,080 responses. This included those Norfolk areas 
that did not endorse the Deal in order to give a representative sample 

across the whole area, with: 1528 from Norfolk and 1392 from Suffolk A 
summary of the results is below:  

 
a) 53% supported the principle of devolution while 16% opposed 
b) There was strong support for more decisions to be taken locally 

across a range of issues with most support being shown for decisions 
about roads maintenance (85%), a new housing strategy (82%), 

creating a transport plan (77%) and development of new homes 
(75%).  

c) There was 52% support for a Mayor and 58% support for councils to 

come together as a Combined Authority.  
d) 29% opposed election of a Mayor and 25% opposed establishing a 

Combined Authority. 
 

3.9 Online Consultation 

 
3.9.1 An online survey was accessible from the East Anglia devolution web site. 

The questions in the online survey mirrored the telephone survey for 
consistency; however, as it is a self-selecting sample, the responses are 

not a statistically representative sample unlike the telephone survey. 2,925 
responses were received. A summary of the results is below:  
 

a) 51% supported the principle of devolution while 39% expressed they 
opposed this.  

 
b) There was strong support for more decisions to be taken locally across a 

range of issues with most support being shown for decisions about roads 

maintenance (75%), developing a new housing strategy (71%), 
development of new homes (70%) and creating a transport plan (65%). 

 

c) There was 27% support for a Mayor and 35% support for councils to 
come together as a Combined Authority.  

 

d) 62% opposed election of a Mayor and 54% opposed establishing a 

Combined Authority 

 

 

3.10 Business Survey 

 

3.10.1 Ipsos MORI conducted a telephone survey of 252 businesses across Norfolk 

(124) and Suffolk (128). Interviews were conducted between 8 and 21 
August 2016. In order for the sample to broadly reflect the business 

populations of Norfolk and Suffolk, loose quotas were set on business size 
(micro (1 to 10 employees) to large (over 250 employees)). The business 
sample also aimed to broadly reflect the makeup of industry sectors in 

Norfolk and Suffolk. A summary of results is below:  

Page 10



COU.FH.16.023 

a) 54% supported the principle of devolution while 12% opposed it.  

b) Strong support for more decisions to be taken locally across a range of 

issues with decisions relating to road maintenance funding coming out 

on top.  

c) 59% supported councils joining together as a Combined Authority  

d) From the business telephone survey: 47% were supportive of a 

mayor, with 27% opposed. 

3.10.2 In addition to the survey, there have been a number of engagements with 

the business community that signalled significant support. Over 80 

businesses who together represent more than 80,000 employees with an 

annual turnover of £8bn, lent their support to a letter from the LEP and the 

Norfolk and Suffolk Chambers of Commerce to the chair of the East Anglia 

Leaders’ Group. It included the following statement (for reference, the full 

letter is attached as appendix B): 

 
‘The devolution deal will help us deliver many more of the crucial projects 
we need to support our economic growth, improving infrastructure from 

road and rail links to high speed broadband and mobile coverage, offering 
funding and advice to support business, and empowering the next 

generation with the skills to drive our economy’  
 

3.10.3 In addition to this, individual letters of support have also been sent by 

business representative groups such as the Confederation of British Industry 
and Federation of Small Businesses as well as national businesses such as 

Persimmon Homes and PWC. 
 

3.11 Engagement with key Stakeholders:  
 

3.11.1 There was also engagement with stakeholder groups to raise awareness of 

the Devolution Deal and associated consultation. This included Town and 
Parish council meetings as well as events with Voluntary and Community 

Sector organisations. There were also expressions of support for devolution 
from: higher and further education institutions and representatives from 
health.  

 
3.11.2 More recently (since the consultation closed), MPs from across Norfolk and 

Suffolk were co-signatories to an open letter to the media highlighting the 
benefits and ambition associated with the Devolution Deal and supporting 
its implementation locally.  

 
4. Summary of the draft Order 

 
4.1 The content of the draft Order is attached as appendix A. This section 

provides an overview of the key principles underpinning the Norfolk and 

Suffolk approach to establishing a Mayoral Combined Authority that are 
reflected in the draft Order. As previously highlighted, the Order is part of the 

Page 11



COU.FH.16.023 

statutory process for establishing a Combined Authority and will be subject to 
Parliamentary process and scrutiny.  

 
4.2 The Order reflects the draft Governance Scheme consulted on during the 

Summer as well as the Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal content. 
However, it will be for the Combined Authority locally, to agree its 
constitution, which will be included in the business of the Authority’s first 

meeting when established in March 2017 and developed whilst the Combined 
Authority is in shadow form.  

 
4.3 The Order specifies the constituent members of the Combined Authority (the 

twelve Norfolk and Suffolk authorities that consulted on the Scheme) and a 

non-constituent member, New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership.  
 

4.4 It sets out the specific functions to be devolved to the Mayor and the 
Combined Authority upon creation of the Combined Authority. Further powers 
will be conferred through subsequent orders if the Combined Authority and 

the Government agree.  
 

4.5 Once elected, the Mayor will chair and be a voting Member of the Combined 
Authority but will not have a casting vote. There will be Mayoral elections 

every four years.  
 

4.6 The following will require unanimous agreement of the Members of the 

Combined Authority: 
 

 Borrowing limits, treasury management, investment strategy 

 Constitution, standing orers and changes thereto 

 Establishment of committees/boards, Overview & Scrutiny Committee and 

Audit Committee, terms of reference and composition 

 Spatial plan 

 Proposals to Secretary of State for additional powers 

 Appointment and dismissal of statutory officers 

 Approval of the making of arrangements for the exercise of functions of 

the Combined Authority 

 Appointment of members drawn otherwise than from the elected 

members of the constituent councils or conferral of voting rights on such 

members; and  

 Review or changes the membership, geography, constitution, remit of the 

Combined Authority.  

4.7 Paragraphs 4.1 – 4.6 highlight the principles and approach to decision 

making; however, more detail will be provided in the Combined Authority’s 

constitution. 

Page 12



COU.FH.16.023 

 

5. Resource Implications (Finances, Staffing, Property, IT)   

 
5.1 Leaders have been clear that costs should be kept to a minimum.  There 

will be upfront costs; although this will be superseded by the level of 

funding that the Devolution Deal will generate. The costs would be 
minimised by maximising existing resources, for example, use of existing 

buildings and ‘back office’ systems, with opportunity to minimise duplication 
across the authorities. Existing Combined Authorities have tended to evolve 
with staffing secured by a combination of:  

 
 Recruitment to posts employed directly by the Combined Authority 

 Transfer to posts employed directly by the Combined Authority 

 Secondment (e.g. to directly-employed posts or to a team hosted by a 

lead authority) 

 Job share (e.g. to directly-employed posts or to a team hosted by a lead 

authority) 

 Service Level Agreement 

 Commissioning support from member authorities 

5.2 For most Combined Authorities costs have been minimised by existing 

senior staff taking on the statutory posts required for a Combined Authority 

(Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer). 

Similarly, the Mayoral elections will be run on the same day as existing local 

elections in order to reduce the associated running costs. 

 

5.3 Of the funding available in the Deal, the £25 million a year for 30 years 

single investment pot is entirely new and additional funding that would not 

otherwise be allocated to Norfolk and Suffolk.  

 

5.4 The £30 million housing for Norwich and Ipswich Borough is also entirely 

new and as is the £100 million capital funding for housing across the 

Combined Authority area.  

 
5.5 Control over the Adult Skills Budget is new; therefore, whilst some of that 

money would have been spent in the area all of that budget (approximately, 

£20 million) will be spent in Norfolk and Suffolk as considered most locally 

appropriate from 2018-19. The same rationale also applies to the 

Apprenticeship Grant for Employers (approximately, £2 million).  

 
5.6 The strategic transport budget (approximately £225 million across Norfolk 

and Suffolk over four years) would normally be allocated on an annual basis 

to highways authorities. Therefore, although it is funding that is currently 

Page 13



COU.FH.16.023 

received by the area, the Deal provides longer term security over four 

years, enabling better planning for its use.  

 

5.7 In terms of additional leverage, it will, for example, be possible for the 

Combined Authority to use £10 million of the £25 million to support 

borrowing of up to £150 million to invest in growth, housing and jobs. 

 
5.8 Legally, the costs of the mayor are met by the Constituent Authorities. 

From 2018/19 these costs can be met from precepts issued by the 

Combined Authority. However, to minimise any call on the constituent 

authorities, the Combined Authority’s draft Order states that in the first 

three years, the Mayoral costs may be met by a loan from each of the 

Constituent Authorities (pro rata to population) to the Combined Authority, 

that is repayable on the third anniversary of the Mayoral election.  

 

5.9 It also establishes the expectation that the benefit derived from investment 

of the single investment pot will outweigh the Mayoral costs. It is clear that 

the Combined Authority is not permitted to dip into the single pot money 

directly to cover the mayoral budget (although some authorities have 

proposed using a share of the fund to help resource the Combined 

Authority). However, the financial benefits that will be generated by the 

Deal (such as the additional single investment pot) will be substantially 

greater than the mayoral costs. 

 
6. Issues and Risks 
 

6.1 Devolving powers from central government to a new Combined Authority is 
not without potential negative implications and perspectives. These are 

summarised below with corresponding proposals to mitigate: 
 

6.1.1 The Combined Authority will add an additional layer of bureaucracy. It will 

exist alongside County, District and Parish Councils.  
 

Councils are committed to ensuring that the Combined Authority makes use 
of existing staff and systems and decisions will be made by the existing 
council leaders working together with a mayor and the LEP.  There will be 

no election of additional councillors to the combined authority and the 
principle of subsidiarity will mean that delivery occurs at the lowest possible 

level.  
 

6.1.2 Higher overall cost of local government to the tax payer, through creating 

an additional local government organisation that will require staffing, 
premises, etc 

 
Councils are committed to ensuring that the running costs of the Combined 
Authority should not add to the cost of local government in Norfolk and 

Suffolk. Although there will be some transitional costs there are also 
efficiencies that are expected to be achieved. 

 

Page 14



COU.FH.16.023 

6.1.3 The unsuitability of a mayoral model for a rural area because of multiple 
centres of economic activity, multiple identities and complex two-tier 

arrangements. 
 

The government’s pre-requisite for the devolution of significant new powers 
and taxpayers’ money is for a corresponding increase in local accountability 
through a directly elected Mayor. 

 
6.1.4 The loss of historic boundaries and roles 

 
Existing councils and existing ceremonial roles, such as Lord Mayors, will 
continue unchanged.  

 
An elected mayor is an appointed local government executive leader, 

directly elected by the people. A Lord Mayor or civic mayor is a 
ceremonial/civic representative with no formal powers. These are 
traditionally elected by a town, borough or city councils. These will not be 

replaced by the CA mayor. 
 

6.1.5 The loss of individual council authority and power through ceding power to 
the Combined Authority 

 
Individual councils will retain their own individuality and sovereignty. The 
services local councils provide will remain the same. For example if 

Broadland District Council is responsible for collecting your bins, Broadland 
District Council will continue to collect your bins. Furthermore if you pay 

your business rates to Ipswich Borough Council then you will continue to 
pay your business rates to Ipswich Borough Council. 
 

Furthermore the elected leaders of each council will continue to fulfil their 
designated roles and will remain accountable in the normal democratic way, 

through local council elections. 
 

6.1.6 A democratic deficit unrepresentative of the area as a whole because the 

Combined Authority is not required to be politically proportionate 
 

Whilst the Board of the Combined Authority will comprise a member from 
each of the constituent councils, membership of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee does have to reflect representation across the whole of the area. 

 
As the Norfolk and Suffolk CA is about collaborating on strategic policy the 

key is to be able to work together for the benefit across the region as a 
whole and this will require consensus.   

 

7. Conclusion 
 

7.1 Having considered the evidence of the Governance Review and the results 
of the consultation as well as the potential opportunities offered by the 
Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal, the Secretary of State has decided that 

creating a Mayoral Combined Authority for Norfolk and Suffolk meets the 
statutory test to: “improve the exercise of statutory functions in the area”.  

Page 15



COU.FH.16.023 

 
7.2 Consequently, an Order has been drafted to enable creation of the Norfolk 

and Suffolk Mayoral Combined Authority, with the intention for it to begin 
on 1 March 2017 with election for the directly elected Mayor on 4 May 2017 

(to coincide with the County Council elections). This is summarised in the 
summary of the draft Order section and the content of which is attached  at 
Appendix A  

 
7.3 The Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal on offer is described as a 

“generational opportunity to accelerate growth in the local and national 
economy whilst improving the life chances and quality of life for every 
resident in Norfolk and Suffolk” (Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal). Bold 

and ambitious, it is considered the start of an ongoing dialogue with 
Government for further devolution deals to gain greater local autonomy and 

support a thriving economy and thriving local people and places. 
 

7.4 The Council is recommended to give consent to being included in the Order 

being laid before Parliament in order to create the Norfolk and Suffolk 
Mayoral Combined Authority and begin to realise the multiple benefits 

associated with the Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal.  
 

7.5 If the Council does not give consent, the Mayoral Combined Authority will 
not be established and the Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal will no 
longer be available. The associated funding and local autonomy over 

decision making will be withdrawn. Government has suggested that the 
funding and flexibilities within the Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal may 

be offered as part of negotiations that are ongoing with other areas in 
England.  
 

7.6 As demonstrated with the proposed North East Deal, any councils wishing to 
continue to pursue a devolution deal would begin negotiations again from 

scratch. 
 

 
 

Page 16



 

Page 1 of 14 
 

Contents of Draft Norfolk and Suffolk Combined Authority 
Order 

 
PART 1 
General 

 
Commencement  

The commencement date for Norfolk and Suffolk Combined Authority (“NSCA”) is 1st 

March 2017.   

Interpretation 

 Combined authority area is the areas of  

(a) Babergh District Council 

(b) Broadland District Council  

(c) Forest Heath District Council 

(d) Ipswich Borough Council 

(e) King’s Lynn and West Norfolk District Council 

(f) Mid-Suffolk District Council 

(g) Norfolk County Council (the part of the County Council covering King’s Lynn 

and West Norfolk District Council, South Norfolk District Council and 

Broadland District Council) 

(h) St Edmundsbury Borough Council 

(i) South Norfolk District Council 

(j) Suffolk Coastal District Council 

(k) Suffolk County Council 

(l) Waveney District Council 

PART 2 

Establishment of a combined authority for Norfolk and Suffolk 

Establishment  

The combined authority is to be a body corporate and is to be known as the Norfolk 

and Suffolk Combined Authority.  

Constitution-Mayor and Mayoral elections 

According to section 107A of LDEDCA there should be a directed elected mayor for 

the area of NSCA. The first election will be held in May 2017 and subsequent 

elections shall take place in the fourth year thereafter (2021) and on the same day of 

ordinary elections. Thereafter terms shall be four years (5.3). 

Constitution – Membership 

There will be 14 members of NSCA (12 constituent councils, 1 non-constituent, 1 

elected mayor from May 2017 (4.1); The New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership 

Page 17

hhardinge
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX A



 

Page 2 of 14 
 

(NALEP) shall be a non-constituent in NSCA (Intro); Each constituent council 

appoints one elected member and one substitute member (4.3). 

Funding 

The NSCA will agree an annual budget identifying its expenditure and source of 

income (20.3). 

Expenses of the NSCA that are reasonable attributable to the exercise of its 

functions will be met by existing resources of the constituent authorities, and any 

additional costs will be met in equitable shares by the constituent authorities. (20.1) 

NSCA shall be a levying body under s74 LGFA 1988 and shall have the power to 

issue a levy to its constituent authorities in respect to expenses reasonable 

attributable to the exercise of its functions (excluding mayoral functions), such levy 

will be apportioned between the constituent authorities in equitable shares to be 

agreed in the annual budget. The Constitution will set out a process for agreeing the 

budget of how these expenses will be met. (20.2 and 20.3) 

The constituent councils and the Mayor must ensure that the costs of the Mayor 

reasonably attributable to the exercise of the mayoral functions are met.  

Funding (Mayor) 

In financial year 2017/18 the costs of the Mayor that are incurred in (or in connection 

with) the exercise of mayoral functions will be met by the constituent authorities. 

Such costs shall be apportioned between constituent authorities in equitable shares 

to be agreed in the annual budget (21.1). The initial mayoral budget will be agreed 

by the NSCA prior to the mayoral election so will be agreed by all constituents 

In any financial year following 2017/18 the costs of the Mayor that are incurred in (or 

in connection with) the exercise of mayoral functions may be met from precepts 

issued by NSCA under s.40 LGA 1992 (21.2) 

The CA will be a major precepting authority under section 39 of the Local 

Government Finance Act 1992 but only in relation to expenditure incurred by the 

Mayor in or in connection with the exercise of Mayoral functions (21.3) 

Any mayoral costs incurred by the constituent authorities will be treated as a loan to 

the NSCA repayable on the 3rd anniversary of the first mayoral election (21.4) 

The Mayor shall exercise the function to issue a precept under Chapter 4 of Part 1 of 

the Local Government Finance Act 1992, acting on behalf of the CA (21.5) 

The Mayor shall maintain a fund in relation to receipts arising and liabilities incurred 

in the exercise of the mayoral functions (21.6) 

Prior to the start of each financial year and beginning with 2018/19 the Mayor shall 

follow a process for the development of his/her budget for the exercise of mayoral 

functions for the financial year in question that is in accordance with Regulations, or 

in the absence of Regulations has the following characteristics (21.7 a-d): 

Page 18



 

Page 3 of 14 
 

 preparation of a draft budget to include expenditure plans and income 

including the proposed precept; 

 scrutiny of the draft budget by the other members of the Combined Authority 

and the Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 

 the making of changes to the draft budget as a result of such scrutiny; and 

 the approval of the draft budget. 

The Mayor’s draft budget shall be treated as rejected if two thirds of the constituent 

authority members of the NSCA vote to reject it and in that event the Mayor shall 

propose a revised draft budget (21.8) 

Property, rights and liabilities 

No transfer of property, rights and liabilities between NSCA or the Mayor and the 

constituent authorities, other than by the agreement of the constituent authorities. 

(21.1) 

General Power and Competence (Mayor) 

Mayor may do anything the Combined Authority can do under s113A of the LLEDCA 

subject to the limitations under s113B (12.2) 

General Power and Competence (NSCA) 

Full GPC (Chapter 1 of Part 1 of Localism Act 2011) to be applied to NSCA (14.2) 

CA approval of Mayoral decisions 

The Mayor shall consult the Combined Authority before a decision is taken on the 

approval of any strategy falling within the remit of the Mayor under the Mayoral 

Functions, whether that approval is to be given by the Mayor directly.  

Any other strategy or spending plans shall be treated as rejected if a two thirds 

majority of the Constituent Authority Members of the Combined Authority vote to 

reject such a plan provided that any Constituent Authority directly affected by such a 

strategy or plan and present and able to vote at the meeting must be part of the 

deciding vote’s majority for that rejection decision to carry (unless they abstain). 

 

PART 3 

Transport 

Functions: Transport funding (Mayor) 

The Mayor is responsible for a consolidated, multi-year local transport budget.  

NSCA to have powers under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003, to be 

exercised by the Mayor via section 107D of the 2009 LDEDCA, to allocate highways 

funding. A condition will also be attached to the use of that function which provides 

that the mayor must have due regard to an allocation policy, or factors relevant to the 

allocation. 

Page 19



 

Page 4 of 14 
 

 

 

Functions: Key Route Network (Mayor) 

Take responsibility for delivering a new Key Route Network of local authority roads, 

the management and maintenance of which shall be undertaken by the constituent 

authorities. 

Functions: Transport Plans (Mayor) 

Confer on the Mayor the powers in s. 108, 109 and 112 of the Transport Act 2000 to 

publish and produce a Local Transport Plan for the CA area. Concurrency still under 

consideration by constituent authorities. To exercise powers under Part 2 of the 

Local Transport Act 2000. The Transport Plan and any spending plans or plans for 

the allocation of transport-related funding shall be treated as rejected if a two thirds 

majority of the Constituent Authority Members of the Combined Authority vote to 

modify or reject the Transport Plan and associated spending, provided that any 

decision to reject or modify the Transport Plan or budget includes the Combined 

Authority Members from each of Norfolk and Suffolk County Councils. 

Functions: Buses (Mayor) 

To exercise concurrently, such powers to franchise bus services to support delivery 

of smart and integrated ticketing. 

 

PART 4 

Mayoral Development Corporation 

Conferral of function            

The Combined Authority shall have in relation to its area functions corresponding to 

the functions contained in the provisions in the 1999 Act set out in Schedule 2 that 

the Mayor of London has in relation to Greater London. 

Conditions on which the function is to be exercised by the Combined 

Authority         

The functions may be exercised by the Combined Authority only with the consent of 

each of the members of the Combined Authority who are elected members of a 

constituent council whose council area contains any part of the area to be 

designated as a mayoral development area.  

 

PART 5 

Incidental Functions 

 

Page 20



 

Page 5 of 14 
 

Functions: Planning (Mayor) 

A non-statutory spatial framework and supplementary planning documents must be 

created.  

The spatial framework and any supplementary planning documents referred shall 

require the unanimous approval of all the Constituent Members of the Combined 

Authority (2.5.1) 

 

Incidental provisions  
The following provisions of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989(e), 
namely—  
(a) section 1(f) (disqualification and political restriction of certain officers and staff), 
and  

(b) sections 2 and 3A(g) (politically restricted posts and exemptions from restriction) 
so far as they have effect for the purposes of that section,  
 
shall apply as if a Corporation were a local authority.  
 

PART 6 

Additional functions 

General functions of the Combined Authority exercisable only by the Mayor 

The general function exercisable on by the Mayor are sections 334 to 342 and 346 of 

the 1999 Act and the transport functions. The Mayor shall consult the Combined 

Authority before exercising these functions. 

Economic development and regeneration functions 

Confer on the NSCA local authority functions under: 

 Sections 15ZA, 15ZB, 15ZC, 17 and 18A(1)(b) of the Education Act 1996 and 

the powers under sections 514A and 560A of that Act (duties and powers 

related to the provision of education and training for persons over compulsory 

school age) 

 Section 144 of the Local Government Act 1972 (the power to encourage 

visitors and provide conference and other facilities) 

 Section 69 of the 2009 LDEDCA (duty to prepare an assessment of economic 

conditions). 

The functions of the constituent councils set out in Schedule 4 are exercisable by the 

Combined Authority in relation to its area and in cooperation with the constituent 

councils.  

Incidental provisions  
The following provisions shall have effect as if the Combined Authority were a local 
authority for the purposes of those provisions—  
(a) section 113 of the Local Government Act 1972(c) (power to place staff at the 
disposal of other local authorities);  

Page 21



 

Page 6 of 14 
 

(b) section 142(2) of the Local Government Act 1972(d) (power to arrange for 
publication of information etc relating to the functions of the authority); and  

(c) section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972(e) (power to prosecute and 
defend legal proceedings).  
 

“(4A) A person who is a member of a committee falling within paragraph (i) of 
subsection (4) or a sub-committee appointed by such a committee shall for all 
purposes be treated as a non-voting member of that committee or sub-committee 
unless that person is a member of one of the constituent councils as defined by 
article 2 of the Norfolk and Suffolk Combined Authority Order 2016.”  
 
In Part 2 of Schedule 3 (pension funds) to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations 2013(b) in the table insert at the end—  
“An employee of the 
Norfolk and Suffolk 
Combined Authority 
established by the 
Norfolk and Suffolk 
Combined Authority 
Order 2016  

TBC Council”  

 

 

 

Schedule 1 

Constitutional Provisions 

Membership  

There would be 14 members of NSCA (12 constituent councils, 1 non-constituent, 1 

elected mayor) from May 2017 (4.1). The New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership 

(NALEP) shall be a non-constituent in NSCA (Intro) 

Each constituent council must appoint one of their members to be a member of the 

Combined Authority and another of its elected members to act as a substitute 

member.  

The Local Enterprise Partnership must also nominate one of its Directors to be a 

member of the NSCA and another Director to act as a substitute member. Such 

nominated Directors shall become a Member or Substitute Member from the date on 

which written notice of nomination by the NALEP is received by the NSCA. 

If a person ceases to be a member of the constituent council that appointed them or 

the Local Enterprise Partnership that nominated them, then they cease to be 

members or substitute members of the Combined Authority.  A person may also 

resign as a member or substitute member of the Combined Authority by written 

notice served on the proper officer of the constituent council that appointed them or 

the chairman or vice-chairman of the Local Enterprise Partnership that nominated 

them. Where a member or substitute member of the Combined Authority’s 

appointment ceases, the constituent council that made the appointment or the LEP 

Page 22



 

Page 7 of 14 
 

must give written notice as soon as possible to the Combined Authority and 

appoint/nominate another of its elected members.  

The constituent councils or NALEP may terminate the appointment of their appointed 

member or substitute member and replace them at any time by giving not less than 

14 days written notice to the NSCA and the termination and replacement shall take 

effect on the expiry of such notice (6.5) 

An elected Mayor of a constituent council is to be treated as a member of the 

constituent council. 

Chair and vice-chair 

At the first meeting of the Combined Authority and after the appointment of its 

members, the CA must appoint a chair. A person ceases to be chair of the 

Combined Authority if they cease to be a member of the Combined Authority. If a 

vacancy arises in the office of chair, an appointment to fill the vacancy is to be made 

at the next ordinary meeting of the Combined Authority. The chair ceases to hold 

office on 7 May 2017 and the position of chair is abolished with effect from 8 May 

2017. 

After the appointment of the chair, the CA must in each year appoint a vice-chair 

from among its members and agree on the order of the rotation of the vice-chair. 

These will happen during the first meeting of the CA and in subsequent years at the 

annual meeting of the CA. A person ceases to be vice-chair of the Combined 

Authority if they cease to be a member of the Combined Authority. If a vacancy 

arises in the office of vice-chair, an appointment to fill the vacancy is to be made at 

the next ordinary meeting of the Combined Authority.  

Proceedings 

Each member, or substitute member is to have one vote and no member or 

substitute member is to have a casting vote. If a vote is tied on any matter it is 

deemed not to have been carried. Members appointed from the Local Enterprise 

Partnership shall be non-voting members of the CA.  

N.B. Voting rights can’t be conferred on the LEP through the order. The Combined 

Authority can confer. 

Any questions that are to be decided by the Combined Authority are to be decided 

by a majority of at least two-thirds of the members and substitute members, acting in 

place of members, present and voting on that question at a meeting of the Combined 

Authority. NSCA quorum is 7 voting members or substitute members and must 

include a district member and a county member from each of Norfolk and Suffolk 

(16.8) 

The following decisions shall only be taken in a meeting of the full Combined 

Authority and shall require a unanimous vote in favour by all constituent council 

members or substitute members standing in their place (16.2, 16.4): 

Page 23



 

Page 8 of 14 
 

 Approval of borrowing limits, treasury management strategy including 

reserves, investment strategy, borrowing and budget of the NSCA including 

the amount of any expenses to be met by the constituent councils; (16.2a) 

 Approval of NSCA standing orders and any amendments, including any 

standing orders requiring other matters to be determined by unanimous vote; 

(16.2b, 16.4) 

 Approval of the establishment of committees, their terms of reference and 

composition;  (16.2d) 

 Approval of the establishment of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee, its 

terms of reference and composition and accepting appointments to it; (16.2d) 

 Approval of the spatial planning framework and any supplementary planning 

documents (14.3a) 

 Making of proposals to the SoS for the conferral of additional powers and 

functions; (16.2f) 

 Approval of the making of arrangements for the exercise of functions of the 

Combined Authority; (16.2g) 

 Admission of non-constituent members or conferral of voting rights on such 

members; (16.2h) 

 Giving consent to orders made by the SoS for the NSCA; (16.2i) 

 Appointment and dismissal of Head of Paid Service, Monitoring Office and 

office responsible for financial affairs.(16.2j) 

 Approval of NSCA constitution and further changes to the NSCA constitution 

other than changes required by legislation or minor or consequential drafting 

changes (16.7) 

 Appointment of members drawn otherwise than from the elected members of 

the constituent councils or conferral of voting rights on such members; and 

 Provision of consent to orders made under Part 6 of the 2009 Act. 

 

Pending the appointment of a mayor, decisions on the appointment of the Chair of 

NSCA should only be taken in a meeting of the full NSCA and require a majority vote 

in favour by all constituent council members or substitute members standing in their 

place: (16.2, 16.2c and 16.4)  

Decisions to change the CA’s constitution other than changes required by legislation 

or minor drafting or consequential amendments shall require a unanimous vote in 

favour by all constituent members present or substitute members standing in their 

place (16.7) 

Decision-making for mayoral strategies reflected under powers sections 

NSCA may in Standing Orders provide for special majority arrangements contained 

on specified reserved decisions and may include arrangements to ensure that 

constituent authorities affected by a decision must be part of a majority. (16.5). It 

should not be possible to vary voting arrangements for voting on any strategy falling 

within the remit of the mayor. (14.3, 16.6) 

Page 24



 

Page 9 of 14 
 

Proceedings shall not be invalidated by any vacancy amongst the NSCA members 

or by any defect in the appointments or qualification of any member  (16.12) 

 

Committees/Boards 

The Combined Authority shall make arrangements in its constitution to establish 

appropriate bodies for the discharge of functions (11.1) based on thematic or 

geographic clusters. 

The Combined authority S101 and 102 LGA 1972 shall apply to the NSCA so that 

may delegate functions other than those reserved to it under paragraph 16.2 to a 

board or to another officer or authority. (11.2 and 16.1) 

Chairs of the boards will act as a supporting and advisory function to the Mayor in 

respective policy areas (11.3b) 

NSCA shall be permitted to exercise any of the functions of constituent authorities 

concurrently. Any such functions shall only be exercised with the agreement of a 

simple majority of the constituent authorities and include the constituent authority 

whose functions are to be exercised by the combined authority. 

Committees- Overview and Scrutiny 

The Combined Authority must appoint at least one member of each of the 

constituent councils to the overview and scrutiny committee appointed by the 

Combined Authority so that the members of the committee taken as a whole reflect 

so far as reasonably practicable the balance of political parties. An overview and 

scrutiny committee may not include any substitute member of the Combined 

Authority and no business is to be transacted unless at least seven members from at 

least three constituent councils are present at the meeting. 

Chair of O&S Committee is an appropriate member of one of the constituent councils 

who is not a member of a registered political party of which the mayor is a member. 

(17.3) If the mayor is an independent candidate, then the Chair cannot be a member 

of the party that holds a majority within the Combined Authority. 

Each O&S member has one vote and there is no casting vote (17.4). A tied vote is 

deemed not to be carried (17.5). 

O&S committee shall have the power to (17.6 a-f): 

 Invite Combined Authority Members and officers, including the Mayor and 

Deputy Mayor, to attend and answer questions; 

 Review or scrutinise decisions or other actions taken in connection with the 

discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of the Combined 

Authority or the Mayor; 

 Make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority and the Mayor 

with respect to the discharge of any functions which are the responsibility of 

the Combined Authority or the Mayor; 

Page 25



 

Page 10 of 14 
 

 Make reports or recommendations to the Combined Authority and the Mayor 

on matters that affect the authority's area or the inhabitants of the area; 

 In respect of any decision made but not implemented by either the Combined 

Authority or the Mayor, direct that the decision is not to be implemented while 

it is under review or scrutiny and to recommend that the decision be 

reconsidered; and  

 Invite others to attend meetings of the Committee. 

Where an overview and scrutiny committee makes a report or recommendation the 

committee may publish the report or recommendations and by notice in writing 

require within two months the Combined Authority to consider the report or 

recommendations, respond to the overview and scrutiny committee indicating what 

(if any) action the Combined Authority proposes to take; and if the overview and 

scrutiny committee has published the report or recommendations publish the 

response. 

Audit Committee 

The membership of the audit committee shall be determined by the NSCA but must 

include at least one independent person as a member (18.2) 

The audit committee will have the power to (18.3 a-d): 

 Review and scrutinise the Office of the Mayor and Combined Authority’s 

financial affairs; 

 Review and assess the Mayor and Combined Authority’s risk management, 

internal control and corporate governance arrangements; 

 Review and assess the economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which 

resources have been used in discharging the Combined Authority’s functions 

and the Mayoral Functions; and 

 Make reports and recommendations to the Combined Authority and/or the 

Mayor in relation to any reviews carried out in relation to the matters stated 

above. 

Records 

The CA must make arrangements for the names of members and substitute 

members present at any meeting to be recorded. 

Minutes of the proceedings of a meeting of the Combined Authority, or any 

committee or sub-committee of the Combined Authority, are to be kept in such form 

as the Combined Authority may determine. Any such minutes are to be signed at the 

same or next suitable meeting of the Combined Authority, committee or sub-

committee as the case may be, by the person presiding at that meeting. Any minute 

purporting to be signed as mentioned is to be received in evidence without further 

proof. A meeting of the Combined Authority, committee or sub-committee, a minute 

of whose proceedings has been signed is deemed to have been duly convened and 

held, and all the members and substitute members present at the meeting are 

deemed to have been duly qualified. 

Page 26



 

Page 11 of 14 
 

 

Standing orders 

The Combined Authority may make standing orders for the regulation of its 

proceedings and business and may vary or revoke any such orders 

Remuneration 

 No remuneration is to be payable by the Combined Authority to its members. 

 

Schedule 2 

 

1.—(1) The Combined Authority is to have in relation to its area the functions 
contained in the following provisions in Chapter 2 of Part 8 of the 2011 Act—  
(a) section 197 (designation of Mayoral development areas);  

(b) section 199 (exclusion of land from Mayoral development areas);  

(c) section 200 (transfers of property etc to a Mayoral development corporation);  

(d) section 202 (functions in relation to Town and Country Planning);  

(e) section 204 (removal or restriction of planning functions);  

(f) section 214 (powers in relation to discretionary relief from non-domestic rates);  

(g) section 215 (reviews);  

(h) section 216 (transfers of property, rights and liabilities);  

(i) section 217 (dissolution: final steps);  

(j) section 219 (guidance by the Combined Authority); and  
 
(k) section 221 (directions by the Combined Authority).  
(2) The Combined Authority is to have in relation to its area the functions contained 
in the following provisions in Schedule 21 to the 2009 Act—  
(a) paragraph 1 (membership);  

(b) paragraph 2 (terms of appointment of members);  

(c) paragraph 3 (staff);  

(d) paragraph 4 (remuneration etc: members and staff);  

(e) paragraph 6 (committees); and  

(f) paragraph 8 (proceedings and meetings).  
 

 

 

 

 

Schedule 3 

Page 27



 

Page 12 of 14 
 

PART 1   Article 11 
Modification of the application of Part 8 of the 2011 Act 

 

1.—(1) Part 8 of the 2011 Act applies with the following modifications.  
(2) Section 196 of the 2011 Act is to be read as if there is substituted—  
“In this Chapter—  
“the Combined Authority” means the Norfolk and Suffolk Combined Authority(a);  
“MDC” means a Mayoral development corporation (see section 198)”.  
(3) In sections 196 to 222 of the 2011 Act every reference to—  
(a) the Assembly is to be read as references to the Combined Authority;  

(b) the Greater London Authority is to be read as a reference to the Combined 
Authority;  

(c) the London Assembly is to be read as a reference to a reference to the Combined 
Authority;  

(d) “the Mayor” is to be read as a reference to “the Combined Authority”.  
(4) Section 197 of the 2011 Act (designation of Mayoral development areas) is to be 
read as if —  
(a) in subsection (1) for “Greater London” there is substituted “the area of the 
Combined Authority”.  

(b) in subsection (3)—  
(i) in paragraph (a) for “any one or more of the Greater London Authority’s principal 
purposes” there is substituted “economic development and regeneration in the area 
of the Combined Authority(b)”, and  

(ii) in paragraph (d) the references to “the London Assembly or” and “, (e), (f) or (g)” 
are omitted; and  
(c) in subsection (4)—  
(i) paragraph (a) is omitted;  

(ii) paragraph (b) is omitted;  
(iii) in paragraph (d) for “each London borough council whose borough” there is 
substituted “each district council or county council in the Combined Authority’s area 
whose area”;  
(iv) paragraphs (e) to (g) [are omitted];  
(d) in subsection (5) subsection (7) were omitted.  
(5) Section 200 of the 2011 Act (transfers of property etc to a Mayoral development 
corporation) is to be read as if—  
(a) in subsection (3)—  
(i) in paragraph (a), for “a London borough council” there is substituted “a district 
council or county council [in the Combined Authority’s area]”,  

(ii) paragraph (b) is omitted,  

(iii) in paragraphs (d) and (e), for “Greater London” there is substituted “in the area of 
the Combined Authority”,  

(iv) paragraph (f) is omitted,  

(v) paragraph (g) is omitted, and  

(vi) paragraph (h) is omitted;  
(b) in subsection (4) paragraph (b) is omitted;  

(c) subsection (7) is omitted;  

(d) subsection (8) is omitted; and  

Page 28



 

Page 13 of 14 
 

(e) in subsection (10), the definitions of a “functional body” a “public authority” are 
omitted.  
(6) Section 201 of the 2011 Act (object and powers) is to be read as if subsection 
(8)(b) is omitted.  

(7) Section 203 of the 2011 Act (arrangements for discharge of, or assistance with, 
planning functions) is to be read as if for “a London borough council or the Common 
Council of the City of London” there is substituted “a district council or county council 
in the Combined Authority’s area”.  

(8) Section 207 of the 2011 Act (acquisition of land) is to be read as if—  
(a) in subsection (2) for “in Greater London” there is substituted “in the Combined 
Authority’s area”; and  

(b) in subsection (3) the words “of London” are omitted.  
(9) Section 214 of the 2011 Act (powers in relation to discretionary relief from non-
domestic rates) is to be read as if—  
(a) in subsection (4)(c) for “or an affected local authority” are omitted; and  

(b) in subsection (4) the definition of “an affected local authority” for the purposes of 
paragraph (c) is omitted.  
(10) Section 216 of the 2011 Act (transfers of property, rights and liabilities) is to be 
read as if —  
(a) in subsection (2), “, (e)” is omitted; and  

(b) in subsection (4)—  
(i) the definition of “functional body” is omitted; and  

(ii) in the definition of “permitted recipient”—  
(aa) paragraph (b) is omitted,  
(bb) for “(d) a London borough council” there is substituted “a district council or 
county council in the Combined Authority’s area”, and  

(cc) paragraph (e) is omitted.  
 

PART 2 
Modification of the application of Schedule 21 to the 2011 Act 

 

2.—(1) Schedule 21 to the 2011 Act applies with the following modifications.  
(2) Schedule 21 of the 2011 Act is to be read as if—  
(a) in paragraph 1(1) the reference to the Mayor of London (“the Mayor”) is to be 
read as the Combined Authority;  
(b) all subsequent references to the Mayor are to be read as the Combined 
Authority;  
(c) in paragraph 1(2) the reference to each relevant London council is to be read as 
each district council or county council in the Combined Authority’s area;  
(d) paragraph 1(3)(a) is omitted;  
(e) in paragraph 4(4) the reference to the London Assembly is to be read as a 
reference to the Combined Authority; and  
(f) in paragraph 10(c) the reference to the London Assembly is to be read as a 
reference to the Combined Authority.  
 

Schedule 4 

Page 29



 

Page 14 of 14 
 

Economic development and regeneration functions 
 

1. The functions of the constituent councils under section 1 of the Localism Act 
2011(a) to the extent that those functions are exercisable for the purpose of 
economic development and regeneration.  
2. The power under section 144 of the Local Government Act 1972(b) (the power to 
encourage visitors and provide conference and other facilities).  
3. The duties under sections 15ZA, 15ZB, 15ZC, 17 and 18A(1)(b) of the Education 
Act 1996(c) and the power under sections 514A and 560A of that Act (duties and 
powers related to the provision of education and training for persons over 
compulsory school age).  
4. The duty under section 69 of the 2009 Act (duty to prepare an assessment of 
economic conditions).  
 

 

 

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Devolution for Norfolk and Suffolk 

 
 
To Andy Wood, Independent Chair of the East Anglia Leaders Group: 
 
The business community across Suffolk and Norfolk is writing to you to demonstrate our strong support 
and endorsement of the Devolution deal for the East that could help further transform our economy and 
create even greater opportunities for growth.  
 
New Anglia LEP has already secured a £221 million Growth Deal with Government, investing in new 
roads, digital infrastructure, skills and targeted business support. Together with our partners, we have 
helped create 350 new businesses and 4,400 jobs so far. But devolution brings with it an opportunity to do 
so much more, and we firmly believe none of us can afford to let it pass. 
 
The additional devolved powers and funding on offer - £25 million a year for 30 years and £130 million for 
new homes - will help us realise our ambition to create a £43 billion economy in the East. 
 
Public consultation has already begun and we want the Government and local authorities to hear the 
powerful voice of business as we take this important step. 
 
There is majority support from local authorities across Suffolk and Norfolk and the New Anglia LEP board 
has already unanimously endorsed the proposed devolution deal. Already we have secured support from 
leading businesses and education leaders across the East, including Aviva, the East of England Co-op, 
Suffolk and Norfolk Chambers of Commerce, UEA, University of Suffolk, NUA and West Suffolk College. 
  
This is all about establishing The East as truly international economy; competing and winning in the UK 
and global marketplace; a secure base for businesses and their supply chains; a modern, mobile and 
accessible economy too; with thriving sectors including all-energy, ICT and digital, food and health 
research and financial services, with world-leading research and innovation hubs; and with our schools, 
colleges and universities investing and inspiring young people into better skills.  
 
The devolution deal will build on this and help us deliver many more of the crucial projects we need to 
support our economic growth; improving infrastructure from road and rail links to high speed broadband 
and mobile coverage, offering funding and advice to support business, and empowering the next 
generation with the skills to drive our economy. 
 
We hope you will take this message from business to the heart of Government. The scale and scope of 
our ambition needs to be heard loud and clear. We are determined to make the East one of the best 
places to live, work and learn. 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 Mark Pendlington 
Chairman, New Anglia LEP 

Caroline Williams 
Chief Executive, Norfolk 
Chamber of Commerce 

John Dugmore 
Chief Executive, Suffolk 
Chamber of Commerce 

New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership – Centrum | Norwich Research Park | Norwich | Norfolk | NR4 7UG  
Telephone: 01603 510070 

www.newanglia.co.uk   Company number: 07685830 Page 31

http://www.newanglia.co.uk/
hhardinge_1
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX B



This page is intentionally left blank



Signatories to letter in support of Devolution Agreement for Norfolk and Suffolk 

 

Lindsey Rix - Aviva Insurance UK Ltd  

Chris Bushby - Big C Norfolk's Cancer Charity  

Jeremy  McNulty - Building Partnerships Limited  

Huw Sayer - Business Writers Limited 

Jonathan Cage - Create Consulting Engineers Ltd  

Celia Anderson - Dynamique Consulting 

Philip Bodie - Feilden & Mawson Architects LLP 

Andrew Barnes - Howes Percival LLP  

David Richards - Leathes Prior  

Sam Payne - Lloyds Bank  

Martin Vincent - St. James Place Group 

Alex Rabbetts - Migration Solutions Holdings Limited 

Sally Ann Forsyth - Norwich Research Park LLP 

Saul Humphrey - R G Carter Ltd  

Helen Lewis - University of East Anglia 

Patricia  Powell – WLP 

Christina Sadler – Network Christina 

Mark Goodall – Aker Solutions 

Ian Hacon – Yellow Brick 

Jeanette Wheeler – Birketts LLP 

Craig Dearden-Phillips – Stepping Out 

Michael Gurney – The Point 

Guy Gowing – Arnold Keys  

Richard Hughes - A & B Insurance Brokers  
Julie Stokes - ActivLives  
Matthew Potter - Birketts LLP 

Karen Barnes - Blue Star Human Resources 

Nicholas Eastaugh - Business Doctors (Norwich)  
Caroline Gould - Caroline Gould Events 

Jules Shorrock - Citrus Security Shredding  
Tony Cheung - Easy Software UK Plc  
Samantha Cass Jennifer, Howard Dobson - Ellisons Solicitors Page 33

hhardinge_2
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX B



John Matthews - Ensors Chartered Accountants – Ipswich 

Tony Addison - Free Rein Ltd 

Paul Davey - Hutchison Ports (UK) Ltd 
Ian Buxton - Innovation Martlesham 

Graham Kill - Institute of Directors (IoD) (Suffolk Branch)  
Eric Benton - Johns Slater & Haward  
Tony Carr - Leading Lives  
Nicola Bradford - Lime Skills CIC 
Marianne Muir - Marianne Muir Ltd  

Steve Oliver, Lee Bowker - MLM Consulting Engineers Limited  
Peter Funnell - Oakmere Solutions Ltd 

Peter Blake - Prettys Solicitors LLP 

James Wilson - R G Carter (Southern)  
Ian Perry - Remedy For Business Ltd  

Erika Clegg – Spring 
Leena Ghoshal - Suffolk Family Carers 

Trevor Whiting - Suffolk Norse 

Ann Keen - TCHC  

Tim Greenacre - University Campus Suffolk 

Jo Lardent - Vertas Group Limited 
Adam Pescod – Fleximise 
Doug Filed – East of England Co-op 
Leonard Potgeiter – Adapt Ltd 
Jenni Carberry – Carbs Coaching 
Kevin Woolard – BT Adastral Park 
Stuart Rimmer – Great Yarmouth College 
Andy Grimbly - PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Paul McCarthy - intu Chapelfield 

Clarke Willis - Anglia Farmers 

Neil Miles – TechEast 

Pete Waters - Visit East Anglia 

Paul Winter - Ipswich Building Society 

Jamie Thums – Lintott 

Neil Garner - WhiteSpace Norwich 

Simon Gray – EEEGR Page 34



Colin Knight – Ashtons Legal 

Jane Gaynor – Auditel 

David Williams – Axa Insurance 

James Bailey – Bowyer 

Stephen Baisey-Fisher – Century Logistics Ltd 

Kevin Stobbs – Jackson Civil Engineering Group 

Bawden Burrows – MLM 

Patrice Love – Patrice Love Consultancy Ltd 

Dave Baker – Performance Plus Partnership 

Matt Moss – Poundfield Products Ltd 

Richard Bridgman – Warren Services 

Colin Shaw – West Suffolk College 

Gordon Brock - WLP  

Ian Alston – Honingham Thorpe Farms 

Esther Evans – STM Packaging 

Fiona Ryder - Tin Can Digital 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



COU.FH.16.024 

Extraordinary 
Council 

 
Title of Report: RAF Mildenhall Vision and 

Prospectus 

Report No: COU/FH/16/024 

Report to and 
date/s: 

Council 22 November 2016 

Portfolio holder: Councillor James Waters 
Leader 

07771 621038 
James.waters@forest-heath.gov.uk 

 

Lead officer: Jill Korwin 

Director 
01284 757252 
Jill.korwin@westsuffolk.gov.uk 

 

Purpose of report: To discuss the Vision and prospectus for working with 

Government to secure a positive legacy for RAF 
Mildenhall and the surrounding towns and villages. 

 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the Vision and 

Prospectus for RAF Mildenhall be approved and 
submitted to Government.  
 

Key Decision: 
 
 

 

Is this a Key Decision and, if so, under which 

definition? 

No, it is not a Key Decision - ☒ 

Consultation:  See Appendix C and Section 4 of the 
report 

Alternative option(s):  Do nothing and leave decisions over land 
allocations to the Government  

Implications:  

Are there any financial implications? 

If yes, please give details 
Yes ☐    No ☒ 

Are there any staffing implications? 

If yes, please give details 
Yes ☐    No ☒ 

Are there any ICT implications? If 

yes, please give details 
Yes ☐    No ☒ 

 

Are there any legal and/or policy 
implications? If yes, please give 
details 

Yes ☐    No ☒ 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5

mailto:James.waters@forest-heath.gov.uk
mailto:Jill.korwin@westsuffolk.gov.uk


COU.FH.16.024 

Are there any equality implications? 

If yes, please give details 
Yes ☐    No ☒ 

- An equality screening was 
completed and found that the 

‘negative impacts’ from the work 
on the Vision and Prospectus were 
mitigated by ensuring that local 

communities were engaged and 
fully involved with the design of 

the project from the outset.  
- Local communities, especially those 

affected by proposed 

redevelopment of the site, should 
be involved in the planning process 

from the outset.  

Risk/opportunity assessment: (potential hazards or opportunities affecting 
corporate, service or project objectives) 

Risk area Inherent level of 

risk (before 

controls) 

Controls Residual risk (after 

controls) 

Low level of 
community and 
business engagement 
and support. 

Medium Public and business 
engagement 
sessions, public and 
business 
consultation events, 
media and social 

media campaign and 
online/paper 
feedback. 

Low 

Ward(s) affected: All Wards 

Documents attached: Appendix A – RAF Mildenhall Vision 
and Prospectus 

Appendix B – RAF Mildenhall market 
and visioning report 
Appendix C – Public consultation 

summary 

 

 

  

Page 38



COU.FH.16.024 

1. Background 

 
1.1 On 8 January 2015, the U.S Department of Defense announced that following a 
strategic review of its European wide deployment it would be withdrawing all 

operations from the RAF Mildenhall airbase, starting 2019 and completing by around 
2023. It was subsequently confirmed that flight operations would continue until the 

final phase of departure and there were no plans to release any land until after the 
U.S. had vacated the site.  
 

1.2 It should be noted that on the same day the U.S Department of Defense also 
announced an ongoing commitment to RAF Lakenheath with a minimum of 

$120million being invested in infrastructure construction, starting in 2019, to support 
the deployment of the F-35A in 2021.  

 
1.3 It is estimated that as a result of RAF Mildenhall closure and investment at RAF 
Lakenheath there could be a net loss of approximately 2,000 on-base jobs. A recent 

study estimated that 500 UK civilian staff employed at RAF Mildenhall could lose their 
jobs as a result of the airbase closure. However, this figure does not include any 

transfer of jobs from RAF Mildenhall to RAF Lakenheath (which is possible, but as yet, 
no details are available). 

 

The graphic below is a summary of the economic impact of the two U.S. airbases 
across the Forest Heath, Breckland, East Cambridgeshire and St Edmundsbury. 

 

Page 39



COU.FH.16.024 

 

1.4 The Ministry of Defence (MoD), which owns the 440Ha RAF Mildenhall airbase, 
has confirmed that the airbase will be released for alternative use following the U.S. 
withdrawal. The United States Visiting Forces (USVF) withdrawal is currently 

scheduled from 2023 and a more detailed programme is expected by 2018.  
 

1.5 The MoD has indicated that ownership of any airbase land that is identified for 
release will be transferred from the MoD to the Homes and Communities Agency 
(HCA). The HCA role is to look at the extent of alternative use and the necessary 

model required for delivery. The Government position regarding alternative uses is 
focused on the delivery of substantial housing development across any MoD land that 

is identified for release, including RAF Mildenhall.  
 

1.6 Any redevelopment at RAF Mildenhall will be subject to a masterplan, public 
consultation and planning application which will be determined by the Council. It is 
important to note that although the MoD has identified that all of the site should be 

released, this cannot be taken into consideration as available and deliverable for this 
Local Plan period (2011-2031). It is not appropriate for the Council to list RAF 

Mildenhall airbase in the Local Plan as an allocated site for growth until there is 
certainty regarding the future use of the site and certainty regarding any planning 
constraints on the land; for example, archaeology, ecology, water resource and 

contamination. This information will determine the amount and appropriate uses of 
any land that will be made available. 

 
1.7 Once there is certainty around the future use of the site, a review of the Local 
Plan will commence which will consider the on-site constraints as well as the homes, 

jobs and infrastructure needs to support any future use of the site. This position 
received support from both the Planning Inspector and Secretary of State as part of 

the Hatchfield Farm planning inquiry.  
 
2. Creating a legacy for jobs and industry in Mildenhall 

 
2.1 RAF Mildenhall is of significant importance to the local economy and therefore 

its future use must be one that meets local needs. A housing-led scheme would not 
replace the jobs lost as a result of the U.S. departure. In addition to this, the graph 
below shows that the scale of RAF Mildenhall is virtually unprecedented and a large 

scale shift in land use will require significant support from the public sector. At this 
stage the Council is focused on: 

 
- Clarity over future use for the site 
- Governance and delivery models 

- Creating a vision 
- Determining the anchor uses 

- Capturing the viability and land values 
- Determining the level of infrastructure and accessibility requirements 
- High level project planning 

 
 

Page 40



COU.FH.16.024 

 
 

2.2 In 2015 Forest Heath District Council and local partners were successful with a 
£230,000 bid for funds from the Government’s One Public Estate (OPE) Programme to 
start work on the local priorities for RAF Mildenhall. The main part of the capacity 

funding was allocated to create a fully developed and viable plan for the future use of 
the airbase site after the U.S. depart in 2023.  

 
2.3 Forest Heath District Council used the OPE funding to commission external 
advisors ‘Cushman & Wakefield’ (C&W) to provide external challenge, commercial 

insight, market expertise and an independent assessment of the various land uses 
that had been suggested at public and business engagement sessions (See appendix B 

for the Market and Vision report). A market assessment, feasibility and high level 
viability exercise supported the development of a vision and prospectus (see appendix 

A) for alternative uses of land on and surrounding the RAF Mildenhall airbase.  
 

2.4 A Steering Group comprising of senior representatives from Forest Heath 

District Council, Suffolk County Council, New Anglia LEP, the Greater Cambridge 
Greater Peterborough LEP and Newmarket & District Chamber of Commerce was 

formed to work with C&W to prepare the vision and prospectus document. 
 
2.5 The Vision and Prospectus for RAF Mildenhall outlines the local ambition for the 

RAF Mildenhall airbase and surrounding towns and villages. It is important to note that 
the document is not a masterplan and does not address the feasibility issues of the 

various scenarios. However, it does reflect a statement of local intent to influence and 
work with Government on the decision making process for the future of the site. 

 

2.6 Mothballing the land is not an option and a redundant site of this size will 
require infrastructure funding support to deliver a significant shift in land use. It is the 

Steering Group’s view that the need for clarity and long term planning is required now 
to ensure the site is not mothballed after the USVF depart in 2023.  
 

Page 41

http://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/mildenhallfuture


COU.FH.16.024 

 

3. Summary of the options assessment and scenario testing 
 
3.1 As part of their role C&W assessed the market potential of various land uses 

from the perspective of market demand and the potential for land use to be viable 
from a standard property market perspective.  

 
3.2 The table below shows the range of land-use options that were assessed by 
C&W: 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
3.3 C&W used a fixed evaluation criteria for each of the land-use options. The 

criteria was based on a range of ‘legacy objectives’ and ‘delivery criteria’. It’s 
important to note that the aviation options were assessed by Infrata, a specialist 

aviation sub-consultant.  
 

- The ‘legacy objectives’ aim to ensure that the impact of the base closure is 

minimised. Key metrics include minimising the impact of the closure, create 
new employment opportunities and integrating new development into existing 

communities. 

Page 42



COU.FH.16.024 

- The ‘delivery objectives’ tie into the overarching legacy objectives as well as 

practical delivery criteria. The delivery objectives were divided into planning, 
market demand, land value, site preparation and remediation, delivery 
timetable and risk and opportunity. These objectives were used to assess the 

viability of the different use classes and allow for analysis of which uses present 
the most favourable development options when considering delivery, producing 

long term land values and maximising the potential of the site. 
 

Aviation assessment 

3.4 The biggest question regarding the future use of the RAF Mildenhall site is 
whether or not any of the airfield will be retained for an alternative aviation use. There 

has been a significant amount of local support for a continued aviation use which is 
why C&W contracted Infrata to carry out a detailed assessment of the variety of 

aviation options available to RAF Mildenhall. The detailed assessment can be found at 
section 7.2 of the Market and Vision report (appendix B) and a summary of the 
approach and findings is below. 

 
3.5 It is recognised by the Council, community and businesses that an aviation use 

for the site could deliver significant economic benefits for west Suffolk and the wider 
economy. The Council first pursued this opportunity in January 2016 via a letter to the 
Department for Transport regarding the potential to consider RAF Mildenhall for a civil 

aviation use. The Government responded to confirm that the RAF Mildenhall airbase 
would not be considered as part of its plans for the future of air transport in the UK for 

the following reasons: 
 

- The government appointed the Airports Commission in 2012 to invite and 

conduct a thorough and detailed independent analysis of different proposals for 
developing the UK’s long-term airport capacity.   

- The Airports Commission received 52 proposals for long-term airport 
development options involving substantial development of a new or existing 
airport site as an alternative to one of the existing London airport sites. 

However, no proposals for future commercial use of RAF Mildenhall were 
received. 

- Following publication of the Airports Commission’s report last July, the 
government accepted the case for airport expansion in the South-East and the 
Airports Commission’s shortlisted options at Heathrow and Gatwick, and is not 

considering proposals for alternative sites.   
- It would be for a commercial investor to put forward a case for developing civil 

aviation activity at RAF Mildenhall once the detailed plans for its disposal from 
the MoD estate are released later this year.  Any such development proposals 
would be considered under the usual planning procedures. 

  
3.6 Further to the Government response, Infrata assessed the aviation potential for 

passenger operations, cargo services, maintenance, composites, de-manufacturing 
and general aviation and concluded that a more detailed business plan would be 
required taking into account capital expenditure, operating expenditure and revenues 

of all the business streams. In anticipation of a positive result it was recommended 
that an area of 200 acres be protected for aerospace activity to be further explored.  

 
3.7 Based on Infrata’s findings it has been determined that Maintenance, Repair 

and Overhaul (MRO) is an area where demand is likely to grow and is an area that 
should be further explored for RAF Mildenhall. This would bring new high value jobs to 
the area and potential to address the shortage of sites for aircraft decommissioning. It 

was Infrata’s opinion that building on the existing expertise and aviation hub within 
the area is likely to be the most deliverable option to generate employment based 

uses on the site. 

Page 43



COU.FH.16.024 

3.8 With regard to C&W’s detailed assessment of land uses it was determined that 
due to the scale of RAF Mildenhall it would be highly unlikely that a single land use 

would utilise the full area. Therefore, whilst the assessment related to the potential for 
individual uses, a mix of uses at different scales would be likely to provide the most 

optimal solution. The following scenarios were shortlisted and tested for viability: 
 

- Employment led delivering approximately 3250 dwellings and 11200 jobs 

- Aviation led delivering 0 dwellings and approximately 1900 jobs 
- Hybrid scenario (aviation led but also includes residential use and an area of 

business and industrial space) delivering approximately 2000 dwellings and 
1900 jobs.  

 

3.9 With regard to the land use assessment and viability testing (detailed in the 
Market and Vison report, Appendix B) the preferred ‘hybrid’ scenario was developed 

and is the basis of the Vision and Prospectus document. The preferred hybrid scenario 
has an aviation use to the north of the airbase, employment adjoining the existing 
industrial estate, housing on the south and south west of the site and public open 

space separating the new housing from West Row.  
 

3.10 It is important to note that the allocation of land in the Vision and Prospectus 
(page 6) is purely a concept of the preferred land uses. The location of the housing 

development will be dependent on the extent and cumulative impact of any land 
allocated for aviation and employment use. The Council and local partners want to 
work with the MoD and HCA to complete a more detailed business case and 

masterplan assessment so that the mix, quantum and layout of the site can be 
optimised. 

 
3.11 This is an ambitious vision for alternative uses of land at RAF Mildenhall and 
recognises that there will be significant challenges to overcome; the condition of the 

site, capacity of existing utilities, public services and infrastructure, investment 
required to attract new anchor occupiers to the site to name a few. However, the 

Vision also sets out the local desire for a proactive approach to the regeneration of 
RAF Mildenhall to ensure the site is not mothballed and that the existing aviation 
facilities are retained to deliver high value jobs to the local area.  

 

3.12 The Vision and Prospectus, market and visioning report and public consultation 
results should therefore be viewed as the next step towards producing a viable plan 

for the future of the airbase.  
 

4. Public consultation 

 
4.1 A five-week public consultation on the Vision and Prospectus for RAF Mildenhall 

took place between 6 September and 11 October. A range of engagement activities 
were undertaken to raise awareness of the project and to encourage residents, 
businesses and other stakeholder groups to have their say. A full summary of the 

consultation can be found at appendix C.  
 

4.2 Throughout the consultation it was generally endorsed that the USVF departure 
from RAF Mildenhall presents a once in a lifetime opportunity to create an economic 
legacy for the site with investment in infrastructure, skills and promoting economic 

growth. The Council is therefore taking the opportunity to start work with local 
partners, the MoD and other Government departments to work on a viable plan which 

is focused on creating new employment, supported by the right level of infrastructure 

Page 44



COU.FH.16.024 

investment. This will be considered as part of the work on a business case and master 
plan assessment.   

 
4.3 The response to some of the general themes and challenges from the 

consultation are included below. The detailed assessment that underpins the 
Prospectus document addresses these issues. It is proposed that the full public 
consultation results are submitted to Government to support the work to complete a 

more detailed business case and masterplan assessment. 
 

 “The entire site should be used as a new regional airport” 
 
4.4 The independent assessment completed by Infrata on behalf of C&W considered 

whether RAF Mildenhall could become a passenger airport. Using the Civil Aviation 
Authority’s catchment data and the Department for Transport UK passenger traffic 

forecast growth rate, it concluded, that a new airport at RAF Mildenhall could attract 
up to 750,000 passengers a year. Given ‘standard’ airport operating costs and 
revenue, this is unlikely to support a viable business on its own. 

 
4.5 The assessors said it could only succeed if other airports in the area closed and 

both the economy and population grow at a faster rate than currently forecast. The 
closeure of Norwich Airport is unlikely given the recent investment of £12million in an 

aviation academy. The aviation academy will enable local people to gain the skills 
needed to access jobs in the aviation academy, create new jobs and help to secure 
the airport’s future. 

 
4.6 Infrata determined that MRO is an area of aviation where demand is likely to 

grow and is an area that should be further explored for RAF Mildenhall. This would 
retain much of the existing aviation infrastructure on the site, create high skilled jobs 
and build on the existing market within the area.  

 
“The infrastructure won’t cope with thousands of new homes” 

 
4.7 The consultation response was strongly opposed to any new housing 
development without significant improvements to local infrastructure. The Vision and 

Prospectus recognises that all options for the site involve intensification of its use and 
will therefore require upgrades to existing public, transport, highways, health, 

education and leisure infrastructure. The public sector has a critical role to play in 
investing in appropriate infrastructure and capturing land value uplifts. Planning for 
the infrastructure costs and associated return on investment is one of the requests of 

Government in the Vision and Prospectus document. 
 

4.8 The road infrastructure, in particular issues with Fiveways, was a point made by 
numerous consultation responses. Current road access to the site is very limited and 
requires going through Mildenhall town centre. In order for the vision to be deliverable 

there needs to be significant road improvements and we have recently commissioned 
a transport assessment of the Vision and Prospectus to take a holistic review of the 

transport needs alongside other planned developments in the town. It is proposed that 
the finalised transport assessment is submitted to Government to support the work to 
complete a more detailed business case and masterplan assessment. 

 
“The planned housing is too close to the runway” 

 

Page 45



COU.FH.16.024 

4.9 The Vision and Prospectus document included a map showing how the RAF 
Mildenhall land could be allocated with the primary purposes of showing how the 

employment land could be linked to the Mildenhall industrial estate and how a housing 
development could be linked to the Mildenhall Hub housing development in the local 

plan. The location of any housing development would be dependent on the extent, and 
cumulative impact, of any land allocated for aviation and employment use. The Vision 
and Prospectus requests the Government to protect 200acres of the airfield land for 

aviation uses to be further explored. In addition to this the allocation of land included 
in the Vision and Prospectus is purely a concept to show the preferred land uses. A 

more detailed business case and masterplan assessment should be completed to show 
land allocations in more detail. 
 

“Why develop the industrial estate when there are empty units now?” 
 

4.10 It is recognised that the employment market in Mildenhall is focused on primary 
services and accommodation and food. However, the USVF departure from RAF 
Mildenhall is seen as an opportunity to create a new vision for Mildenhall. The Vision 

and Prospectus commits to a focused promotion of the site to create demand for 
scalable inward investment and to establish an anchor occupier for the site.  

 
4.11 Intrinsic to this work is the work being completed on the Cambridge to Norwich 

Technology Corridor by South Norfolk, Breckland and Forest Heath. The aim of this 
work is to facilitate development which capitalises on the significant infrastructure 
investment and makes the A11 corridor a recognised location for investment activity. 

Any additional regeneration and growth along the A11 corridor is likely to benefit 
Mildenhall offering an opportunity for greater linkages between existing economic 

centres and increasing the attractiveness of the area for firms. 
 
“How can you build when the site is so contaminated?" 

 
4.12 It is expected that there will be hotspots of land contamination from the many 

years of RAF Mildenhall hosting an aviation use. The Council has requested further 
information regarding the levels of land contamination and has been assured that all 
fuel spills have been remediated or cleaned up on site. RAF Mildenhall remains an 

operational airbase until 2023 therefore further land studies will not commence until 
nearer this time. The Vision and Prospectus asks for minimum site closure standards 

to be applied before all or part of the site is transferred or a dowry fund be established 
to meet the costs.  

 

5. Updated Prospectus and Asks of Government  
 

5.1 Relevant parts of the Prospectus have been updated to ensure that some of the 
issues raised by the consultation are addressed.  The following changes have been 
made to the draft Vision and Prospectus: 

 
- The vision was amended and now refers to Mildenhall and the wider community 

benefitting from investment in infrastructure that will be essential to unlock the 
site.  New road access that avoids the centre of the town will ensure people can 
move around the town more easily and safely.   Development of the site will 

provide additional weight to the business case for improvements to Fiveways 
roundabout and the A14/A11 junctions.   

Page 46



COU.FH.16.024 

- An explanation was added to the map to state that the location of any housing 
development will be dependent on the extent and cumulative impact of any 

land allocated for aviation use.  
- Scenario one was removed as there is no local support for a housing-led 

scenario. Additional text had been added to relevant sections of the document 
to state that any housing development must be in line with the locally assessed 
housing need. 

- With regard to land contamination and land values an additional reference has 
been included as the condition of the site and the extent of any outstanding 

land contamination problems will need to be investigated.    
- Additional text was added regarding the recent £12 million investment in an 

aviation academy at Norwich Airport to secure the airport’s future. 

- Additional text was added to clarify the current RAF Mildenhall position in the 
local plan. Whilst the site cannot be included in the Local Plan currently because 

of the uncertainties around scale of release and contamination issues, once 
there is clarity on these issues it will  be considered as part of a review of the 
Local Plan. 

- References to the Cambridge to Norwich Technology Corridor have been 
included as the site is ideally placed to be a key site on the corridor.  

- All references to a potential British military requirement at RAF Mildenhall have 
been removed following Government confirmation that ‘no UK reprovision is 

required’1. 
 

5.2 Of particular note are the requests to Government set out in Page 30.  Council 

is asked to pay particular attention to these requests and agree these are the 
appropriate requests.  They are: 

 
5.2.1 We have set out our objectives and vision.  We are asking Government to 

work in partnership with us, to respond to this prospectus and to 

accelerate and clarify decisions where possible about the timing of the 
USVF withdrawal. 

 
5.2.2 We ask for minimum site closure standards to be applied before all or 

part of the site is transferred from the military or a dowry fund be 

established to meet the costs. 
 

5.2.3 Whilst aerospace options are explored further, we ask that the airfield, 
supporting infrastructure and an area of at least 200 acres be protected 
for aerospace activity. 

 
5.2.4 We ask Government and its agencies to make available capacity funding 

to assess the requirement and costs of new infrastructure required and to 
develop business cases which demonstrate the return on this investment. 

 

5.2.5 We ask that Government provides a funding package to be repaid from 
sale proceeds of the land when it becomes developed to meet the costs 

of the required improvements to infrastructure and services to facilitate 
new development. 

 

                                                 
1
 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/565858/20161107_MOD_Better_Defenc

e_Estate_FINAL.pdf  

Page 47

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/565858/20161107_MOD_Better_Defence_Estate_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/565858/20161107_MOD_Better_Defence_Estate_FINAL.pdf


COU.FH.16.024 

5.2.6 We want to explore with Government the benefits of designations such as 
Enterprise Zones, Housing Zones and development corporations to 

support delivery of the vision. 
 

5.2.7 We ask that Government works with us to jointly develop a masterplan 
for the site that builds on the work of this Vision and Prospectus, having 
regard to local and central government priorities. To support this work we 

ask Government to share all information gathered to date so that we can 
jointly assess the need for further work to be commissioned jointly.  

 
6. Next steps 
 

6.1 The Council, with local partners on the steering group, has completed a very 
detailed and wide-ranging assessment of the potential uses for RAF Mildenhall and 

published a preferred scenario for the future of the site.  There is a need for detailed 
business planning and discussion with Government in order to define the most viable 
and deliverable mix of uses for the site. We must ensure that the decisions being 

made by Government are focused on the wider social, economic and physical benefits 
that can be unlocked rather than focused on the number of houses that can be built.  

 
6.2 The Ministry of Defence announced in January 2016 that the RAF Mildenhall 

airbase will be released for housing development.  However, the work that Cushman 
and Wakefield has completed shows a multitude of economic opportunities, including 
continued aviation use, which should be further explored for the site to be brought 

forward.  This will create new job opportunities, not only to mitigate the jobs lost from 
the closure of RAF Mildenhall but also to shape the future prosperity of Mildenhall and 

the surrounding area and create new jobs for people who move to the area.  
 
6.3 Development of this scale brings significant challenges which will require public 

and private sector intervention.  The Council and local Steering Group partners are 
committed to starting the conversation with Government regarding a new partnership 

arrangement to support a focused and integrated approach and a shared agenda for a 
new Mildenhall.  The local commitments and requests of government are set out in the 
Vision and Prospectus document and the Council will engage with Government to seek 

additional OPE capacity funding for taking this work forward.  It is hoped that future 
bids can be submitted in partnership with the HCA and MoD to reflect a strong 

combination of land ownership, funding resources, delivery expertise and local 
knowledge. 
 

6.4  Based on the findings from the C&W market and visioning report, the Vision 
and Prospectus and public consultation results the Council will be asking Government 

to work in partnership with us, to respond to this prospectus and to accelerate and 
clarify decisions where possible about the future use of RAF Mildenhall. 

 

6.5 It is therefore recommended that this report and all appendices be submitted to 
Government to inform and influence decision making regarding the future of RAF 

Mildenhall.  In particular Council are asked to endorse: 
 
6.5.1 The Vision of mixed used development for the site including an aviation 

use, and 
6.5.2 The Requests of government as set out on Page 30. 

 

Page 48



1

RAF MILDENHALL 
VISION AND  
PROSPECTUS

Page 49

hhardinge_3
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX A



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

2

Short history of Mildenhall

Mildenhall is a small market town in West Suffolk with a history which can 
be traced back to Anglo-Saxon times, although there are traces of Stone Age 
living nearby. There were wealthy people living in the area in the 4th century as the discovery of 
the Roman Mildenhall Treasure showed, with a hoard of high quality, mainly large silver tableware 
pieces ploughed up from its hiding place in a field in 1942. These treasures are at the British 
Museum, with replicas on show at the Mildenhall Museum.

The manor of Mildenhall was owned by the Bury St Edmunds Abbey, 
which controlled law and order as well as the local wealth, for 
many years until it was sold following Henry VIII’s dissolution of the 
monasteries in 1536. A weekly market has been running since a royal 
charter was granted in 1412 – the 15th century Market Cross still stands 
in the town centre. For centuries the town served a mainly agricultural 
area, with its everyday life rarely featuring in national concerns. 

Life in Mildenhall was to change significantly when the Government 
announced that a Royal Air Force base for bomber squadrons was  
to be built there. RAF Station Mildenhall was officially dedicated by  
King George V in October 1934, and immediately afterwards  
Mildenhall hit the international headlines when it hosted the start  
of the MacRobertson Trophy Air Race – an 11,300 mile race to  
Melbourne, Australia. The event attracted huge crowds keen to  
see the latest aircraft and famous flyers and put Mildenhall on the 
world’s map. The following year the base played host to 38 squadrons, 
with 370 aircraft lined up for a royal review by the King. 

The Second World War (1939-45) was only six hours 
old when three Wellington bombers took off from RAF 
Mildenhall on their first bombing raid. Many more were to 
follow, with Wellingtons, Stirlings, Halifaxes and Lancasters 
becoming a familiar sight in the skies around the town, 
including those flown by the Royal Canadian and Royal New 
Zealand Air Forces at times. Two propaganda films, shown 
in cinemas nationwide, also used the base to show how 
bombers prepared for their raids.

Just after the war ended came the first major involvement of 
the United States Army Air Force (USAAF) with the base when 
B-17 Flying Fortresses arrived to take part in bomb trials. This 
involvement continued to grow over the following decades until the 
announcement in 2015 that the USVF (United States Visiting Forces) 
units based in Mildenhall would be moving elsewhere in 2023, leaving 
the site available for new uses.

Page 50



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

3

Contents

Foreword 4

Our vision 5

The need 7

Case studies and lessons 13

The lessons 14

The opportunity 15

The assessment 18

The task 26

Delivering the vision together 28

Glossary 32

Contacts 34

Page 51



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

4

Foreword

The United States Visiting Forces (USVF) have 
been a distinctive feature of economic life 
in west Suffolk for well over half a century. 
Whilst the increased American presence at 
RAF Lakenheath will ensure that the economic 
and cultural benefits will continue for some 
time to come, the communities and their 
representatives must now prepare for change 
at RAF Mildenhall.

This prospectus builds on the work that we 
have carried out with our communities and 
businesses to establish their ambitions for 
the site, ambitions which have been market 
assessed and presented as a concept showing 
how aviation, industry and housing can be 
delivered on one site. All of this has been put 
together to support work with Government on 
a plan for the site that achieves the local needs 
for new employment and infrastructure.

With positive collaboration across Government 
and the market, the departure of USVF from 
RAF Mildenhall brings tremendous opportunity 
to reshape the Mildenhall town and to improve 
the social, economic and physical landscape 
of west Suffolk and the wider sub-region. By 
working together we can achieve enhanced 
GVA accelerated through the early delivery of 
key infrastructure.

 
 
We envisage a future for the site that creates 
new high skilled jobs for local people, 
supported by upfront investment so that 
our infrastructure and services can meet 
the demands of the new development. We 
want a development that is truly mixed and 
sustainable; one where local people will work, 
live and prosper.

The task at RAF Mildenhall is urgent. Following 
the initial USVF departure announcements, 
we now need final and unequivocal decisions 
so we and our stakeholders can bring the 
plans to fruition. Our approach is long term so 
that money spent today will yield land value 
uplifts and economic benefit for many years 
to come. We need resourcing and funding 
from Government to deliver this economic 
regeneration of Mildenhall and wider area.

Above all, we want to deliver a focused and 
integrated approach with Government that 
builds, and responds to, a shared agenda for a 
new Mildenhall.

 

Cllr James Waters, Leader of Forest Heath District Council 
Cllr Colin Noble, Leader of Suffolk County Council 
Matthew Darroch-Thompson, Chair of Suffolk Chamber of Commerce, Newmarket & District
Mark Pendlington, Chair of New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership
Mark Reeve, Chair of Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough Local Enterprise Partnership

Page 52



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

5

Our vision

We believe RAF Mildenhall will be transformed 
into a successful mixed use, sustainable 
community that has aviation and employment 
to the north and east of the site, housing 
on the south and south west (and on the 
expansion land, and around the Mildenhall Hub) 
and public open space, for example a country 
park, separating the new housing from West 
Row. RAF Mildenhall and appropriate expansion 
land outside the wire will grow comfortably 
alongside the existing communities which will 
benefit from improved and integrated services 
and public realm whilst retaining their own 
identities. 

Mildenhall will have a thriving business 
community that leverages the locational, 
physical and sectoral strengths of the site and 
the region. There will be room for existing 
local businesses to grow and we will pursue 
opportunities to attract inward investment in 
high value aviation sectors such as aerospace 
and aircraft maintenance and to secure 
occupiers attracted by the region’s existing 
clusters (such as agri-tech). Companies will be 
attracted by the region’s strengths in tourism 
and hospitality, its proximity – and separation 
– from Cambridge and the area’s exceptional 
quality of life. 

The enlarged community will have access to 
a range of affordable, quality housing in a 
range of tenures that complements the existing 
stock of homes. The number and type of new 
houses will be appropriate to meet local needs 
and we will work with stakeholders to explore 
the opportunity for new and emerging delivery 
models including custom build, a range of 
retirement living and starter homes. With access 
to jobs, education and health facilities, as well 

as new social and leisure facilities including 
formal and informal open space, Mildenhall 
will be a distinctive and aspirational place in 
which to live, work, bring up a family and retire. 

Mildenhall and the wider community will 
benefit from investment in infrastructure 
that will be essential to unlock the site. New 
road access that avoids the centre of the town 
will ensure people can move around the town 
more easily and safely. Development of the site 
will provide additional weight to the business 
case for improvements to Fiveways roundabout 
and the A14/A11 junctions.

Ours is an optimistic and ambitious vision. 
There will be challenges to overcome: the 
condition of the site; the capacity of existing 
services and infrastructure to accommodate 
new development; the economic impacts 
as USVF shift to RAF Lakenheath; and the 
investment that is needed to attract, and 
risk-share with, new catalytic occupiers will 
need to be addressed. We propose to set 
up a governance structure that sets the 
standard for future communities facing similar 
opportunities. We will use this structure to work 
collaboratively with stakeholders from across 
Government and the private sector to find the 
best solutions to the challenges of delivering 
this vision.

Page 53



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

6

Plan shows indicative areas of focus. The scale and 
location of land uses may change as the site is 
masterplanned and will be subject to the Local Plan.

The location of any housing development will be 
dependent on the extent and cumulative impact of 
any land allocated for aviation use. We are asking the 
Government to protect 200 acres of the airfield land 
for aviation uses to be further explored.

RAF Mildenhall

The indicative outputs from the scenario 
shown above are as follows:

£70-100m GVA
2000 Jobs
2000 Homes
72,000m2 Employment
100Ha Public open space

Mildenhall Hub

Housing

Housing

Public Open 
Space

Aviation

Employment

Our vision

Page 54



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

7

RAF Mildenhall –  
the story so far

01 An 80-year presence in our skies 
and within our communities

• Currently an operational airbase located 
on the edge of Mildenhall in west Suffolk, 
close to the borders of Cambridgeshire 
and Norfolk. 

• Previously used as an RAF station, the site 
now hosts the United States Air Force.

• Along with RAF Lakenheath it forms a 
significant part of USVF’s presence in the UK. 

02 USVF departure from RAF 
Mildenhall has been announced 
but there remains uncertainty 
about its future

• In January 2015 the US Department of 
Defense (USDoD) confirmed American 
forces will withdraw from RAF Mildenhall 
from 2023.

• At the same time, USDoD announced that 
RAF Lakenheath is to expand with new 
F-35A jets and additional personnel and 
that it would be investing a minimum of 
$120million in infrastructure construction 
at RAF Lakenheath to support the F-35A. 

• The Ministry of Defence (MoD), which 
owns the RAF Mildenhall airbase, has 
confirmed that the airbase will be released 
for housing development following the  
US withdrawal.  

• A more detailed programme for USVF 
withdrawal, currently scheduled from 
2023 is expected by 2018.

03 Delivering local priorities

• Although the precise nature and scale  
of the departure remains uncertain,  
what is clear is that the 80-year continued 
presence of the RAF/USVF at RAF 
Mildenhall will soon be ending.

• We want to create a positive legacy for 
RAF Mildenhall in which it contributes 
to the local and regional economy and 
reduces the impact of the release of  
the site.

• The biggest fears among the local 
community are that the base is 
mothballed with no attempt at 
regeneration or that the site is  
developed as a sterile ‘commuter’ town.

04 Progress to date

•  In 2015 we engaged with Government 
departments, including the DIO and HCA, 
with the aim of building consensus around 
a sustainable social, environmental and 
economic plan.

• We commissioned a study assessing the 
impacts of USVF in west Suffolk and 
neighbouring districts.

• The Government established the 
Mildenhall, Alconbury and Molesworth 
(MAM) Working Group with a remit to 
minimise the impacts from the departure 
from the three American airbases.

The need

Page 55



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

8

• We set out the desire for a proactive 
approach to the regeneration of RAF 
Mildenhall within the Mildenhall Place-
Shaping Project Services & Assets  
Delivery Plan (SADP) and we were 
awarded capacity funding under One 
Public Estate Phase 3 (OPE3) in 2015. 

• We engaged locally with stakeholders 
including businesses, community 
representatives, partner organisations and 
the West Suffolk Property Board.

• Initial discussions were held with the DIO 
and HCA with the intention that future 
proposals and announcements for RAF 
Mildenhall can be aligned to our agenda 
for a broad and collaborative response 
so that the tremendous opportunities of 
RAF Mildenhall are not lost. We believe a 
collaborative approach will deliver a better 
result for the local economy but also a larger, 
more certain and quicker return for DIO.

• Cushman & Wakefield were appointed to 
undertake a site baseline and feasibility 
study in order to test a range of options 
for different land uses, provide external 
challenge and commercial market-facing 
insight to ensure that aspirations are 
deliverable and support the creation of 
our vision for the regeneration of RAF 
Mildenhall.

 
Regional context

05 The current economic footprint 
of RAF Mildenhall is substantial 
and multi-faceted

• Over 80 years RAF/USVF presence.
• 500 UK civilian staff are employed 

in predominantly administrative, 
management, trade, craft and manual 
occupations at RAF Mildenhall.

• RAF Mildenhall and RAF Lakenheath 

account for 15,400 jobs and £690 million 
GVA (Gross Value Added).

• 6900 workers from RAF Mildenhall/
RAF Lakenheath live off-base – a high 
proportion of US personnel and families 
are integrated into the local community.

06 The scale of RAF Mildenhall is 
virtually unprecedented and 
requires an appropriate national 
response

• 440 hectares.
•  It could accommodate the combined 

land area of the NEC in Birmingham and 
Bluewater Shopping Centre. 

• Current and future ownership structure 
should ensure long term control.

07 Mildenhall is strategically  
located within East Anglia,  
able to leverage regional 
strengths but vulnerable to 
fragile socio-economic conditions

• RAF Mildenhall is 13 miles from 
Newmarket, 16 miles from Bury St 
Edmunds, 26 miles from Cambridge,  
45 miles from Norwich and 77 miles  
from London.

Page 56



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

9

• Regional competitive advantages include 
composites, agriculture and quality of life.

• Economic threats include imbalanced 
economy and relatively weak property 
market in the context of stronger, more 
established markets with investment grade 
stock elsewhere in the region/country.  

Local priorities

08 Forest Heath District Council 
has undertaken significant 
public and business engagement 
regarding the future of 
RAF Mildenhall including 
engagement sessions held 
to discuss local concerns and 
priorities which have revealed 
clear messages

• Concerns regarding lack of certainty about 
USVF withdrawal.

• Local people want clear and consistent 
direction and announcements.

•  The local community must be properly 
engaged on future use options, not 
through press/social media speculation 
and rumour.

• A strong consistent message to complete 
the visioning and planning work in 
advance and avoid the site being 
mothballed at all costs.

• The USVF departure is seen as an 
opportunity to create a new vision and 
identity for Mildenhall.

• All options to be stringently assessed for 
viability and delivery.

• Advanced skills training required to 
support new employment. 

• Learn from previous releases and 
development of MoD land elsewhere.

• New uses must address impacts on 
infrastructure and public services, 
especially access to the A11 through 
Mildenhall town centre. 

A120

A12

A12

A143

A140
A11

A47

A148

A149

A149

B1355

A148

A47

A10
A14

A1

A14

A11

A10

A406
A127

A120

A134

A13
A13

A2

A2

A12

A12

A1120

A12

M2

M20

M26

M11

M25

M11
M1

M25

M23

M25

M3

M3

M4

M40

M20

M11

A272

A3
A22

A272 A21

A34

A322

A34

A31

A13

A2070

�

A28

A1(M)

A14

A140

A134
A143

A134

A11

A1065

A406

Haverhill

Bury St Edmunds

Thetford

Brandon

Norwich

Newmarket

Mildenhall

Ely

RAF Mildenhall

Ipswich

Felixstowe

Colchester

Newhaven

Heathrow LONDON

Cambridge

Royal
Tunbridge

Wells

Brighton
Worthing

Chichester

Winchester

Andover

Reading

Aldershot

Portsmouth

Oxford

Eastbourne

Dover

Deal

Margate
Canterbury

Folkestone

Luton

Newbury

Basingstoke

Southampton

Maidstone

Aylesbury

Stansted

Gatwick

RAF Mildenhall to: Straight Line By Road

Bury St Edmunds 13m 15.5m

Newmarket 9.2m 13.1m

Cambridge 18.5m 26.1m

Ely 9.2m 13.5m

Brandon 8.3m 11.6m

Thetford 12m 15.1m

Norwich 39.4m 45.3m

Page 57



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

10

• Strong support for continued aviation use 
if this is viable.

• Economic strength of Cambridge is an 
opportunity and a threat. 

• Any new housing must be affordable with 
a range of tenures to sustain a  
balanced community.

• Avoid being a commuter town and 
villages and towns surrounding RAF 
Mildenhall to remain separate to retain 
their identity. 

• Use the redevelopment to address the lack 
of health and retail facilities in Mildenhall.

• Opportunity to be self-sufficient so 
residents work, spend and access services 
in Mildenhall and surrounding area.

The required outcomes that 
will deliver a positive legacy 

09 Building on the public 
engagement, we have developed 
a series of principles that should 
guide future development of 
RAF Mildenhall

• Support the strategic frameworks for 
Forest Heath District Council, Suffolk 
County Council, the Local Enterprise 
Partnerships and OPE.

• Contribute towards resolving any gaps 
or issues with local infrastructure, for 
example public transport, highways, 
health and education.

• Create new jobs to mitigate the impact of 
jobs lost as a result of the USVF departure. 

• Take into consideration the expansion, 
and deployment of the F-35A, at RAF 
Lakenheath. 

• Bring a significant return on investment 
from the A11 upgrade.

• Sustainable use of the site which brings 
long term benefits to west Suffolk.

10 These are reflected in the 
following legacy objectives 
which have guided the 
assessment of options and 
development of our vision

• Delivery of the principles described above.
• Minimising adverse impacts of the USVF 

departure from RAF Mildenhall.
• Creating new employment opportunities.
•  Integrating new development into existing 

communities.

The need for intervention

11 Redundant sites that require 
large scale shifts in land uses 
and infrastructure funding will 
typically have support from the 
public sector

In the case of RAF Mildenhall there are several 
factors that create a significant need for public 
sector intervention.

•  Need for clarity over future use. It is 
difficult to envisage circumstances in any 
other sector – public or private – where 
an announcement to close a site of this 
scale would not swiftly be followed by 
a series of structured announcements 
about its future, supported by a long 
term plan. The precedent case studies 
point to a strong correlation with those 
sites that have had clear early planning 
and leadership and their ultimate success. 
The local engagement has also identified 
a real hunger from the public and local 
businesses for clear open communication. 
Mothballing the site must not be an 
option.

• Scale of the site. The size of the site 
means that the most likely scenario is 
that it will be developed and occupied for 

Page 58



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

11

a mix of uses over a long period. Other 
than for any as yet unknown Foreign 
Direct Investment (FDI) requirements, 
the site will not be occupied by a single 
commercial organisation on its own. 
Even aviation uses would require only 
part of the site. In order for the site’s 
tremendous opportunity to be realised, 
the public sector will have to take a 
strategic role in promoting and delivering 
the vision and coordinating the delivery of 
complementary land uses and occupiers 
across the whole site.

• Importance to the local economy. 
Our vision is driven fundamentally by our 
objective that the redevelopment has to 
meet local needs. We want to replace 
jobs with jobs to ensure a prosperous 
future. We estimate that our Vision has 
the potential to deliver at least £70 million 
GVA into the local economy. 

• The likely need for support to 
optimise the continued use of the 
site for aviation and other uses that 
have strategic fit with the legacy 
objectives. We believe that there are 
grounds for optimism that aviation uses 
could continue but these are more likely 
to be in the areas of aerospace and 
maintenance rather than commercial 
passenger or cargo services. There is 
a need however for detailed business 
planning and discussion with operators in 
order that the most viable and deliverable 
mix of aerospace uses can be defined. 
It is possible that those aviation uses 
which have the strongest strategic fit and 
highest potential to bring value into the 
local economy will require investment in 
the infrastructure and other interventions. 
The public sector could have a role in 
supporting this activity.  
 

Page 59



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

12

We also make recommendations in this 
prospectus for the airfield and supporting 
infrastructure to be protected whilst 
aerospace uses are pursued. Promoting 
other employment-focused uses that have 
strategic fit with the legacy objectives will 
require public sector intervention to focus 
decisions not just on immediate short 
term value but wider social, economic and 
physical benefits that could be unlocked 
over the long term.

• Viability and land value capture. We 
have undertaken a high level financial 
assessment of a range of scenarios. 
As is typical at this stage of planning 
with strategic sites requiring significant 
infrastructure, all scenarios show the need 
for financial support. In order to meet the 
vision it is essential that the public sector 
embraces the long-term potential. Where 
investment in infrastructure is made it is 
appropriate that the public sector has a 
long-term view of capturing the uplifts 
in land value and economic benefits that 
would crystallise over many years. 

• Safeguarding local businesses. 
Mildenhall and the local area contain a 
significant amount of local businesses 
with much of the commercial employment 
within the Mildenhall Industrial Estate. It is 
our fundamental objective to protect these 
businesses from the impacts of the USVF 
departure as much as possible. We see it as 
a role of the public sector to find an optimal 
position of providing additional commercial 
accommodation within the existing estate 
at RAF Mildenhall for local businesses 
to expand whilst enabling new strategic 
development to come forward.

• New uses will constrain the existing 
infrastructure. Access via road is limited 
and requires going through Mildenhall 
town centre. There is currently no rail or bus 

access to the site. In order for the vision to 
be deliverable there needs to be significant 
infrastructure improvements. These are 
unlikely to be delivered by the private sector 
and so the public sector must intervene. 

• Investing for the long term. The majority 
of the site challenges will not be addressed 
by the private sector given the substantial 
initial costs and limited financial returns in 
the short run. In contrast the public sector 
has the ability to fund projects over the 
long term making infrastructure projects 
increasingly viable allowing for wider area 
improvement and realisation of the vision.    

• The build up at RAF Lakenheath. 
At the same time as the January 2015 
announcement, the US DoD announced 
that RAF Lakenheath is to expand with 
new jets and additional personnel. The 
first F-35A is expected at RAF Lakenheath 
in 2021. The major infrastructure 
development at RAF Lakenheath is 
expected to start in 2018 with the 
US DoD investing a minimum of $120 
million in infrastructure construction at 
RAF Lakenheath to support the F-35A. 
The build up at RAF Lakenheath and 
the withdrawal from RAF Mildenhall is 
complex and dependent on the timelines 
for the construction of facilities to house 
the departing units at their receiving 
bases. This will require careful planning 
within the public sector so that the 
economic benefits of the construction 
activity can be secured locally and that the 
construction capacity that is developed 
can be planned to be switched to RAF 
Mildenhall to avoid a sudden drop in 
activity, skills and capacity. This active 
co-operation between the two projects 
will result in greater speed and certainty 
during the planning process, delivering 
accelerated and enhanced returns. 

 
Page 60



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

13

2
3

7

5

4

8

9

6

1

4 Oakington > Northstowe
• Ongoing development of new town
• 10,000 new homes on 427 hectares
• Awarded EZ status

3 RAF Alconbury > Alconbury Weald
• 5,000 new homes
• Ongoing development of former  

USAF base
• Located at junction of A14 and A1
• Scheduled for final closure by  

USAFE 2020

1 RAF Finningley > Robin Hood Airport
• Redeveloped into commercial airport
• Opened 2005
• Cost £26 million to redevelop

8  Pfizer Sandwich > 
Discovery Park
• Former site of Pfizer 

UK research
• Government 

established Task Force
• EZ status 

2 RAF Coltishall > Scottow Moor Solar Park 
• EZ status
• Numerous employment generating uses
• Solar Park

5 BAE Hatfield
• Successful redevelopment of 

large former aerodrome
• Located between Welwyn 

and St Albans
• Long term vision in 

developing a strategy 

7 Whitehill and Bordon
• 250 of hectares of land  

to be released
• Clear governance through  

a Delivery Board

9 RAF Manston >  
 Kent International  
 Airport
• Unsuccessful re-use of the 

site as a commercial airport 
focused on cargo and aircraft 
recycling

6 Shell Haven > London Gateway
• Successful redevelopment of complex 

surplus site
• Safeguard critical retained operations
• Effective stakeholder engagement

Case studies and lessons

RAF Mildenhall

13

Page 61



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

14

Lessons from precedent case studies

Infrastructure and accessibility

There is a strong correlation between 
connectivity (accessibility by road/rail/air and 
data connectivity) and property market activity, 
occupier demand and values. Northstowe is 
a good demonstration project with proposed 
improved access to A14 and a road linking the 
site to the Guided Busway. Coltishall has had 
less fundamental change, partly because it is 
in a relatively isolated location to the north 
of Norwich. RAF Finningley is succeeding as a 
commercial airport, albeit struggling, because it 
has a large catchment.

Anchor uses

Large-scale military and industrial sites lack 
market presence because of former uses and 
often as they are in poorly functioning property 
locations. Establishing occupier demand at scale 
requires investment to promote the location and 
to attract anchor uses and occupiers to establish 
focus and profile. Alconbury demonstrated 
that Enterprise Zones (EZ) can help. The effect 
of anchor occupiers was apparent at Discovery 
Park where Pfizer’s decision to retain some 
presence helped establish a supply chain from 
which other occupiers could benefit. 

Governance and delivery

Governance has been identified across 
many of the case studies as being critical. 
At BAE Hatfield there were clear lines across 
stakeholders including the local MP. At Whitehill 
and Bordon, Discovery Park and Shell Haven, 
clear governance was seen as critical. It is 

interesting to note that at two of the case 
studies the participants said that, even though 
governance was an ingredient of their success, 
they would in hindsight have brought in an 
even clearer governance structure earlier.

Creating a Vision

Any commercial organisation committing to 
the site will want to be certain that what is 
being offered will be delivered. Stakeholders 
will need to be seen as being ‘on board’ to 
deliver the Vision before occupiers take risks 
with their business. The redevelopment of the 
BAE Hatfield site was successful partly due to 
the early stage masterplan, visioning and public 
engagement. Alconbury is seeing dividends 
of sticking to its task of attracting mid tech 
occupiers. Conversely, the lack of clear vision at 
Manston contributed to its failure as an airport.

Early project planning

Sites with the scale and complexity of 
Mildenhall require careful and early business 
planning. Shell Haven’s success was partly 
due to early financial appraisals and market 
analysis to develop the exit plan as well as a 
detailed Technical Pack to support international 
marketing. The development of Whitehill 
and Bordon is showing that, with effective 
planning and analysis of market demands and 
constraints, a viable vision can be achieved, 
together with the benefit of quantifying the 
added value of upfront investment to create a 
strong business case.

The lessons

Page 62



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

15

12 Having regard to the objectives, 
we have developed a preferred 
scenario that includes three 
main land uses – aviation, 
employment and housing. The 
mix of uses described below will 
form the basis of a more detailed 
masterplan assessment so that 
the mix, quantum and layout of 
uses can be optimised.

Preferred scenario: A hybrid scenario that has 
aviation to the north, employment adjoining 
the existing industrial estate, housing on the 
south and south west of the site (as well as on 
the expansion land and around the Mildenhall 
Hub) and public open space separating the 
new housing from West Row.

We have assessed two other mixed use 
scenarios, each with different anchor uses.

Scenario 1:  Employment-led 
development, with a 
significant quantum of  
business space and industrial 
use. The business space is 
focused to the north of the 
site, with industrial to the 
south east. The scenario 
includes a reduced residential 
quantum, located to the south 
west of the site. 

Scenario 2:  Aviation-led development, 
focused on a composite 
aerospace centre, aircraft  
de-manufacturing facilities  
and aircraft maintenance, 
repair and overhaul (MRO). 
What land remains is assumed 
to be an industrial-based 
business park with renewable 
energy provision.

All scenarios envisage the Mildenhall Hub 
(http://mildenhallhub.info/) to the west of 
the existing town on the expansion land and 
housing development on the expansion land 
(outside DIO red line).

13 Key conclusions from the  
viability assessment

Sites that require major changes of use and 
infrastructure funding have often received 
support from the public sector. RAF Mildenhall is 
no exception and it is anticipated that the public 
sector will take a lead delivery role to enable 
a long-term view to delivering the site vision 
and maximising the identified economic and 
social benefits. The conclusions of the viability 
assessment bear out this public sector role.

• Significant infrastructure costs create a 
large front-loaded viability constraint for 
all scenarios and increase finance costs, 
and public sector intervention is needed in 
infrastructure to manage this and unlock 
the economic value of the project.

• The aviation and employment-led 
scenarios generate the highest GVA in 
terms of higher-skilled jobs, a key driver 
for the local communities and the agreed 
objectives. 

• A scenario with significant residential will 
improve viability relative to the business 
space and aviation options which have a 
lower return on investment.

• It is not unusual for major schemes such 
as this to be considered as unviable in the 
early stage, especially where significant 
infrastructure costs are required.

The opportunity

Page 63



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

16

• Costs and assumptions will be iterated 
as more information becomes available; 
schemes will be optimised, for example by 
changing mix and phasing. 

• Part of the ask of Government is to work 
together to address how viability can be 
improved. 

• Land values will be influenced by the 
condition of the site and the extent of any 
outstanding land contamination problems. 
These need to be investigated.

14 Preferred land uses

• The delivery of our vision requires a 
focus on creating new high-value 
jobs to mitigate the impact of jobs lost 
as a result of the USVF departure from 
RAF Mildenhall. Continued aviation and 
broader employment land uses should 
therefore be at the heart of the new 
development.

• Aviation uses have the strongest 
strategic fit with the existing 
infrastructure forming the basis of 
catalytic investment and activity. We have 
identified a range of aviation uses that 
have potential to be viable and deliverable 
at Mildenhall. The delivery of these uses 
will require an operator. We want to work 
with partners so that the opportunities 
can be presented to potential operators 
and this will give more definition to 
the nature of demand and the precise 
land take required. The aviation uses 
should be considered a priority, with the 
infrastructure safeguarded, whilst those 
discussions are pursued. The land to the 
north of the runway, and the runway 
itself, are considered suitable assets and 
the appropriate scale, subject to reviewing 
technical site data to be received. 

• In addition to the aviation uses, 
the site has the potential for other 
employment uses. In order to develop 
at pace and scale the opportunity will 
need the public sector to support the 
development by providing pump-priming 
investment. The existing industrial base 
at Mildenhall and the wider strengths 
and clusters of the region including 
the Cambridge to Norwich Technology 
Corridor will form the basis of this growth.  
Land around the existing industrial estate 
is the optimum location for these uses. 

• Housing uses will improve viability 
and ease the pressure on the regional 
housing markets. We have identified an 
area of land for housing development. 
The location of the housing development 
will be dependent on the extent and 
cumulative impact of any land allocated 
for aviation use. A more detailed business 
case and masterplan development should 
be completed to show land allocations in 
more detail. 

• An area of expansion land west of the 
town centre and to the south of RAF 
Mildenhall has been identified in the Site 
Allocations Local Plan in order to achieve 
the visions and objectives of Forest 
Heath’s Core Strategy. This land will create 
opportunities to create linkages with RAF 
Mildenhall.

• The Mildenhall Hub will be located 
on this expansion land and bring a new 
school (Mildenhall College Academy) and 
improved leisure facilities together with 
council, health, police, fire, library, pre-
school, citizens’ advice and Job Centre 
services on one shared site to the west of 
the existing town. The Mildenhall Hub is 
a project primarily designed to meet the 
current requirements of the community, 

Page 64



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

17

driven by the need to address the 
condition of existing facilities in the town. 
The Mildenhall Hub will be adaptable and 
expandable to complement any community 
facilities required as part of housing 
growth on the RAF Mildenhall site.

• This mix of uses is listed below and forms 
the basis of our vision. This is the preferred 
option pending the outcome of discussions 
with aviation operators as having the 
strongest fit with our objectives. GVA 
estimates are approximate at this stage.

Net Area (sq m) Dwellings FTE Jobs GVA (m)

Aviation 40,000 0 1200 £52

Industrial & logistics 32,000 0 770   £18

Energy generation n/a 0 0 £0

Market housing 95,200 1400 0 £0

Affordable housing 40,800 600 0 £0

Public open space n/a 0 0 £0

Total 208,000 20001 1970 £70

1

1.  All houses are within the existing RAF site boundary

Page 65



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

18

The assessment
15 

Strengths

• Large site (440 ha): the scale gives the 
opportunity to create a step change

• Vacant possession 

• Rapidly expanding area: Suffolk is one 
of UK’s fastest growing counties

• Potential for a creation of place:  given 
the large parcel of open land 

• Strategic location within East Anglia: 
dualled A11, A14 connections, Agri-tech, 
EZs, USVF presence at Lakenheath

• Cambridge growth: potential to feed off 
the major international hub

• Location: on the emerging Cambridge to 
Norfolk Technology Corridor

Weaknesses

• Location: unestablished market location

• Infrastructure constraints: limited road 
and rail networks serving the site 

• Ecological: sensitive area 

• Archaeological potential

• Challenging local economic and 
property conditions: relative to stronger 
locations with established investment 
markets which will impact on viability

• Some buildings are tired: nearing the 
end of useful life

Opportunities 

• Scale: single ownership and vacant 
possession removes barriers

• Ecological designations: capitalise on 
these natural assets 

• Local ambition backed by Government 
strategies and resources: opportunity to 
align input across Government to maximise 
the impact of interventions 

• Policy whiteboard: opportunity to shape 
site’s future with limited policy constraints

• Airfield infrastructure: opportunity to 
specialise in aviation uses 

• Existing buildings: potential to generate 
commercial income stream to cross-fund 
other initiatives

Threats

• Military legacy: contamination hotspots, 
some  infrastructure/services unsuitable for 
new uses 

• Competition: from other sites in the area 
that have been strategically allocated 

• Limited current employment market: 
currently focused around primary services 
and accommodation and food, therefore 
limited existing market with scalability 

• Overreach: in terms of what is deliverable 
and achievable on a site of such scale 
given the number of competitor locations/ 
sites 

Page 66



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

19

The preferred land uses that will 
deliver a positive legacy

We have engaged with Cushman & Wakefield 
(C&W), a leading global real estate adviser, and 

Infrata, a specialist aviation consultant. C&W’s 
advice, set out in the supporting document 
‘Mildenhall Market and Visioning Report’, has 
informed the site baseline, feasibility study and 
vision for the regeneration of RAF Mildenhall.  

16 A range of potential land uses options has been assessed

Sector/ theme Opportunity

Commercial Offices, business space, business incubation, data centre

Industrial, logistics

Retail and leisure Retail centre, retail boxes, retail outlet, permanent brand expo

Commercial leisure, sports

Hotel, conference centre

Tourism-related leisure

Amenity/ social infrastructure

Education, science 
and innovation 

Education 

Science, innovation

Housing Market housing

Emerging residential sectors – private rented sector, custom build, 
retirement, extra care

Affordable housing

Aviation Commercial air transport – passenger

Commercial air transport – cargo

General aviation – business, flight training, emergency services aviation, 
agricultural aviation, aerial survey

General aviation – recreational and leisure

Maintenance, repair and overhaul

Emerging sectors Energy generation – solar, wind, waste to energy

Sustainable industries manufacturing (eg turbines)

Foreign Direct Investment

Institutional (eg health, prison, other civic)

Do minimum Agricultural

Open storage

Page 67



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

20

17 Each potential land use has been 
assessed against key criteria which 
reflect our legacy objectives and a 
series of delivery criteria

Legacy objectives

• Minimising adverse impacts of USVF RAF 
Mildenhall departure

• Creating new employment opportunities
• Integrating new development into existing 

communities and businesses 
• Delivery criteria
• Planning
• Market demand
• Land value
• Site preparation and remediation costs
• Residual liabilities 
• Infrastructure requirements
• Site suitability/competitive advantage
• Delivery timetable and risks

18 The assessment has driven some 
key findings between land uses

Strategic fit

• The optimum mix of employment and the 
highest GVA is most likely to be secured 
through uses in high-skilled sectors such as 
aviation, agri-tech, education and science 
and  innovation. 

• The highest value land uses are residential 
and retail (small scale envisaged, in line with 
market norms). 

• Given the scale of the site, a mixed use 
solution with an anchor land use is the 
most likely solution.

• All options involving intensification of use 
will require upgrades to existing public 
transport, highways, health and education 
infrastructure.

Aviation

• A review of the market potential indicates 
that there is very limited potential for a role 
as a commercial airfield given the market size 
and the proximity of Stansted and Norwich 
airports. A recent investment of £12million 
in an aviation academy at Norwich Airport 
helped to secure the airport’s future as they 
look to support local people to gain the skills 
needed to access the new jobs created by 
growth at the airport.

• It is important to recognise the importance 
of fully understanding the wider economic 
and commercial drivers as a failed re-use 
of the site as a commercial airport, similar 
to the RAF Manston example, would cause 
significant local concern.

• There is a proven ability of airports in 
the region to develop activity in aircraft 
Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul (MRO) 
with a major MRO centre at Cambridge 
(Marshalls) and an emerging civil aviation 
cluster based around Norwich International 
Airport.

• East Anglia has already developed a 
significant composite industry with major 
aerospace participation and the main 
research groups are active in composites.

• Whilst it would be difficult to attract a major 
overhaul company as their expansion is 
mainly in lower wage countries in eastern 
Europe and Asia, the ability to handle highly 
technical composite sections may prove 
useful.  

• Expertise in new technologies and specialist 
areas such as cabin interiors could be an area 
of focus.

• There may be potential for aircraft de-
manufacturing but more research is required 
within the sector. The long runway and 
availability of land makes Mildenhall a good 
long-term development option for this use 
relative to Norwich.

Page 68



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

21

• In aerospace, the growing demand for 
lower emissions, aligned with advances in 
composite construction techniques, has 
led to a significant increase in the use of 
composites in civil aircraft in the last few 
years. This sector needs further research 
but Mildenhall offers some advantages.

• Modifications and cargo conversions is 
an increasing growth opportunity and 
Mildenhall’s long runway could be an 
advantage for larger aircraft.

• There is a substantial amount of military 
MRO already undertaken in the region. It 
is unlikely to form an anchor tenant but 
could be a valuable ancillary workstream.

Commercial

• Proximity to Cambridge and its science 
clusters presents the most obvious and 
tangible opportunity to attract some spin-
off occupiers. 

• A catalyst in terms of sector-specific focus 
and anchor occupier is needed to establish 
Mildenhall as a credible office location. 
Significant public sector support would be 
required in order to establish a market and 
pump prime development and we do not 
expect Mildenhall to become a major hub 
in this sector.

• IT/communications (mobile and broadband) 
infrastructure would require improvement.

• Demand for inexpensive start-up units is 
high and there are several companies who 
have expanded across multiple buildings 
on the Mildenhall Industrial Estate. Whilst 
not forming the anchor use, this would 
generate a source of recurring income and 
create activity on the site.

• Investment in infrastructure to improve site 
access will increase the potential for large-
scale, national occupiers.  

• Road infrastructure upgrades will be 
required for a development of any scale 
to minimise road impacts on the town of 
Mildenhall.

• There is some potential to build on the 
existing manufacturing base to provide 
space for high-tech specialist suppliers.  

• An audit of existing buildings on the site 
is required so that we can safeguard some 
buildings that are fit for purpose, and not 
required for the strategic development of 
the vision, to be offered to local businesses.

Retail and leisure

• Retail outlet centres (eg Bicester Village) 
can come forward in locations such as this 
but catchment will not be strong enough.

• An anchor/sector driver is required in order 
to deliver brand expo space.

• Despite limited anticipated demand for 
commercial leisure or sports operators,  
the site could be promoted to major sports 
bodies.

• The provision of hotels and a conference 
centre could come forward if linked to 
other uses on the site (such as tourist 
facilities/business centre).

• There is some potential to build on the 
existing tourism-related networks and 
catchments, although site typography and 
location will limit potential.

 
Education, science and innovation

• Can act as a major and critical anchor if an 
occupier can be found. 

• Local universities could be used to promote 
the area and site although sector-specific 
targeting would be the most effective and 
sustainable.

• Aviation hub encompassing training and 
technology would offer an opportunity to 
build on the existing skill set.

• Agri-tech may be an appropriate use and 
would need to complement the existing 
offer in the region.

• Is ideally placed to be a key site on the 
Cambridge to Norwich Technology 
Corridor.

 Page 69



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

22

Housing

• The Forest Heath district currently offers 
greater affordability than some other areas 
in the Cambridge sub-region.

• Housing demand is present within 
the current Forest Heath market with 
land supply traditionally keeping pace 
with demand. However, a larger-scale 
development would require additional 
employment to underpin demand as well 
as creating a sustainable development. Any 
housing development must be in line with 
the locally assessed housing need.

• Sustainable transport links and high quality 
local jobs are critical to ensure that any 
residential development is more than 
commuter housing and it is plugged into 
the wider economy.

• The eco-awareness of Cambridge and west 
Suffolk positions Mildenhall to embrace a 
contemporary housing agenda including 
excellent environmental standards, design 
that promotes healthy lifestyles, creating 
communities that keep older people 
healthy and independent and sustainable 
development that meets garden community 
principles. 

• West Suffolk has an ageing population 
which would serve to drive up demand for 
specialist housing ranging from retirement 
living through to extra care housing, for 
example allowing people with dementia to 
continue to live independently and safely. 

Emerging sectors

• Significant support from the UK 
Government exists in order to improve 
the competitiveness of the agri-tech 
sector and a £160 million UK Strategy for 
Agricultural Technologies.

• There may be potential to create links with 
existing institutions such as the Norwich 

Research Park (which combines four world-
renowned research institutions, all of which 
engage in agri-tech, supported by the 
research at the University of East Anglia 
and the Norfolk and Norwich University 
Hospital) but this opportunity would require 
collaboration and intervention to attract an 
anchor occupier. 

• In the last 20 years, energy generation 
and sustainable industries have been 
popular initiatives from the perspective of 
public sector support; however, in recent 
years, the Government has reduced the 
support for solar farms, where solar arrays 
are ground-mounted on either agricultural 
or brownfield land. 

• Several RAF site conversions to solar farms 
in East Anglia include RAF Stradishall near 
Bury St Edmunds, purchased by Santander 
and one of the UK’s biggest solar farms 
and RAF Coltishall in Norfolk, a solar farm 
providing power for 10,000 homes.

• There are no known requirements for 
institutional or Foreign Direct Investment 
(FDI) uses although this should continue to 
be monitored. 

19 Public realm

• Improved public realm offers opportunities 
to improve existing, and create new, 
pedestrian and cycle links between the site 
and its neighbouring communities. 

• As a legacy military site there is some 
mature landscaping but the site is open  
and sparse. 

• The use of high quality landscape and 
public realm will set the benchmark for 
development and impart a sense of pride 
in the local community. This will require 
improving the quality of existing open 
spaces with high quality materials and 
facilities. 

Page 70



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

23

• The scale of the site also gives tremendous 
opportunity to create public open space 
which celebrates the local heathland 
landscape and draws people into the area.

• There are some examples of excellent 
public realm and landscape delivered by 
the private sector because they see long-
term value benefits. For a site with the 
economics of Mildenhall this will generally 
not be a priority for those driven solely 
by profit and we think the opportunity to 
create an exceptional place could be lost 
without early public sector intervention.

Page 71



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

24

Market overview

Aviation

A range of potentially viable aviation uses has been identified.  
A detailed business plan is required, together with exploratory 
discussions with operators. In anticipation of a positive result it 
is recommended that the airfield and supporting infrastructure 
is protected and that an area of 200 acres is protected for 
aerospace activity.

Housing

Our assessment is that a predominantly residential 
development would be a sub-optimum outcome if it 
was at the expense of creating a balanced mix of uses 
including high skilled employment.

Logisitic

Whilst there may be some demand from local firms for the 
hangar space at modest rents, there is limited potential 
for large scale, national occupiers without substantial 
improvements to the strategic national road infrastructure.

1,965m

Cambridge 
 Airport

1,841m

Norwich  
Airport

3,049m

London 
Stansted

2,810m

RAF 
Mildenhall

Page 72



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

25

Emerging sectors, including sustainable energy 

Renewable energy generation offers some potential to 
boost employment and there are limited site constraints 
to restrict them. No known institutional demand or FDI 
requirement in the area.

Agri-tech

Agri-tech could be an appropriate use and would 
need to complement the existing offer in the region.

Offices

Potential for some spin-off from Cambridge’s market but, 
despite economic and population growth in East Anglia, 
there is no existing office/business cluster around Mildenhall 
and this sector would require public sector intervention.

Retail and leisure

Ancillary retail to support other uses is likely to be viable 
but given the location, catchment area and accessibility 
– as well as established centres at Bury St Edmunds and 
Cambridge – significant demand is unlikely.

Education, science, innovation

Any potential to build off the success of 
Cambridge’s science parks would likely 
require an anchor in this location – typically 
this would be a university or research facility. 

Page 73



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

26

The task
The public sector should  
be at the heart of delivering 
the vision

20 We think that the public sector 
has a critical role in delivering 
the vision so that an appropriate 
strategic framework can be 
established prior to development

• Vision and innovation – a project of 
this size requires a visionary approach 
and is much more than just property 
development. It will require wider support 
to ensure future generations can derive 
lasting economic and social benefits. 
For instance, attracting the high-skilled 
jobs for local people will need a focus 
on driving the knowledge economy, 
technology sectors and education and the 
higher level skills base including advanced 
planning by local education providers to 
create the right skills to support the new 
employment.

• Coordination – the project will require 
national and local government strategies 
and resources to be coordinated. The scale 
of the development will require input 
from central Government departments, 
Forest Heath District Council, Suffolk 
County Council, the HCA and the Local 
Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) to maximise 
the impact of the project at national and 
sub-regional level and to keep land in 
public sector ownership to control phasing 
of development.

• Strong governance and public/private 
partnerships – the precedent case studies 
demonstrate that a complex and long-

term project such as RAF Mildenhall will 
require committed leadership and political 
support to be delivered through strong 
governance. The public sector bodies have 
a vital role to play in establishing the vision 
and credentials for the site and attracting 
private sector partners.

• Technical challenges – the legacy of 
military use could mean large, abnormal 
site costs and the scale of development 
is likely to require major off-site 
infrastructure upgrades. The public sector 
has a critical role to play in investing in 
appropriate infrastructure and capturing 
land value uplifts.

• Funding and financial mechanisms 
– major site development costs are 
likely to require public funding from 
central Government as well as Forest 
Heath District Council, Suffolk County 
Council, the LEPs and other sources, 
including potential funding from the 
Norfolk and Suffolk devolution deal. 
Innovative funding mechanisms such as 
Enterprise Zones which are designated 
by Government to encourage business 
investment on a site, and business 
rates retention schemes to fund major 
infrastructure will need to be pursued. 

• Local Plan Process – Whilst the site 
cannot be included in the Local Plan 
currently because of the uncertainties 
around scale of release and contamination 
issues, once there is clarity on these issues 
it will  be considered as part of the review 
of the Local Plan. 

• Community and stakeholder 
involvement – another key lesson from 
many of the reference case studies is 
that existing communities could feel 

Page 74



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

27

overwhelmed by the scale of this project 
and there is a real need to be in the 
driving seat to engage with and involve 
them in the design of the project from the 
outset to ensure the regeneration brings 
sustainable benefits.

• Timescales – this is a long term project.  
It will be 2023 before the USVF 
withdrawal. The redevelopment of the 
site will impact the social, economic and 
physical landscape of Mildenhall and 
surrounding communities over a wide 
area and regeneration will be phased 
over at least 20 years. There will be a 
need for long-term leadership to maintain 
momentum and manage the expectations 
of the local communities.

Page 75



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

28

Delivering the vision together

As local partners we will make a long term 
commitment to ensuring this vision is delivered 
and we are asking Government to join with us 
to provide a focused and integrated approach 
and a shared agenda for a new Mildenhall.

21 A shared vision

• A project of this scale and timescale needs 
sustained and committed leadership from 
the public sector at national and local level 
to give confidence to local communities, 
businesses and investors that the project 
has the necessary backing to succeed.

• The public and private sectors also need 
to speak with one voice to unite and put 
the legacy objectives at the heart of future 
planning for RAF Mildenhall. The One 
Public Estate programme and potential 
Norfolk and Suffolk devolution deal will 
help to improve this and RAF Mildenhall 
can become a showcase for alignment of 
public sector strategies and resources to 
deliver growth.

• We have some clear principles and 
legacy objectives which are set out in this 
document. These point strongly to mixed 
use, sustainable development with jobs at 
the forefront. We do not see a residential 
led commuter town as the default option 
and we must avoid mothballing the site at 
all costs. 

• We propose a strong governance structure 
which draws on best practice from other 
military and industrial site closures which 
we envisage will have a Strategy Board 
and a Delivery and Implementation Board. 

• The public sector should take a proactive 
role in maintaining the site in single 

ownership and take the role of a ‘master 
developer’ to provide project leadership 
and manage the planning, consultation 
and strategic infrastructure stages of the 
development. 

22 The governance structure 
should involve a collaborative 
approach with key public and 
private sector parties such as 
Forest Heath District Council, 
Suffolk County Council, a 
prospective Norfolk and Suffolk 
devolved combined authority, 
the DIO, the HCA, the LEPs, the 
Chamber of Commerce, business 
stakeholders, and the Cabinet 
Office and HM Treasury

We will establish a strong governance structure 
which will have two key functions

• Strategy Board – public and private sector 
stakeholders responsible for strategy, key 
funding streams and the big decisions.

• Delivery and Implementation Board – 
an operating function including public 
and private sector representation to 
ensure progress on delivery, site and area 
promotion, engagement with community 
and business groups. 

The involvement of the private sector will be 
crucial to maximise the capacity to deliver 
the ambitious and significant development 
programme.

Page 76



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

29

23 We have considered a range of delivery options

The three main delivery options that we have assessed are:

HCA-led delivery As it currently stands, the DIO intend to transfer ownership to the HCA. In 
this scenario, the type and form of development will be driven to a significant 
degree by the needs/requirements of the HCA in terms of both the outputs 
of development (housing and job numbers) but also its financial requirements 
and attitude to property risk. It would be important under this scenario 
that local partners engage early with the HCA and establish an effective 
governance arrangement in order that the local partners have some real and 
sustained influence. 

HCA/local partners 
joint delivery

The HCA and local partners would become fully aligned either through a 
properly constituted governance structure at one extreme or a shared interest 
in the land at the other. This could be a joint enterprise or more likely for 
governance reasons the local partners could take ownership of part of the site 
such as the initial land needed to create a viable early employment hub. 

Locally-led delivery In this scenario, local partners would seek to intervene more directly by taking 
a direct stake in the land, either alongside the HCA or on its own. This would 
give local partners more control but would also increase the risk.

deliverability of the project and to then 
introduce private investors to fund discrete 
phases of the development. 

• We will support capacity funding with 
local resources to enable a business plan 
to be developed for the aviation uses and 
other employment opportunities described 
in this prospectus and to support 
discussions with potential operators and 
investors. 

• We will promote the site and the wider 
area as a place where people want to live, 
work and visit. A focused promotion will 
convey Mildenhall’s vision and identity 
to create demand for scalable inward 
investment. 

• Should there be a decision for continued 
military use then we will collaborate 
with the DIO to apportion land uses that 
enable civilian (including aviation) and 
military uses to work alongside each other.  

Our assessment is that a joint HCA/local 
partners-led approach is optimal because it 
shares risk, it embeds a collaborative and joint 
approach to delivering a shared vision and it 
increases capacity.  

24 Local commitment 

• Local partners are committed to delivering 
the best possible outcomes for the people 
and business of Mildenhall, Forest Heath 
and the region. 

• We will develop a strong partnership 
with central government (including DIO 
and HCA) that will provide a strong 
combination of land ownership, funding 
resources, delivery expertise and local 
knowledge and buy-in. 

• We will actively explore early opportunities 
for public sector intervention to 
pump-prime key off-site and on-site 
infrastructure to build confidence in the 

Page 77



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

30

25 Our requests of Government

• We have set out our objectives and vision. 
We are asking Government to work in 
partnership with us, to respond to this 
prospectus and to accelerate and clarify 
decisions where possible about the timing 
of the USVF withdrawal.

• We ask for minimum site closure 
standards to be applied before all or part 
of the site is transferred from the military 
or a dowry fund be established to meet 
the costs. 

• Whilst aerospace options are explored 
further, the airfield, supporting 
infrastructure and an area of at least 200 
acres be protected for aerospace activity. 

• We are asking Government and its 
agencies to make available capacity 
funding to assess the requirement 
and costs of new infrastructure 
required  and to develop business cases 
which demonstrate the return on this 
investment.

• We ask that Government provides a 
funding package to be repaid from sale 
proceeds of the land when it becomes 
developed to meet the costs of the 
required improvements to infrastructure 
and services to facilitate new 
development. 

• We want to explore with Government the 
benefits of designations such as Enterprise 
Zones, Housing Zones and development 
corporations to support delivery of the 
Vision.

• We ask that Government works with us 
to jointly develop a masterplan for the 
site that builds on the work of this Vision 
and Prospectus, having regard to local and 
central government priorities. To support 
this work we ask Government to share 
all information gathered to date so that 
we can jointly assess the need for further 
work to be commissioned jointly.

Page 78



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

31

Page 79



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

32

Glossary

Term Meaning Page

agri-tech Agricultural technology – making farming and growing more productive 
by using technology. Eastern England is home to world-leading agri-tech 
companies and research.

5

aircraft   
de-manufacturing

Process of carefully taking apart aircraft so that components in good 
condition can be re-used or salvaged.

15

Cabinet Office Government’s corporate centre with overall responsibility for government 
property, among other things.

28

capacity funding Funding awarded to allow an organisation to do extra work created by a 
project. This kind of funding is usually spent on extra staff or professional 
and legal services rather than the bricks and mortar parts of the project.

8

cargo conversion Where a passenger aeroplane is converted to carry cargo rather than 
passengers. While involving a lot of engineering work, it can be cheaper for 
operators than buying a new cargo plane.

21

catalytic occupier 
or catalytic 
‘anchor’

An occupier acts as a catalyst when it kickstarts interest in and attracts 
others to a development. 5

combined 
authority

A combined authority is a group of local authorities who are given powers 
and funding through devolution. A deal to set up a Norfolk and Suffolk 
combined authority is going through the process of being agreed by councils 
and the government.

28

composites Advanced manufacturing material made up of a matrix and reinforcement 
which, when combined, give properties superior to the properties of the 
individual components (eg carbon fibre-reinforced polymers). The primary 
benefit of a composite material is weight saving for its relative stiffness and 
strength.

8

Core Strategy Planning policy document – sets out overall vision and strategy for 
development in Forest Heath up to 2026.

17

development 
corporations

Bodies set up by government that focus on development in a particular area. 
London has Mayoral Development Corporations, and some devolution deals 
have also included locally-accountable development corporations.

30

DIO Defence Infrastructure Organisation – part of the UK Ministry of Defence. 
Builds and looks after the infrastructure and facilities used by the military.

7

EZ Enterprise Zones – areas set out by local authorities to offer incentives for 
businesses such as discounts on business rates.

32

FDI Foreign Direct Investment – money invested by an overseas firm, sometimes 
as part of establishing a new presence in an area.

11

GVA Gross Value Added – total value of everything produced by an area or sector 
of industry (measure of economic output).

8

Page 80



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

33

Term Meaning Page

HCA Homes and Communities Agency – government agency responsible for 
increasing the supply of housing. It has a say when government-owned land 
becomes available for regeneration.

7

HMT Her Majesty’s Treasury – government department in charge of taxes and 
government spending. It has a say in how much money the government 
aims to raise from the sale of the RAF Mildenhall site.

28

housing tenures Different kinds of housing tenure include private ownership, private rental, 
social housing and shared ownership, as well as other more specialised 
kinds. A mix of housing tenures is important to make sure that there is 
housing to suit all kinds of local need.

5

Housing Zones Brownfield (previously developed) areas that the government has agreed 
to provide investment funding for to help build new housing. The money is 
in the form of low cost loans and is intended to be spent on removing the 
barriers to construction.

30

inward 
investment

Where money is invested in an area by a firm from another location. Often 
investment in premises, staff and equipment and adds to the local economy.

5

joint enterprise Commercial partnership between two or more organisations. A joint 
enterprise is sometimes structured as a company with shares held by the 
partner bodies.

29

LEP Local Enterprise Partnerships – regional business/local government 
partnerships who decide priorities for public investment in their local area. 
Forest Heath District Council is part of two LEPs, Greater Cambridge Greater 
Peterborough and New Anglia.

26

Mildenhall Hub Project to make public services in Mildenhall more efficient by putting them 
in the same place. Services like leisure, education, emergency services and 
more will share facilities and be less expensive to run.

5

MRO Maintenance, Repair and Overhaul – engineering work on aeroplanes, from 
routine maintenance to fitting them out with specialist equipment. This can 
be performed by a commercial or military operator, an equipment or aircraft 
manufacturer, or by an independent company.

15

OPE One Public Estate – partnership between central and local government 
aimed at making better use of publicly-owned land. 

8

operator In aviation an operator is a business or organisation that uses aircraft for 
commercial purposes. 

11

pump prime Where the public sector gives a boost to business by injecting money into 
the economy. This can be done by simply spending more money, or through 
strategic investments that create work.

21

Site Allocations 
Local Plan 

Planning policy document – sets out which sites the district council thinks 
should be developed, and what they should be used for.

17

West Suffolk 
Property Board

Made up of representatives of public sector organisations working in West 
Suffolk, including Forest Heath District Council. The board oversees public 
sector property projects.

8

Page 81



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

34

Contacts

Forest Heath  
District Council
College Heath Road
Mildenhall IP28 7EY
Tel: 01638 719000  
Email: mildenhallfuture@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough 
Local Enterprise Partnership
The Incubator
Huntingdon PE28 4WX
Tel: 01480 277180
Email: info@gcgp.co.uk

New Anglia  
Local Enterprise Partnership 
Centrum 
Norwich Research Park 
Norwich NR4 7UG
Tel: 01603 510070 
Email info@newanglia.co.uk

Suffolk Chamber of Commerce, 
Newmarket & District
8 Swan Lane Business Park
Exning
Newmarket CB8 7FN
Tel: 01638 263107
Email: newmarket@suffolkchamber.co.uk

Suffolk County Council
Endeavour House
8 Russell Road
Ipswich IP1 2BX
Tel: 0345 606 6067
Email: customer.service@suffolk.gov.uk

Page 82



VISION AND PROSPECTUS

35

Page 83



9/2016

Page 84



 

   

 

 

 

RAF MILDENHALL 
VISIONING STUDY   
FINAL DRAFT  

PREPARED FOR 

 

FOREST HEATH DISTRICT COUNCIL 

WEST SUFFOLK COUNCIL 

AUGUST 2016 

 

COMMERCIALLY SENSITIVE AND 

CONFIDENTIAL 

 

Page 85

hhardinge_4
Typewritten Text
APPENDIX B



 
RAF MILDENHALL VISIONING STUDY 

 

 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Contents 

1. Executive Summary 1 

1.1 The Vision 1 
1.2 The Need 1 
1.3 The Lessons 4 
1.4 The Opportunity 5 
1.5 The Asks of Government 8 

2. Introduction 11 

2.1 RAF Mildenhall: The Story So Far 11 
2.2 Scope of Report 12 

3. Securing a Positive Legacy 14 

3.1 The scale of the ambition 14 
3.2 Local priorities and FHDC objectives for RAF Mildenhall 14 
3.3 Key stakeholders 14 

4. Site Baseline 16 

4.1 Scale, Location and Catchment 16 
4.2 Infrastructure 17 
4.3 Aviation Infrastructure 19 

5. Policy Status 20 

5.1 National 20 
5.2 Local 20 
5.3 Site Specific 24 

6. Precedent Case Studies 27 

7. Sector Analysis – Market Assessment of Land Use 
and Aviation Options 38 

7.1 Land Use Options – Market Assessment 38 
7.2 Aviation Options 55 
7.3 Strategic fit 76 

8. Viability Assessment 90 

8.1 Indicative development schedules 90 
8.2 Viability testing 97 
8.3 Viability Results 102 
8.4 Development Period 103 
8.5 Commercial trajectories 104 

9. Interventions & Delivery 105 

9.1 The need for Intervention 105 
9.2 Delivery Options 105 
9.3 Funding Sources 109 

Page 86



A PROPOSAL FOR 

RAF MILDENHALL VISIONING STUDY 

 

 

9.4 Public Sector Response 114 

10. Conclusions 116 

10.1 Vision 116 
10.2 Key Messages to take to the Government 117 

Appendix 1 120 

Issues impacting future use of RAF Mildenhall 120 
Data Sources 121 
Limitations 123 

Appendix 2 124 

SWOT Analysis 124 

Appendix 3 - Occupier Sites & Competing Land Supply 125 

 
 

Page 87



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 1  
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 The Vision 

The following Vision has been agreed with the project stakeholders: 

“Forest Heath District Council (FHDC) and its partners have started intensive engagement across 

Government, including the Defence Infrastructure Organisation (DIO)/Homes & Communities Agency 

(HCA), to build consensus around a sustainable social, environmental and economic plan. Mildenhall 

is to be transformed into a successful mixed use, sustainable community. Royal Air Force (RAF) 

Mildenhall and appropriate expansion land outside the wire will grow comfortably alongside the existing 

communities which will benefit from improved and integrated services and public realm whilst retaining 

their own identities.  

Mildenhall will have a thriving business community that leverages the locational, physical and sectoral 

strengths of the site and the region. There will be room for existing local businesses to grow and we 

will pursue opportunities to attract inward investment in aviation and to secure occupiers attracted by 

the region’s existing clusters (such as agri-tech). Companies will be attracted by the region’s strengths 

in tourism and hospitality, its proximity - and separation - from Cambridge and the area’s exceptional 

quality of life.  

The enlarged community will have access to a range of affordable, quality housing in a range of tenures 

that compliments the existing stock.  The number and type of new houses will be appropriate in order 

to meet local needs and we will work with stakeholders to explore the opportunity for new and emerging 

delivery models including custom build, a range of retirement living including care homes and Starter 

Homes. With access to jobs, as well as new social and leisure facilities including formal and informal 

open space, Mildenhall will be a distinctive and aspirational place to live, work, bring up a family and 

retire.  

Ours is an optimistic and ambitious vision. There will be challenges to overcome: the condition of the 

site; the capacity of existing services and infrastructure to accommodate new development; the 

economic impacts as the United States Air Force (USAF) Visiting Forces shift to RAF Lakenheath; and 

the investment that is needed to attract, and risk-share with, new catalytic occupiers will need to be 

addressed. We propose to set up a governance structure that sets the standard for future communities 

facing similar opportunities. We will use this structure to work collaboratively with stakeholders from 

across government and the private sector to find the best solutions to the challenges of delivering this 

vision.“ 

1.2 The Need 

RAF Mildenhall: The Story So Far 

RAF Mildenhall is currently an operational airbase located on the edge of Mildenhall in West Suffolk. 

Previously used as an RAF station, the site now hosts the USAF. 

In January 2015 the US Department of Defense (USDoD) confirmed that American Forces will withdraw 

from RAF Mildenhall from 2022. At the same time, the USDoD announced that RAF Lakenheath is to 

expand with new F-35A jets and additional personnel and that it would be investing a minimum of $120 

million (£80 million) in infrastructure construction at RAF Lakenheath to support the F-35A.  FHDC has 

been notified by the DIO that a Strategic Defence and Security Review (SDSR16) decision on the future 

Page 88



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 2  
 

of RAF Mildenhall will be made by 2018. This decision will clarify, through the military Footprint Strategy, 

whether there is an ongoing use of RAF Mildenhall by the British Armed Forces for all or part of the 

site.   

In advance of SDSR16, the DIO has confirmed that it expects that there will be no future operational 

use by the RAF and that any ongoing need would be for the British Army. The DIO anticipates that 

under either a ‘whole closure’ or ‘partial closure’ scenario, any surplus estate would transfer to the HCA. 

FHDC has started an intensive engagement across government, including the DIO/HCA, to build 

consensus around a sustainable social, environmental and economic plan. 

Cushman & Wakefield has been appointed to undertake a site baseline and feasibility study in order to 

test a range of options for different land uses, provide external ‘challenge’ and commercial market-

facing insight to ensure that the aspirations are deliverable and support the creation of our vision for 

the regeneration of RAF Mildenhall. 

The Scale of the Ambition 

The scale of RAF Mildenhall is significant, extending to some 440 hectares, both in absolute terms and 

also in the context of other site closures nationally. Achieving the full potential of RAF Mildenhall is a 

long term project, the impact of which will be a positive legacy for many future generations.  The scale 

of the opportunity in comparison to the existing geography and economy of the area makes this a 

complex project that will require significant financial and other resources in order to unlock the site’s 

full potential. 

Local priorities and FHDC objectives for RAF Mildenhall  

FHDC has undertaken significant public engagement which has revealed: 

 Opportunity to create a new identity for RAF 

Mildenhall; avoid the site being mothballed   

 Need for certainty, consistent announcements and 

proper engagement, not press speculation 

 Complete the visioning and planning work in 

advance; learn from previous case studies 

 All options to be assessed for viability; strong 

support for continued aviation use if this is viable 

 Economic strength of Cambridge is an opportunity 

and a threat; new uses must address impacts on 

infrastructure and public services  

 Any new housing must be affordable with a range of 

tenures; avoid being a commuter town and retain 

separation of Beck Row, Mildenhall and West Row 

 Use the redevelopment to address the lack of health 

and retail facilities in Mildenhall 

Building on the public engagement, FHDC has developed a series of principles that should guide 

future development of RAF Mildenhall: 

 Support the strategic frameworks for FHDC, 

Suffolk County Council, the Local Enterprise 

Partnerships and One Public Estate (OPE) 

 Resolve any gaps or issues with local 

infrastructure  

 Create new jobs to mitigate the impact of jobs lost 

as a result of the closure  

 Take into consideration expansion to RAF 

Lakenheath  

 Bring a significant return of investment from the 

A11 upgrade 

 Sustainable use of the site which brings long term 

benefits to West Suffolk 

Page 89



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 3  
 

These principles are reflected in the legacy objectives which have guided the assessment of options:  

 Delivery of FHDC’s ‘principles’  

 Minimise adverse impacts of closure 

 Create new employment opportunities 

 Integrate development into existing communities 

Key Stakeholders 

FHDC are working with the DIO and the HCA as well as wider government stakeholders though OPE 

principles.  Through these stakeholders FHDC aims to create a positive legacy for RAF Mildenhall by 

creating an opportunity that makes both a positive contribution to local and regional communities.  

Policy 

Planning policy in relation to the site is relatively open and will need to be developed as any masterplan 

comes forward over time. Infrastructure provision and the need to keep the existing settlements 

surrounding RAF Mildenhall as distinct entities are likely to be key determinants of policy.   

The need for intervention 

There are several factors that create a significant need for public sector intervention: 

 Need for clarity over future use 

 Scale of the site   

 The likely need for support to optimise the continued use of the site for aviation   

 Need to pursue alternative uses that have strategic fit with the legacy objectives   

 Viability and land value capture  

 New uses will constrain the existing infrastructure  

 Investing for the long term     

 The build up at RAF Lakenheath   

 Safeguarding local businesses 

 

Page 90



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 4  
 

1.3 The Lessons 

Precedent Case Studies 

The following themes have been identified from the nine case studies assessed to draw on best practice 

and lessons learned on the planning, governance and delivery of sites of a similar scale and complexity: 

Infrastructure and Accessibility 

There is a strong correlation between connectivity (accessibility by road/rail/air and data connectivity) 

and property market activity, occupier demand and values. Northstowe is a good demonstration project 

given the proposed improved access to A14 and a road linking the site to the Guided Busway. Coltishall 

has had less fundamental change, partly because it is in a relatively isolated location to the North of 

Norwich. RAF Finningley is succeeding as a commercial airport (Robin Hood Airport), albeit struggling 

to fully justify upfront conversion expenditure, because it has a large passenger/consumer catchment. 

Anchor Uses 

Large scale military and industrial sites lack market ‘presence’ because of their former uses and as 

they are often in poorly functioning property locations. Establishing occupier demand at scale requires 

investment to promote the location and to attract ‘anchor’ uses and occupiers to establish focus and 

profile. Alconbury demonstrated that Enterprise Zones can help. The effect of anchor occupiers is 

apparent at Discovery Park where Pfizer’s decision to retain some presence helped establish a supply 

chain from which other occupiers could benefit. 

Governance and Delivery 

Governance has been identified across many of the case studies as being critical. At British Aerospace 

(BAE) Hatfield there were clear lines across stakeholders including the local MP. At Whitehill and 

Bordon, Discovery Park and Shell Haven, clear governance was seen as critical. It is interested to note 

that at two of the case studies the participants said, even though governance was an ingredient of their 

success, they would in hindsight have brought in an even clearer governance structure earlier. 

Creating a Vision 

Any commercial organisation committing to the site will want to be certain that what is being offered will 

be delivered. Stakeholders (e.g. HCA/FHDC) will need to be seen as being ‘on board’ to deliver the 

Vision before occupiers take risks with their business. The redevelopment of the BAE Hatfield site was 

successful partly due to the early stage masterplan, visioning and public engagement. Alconbury is 

seeing dividends of sticking to its task of attracting mid tech occupiers. Conversely, the lack of clear 

vision at Manston contributed to its failure as an airport. 

Early Project Planning 

Sites with the scale and complexity of Mildenhall require careful and early business planning. Shell 

Haven’s success was partly due to early financial appraisals and market analysis to develop the exit 

plan as well as a detailed Technical Pack to support international marketing. The development of 

Whitehill and Bordon is showing that with effective planning and analysis of market demands and 

constraints a viable vision can be achieved, together with the benefit of quantifying the added value of 

upfront investment to create a strong business case. 

  

Page 91



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 5  
 

1.4 The Opportunity 

Land Use Options – Market Assessment  

A range of potential land uses options has been assessed with the following conclusions:  

Aviation 

A range of potentially viable aviation uses have been identified. A detailed business plan is required, 

together with exploratory discussions with operators. In anticipation of a positive result it is 

recommended that the airfield and supporting infrastructure is protected and that an area of 200 acres 

is protected for aerospace activity. 

Offices 

Potential for some spin-off from Cambridge’s market but, despite economic and population growth in 

East Anglia, there is no existing office/business cluster around Mildenhall and this sector would require 

significant public sector intervention. 

Industrial and Logistics 

Whilst there may be some demand from local firms for the hangar space at modest rents, there is 

limited potential for large scale, national occupiers without substantial improvements to the strategic 

national road infrastructure. 

Retail and Leisure 

Ancillary retail to support other uses is likely to be viable but given the location, catchment area and 

accessibility – as well as established centres at Bury St Edmunds and Cambridge – significant demand 

is unlikely. 

Housing 

Housing demand is present within the current Forest Heath market with land supply traditionally keeping 

pace with demand. However, a larger scale development would require additional employment to 

underpin demand as well as creating a sustainable development. Our assessment is that a 

predominantly residential development would be a sub-optimum outcome if it was at the expense of 

creating a balanced mix of uses including high skilled employment. 

Innovation 

Any potential to build off the success of Cambridge’s science parks would likely require an anchor in 

this location - typically this would be a university or research facility.   

Agri-tech 

Agri-tech could be an appropriate use but would need to complement the existing offer in the region 

and have a clear strategy as it is not a standalone sector. 

Emerging Sectors 

Renewable energy generation offers some potential to boost employment and there are limited site 

constraints to restrict them. No known institutional demand or Foreign Direct Investment requirement 

in the area. 

Shortlisted Scenarios 

The research revealed three scenarios with potential for viability testing, each are capable of being 

modelled with a ‘whole release’ and a ‘partial release’ sensitivity (only Scenario 3 has been modelled 

Page 92



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 6  
 

on this basis in order to check that aviation use could still be delivered on this site – we consider that 

other scenarios can more easily be reduced in scale). 

 Scenario 1: residential led development, utilising the northern portion of the site for housing 

with ancillary retail and the south east for industrial.  

 Scenario 2: employment led development with a significant quantum of business space and 

industrial use. The business space is focussed to the north of the site, with industrial to the 

south. The scenario includes a reduced residential quantum.  

 Scenario 3: aviation led development, assuming part retention of the runway and associated 

terminal for use as a recreational airfield. What land remains is assumed to be an industrial 

based business park with renewable energy provision. Scenario 3A: As above but assuming a 

partial release. 

Having regard to the objectives, we have assessed a scenario that includes the three main land uses 

from Scenarios 1-3 as a preferred mix of uses as follows: 

 Scenario 4: A hybrid scenario that has aviation to the north, employment adjoining the existing 

industrial estate, housing on the south and south west of the site (and on the expansion land 

and around the Mildenhall Hub) and a regional Heathland Country Park separating the new 

housing from West Row. 

All scenarios envisage the Mildenhall Hub to the west of the existing town on the expansion land and 

housing development on the expansion land (outside DIO red line). 

Viability 

The key conclusions from the viability assessment are: 

 No scenario shows significant positive surplus and are therefore all indicated to be unviable 

without public sector intervention. 

 The aviation and employment led scenarios generate the highest GVA, a key driver for the 

local communities and the agreed objectives.  

 A scenario with significant residential will improve viability relative to the business space and 

aviation options which have a lower return on investment.  

 Significant infrastructure costs create a large front loaded viability constraint for all scenarios 

and increase finance costs.  

 It is not unusual for major schemes such as this to be prima facie unviable at this stage, 

especially where significant infrastructure cost are required.   

 Costs and assumptions will be iterated as more information becomes available; schemes will 

be optimised e.g. by changing mix and phasing; viability can be used to reduce planning costs 

(most typically, the National Planning Policy Framework allows for lower levels of affordable 

housing to be delivered to improve viability) etc.  

 The lack of viability doesn’t mean that the schemes will not be delivered but it does point to 

public sector intervention being critical. 

 Part of the ask of government is to work together to address how viability can be improved.  
Page 93



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 7  
 

 A partial release and partial occupation by the British Army could be successful but this would 

depend on the quantum and basis of the military need.  On our ‘partial release’ scenario the 

British Army would require approximately half of the site, most likely to the north, and would 

require: single living accommodation; service family accommodation; garages and technical 

(former hangers) accommodation; welfare and catering accommodation; and office and 

headquarter accommodation.  

 In the partial release scenario we have assumed that the continued (civilian) aviation use of 

the site would require the airfield, supporting infrastructure and an area of 200 acres to be 

protected for aerospace activity. 

We will collaborate with the DIO and Front Line Commands to apportion land uses that enable civilian 

and military uses to work alongside each other.  

Delivery Options 

The three main delivery options have been assessed: 

HCA led delivery  

As it currently stands, the DIO intend to transfer ownership to the HCA. In this scenario, the type and 

form of development will be driven to a significant degree by the needs/requirements of the HCA in 

terms of both the outputs of development (housing and job numbers) but also its financial requirements 

and attitude to property risk. It would be important under this scenario that FHDC engages early with 

the HCA and establishes an effective governance arrangement in order that FHDC has real and 

sustained influence.  

 

HCA/FHDC joint delivery  

The HCA and FHDC (and other local partners) would become fully aligned either through a properly 

constituted governance structure at one extreme or a shared interest in the land at the other. This could 

be a joint enterprise or more likely for governance reasons FHDC could take ownership of part of the 

site such as the initial land needed to create a viable early employment hub.  

 

Locally led delivery  

In this scenario, FHDC and its local partners would seek to intervene more directly by taking a direct 

stake in the land, either alongside the HCA or on its own.  This would give FHDC more control but 

would also increase the risk. Our assessment is that a joint HCA/FHDC led approach is optimal because 

it shares risk, embeds a collaborative and joint approach to delivering a shared vision and increases 

capacity.  

 

Funding Sources 

Given the scale of the site and the long time period which is anticipated in order to bring it to fruition, a 

variety of funding sources will be required. Equally, public sector upfront investment/funding is critical 

to the successful delivery of a comprehensive scheme to provide the environment where private sector 

partners have the confidence to invest in later phases.  

The scale of investment required is unlikely to mean that direct local authority funding (e.g. through 

prudential borrowing) of early infrastructure works is desirable or achievable. The initial sources of 

funding which are most likely to be effective, deliverable and leverage private sector investment are 

those from bodies such as the HCA (through its investment in infrastructure provision on large sites to 

Page 94



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 8  
 

facilitate development), the emerging devolution deal for the area, Growing Places Fund and Tax 

Incremental Financing. 

In terms of the payback for this upfront funding, the mechanisms available as part of Enterprise Zones 

provide a strong template for sites of this scale. Mechanisms such as Supplementary Planning 

Documents (to enforce shared infrastructure funding from private developers) are not likely to be 

appropriate for this site and the payback from New Homes Bonus is insufficient. 

Public Sector Response 

The public sector has a critical role in delivering the Vision in order that an appropriate strategic 

framework can be established prior to development:   

 Coordination 

 Vision and innovation 

 Strong governance and public: private partnerships  

 Technical challenges  

 Funding and financial mechanisms  

 Community and stakeholder involvement 

 Timescales 

It is envisaged that the governance structure will involve a collaborative approach with key public sector 

parties such as Forest Heath District Council, West Suffolk Council, the DIO, the HCA, the LEPs, the 

Cabinet Office and potentially Her Majesty’s Treasury. 

1.5 The Asks of Government 

A Shared Vision 

 The public sector needs to speak with one voice to unite and put the legacy objectives at the 

heart of future planning for RAF Mildenhall 

 A residential led commuter town is not the default option and we must avoid mothballing the 

site  

 Government needs to be seen as being ‘on board’ to deliver the vision. 

 We recommend funding is made available for promoting the site and the wider area 

 Discussions with potential key aviation partners should be coordinated across the public sector  

Clear and Effective Decision Making 

 A strong governance structure needs to be established. 

 Government to accelerate and clarify decisions about the timing of the USVF withdrawal and 

any future British military requirement 

 A partial occupation by the British Army could be successful but we need urgent discussions 

to understand the quantum, nature and longevity of any presence. We are ready to collaborate 

Page 95



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 9  
 

with the DIO and Front Line Commands to apportion land uses that enable civilian and military 

uses.   

 The airfield, supporting infrastructure and an area of 200 acres should be protected for 

aerospace 

Infrastructure Interventions 

 Pump-priming infrastructure by the public sector   

 Government to make available capacity funding to assess the costs of infrastructure and to 

develop business cases which demonstrate the return on this investment   

 Government to provide a funding package to be repaid from sale proceeds of the land when it 

becomes developed to meet the costs of the required improvements to infrastructure and 

services to facilitate new development 

 In the event that there is a British military use for the site we ask that the costs of strengthening 

infrastructure is met by Government    

 Minimum site closure standards to be applied before the site is transferred from the military or 

a dowry fund should be established to meet the costs. 

OPE Principles and devolution  

 RAF Mildenhall represents an excellent opportunity to drive forward West Suffolk ’s OPE 

Programme by contributing to the ambitious place – shaping project for the town and 

surrounding area through co-ordinating activities using the public sector asset base.  

 The devolution agenda in Suffolk can use RAFM as a flagship to show how sustainable 

economic growth and homes and the provision of infrastructure can be planned and delivered 

on a major scale in the region. 

 In the event that the British Army have a requirement for part (or all) of the site, it needs to be 

recognised that this will be a very different presence to an RAF or USVF presence.  We 

therefore ask that in this scenario there is appropriate military community integration planning 

and funding made available. 

 We want to work with the HCA to ensure that they are not ‘penalised’ either financially or in 

how it accounts for the housing targets that will transfer with the land from the DIO in the event 

that our vision means it delivers less housing in order to deliver more employment. 

Delivery Approach  

 We ask that the public sector should take a pro-active role in maintaining the site in single 

ownership in the near term after closure, and taking the role of a ‘master developer’ to provide 

project leadership and manage the planning, consultation and strategic infrastructure stages 

of the development.  

 There are various models of public sector ownership which we want to explore with the DIO 

and the HCA but a partnership between central government such as DIO and HCA and local 

partners including FHDC could provide a strong combination of land ownership, funding 

resources, delivery expertise and local knowledge and buy-in. 

Page 96



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 10  
 

 A coordinated public sector delivery response will ensure that development at RAF Mildenhall 

comes forward holistically, employment uses are seen as a real priority rather than a planning 

condition to release the next phase of housing and that local needs can be delivered – for 

example by ensuring that skill straining is delivered in line with the build-out of new employment 

space or delivering demonstration housing projects that ensure the elderly can continue to live 

independently, safely and sociably.    

 This would likely be followed by a series of deals with private sector developers and occupiers 

to take forward phases in partnership with the public sector owners. 

 We ask that we work together across government to address how viability can be improved to 

deliver better returns to the public purse as well as improving the prospects of creating new 

jobs.  

 We would like capacity funding to pursue a business plan for the aviation uses described in 

this prospectus and to support discussions with potential operators. 

 We want to explore with government the benefits of designations such as Enterprise Zones, 

Housing Zones and development corporations and to support delivery of the Vision. 

 Aside from the delivery of new infrastructure and accommodation on the site there is a 

requirement for advanced skills training to support new employment. 

 

Page 97



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 11  
 

2. INTRODUCTION 

2.1 RAF Mildenhall: The Story So Far   

Royal Airforce (RAF) Mildenhall is an operational airbase located on the edge of Mildenhall in West 

Suffolk and close to the borders of Cambridgeshire and Norfolk. The site is extensive, covering some 

440 hectares (ha) (1,087 acres). 

Previously used as an RAF station, the site now hosts the United States Air Forces in Europe (USAFE) 

and forms a significant part of the United States Visiting Forces (USVF) presence in West Suffolk1. The 

USVF across both bases at RAF Mildenhall and RAF Lakenheath is estimated to account for 15,400 

jobs and contribute £690 million (m) Gross Value Added (GVA) into the West Suffolk economy. RAF 

Mildenhall itself supports employment for over 500 local people and requires 6,900 workers to live off 

base (a mix of US military, US civilians and UK staff).2   

In January 2015 the US Department of Defense (USDoD) confirmed that American Forces will withdraw 

from RAF Mildenhall by 2022. At RAF Lakenheath there will the new deployment of F-35A jets in 2020, 

this will see some deployment shifted from RAF Mildenhall to RAF Lakenheath (Westsuffolk,gov).  

Forest Heath District Council (FHDC) has been notified by the Defence Infrastructure Organisation 

(DIO) that a Strategic Defence Review (SDR16) decision as to the future of RAF Mildenhall will be 

made by 2018. . This decision will clarify whether there is an ongoing use of RAF Mildenhall by the 

British Armed Forces and, if so, whether this will incorporate the whole or part of the site. In advance 

of SDR16, the DIO has confirmed that it expects that there will be no future operational use by the RAF 

and that any ongoing need would most likely therefore be for the British Army. The DIO also anticipates 

that under either a ‘whole closure’ or ‘partial closure’ scenario, any surplus estate would be transferred 

to the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA).  

Although the precise nature and scale of the closure remains uncertain, what is clear is that the 80 year 

continued presence of the RAF/USAFE will soon be ending.  Despite the obvious impacts that this 

closure could have on the local economy, FHDC is determined that the it will create a positive legacy 

for RAF Mildenhall in order that the site can contribute to the local and regional economy and reduce 

the impacts of whole or partial closure. The biggest fear among the local community is that the base is 

mothballed with no attempt at regeneration. There are also concerns that the site is developed as a 

sterile commuter town without appropriate and accessible employment opportunities. 

FHDC has started an intensive process of engagement across government, including the DIO and the 

HCA to build consensus around a sustainable social, environmental and economic plan for the site.  

Progress to date includes: 

 FHDC has commissioned a study assessing the impacts of Understanding the impacts of USVF 

in West Suffolk and neighbouring districts2. 

 The government has established the Mildenhall, Alconbury and Molesworth (MAM) Working 

Group, chaired by Matthew Hancock MP (West Suffolk) with a remit to minimise the impacts 

from the closure of the three American airbases. 

 West Suffolk Council (which incorporates both FHDC and St Edmundsbury Council) and its 

partners set out the desire for a proactive approach to the regeneration of RAF Mildenhall within 

                                              
1 Source: RAF Mildenhall and RAF Lakenheath 
2 Source: SQW ‘Understanding the impacts of United States Visiting Forces in West Suffolk and neighbouring districts’   Page 98



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 12  
 

the Mildenhall Place-Shaping Project Services & Assets Delivery Plan (SADP) submitted under 

One Public Estate (OPE) Phase 3 in 2015. The SADP was successful and the partnership was 

awarded capacity funding. 

 FHDC has engaged locally with stakeholders including businesses, community 

representatives, partner organisations and the West Suffolk Property Board. 

 Initial discussions have been held with the DIO and the HCA with the intention that future 

proposals and announcements for RAF Mildenhall can be aligned with West Suffolk Council’s 

agenda for a broad and collaborative response so that the tremendous opportunities of RAF 

Mildenhall are not lost. 

This report builds upon this previous work and forms the research and analysis on which the 

accompanying Vision and Prospectus is based. 

2.2 Scope of Report   

2.2.1 Building on the Momentum 

Cushman & Wakefield’s (C&W) role is to undertake a site baseline and feasibility study in order to test 

a range of options for different land uses, provide external ‘challenge’ and commercial market-facing 

insight to ensure that the aspirations are deliverable and support the creation of a vision for the 

regeneration of RAF Mildenhall. 

C&W has undertaken an examination of the potential development options for RAF Mildenhall in line 

with FHDC principles to guide this assessment: 

 Support the strategic frameworks for FHDC, Suffolk County Council, the Local Enterprise 
Partnerships (LEPs) and OPE. 

 Resolve any gaps or issues with local infrastructure as identified by the Forest Heath Local 
Plan. 

 Create new jobs to mitigate the impact of jobs lost as a result of the closure of RAF Mildenhall. 

 Take into consideration expansion to RAF Lakenheath as part of the deployment of two F-35A 
squadrons. 

 Attract new investment, preferably from outside the current economic area, that will 
supplement, support or replace existing businesses. Thereby creating construction 
employment, sustainable new jobs, wealth generation for the population and public bodies, and 
future growth opportunities. 

 Bring a significant return of investment from the A11 upgrade. 

 Sustainable use of the site which brings long term benefits to West Suffolk. 

C&W has formed an approach based on the FHDC legacy aims and objectives. C&W ’s approach 

recognises that the regeneration of RAF Mildenhall can provide a substantial and positive legacy that 

provides sustainable economic growth and employment opportunities, new housing and significant 

social and community benefits to West Suffolk and the surrounding sub-region.  

Greater detail on the C&W’s scope of work and methodology can be seen in Appendix 1.  

Page 99



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 13  
 

2.2.2 Data Sources and Limitations 

We have relied upon the accuracy of reports that are listed in Appendix 1. This report is subject to 

limitations which can also be found at Appendix 1.  

 

Page 100



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 14  
 

3. SECURING A POSITIVE LEGACY 

3.1 The scale of the ambition 

If the opportunity is embraced collaboratively - initially across government and subsequently through 

positive engagement with the market - the redevelopment of RAF Mildenhall has the potential to 

significantly improve the social, economic and physical landscape of Mildenhall and the wider area.  

Achieving the full potential of RAF Mildenhall is a long term project, the impact of which will be a positive 

legacy for many future generations.  The scale of the opportunity in comparison to the existing 

geography and economy of the area makes this a complex project that will require significant financial 

and other resources in order to unlock the site’s full potential: 

 Coordinating national and local government strategies and resources.  

 Agreeing a clear and compelling Vision.  

 Drawing on the public sector to establish an appropriate strategic framework prior to 
development. 

 Involving the private sector downstream to maximise the capacity to deliver the ambitious and 
significant development programme.  

 Overcoming the technical challenges that large former military bases can bring. 

 Using appropriate innovative funding and financial mechanisms to optimise delivery and 
viability. 

 Community and stakeholder involvement.  

3.2 Local priorities and FHDC objectives for RAF Mildenhall  

C&W recognises that the local priority at RAF Mildenhall is to manage the opportunity and mitigate any 

impacts of the base closure on the local economy; RAF Mildenhall is not a site in isolation but is part of 

a wider community and any development at the site should address this wider area. FHDC outline in 

their RAF Mildenhall Baseline Study Vision Brief (April, 2016), a number of crucial issues that need to 

be considered and addressed within the potential development schemes (outlined in Section 2.1).  

The Steering Group has identified that creating new employment opportunities and the correct 

integration into new development into existing communities is key in creating an economically 

sustainable site. The Steering Group also highlighted that in order for integration and sustainable 

development to be achieved, the creation of a commuter settlement’ would not be appropriate or meet 

the primary objectives of the FHDC. The relationship of any development of the site with the existing 

settlements and land uses in Mildenhall, West Row and Beck Row is critical and the continued 

separation and distinctiveness of these locations is to be supported.  

3.3 Key stakeholders 

FHDC is working with the DIO and HCA as well as wider government stakeholders, following OPE 

principles.  Through these stakeholders FHDC aims to help secure a positive legacy for RAF Mildenhall 

by creating an opportunity that makes a positive contribution to local and regional communities.  

Page 101



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 15  
 

3.3.1 Defence Infrastructure Organisation (DIO) 

FHDC aims to collaborate with the DIO in creating a positive legacy for RAF Mildenhall. There are some 

grounds for optimism that the DIO and FHDC can become aligned to the extent that one of the DIO’s 

objectives is to engage with local authorities and communities in order to mitigate the impact of closures 

It needs to be recognised however that the DIO’s primary focus for its surplus real estate is to maximise 

sale proceeds (having regard to wider policy and site conditions) and to deliver its targets in relation 

to the release of land for housing.  A transfer to the HCA enables the DIO to ‘score’ its housing targets 

for that particular site.  Early engagement with the DIO is therefore critical so that these two objectives 

are moderated against FHDC’s objectives which point to a more balanced, mixed use redevelopment 

which might be at the expense of housing numbers.  Given the DIO’s clear objectives, the discussion 

may need to be broadened to other parts of government in order to help the DIO support FHDC without 

impacting on it delivering on its own targets – a form of ‘hypothecation’ ought to be possible if 

government takes a broad, joined up approach.    

3.3.2 Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) 

The HCA aims to increase the supply of new affordable and market housing as well as having its own 

targets set by government on the release of surplus public sector land for housing. The HCA works with 

local authorities to help achieve maximum economic impact from its interventions and ensure that 

where possible investment aligns with local ambitions.  As with the DIO, it needs to be recognised that 

the HCA’s targets on housing numbers are closely monitored by government and are designed to 

influence the outcomes of sites that it controls – put simply, the HCA needs to deliver on the housing 

numbers and it has no commercial land targets.  At face value this could skew the approach by the 

HCA towards a housing led scheme, particularly as it will effectively ‘inherit’ any DIO housing targets 

for RAF Mildenhall at the point of transfer. It is then incentivised by government to prepare sites for sale 

with a viable planning allocation or permission. These housing targets heavily influence the HCA but in 

practice they can be a very collaborative partner as has been borne out by some of the reference case 

studies. The HCA and its legacy organisations ‘get’ the value of sustainable, mixed use developments 

and indeed have been heavily involved in the thought leadership of creating balanced new communities 

with sustainable levels of employment.  Again, it is therefore essential that there is constructive early 

engagement with the HCA, supported by discussions across government, so that the HCA understands 

FHDC’s ambitions are broader than housing and that new employment is a critical objective. There may 

be some practical ways of supporting the HCA to deliver on its other targets such as safeguarding some 

land for the development of Starter Homes.  

3.3.3 One Public Estate/Cabinet Office 

 

OPE is an initiative delivered in partnership by the Cabinet Office Government Property Unit (GPU) and 

the Local Government Association (LGA). It provides practical and technical support and capacity 

funding to councils to deliver property-focused programmes in collaboration with central government 

and public sector partners. FHDC, working as part of the West Suffolk Property Board secured OPE 

capacity funding for the Mildenhall Hub public services centre and this was expanded to the wider 

Mildenhall Place Shaping Programme including RAF Mildenhall. The RAF Mildenhall site provides an 

good opportunity to utilise the OPE partnership and contacts to champion the site as a sustainable 

extension of the town and to bring central government and local public sector partners together to share 

assets, resources and expertise to support the project delivery. The GPU is part of the West Suffolk 

OPE governance arrangements and it would be helpful to include them in the RAF Mildenhall project 

governance when this is established. One of the purposes of OPE is to support local partners  and use 

government influence to overcome challenges and unlock public sector sites to enable economic 

growth and releasing RAF Mildenhall for development is a good test of this. 

Page 102



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 16  
 

4. SITE BASELINE 

4.1 Scale, Location and Catchment 

RAF Mildenhall is located on the North-West edge of the town of Mildenhall. The scale of RAF 

Mildenhall is significant, extending to some 440 ha, both in absolute terms and also in the context of 

other site closures nationally. The site is equivalent to the second largest DIO disposal when compared 

to its 2015 disposal programme.3  

Figure 1 Scale of Opportunity (DIO)  

The potential of the site to attract a diverse range of employment opportunities needs to recognise the 

current economic strengths of the area in order that opportunities for clustering and agglomeration can 

be addressed. Figure 2 illustrates the share of the market (by job numbers), which as a whole, differing 

sectors occupy based against the figures for Great Britain and the East of England. Great Britain shows 

an almost perfect circle with a spread across all services. This is also the East for the East of England 

with a slight pull towards construction and Wholesale and Retail. The economic profile for Forest Heath 

shows particular strength in the Primary Service sector (e.g. agriculture and farming) and the 

Accommodation & Food sector (e.g. hotels, holiday centres and restaurants). This economic profile is 

clearly significantly influenced by the relatively rural location and the site’s proximity to the horse racing 

industry at Newmarket and holiday centre at Center Parcs. Overall, the analysis shows that Forest 

Heath has almost four times the amount of Primary Services jobs compared to the rest of Great Britain, 

with Accommodation and Food almost two times that of wider Great Britain.  

  

                                              
3 Source: DIO Disposal Database, House of Commons Report June 2015. RAF Mildenhall added for comparison, not included 
in source data Page 103



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 17  
 

Figure 2 – Economic Sector Breakdown for Forest Heath District (by Sector employment) 

 
 

The northern boundary of the site forms part of Beck Row village and is adjacent to the A1101. Within 

RAF Mildenhall the North-West of the site comprises the majority of the existing housing stock and 

associated community uses. The rest of the site comprises the runway, airfield and operational 

buildings whilst the area surrounding the site is predominately rural and agricultural in use with small 

village settlements. 

 

4.2 Infrastructure 

4.2.1 Current Site  

[Information awaited on the existing assets from FHDC/ RAF will be used to supplement this 

section.] 

The site currently encompasses4: 

 146,000 square metres (sq m) of military warehouses including munitions storage. 

 41, 100 sq m of military admin/offices. 

 109 units for married family units (SFA, Serviced Family Accommodation). 

 631 dormitory units (SLA, Single Living Accommodation). 

 80 temporary lodging facilities.  

                                              
4 Source, SQW 2016 Page 104



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 18  
 

 228 visiting officer quarters.   

The site currently employs 700 local people, with 2,000 off-base homes situated within the local housing 

market (RAF Mildenhall Baseline Study Vision). The site also includes a number of ancillary uses such 

as libraries, leisure facilities (cinema, food outlets, bars, banks and supermarkets (SQW, 2016)).  

USVF data indicates that RAF Mildenhall and RAF Lakenheath accounted for 10,000 jobs in 2015 

including those who work on the air bases in a temporary capacity (FHDC, 2016). Additional on base 

facilities include healthcare and leisure with significant spending outside the base using local firms and 

businesses, accounting for £14,000,000 to £17,000,000 each year (FHDC, 2016).  

4.2.2 Future projections  

In order to understand the impact of the potential development scenarios a traffic study has been 

commissioned by FHDC to identify the highways and impact of any development scenarios on 

infrastructure.  

AECOM are currently undertaking a Site Allocations Traffic Study. Within this they are currently 

considering the impacts on current developments at a number of location; 

1) A14/A142 (A14 Junction 37); 

2) A14/A11/A1304 (A14 Junction 38); 

3) A11/A1101 Mildenhall Road/A1065 Brandon Road (A11 Fiveways); 

4) A1101 Kingsway/A1101 North Terrace/B1102 High Street; 

5) A1101 Kingsway/Brandon Road /A1101 Bury Road; 

6) Immediate surrounding villages of Beck Row, West Row, Eriswell, Worlington and Barton 

Mills. 

This has been formed on the back of AECOM’s Transport study conducted for FHDC (2009), further 

built on with a Technical Note in 2016. The Technical Note aims to identify the potential impacts of the 

emerging proposals for broad locations of housing provision (covering the Highways Assessment 

Section from the 2009 wider report).    

In relation to Mildenhall, the report suggest that there is likely to be an increase in traffic (both to and 

from the town), passing through the Fiveways roundabout junction (AECOM, 2016). The ‘Mildenhall 

Mixed and Residential Land Use Development, Traffic Assessment’ identifies that congestion is 

anticipated at a number of junctions across Mildenhall town centre. The study advises that, for those 

junctions where there is predicted to be a rise in traffic, a more detailed assessment and subsequent 

mitigation plan should be developed (AECOM, 2016).   

The study also considered a number of neighbouring areas where growth was predicted. With these 

locations (such as Red Lodge, Lakenheath and Brandon) being in close proximity to Mildenhall, traffic 

increases in these area are likely to have a wider impact and increase traffic within Mildenhall. In 

conjunction with this, AECOM also considered growth within neighbouring East Cambridgeshire due to 

the potential cumulative impacts on the A142 and A14 corridors (AECOM, 2016). AECOM suggest that 

the result of this assessment highlights the need for joint working between the two authorities to 

understand and develop an appropriate package of mitigation (AECOM, 2016). 

Page 105



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 19  
 

C&W has requested information from the DIO on site infrastructure. Current infrastructure provision 

indicates that areas of the site which sit closest to Beck Row (to the North) and Mildenhall (to the East) 

are likely to have greatest connectivity. 

4.3 Aviation Infrastructure  

[Information awaited on the existing assets from the DIO] 

The RAF base at Mildenhall currently consists of a 2,810 metre runway with no slot or surface access 

problems but some requirement for infrastructure investment. Navigation technology is in place and no 

obstacles are apparent.  

The site also comprises a number of key operational buildings including a control tower, office facilities 

and residential accommodation. In additions to these there are a number of buildings used for 

healthcare facilities and training.  

Page 106



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 20  
 

5. POLICY STATUS 

5.1 National  

5.1.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

Local planning authorities are under a statutory duty to prepare development plans for their 

administrative area based upon adequate and up to date evidence about the economic, social and 

environmental characteristics and prospects of the area. Legislation also requires that regard is to be 

had to the development plan when determining planning applications; and that decisions shall be made 

in accordance with the plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

The NPPF (or ‘the Framework’) sets out the national planning policies which must be taken into account 

in the preparation of local and neighbourhood plans. It states that the presumption in favour of 

sustainable development lies at the heart of national policy and that for plan making this means: 

 Local planning authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the development needs 

of their area; 

 Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt to rapid 

change, unless: 

o Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 

benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or 

o Specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted 

Local planning authorities also have a duty to cooperate on planning issues that cross administrative 

boundaries to ensure that strategic priorities are properly coordinated and clearly reflected in individual 

Local Plans. Joint working should enable local planning authorities to work together to meet 

development requirements which cannot wholly be met within their own areas. Such joint working 

should take account of different geographic areas, including travel-to-work areas. 

In order to demonstrate that a local plan is sound, it will need to be based on a strategy which seeks to 

meet objectively assessed development and infrastructure requirements, including unmet requirements 

from neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so and consistent with achieving sustainable 

development. Sufficient justification will is required to show the plan adopts the most appropriate 

strategy, when considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on proportionate evidence and 

that it can effectively be delivered over its plan period based on effective joint working on cross-

boundary strategic priorities. 

5.2 Local 

5.2.1 Local Planning Policy (West Suffolk Council – FHDC) 

FHDC is the local planning authority for Mildenhall. The current development plan for the district 

consists of the following: 

 Core Strategy: adopted in May 2010, the Core Strategy provides the overall vision for Forest 
Heath up until 2026, with housing projections up to 2031.  

 Joint Development Management Policies Document: adopted in February 2015, the Joint 

Development Management Policies document contains policies which form an important tool 

for the day-to-day determination of planning applications across the District. 
Page 107



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 21  
 

 Saved Policies: those saved policies from Forest Heath Local Plan of 1995 will remain in force 

until superseded by the adoption of new plans.  

 FHDC Local Plan Policies Map 2015: this shows those areas where different policies are 

applicable. The map will be revised as each Local Plan document is adopted.  

The adopted Policies Map shows Mildenhall Airfield as falling within the open countryside and without 

other policy designation other than a small area at the north-western end of the runway being allocated 

as a ‘local wildlife site’.  

Forest Heath Local Plan of 1995 ‘saved’ policies are those from the old local plan which remain up to 

date and which have not been replaced by either the Core Strategy or the Development Management 

DPD. It includes provision for an initial development of 100 dwellings to meet the accommodation needs 

of the two USAF airfields (Policy 3.6). 

The provision of a northern relief road around Mildenhall is supported (cross reference with policy 

CS12) and the proposed route is safeguarded (Policy 6.2). 

The Core Strategy defines Mildenhall as a market town and the strategy is for 4.5ha of employment 

land to be created between 2006 and 2026. Housing land will be allocated for a minimum of 260 

dwellings on brownfield land between 2010 and 2031. FHDC will also work with partners to implement 

transport schemes to relieve adverse impacts of traffic from the A1101 on Mildenhall (Policy CS1). 

Proposals for a further 1000 dwellings as a greenfield urban extension in Mildenhall were quashed by 

Court Order in April 2011. Consequently a single issue review is underway to determine the distribution 

of new housing across the district with the preferred options consultation concluding in July 2016 (see 

more below). 

Policy CS12 addresses strategic transport improvements which includes a scheme to relieve the 

adverse impact of traffic in Mildenhall. There are no details for this scheme included in the plan. 

The Joint Development Management Policies Document is a Local Plan document for both FHDC and 

St Edmundsbury Borough Council used in the day to day determination of planning applications. It does 

not contain any strategic policies on the location of development but focusses on the matters to be 

taken into account when assessing development proposals. 

It states that Masterplans will be required for proposals on land allocated in Local Plans and the Sites 

Allocations DPD, where a Concept Statement has been prepared, and also for any sites which by virtue 

of size, location or proposed mix of uses is justified by the Local Planning Authority to require a 

masterplanning approach (Policy DM3). Alternatively, development briefs maybe required for large 

sites (Policy DM4). Areas designated as countryside will be protected from unsuitable development 

(Policy DM5). 

Development which would have an adverse impact on protected species will not be permitted unless 

there is no alternative and measures have been undertaken reduce disturbance to a minimum and 

either maintain the protected species population on site or provide adequate alternative habitats to 

sustain at least current levels of population (Policy DM11). 

The re-use or replacement of buildings in the countryside is permitted for employment, tourist, 

recreational, community and residential use (Policy DM33). The policy does not however appear to 

contemplate a site of the scale of Mildenhall Airfield; Local Planning Policy (West Suffolk Council – 

FHDC). 

 

 

 

Page 108



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 22  
 

5.2.2 Emerging Local Policy  

 

The Core Strategy Single Issue Review identifies Mildenhall as a sustainable location for new 

development but notes the constraints on development in the town: 

 The special protection area for birds situated to the east of the settlement means there is very 

little scope for development in this direction without first demonstrating mitigation measures 

within the SPA and its buffers; 

 Aircraft noise from the operational airbase constrains development to the north; 

 The historic character of the central area; 

 The level of flood risk associated with land to the south of the town. 

The potential closure of Mildenhall airbase is noted but due to the uncertainty over the deliverability of 

the site and the timescale, it is not possible for this site to be put forward for development in the current 

local plan review. Consequently the review seeks to meet housing needs on other sites in the area. 

Two development options are proposed. Option 1 proposes higher growth at Mildenhall, Red Lodge 

and the primary villages whilst Option 2 proposes higher growth at Newmarket. Table 1 sets out the 

comparative housing growth at Mildenhall for the two options. It shows that in both cases substantial 

new housing is proposed at Mildenhall as there is already a good range of key services and facilities. 

Table 1 – Comparative Housing Growth at Mildenhall under two options 

Option Existing Commitments 

and Completions 

Additional 

Provision 

Total % Distribution 

1 177 1350 1527 22% 

2 177 1150 1327 19% 

The SHMAA confirms that Mildenhall lies within the Cambridge sub-region strategic housing market 

area and just beyond the Cambridge Travel to Work area. We note that Cambridge has the fastest 

expanding Travel to Work Area between 2001 and 2011 (source: Cambridge Centre for Housing and 

Planning Research June 2016).  

The Site Allocations Local Plan identifies which sites should be developed, in order to achieve the 

visions and objectives of the Core Strategy, (including the outcomes of the Single Issue Review to 

Policy CS7). The preferred Options consultation concluded at the beginning of July 2016 and was 

based upon growth strategy Option 1.  

The document acknowledges the environmental constraints affecting Mildenhall including the Special 

Protection Area to the east and land liable to flood to the south. It is noted that higher growth in 

Mildenhall could only be considered if it can be demonstrated that there are no adverse effects of the 

development on the integrity of the SPA through the Habitats Regulations Assessment process but that 

during the 2015 consultation, no evidence was presented to suggest that the SPA constraints could be 

overcome to allow a higher level of development. 

The Site Allocations document focusses growth on land to the west of the town (site M1a) which 

extends to 95 ha and is proposed for mixed use comprising 1,250 dwellings, 2.6 ha of employment and Page 109



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 23  
 

the ‘Mildenhall Hub’, a partnership initiative to rationalise and improve the public estate in the town 

which could potentially result in the co-location of public services comprising: 

 Council offices; 

 Mildenhall College Academy; 

 Pre-school; 

 Leisure facilities (indoor and outdoor); 

 Health centre; 

 Library; 

 Police Station; 

 Fire Station; 

 Primary School. 

Figure 3 is taken from the preferred options document and shows the strategic location of proposed 

new development sites. One of the objectives of the strategy is to avoid coalescence with surrounding 

settlements such as Barton Mills, Worlington, West Row, Beck Row and Holywell Row. 

Figure 3 – Strategic Location of Proposed new Development Sites 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Core Strategy sets out the spatial vision for Mildenhall. As part of this vision, Mildenhall will have 

a vibrant town centre with a broad range of shops and services meeting the needs of the wider 

catchment. New development will have enhanced the appearance, character and function of the town 

and aided regeneration, whilst ensuring the needs of the community are met. The town’s historic, 

cultural and archaeological assets will be enhanced and exploited to promote tourism. Additional 

housing, including provision which meets the needs of local people will have been provided, together 

with employment development. Mildenhall Industrial Estate will be expanded to meet employment Page 110



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 24  
 

demand with associated infrastructure put in place to accommodate this growth. Additional recreational, 

open space and community services and facilities will be provided to serve local needs. 

Mildenhall is defined within the Core Strategy as a Market Town.  

New employment land will be allocated for new development (approx. 4.5 ha) in Mildenhall between 

2006 and 2026.  

Any proposals within the adopted constraint zones will require a project level Habitats Regulations 

Assessment.  

FHDC will work with Suffolk County Council and other partners to implement transport schemes to 

relieve the adverse impacts of traffic resulting from new development and the growth of the general 

Suffolk and Norfolk economy from the A1101 road on Mildenhall.  

5.3 Site Specific  

5.3.1 Forest Heath District 

The District is located in the County of Suffolk although in housing market terms it is part of the 

Cambridge sub-region. 

The District covers an area of over 37,398 ha (144 square miles) with two strategic national routes 

passing through it: the A11 from London to Norwich and the A14 from the Midlands to Ipswich and the 

East Coast Ports. 

The District comprises both parts of Thetford Forest and the heath lands of Breckland. It is principally 

a rural area but with some distinctive market towns (Newmarket, Mildenhall and Brandon). The area 

also contains a number of key service centres, primary villages, secondary villages and small 

settlements. Overall the population has experienced a steady increase over the last three decades and 

one fifth of the population is made up of United States Air Force in Europe (USAFE) personnel and 

their families.  

It is one of fifteen districts making up the Greater Cambridgeshire Greater Peterborough LEP. 

The District has a relatively wide-ranging commuter area, including East Cambridgeshire, King’s Lynn 

and West Norfolk, Breckland and St Edmundsbury. With an armed forces base a significant element of 

commuting is determined by the location of housing for military personnel. All surrounding Districts have 

wards contributing between 5% and 25% of their employed residents to work in the Mildenhall area. 

Mildenhall is one of the few towns outside of Cambridgeshire to attract a significant number of 

commuters.  

The Cambridge sub-region is one of nine identified housing sub-regions across the East of England. 

Sub-regional housing market areas geographical areas defined by household demand and preferences 

for housing. They reflect the key functional linkages between plans where people live and work. 

Housing market areas can be identified by assessing patterns in the relationship between housing 

demand and supply across different locations.  

There is a 6.9 year supply of housing land including a 5% buffer. This methodology is consistent with 

that used by St Edmundsbury Borough Council, an approach considered appropriate by the Inspector 

following the examination of the Vision 2031 Local Plan. A 20% buffer is not considered appropriate as 

there has been a good record of provision in the past 10 years.  

 
Page 111



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 25  
 

 

Figure 4 - Local Authority Boundaries 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.3.2 Site Specific Land Use Constraints  

 

There are no site specific planning policies contained within the development plan or the emerging 

planning policies. There are however a number of other designations which affect the site. 

Flood risk: 

 The site predominantly falls within Flood Zone 1 where flooding is very unlikely and there is 

less than a 0.1% (1 in 1000) chance of flooding occurring each year.  

 A small section of the site at the north-western corner is located within Flood Zones 2 and 3.  

Areas within Flood Zone 2 are likely to be affected by a major flood, with up to a 0.1% (1 in 

1000) chance of occurring each year. Areas situated within Flood Zone 3 could be affected by 

flooding with a 1% (1 in 100) or greater chance of flooding each year.  

Ecology designations: 

 The western part of the airfield falls within the 400 metre buffer zone from Breckland Special 

Protection Area (SPA). Only development which will not adversely affect the integrity of the 

SPA is permitted within the buffer zone. 

 A County Wildlife Site (CWS) is located to the West of the site, just North of the runway. CWS’s 

are recognised by national planning policy as serving an important role in meeting overall 

biodiversity targets. Whilst CWS’s are not protected by legislation their importance is 

recognised by local authorities when considering planning applications.  

 There is an area of coniferous woodland to the western edge of the site adjoining the CWS. 

Priority Woodland Habitat areas are located adjacent to the northern and southern boundaries 

of the site.  

 

 Page 112



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 26  
 

Heritage: 

 A scheduled monument (Mildenhall Roman Site) is located within approximately 150 metres of 

the site to the West. A scheduled Roman villa is also located to the North of the site.  

 A number of listed buildings are located within the immediate vicinity, the closest being a 

Grade-II listed building located near the northern boundary.  

 High potential for Roman and Medieval archaeological remains and other important heritage 

assets of archaeological interest. 

 Historic England Eastern cannot be definitive about the site but whether there is anything that 

would be listed is a relatively high bar. The small domed building is considered to be the most 

likely candidate for listing.   

Page 113



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 27  
 

6. PRECEDENT CASE STUDIES 

There have been a variety of recent RAF base conversions across the UK, with a number of these in 

Suffolk and the surrounding counties. These case studies offer a number of key lessons for RAF 

Mildenhall that need to be considered when looking at the commercial viability of the site and the 

potential use classes. There are a number of former military bases sites in close proximity to Mildenhall 

which have been subject to development plans - such as Northstowe, Alconbury and Coltishall. Whilst 

these sites are all located in close proximity geographically to RAF Mildenhall there have been a variety 

of different uses and this has resulted in different success rates linked to key themes. The following 

themes have been identified from the nine case studies assessed to draw on best practice and lessons 

learned on the planning, governance and delivery of sites of a similar scale and complexity: 

Infrastructure and Accessibility 

There is a strong correlation between connectivity (accessibility by road/rail/air and data connectivity) 

and property market activity, occupier demand and values. Northstowe is a good demonstration project 

with proposed improved access to A14 and a road linking the site to the Guided Busway. Coltishall has 

had less fundamental change, partly because it is in a relatively isolated location to the North of 

Norwich. RAF Finningley is succeeding as a commercial airport (Robin Hood Airport), albeit struggling 

to fully justify upfront conversion expenditure, because it has a large passenger/consumer catchment.  

Anchor Uses 

Large scale military and industrial sites lack market ‘presence’ because of former uses and often as 

they are in poorly functioning property locations. Establishing occupier demand at scale requires 

investment to promote the location and to attract ‘anchor’ uses and occupiers to establish focus and 

profile. Alconbury demonstrated that EZs can help. The effect of anchor occupiers was apparent at 

Discovery Park where Pfizer’s decision to retain some presence helped establish a supply chain from 

which other occupiers could benefit. 

Governance and Delivery 

Governance has been identified across many of the case studies as being critical. At British Aerospace 

(BAE) Hatfield there were clear lines across stakeholders including the local MP. At Whitehill and 

Bordon, Discovery Park and Shell Haven, clear governance was seen as critical. It is interested to note 

that at two of the case studies the participants said, even though governance was an ingredient of their 

success, they would in hindsight have brought in an even clearer governance structure earlier. 

Creating a Vision 

Any commercial organisation committing to the site will want to be certain that what is being offered will 

be delivered. Stakeholders (e.g. HCA/FHDC) will need to be seen as being ‘on board’ to deliver the 

Vision before occupiers take risks with their business. The redevelopment of the BAE Hatfield site was 

successful partly due to the early stage masterplan, visioning and public engagement. Alconbury is 

seeing dividends of sticking to its task of attracting mid tech occupiers. Conversely, the lack of clear 

vision at Manston contributed to its failure as an airport. 

Early Project Planning 

Sites with the scale and complexity of Mildenhall require careful and early business planning. Shell 

Haven’s success was partly due to early financial appraisals and market analysis to develop the exit 

plan as well as a detailed Technical Pack to support international marketing. The development of 

Whitehill and Bordon is showing that with effective planning and analysis of market demands and 

constraints a viable vision can be achieved, together with the benefit of quantifying the added value of 

upfront investment to create a strong business case. Page 114



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 28  
 

These and further case studies are analysed in greater detail below. Appendix 3 provides a review of 

major strategic sites in Suffolk and Cambridgeshire and relates them to RAF Mildenhall. The purpose 

of this is to illustrate the challenges of the site compared to its peers and show the sort of conditions 

which will typically lead to improved viability. 

  

Page 115



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 29  
 

 

  
 
 

RAF Oakington Barracks (Northstowe) 
SITE LOCATION: CAMBRIDGE 

SITE AREA: C.300 ACRES 

STAKEHOLDERS: GALLAGHER ESTATES, HCA 

Summary: 

 Largest new town since Milton Keynes 

 10,000 new homes  

 Awarded EZ status  

 

History/ Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 RAF base until 1993 when it became an army 

barracks. 

 In 2000 the site was leased to the Home Office 

and used as an immigration reception centre 

until 2010. 

 Currently a new town is being development 

under the name of Northstowe. 

 Site needed clearing in order to be developed. 

 

Constraints 

 

 Progress was slowed by market conditions and 

reportedly by a potential takeover of Gallagher 

Estates in the early stages of Phase one.  

 Highways concerns in linking the new town to 

the existing road system was expensive initial 

infrastructure for the project. (Linking with 

upgraded A14). This limited infrastructure 

capped development housing development 

until it was completed.  

 The speed at which house builders were 

operating.   

 
 

 Site is being promoted jointly by HCA and 

Gallagher as the two main landowners through 

a co-operation agreement. 

 Site is being developed by a number of house 

builders.  

 Currently the phase one development 

(including EZ) is underway for 1,500 homes. 

 £30m contribution to provide community 

infrastructure in phase one. 

 There 92 homes currently developed on site by 

Bloor homes. 

 Outline permission for Phase 2 is under 

consultation.   

 

Key Lessons and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 Access to good transport links is critical to 

development – the guided busway into 

Cambridge is now up and running. 

 Even with a long term plan for transport 

infrastructure upgrades, achieving a quick 

pace of development is challenging. 

 Consideration of Section 106 payments and 

appropriate road improvements will be needed 

for any large scale developments to address 

the wider highways impact. 

 Fronting of community services to early phases 

of a development can improve viability. 

 Strong community support and accessibility of 

information can help in delivery of a more 

suitable and supported design.  

 

 

 

 

Page 116



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 30  
 

  
 
 

RAF Alconbury (Alconbury Weald) 
SITE LOCATION: HUNTS, CAMBRIDGE 

SITE AREA: C. 1,420 ACRES 

STAKEHOLDERS: URBAN AND CIVIC 

Summary: 

 5,000 new homes 

 Awarded EZ status 

 Situated on the junction connecting the A14 and A1 

 Scheduled for closure by USAFE by 2020 

 

History/ Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 RAF base opened in 1938. 

 USAFE ran. 

 Runway and associated buildings returned to 

MoD control in 1995. 

 

Constraints 

 

 Alconbury initially failed to successfully secure 

a commercial anchor tenant with a strong 

presence.  

 The site has begun to attract significant new 

occupiers. 

   Mixed use development with community and 

service provision. 

 Emphasis on EZ as a source of employment.  

 Well connected to major road networks 

capable of attracting large business, with the 

added benefit of plans for a railway 

 Attraction of highly skilled manufacturing, 

engineering and research companies such as, 

the University of Cambridge, ARM, Xaar. 

 Currently 500 plots let on site. (House builders 

include Redrow, Hopkins Homes, Morris 

Homes and Small & Medium Enterprise (SME) 

house builders.) 

 Trying to deliver 700 acres of green space. 

 Large air base site scheduled for closure next 

to new Alconbury Weald with opportunity to 

expand development. 

 There are currently a number of innovative 

companies on the site with IKO and MMUK due 

to move in shortly. 

 

Key Lessons and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 

 Securing a commercial anchor tenant can 

speed development. Holding out for specific 

types of occupiers can take time. Packaging up 

and marketing to core sectors is critical. 

 Significant time required to carry out effective 

site clearance and remove reinforced military 

buildings. 

 The delivery of homes on a faster timescale 

can be achieved by diversifying building 

investors. This also helps to promote varying 

housing styles.   

 Key transport links helps promote EZ. 

 Other lessons include the importance of 

effective site clearance and the importance of 

site infrastructure.  

 

Page 117



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 31  
 

 

 

  
 
 

British Aerospace Airfield 
SITE LOCATION: HATFIELD 

SITE AREA: C. 800 ACRES 

STAKEHOLDERS: WELWYN AND HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL, 
UNIVERSITY OF HERTFORDSHIRE AND HCA.  

Summary: 

 Large scale successful redevelopment of former aerodrome 

 Maintaining of plane hangar in redevelopment 

 Importance of the long term vision in developing a strategy  

 Located between Welwyn and St Albans 

 

History/Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 The site had accommodated private aircraft 

and an aircraft factory.  

 1978 merger resulted in BAE ownership of 

site for design and production of commercial 

aircraft.  

 Redeveloped in the 1990’s after BAE left. 

 Initial idea for the space was large scale box 

industrial units. This lacked vision for the 

future. 

 

What was the Problem? 

 WHBC and BAE agreed due to the size of the 

site a master plan was needed. 

 This was in order to create the correct legacy 

for the site and mitigate the impacts from the 

site closure.  

 The University of Hertfordshire was a key 

strategic partner who looked to form links with 

the site if there was re-development to a 

hospital. This fell through and created issues 

for their future vision. 

 The vision changed to focus around mixed 

use.  

 But there were issues over listed buildings 

and limited transport links.  

 There were lots of stakeholders involved and 

the vision to 4-5 years to create.  

 

  Taking time to create the vision has resulted 

in successful delivery providing a Country 

Park acting as a buffer between Welwyn and 

Hatfield.  

 The site has attracted large multi-national 

firms such as Ocado.  

 A key strategic partner was The University of 

Hertfordshire. 

 Only buildings maintained were the listed 

aircraft hangar (now a David Lloyd leisure 

centre). 

 The site now employs 15,000 to 16,000 

employees.  

 3,000,000 sq. ft. of developed business space 

 600,000 sq. ft. left to develop. 

 University of Hertfordshire campus and 

accommodation. 

 Sustainable School was developed with the 

County Council.  

 2,046 Homes comprising a mix of tenures. 

 Shopping Centre. 

 Large Leisure Centre. 

Key Lesson and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 Key lesson is that creating the correct vision 

takes times and that not every stakeholders 

can achieve their vision for the site. 

 But it is important to have the community and 

stakeholders on board in order to achieve a 

successful vision.  

 Proper governance is needed to achieve a 

realistic vision and delivery.  

 Importance of an existing property market 

base to build upon. 

  

Page 118



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 32  
 

  
 
 

RAF Finningley (Robin Hood Airport) 
SITE LOCATION: SOUTH YORKSHIRE 

SITE AREA: C.250 ACRES  

STAKEHOLDERS:PEEL HOLDINGS 

Summary: 

 Redeveloped into commercial airport 

 Opened 2005 

 Cost of £26m to redevelop 

 

History/ Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 Home to Royal Flying Corps during World War 

II. 

 During the Cold War it housed nuclear armed 

Vulcan bombers. 

 Decommissioned in 1996 as part of defence 

cuts. 

 

Constraints 

 

 Infrastructure upgrades were required. 

 No immediate significant competitor airports 

but a dynamic and fluid position in terms of 

commercial demand. 

 

  Low cost air travel and rising passenger 

numbers increased the feasibility of the project. 

 Building of new terminal and associated 

infrastructure to accommodate modern 

airport’s needs. 

 

Key Lessons and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 

 A large population base is key in developing a 

commercial, passenger airport.  

 The positive climate for development of an 

airport (at the time of development) was crucial 

to success and justification of large 

expenditure in redevelopment. 

 

 

  

Page 119



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 33  
 

 

  
 
 

Pfizer Sandwhich (Discovery Park) 
SITE LOCATION: KENT 

SITE AREA: C. 534 ACRES 

STAKEHOLDERS: DISCOVERY PARK LTD 

Summary: 

 Former site of Pfizer UK research laboratories. 

 EZ status experiencing reduced rates. 

 

 

History/ Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 Former Pfizer site announced for closure in 

2011 within 18-24 months. 

 Site largely equipped with scientific and 

research infrastructure. 

 Purchased by Discovery Park Limited who 

repurposed buildings towards business and 

technology based industries.  

 Large loss of highly skilled employees when 

Pfizer left the site. 

 

Constraints 

 

 Loss of skilled labour within the area when 

Pfizer vacated the site given the lack of other 

similar employment opportunities in the area. 

 Need to reinstate large amounts of space to 

similar types of industries 

 The need to securing EZ status to attract 

business. 

  Repurposed research and business centre. 

 Well-equipped facilities offering high speed 

fiber internet to businesses. 

 650 Pfizer employees remained on park as 

part of the deal. 

 Science and technology based industries 

prevalent on site. 

 Amenity provisioning used as attraction for 

businesses to site. 

 

Key Lessons and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 

 Joined up, urgent response across 

government – set up Task force that reported 

its proposals to the Secretary of State for 

Business, Innovation and Skills with weekly 

updates. 

 The impact of large scale relocation of any 

industrial can have a dramatic effect on the 

local employment market and result in a 

shortage of skilled labour. With any base 

closure the impact of this needs to be 

assessed and minimised. 

 Retaining an element of the historical anchor 

on the site is critical to build confidence and 

attract occupiers. 

 The existing use of any developments is 

potentially beneficial if repurposed to similar 

types of industry. 

 

 

  

Page 120



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 34  
 

  
 
 

RAF Coltishall 
SITE LOCATION: NORFOLK 

SITE AREA: C. 600 ACRES 

STAKEHOLDERS: NORFOLK COUNTY COUNCIL  

Summary: 

 Gained EZ status on 1 April 2016 

 Numerous employment-generating uses 

 Scottow Moor Solar Park 

History/ Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 Redundant RAF base. 

 Purchased from the Ministry of Justice by 

Norfolk County Council for £4.1m in 2013.   

 

Constraints 

 

 Isolated location with a limited existing local 

market. 

 The site stood empty for 6 years. 

  External consultants appointed to provide 

advice on marketing strategies and 

redevelopment potential of site going forward.  

 Awarded EZ status on 1 April 2016 from New 

Anglia LEP. 

 The site was converted into Scottow Enterprise 

Park encompassing light industrial uses, a 

large solar park and a cycle track; there has 

been limited conversion or re-development of 

existing buildings.  

 

Key Lessons and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 

 Access and site location form important factors 

in determining use. This site although remote 

is located close to the A140 and within the 

Norwich hinterland. 

 Determining the market is key as need to 

identify the level and scope of development. 

 Here minimal development has occurred with 

many buildings being let in their original form. 

 

   

  

Page 121



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 35  
 

 

 Whitehill & Borden  
SITE LOCATION: HAMPSHIRE  

SITE AREA: C. 250 ACRES  

STAKEHOLDERS: EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT 
COUNCIL, HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUONCIL, DIO, HCA 
ENTERPRISE M3 LEP  

Summary: 

 250 ha of land to be released 

 DIO engaged with the local authority – it acted  

independently and was commercially driven but was 

keen to know the local authority’s  ‘wants and needs’  

History/ Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 The site was originally the 

Army’s Defence School of 

Electronic Engineering. 

 The base has been located in 

Whitehill and Borden for 100 

years. 

 The relocation released 250 

ha of land including 150 ha of 

open space. 

 

Constraints 

 

 Main road (A325) bisected 

site and separated from 

existing town centre. 

 Existing town centre is not 

strong. 

 Site is derelict with substantial 

amounts of large buildings, 

not all realistically capable of 

interim or permanent re-use. 

  The current proposal for the site is for 3,350 new homes, 

5,500 new jobs, a new town centre and new schools. 

The protection of 150 ha of mature open space to be 

given public access after years of being ‘behind the wire’. 

 

Key Lessons and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 

 Uncertainty over closure announcement (whole/part and 

timing) impacted speed of public sector response; once 

decision was made a phased closure was more 

manageable but upfront Section 106 (S106) negotiations 

would have been optimal. Important to establish effective 

relationship with the DIO and the HCA early.  

 Clear governance through a Delivery Board was critical. 

In hindsight, the local authority would have wanted even 

clearer governance earlier.  

 The DIO engaged the local authority in the disposal 

process including the development brief and procurement 

stages. 

 Quantifying the added value of upfront investment helped 

to create a strong business case. 

 The local authority’s preference for employment uses was 

challenged by viability constraints. 

 ‘Scheme Promotor’ employed by the local authority but 

acting autonomously and fully resourced.  

 Important to show evidence of delivery on the ground as 

early as possible. 

 Developed a funding pipeline to de-risk infrastructure and 

influence government funding decisions. 

 Created “Regen Co” to sell regeneration services to other 

local authorities. 

 

 

Page 122



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 36  
 

  
 
 

Manston Airport 
SITE LOCATION: KENT  

SITE AREA: C. 38 ACRES 

STAKEHOLDERS: THANET DISTRICT COUNCIL  

Summary: 

Failed re-use of the site as a commercial airport 

focused on cargo and aircraft recycling 

History/ Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 Formerly RAF Manston.  

 6th May 2014 it was announced that the 

base would close. 

 When the base closed, 144 jobs were lost. 

 RiverOak put forward an initial plan to re-

open the airport with a focus on cargo and 

aircraft recycling. 

 This partnership between RiverOak and 

Thanet District Council was unsuccessful. 

 Thanet District Council is now seeking 

partners to indemnify them for a 

compulsory purchase of the airport.  

 There has been significant local 

campaigning to retain some form of 

aviation use on the site.  

Constraints 

 

 A lack of investors/partners in order for a 

compulsory purchase to be put together. 

 Physical isolation from major population 

nodes in the South East of England.  

 

  Thanet District Council carried out a soft 

marketing exercise to find a partner. 

 A Prior Information Notice looking for 

expressions of public interest was 

published in January 2016.  

 Since then there have been 5 interested 

parties that have applied, from which, 

three submissions have been chosen. 

 Stone Hill Park submitted a formal 

planning application for redevelopment in 

May 2016. 

 Thanet District Council has been told that 

an appeal hearing for planning consent will 

not go ahead and instead an enquiry will 

be carried out. 

 Simultaneously RiverOak (who want to re-

establish the site as an airport) has applied 

for a Development Consent Order on the 

basis of the airport being a project of 

“national significance”.   

Key Lessons and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 

 Marston demonstrates the importance of 

having a clear vision for any site. 

 It also demonstrates the importance of fully 

understanding the potential of the site and 

the wider economic and commercial 

drivers. 

 Manston has caused significant local 

concern and shows the importance of 

garnering support for any vision from key 

stakeholders and the public. 

 

 

Page 123



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 37  
 

  
 
 

Shell Haven  
SITE LOCATION: STANFORD LE HOPE, ESSEX 

SITE AREA: C. 1,500 ACRES 

STAKEHOLDERS: SHELL PLC, THURROCK COUNCIL,  

PORT OF LONDON AUTHORITY, DUBAI PORTS WORLD,  

NETWOK RAIL 

Summary: 

 643 ha 

 Complex disposal from surplus site 

 Safeguard critical retained operations 

 Effective stakeholder engagement 

 Non-standard property 

History/ Challenges  What was the outcome? 

 Managing complex disposal of one of the 

UK’s largest brownfield sites.  

 Shell needed a market solution for a former 

refinery whilst safeguarding some 

operations.   

Constraints 

 

 The disposal process needed to ensure 

disposal of the surplus land, transfer of 

environmental liability, continuation of 

some operations and co-ordination 

between the sales process and site 

decommissioning.  The optimum solution 

required an international market 

perspective. 

  A major redundant brownfield site is being 

returned to sustainable future use.   

 Significant improvements to local and national 

infrastructure and 10,000 jobs expected to be 

created.  

 Remediation costs were minimised by being 

undertaking as part of development work and 

designed to actual next uses. 

 

Key Lessons and Relevance to Mildenhall  

 Multi-disciplinary team developed detailed 

financial appraisal/cashflow projection; market 

analysis/intelligence to develop the exit plan; 

market context to brownfield and environmental 

challenges; Technical Pack to support 

international marketing 

 Effective stakeholder engagement (including with 

local councilors and the MP) was important given 

the potential impact of closure on the local 

economy - Shell’s willingness to seek a workable 

long term solution was a positive driver of planning 

policy. 

 The approach of securing a long term 

development partner meant that total receipts to 

the landowner significantly exceeded the sum that 

would have been secured from an early outright 

sale.   

 

Page 124



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 38  
 

7. SECTOR ANALYSIS – MARKET ASSESSMENT OF 
LAND USE AND AVIATION OPTIONS  

7.1 Land Use Options – Market Assessment  

7.1.1 Overarching comments 

Section 7 analyses and assesses the property market potential of various land uses from the 

perspective of market demand and the potential for land use to be viable from a standard, property 

market perspective. Clearly there are additional benefits that arise from some uses which are not 

captured in a standard property market assessment (high level GVA analysis seeks to address this and 

is covered in Section 8). The scale of RAF Mildenhall means that it is highly unlikely that a single land 

use is going to utilise the full area.  

Therefore, whilst the assessment relates to the potential for individual uses, a mix of uses at different 

scales is likely to provide the most optimal solution; the exception to this is if the runway is to stay and 

the focus of the site continues to be aviation.  

Whilst a mix of uses is likely, given the need for the site to establish a dominant position as an 

employment base by generating demand, an ‘anchor use’ or catalytic occupier is likely to be required 

in the early stages of development. This does not imply that the ‘anchor use’ will be the only, or indeed 

the largest, land user but it will be the focus and create a ‘brand’ for the redeveloped site. 

7.1.2 Commercial  

Economic Base 

The economy surrounding Mildenhall is particularly focused towards the Primary Services and 

Accommodation & Food sectors.  

Primary Services predominantly link to agriculture and farming which is unsurprising given the location 

of Mildenhall in a predominately agricultural area with a large hinterland. The number employed directly 

in Primary Services is also boosted by the influence of Newmarket with is in close proximity to the site 

creating a large base of employment around the horse racing industry. 

Accommodation & Food is the second largest employer in the area and this has some links to the 

Primary Services sector; some producers attract tourist interest which has led to growing numbers in 

recent years as shrinking profits in solely agriculture have led farms to diversify and expand. This has 

led to a growing tourist industry and accounts for high levels of accommodation provision. These 

numbers are also likely to be skewed given the proximity to Center Parcs, which is a key employer in 

the District.  

Offices  

Across the UK, despite uncertainty in Q1 2016 demand has been relatively stable; whilst London 

demand was strong South East office take up was down although pre-let activity remains strong. Yields 

have remained broadly stable across the office sector (C&W Office Market Snapshot, Q1 2016) but 

investment activity has eased in the wake of the Brexit decision and remains uncertain.  

There is limited existing demand for traditional office space within the Mildenhall area with few major 

existing occupiers and no obvious economic cluster or drivers for significant office space demand; this 

suggests that any scheme will need to create its own market.  

Page 125



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 39  
 

There have been a number of EZ announced n 2015/16, including the Cambridge Compass EZ which 

incorporates five separate sites around Cambridge and includes the Haverhill Research Park. An 

existing EZ is in place at Alconbury near Huntingdon; this is a significant distance from Mildenhall and 

in much stronger strategic position (at the A14/ A1 (M) junction) so there appears to be limited potential 

to link the sites within an enlarged EZ.  

Given the assumed IT infrastructure at the site, C&W has considered the possibility of call centres as 

a viable commercial use. Whilst this is a strong market in the UK the clusters of call centre tend to be 

away from the South East and Eastern Regions where land costs are highest. The viability on the long 

run of this sector has been brought into question with a report conducted by ‘Contact Babel’ which 

analyses the market from 2016 to 2020, finding that outbound calling activity has declined considerably 

from 2004 and rising inbound interaction are via email. We consider the potential for this sector at the 

site to be low.  

If commercial office space was successfully delivered at Mildenhall, it could provide skilled employment 

opportunities, minimising the negative employment impact of the base closure. This would require 

public sector support which would likely help mitigate planning risk, subject to overcoming viability 

challenges and infrastructure requirements that would be present.   

In planning terms, commercial office space would likely be welcomed as a use class and therefore draw 

medium to low planning risk overall. A likely constraint however would be in relation to implementation 

and feasibility, e.g. traffic impact risks. 

Aside from likely significant infrastructure requirements (to provide access given the existing position 

where a large number of staff reside on site), an employment led development would face the challenge 

of drawing in investment and demand from occupiers. Given that demand for any significant office 

based use in the area is undemonstrated, the pre-requisite for an office scheme would be having a 

strong anchor tenant which could provide a catalyst for other occupiers and give credibility to the site.  

The potential of the site to become a diverse employment area is constrained by the lack of a significant 

existing market and therefore building on the economic strengths of the area will be critical. Figure 2 

illustrates the economic profile of the area now and illustrates the strength in ‘Primary Service’ (e.g. 

agriculture and farming) and the ‘Accommodation & Food’ (e.g. hotels, holiday centres and restaurants) 

sectors.  

Public Sector Intervention 

West Suffolk Council aspires to attract occupiers with a greater innovation and development focus in 

tandem with the more traditional sectors. This is being achieved through a number of mechanism with 

continued support of infrastructure growth along the A11 corridor and wider support from two LEPs. 

The New Anglia LEP (set up in 2015) is promoting this agenda and has set out a Strategic Economic 

Plan in which they aim to support the growth of 95,000 new jobs and 10,000 new businesses by 2026; 

thus driving up employment and lowering the productivity gap between the New Anglia LEP area and 

the wider UK by 2026. The Greater Cambridge Greater Peterborough (GCGP) LEP is focused on 

driving forward sustainable growth for the region creating linkages between local businesses, education 

providers, third parties and the public sector. GCGP looks to focus on Mildenhall, Alconbury and 

Molesworth to help assist future development and create a positive impact on the economy in the long 

term. 

The LEPs have developed a clear focus for which sectors they consider would support growth and 

innovation within West Suffolk. For the New Anglia LEP these include advanced manufacturing, agri-

Page 126



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 40  
 

tech, life sciences across the food and health sectors, ICT and offshore energy sectors. These areas 

have been selected by New Anglia LEP based on their existing presence in the area: 

 Existing ICT presence linking with Adastral Park and manifestations in Norwich and Ipswich. 

 Food and health - existing network at Norwich Research Park.  

 Offshore energy given existing wind/solar farms. 

In terms of more prevalent existing sectors, the New Anglia LEP recognises that given the breadth and 

depth of agricultural firms in the area, agri-tech could be a viable option offering the opportunity to 

create a centre or cluster of research and innovation.  

The focus of GCGP typically requires linkages with educational institutions or other existing firms. 

Furthermore regardless of which sector is selected and developed the LEPs recognise the importance 

of public sector procurement/ engagement in order to stimulate innovation and promote the strengths 

of the area in the UK and internationally. Newmarket and District Chamber of Commerce note that RAF 

Mildenhall present an opportunity to create a business hub and act as a magnet for the wider area 

(Briefing Note, 2016).  

Industrial  

C&W’s research suggest that across the UK industrial property market there has been an ease in 

occupier activity in Q1 2016 given several factors including a slowdown in the global export economy 

and Brexit uncertainties. 

Despite some uncertainty in the market, broadly speculative development is on the rise, especially 

across the South East, Midlands and North West, as developers look away from the traditional hubs of 

the M1 and M6 corridors. 

Pent up demand for prime buildings continues, with the strongest growth expected in non-grade A 

markets (C&W Industrial Property Times UK Industrial, Q1 2016).  

If industrial space was successfully delivered at RAF Mildenhall then it could generate significant 

employment opportunities and reduce the impact of the base closure on local employment (however, 

the skill requirements of the respective employment opportunities may differ). The planning risk 

associated with a small scale industrial led proposal would be relatively low considering the potential 

to link to the existing Mildenhall Industrial Estate to the North of the town centre which has 

approximately 20 occupiers currently.  

Potential demand is demonstrated in part by a local timber merchant taking 120,000 square feet (sq ft) 

at the Galaxy Warehouse (July 2015), demand for industrial space in the immediate area is strong with 

some growth potential. Specifically, two local agents have commented on the relative shortage of 

industrial space in the wider region and the area’s potential: 

 Bidwells reports “…a severe shortage of available large warehouses in the Eastern Region”. 

 Carter Jonas reports “Mildenhall's location in close proximity to the A11 makes it a great 

location and central to the Eastern Region. Accessibility has also been greatly improved now 

that the A11 is fully dualled”. 

Whilst the dualling of the A11 has improved accessibility, there are still significant infrastructure 

constraints on the site including the relatively narrow existing roads linking to the A11 and the potential 

limitation on heavy goods traffic through Mildenhall. FHDC is seeking to address these by identifying 

improvements to the A11 around Mildenhall as a key target.  

Page 127



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 41  
 

Industrial led development would likely have lower infrastructure, planning and upfront investment 

requirements on the site (although, off site requirements maybe significant) compared to residential or 

commercial uses. Industrial markets are typically less multifaceted than commercial/office markets; 

forecasting demand is relatively straight forward, lowering the viability risk of an industrial led scheme.  

The highest risk to the sites’ potential to provide for the local industrial market is transport constraints, 

limited aggregate demand and growing competition from other sites. That said, C&W’s consideration 

is that these risks are relatively low for Mildenhall.   

Construction Industry  

The economic data in Figure 2 shows the construction industry to be a leading economic sector in THE 

District. Discussion with the New Anglia LEP has highlighted that though the construction sector in 

Forest Heath is comparatively large in regional and national terms, it is by no means excessive 

especially when compared to other local authorities across the region.  

The research from the New Anglia LEP highlights that “smaller local economies, especially of a rural 

nature, tend to have a strong construction sector, which is mainly focused on small, locally focused 

construction provision (i.e. local tradesman providing local services”). Further to this, the GCGP has 

also been investing in the construction industry through working with the Construction Industry Training 

Board (CITB).   

The impact on this sector from the closure of RAF Mildenhall is hard to assess but the New Anglia LEP 

suggests that local tradesman from within the District may have found work on the respective airbases. 

With greater number of forces at RAF Lakenheath there is likely to be demand for construction services 

with a short term shift in employment.  

7.1.3 Retail and Leisure  

Retail Centre 

Across the UK volumes of retail sales grew year-on-year by 5.2% in January 2016 despite consumer 

confidence being impacted by Brexit and the Eurozone crisis. 

On the whole occupier demand increased led by primarily food and clothing retailers. Within the UK 

188,000 sq m of new shopping space was delivered onto the market in 2015. This trend is expected to 

continue. Whilst investor appetite is strong for primary centres it has waned for secondary locations 

(C&W Retail Market Snapshot, Q1 2016).   

When successful, a retail led scheme has the potential to generate significant financial returns as well 

as employment opportunities. In terms of new hubs outside of a town centre where a retail led anchor 

scheme has been successful, this is best illustrated by Bicester Village retail outlet, which, despite a 

location away from any existing hub, has been very successful in attracting significant demand from 

occupiers.  

The creation of a major retail destination could minimise the impact of the closure and would also 

generate additional employment (however, the skill requirements of the respective employment 

opportunities may differ).  

Creating a retail destination would require both significant upfront capital investment and confidence in 

the locations potential to draw catchment given local market dynamics and the presence of competition 

from competitor towns/ cities. A major space occupier/ anchor would likely be an essential catalyst 

required for this kind of scheme.  

Page 128



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 42  
 

Planning would be challenging along with limited current market demand as a result of the close 

proximity of Bury St Edmunds and Cambridge, both of which have large retail centres and a strong 

existing market and catchment capture. We understand that there are also plans afoot to improve the 

retail offer in Newmarket as well. 

When effective, retail centres can result in high returns on investment and stimulate economic wealth 

to the immediate and wider local area.  

C&W consider that a Bicester Village style outlet centre is unlikely to be viable given the lack of visibility 

to a major road and potential concerns over the limited size and strength of the catchment. The nearest 

major outlet centre to Mildenhall is Braintree which is an institutional standard scheme of significant 

scale; a more realistic scale of scheme for this location is represented by the Spalding outlet scheme 

in Lincolnshire which has a smaller catchment and less convenient location.    

Hotels 

Whilst hotel use would provide new employment and reduce the impact of the base closure, we have 

not identified a market of any significance in this regard. The provision of hotels is likely to be linked to 

the potential of the site for other uses (e.g. tourist attractions). 

Conference Centres 

In order for conference centres to be viable there typically needs to be the presence of associated 

activity which offers a strong platform for new businesses.  Thus, employment uses would directly link 

with the conference centre. Likely sources of demand can be broadly divided into two categories: 

 Facilities linking to another occupier: this includes building off the back of another occupier on 

the site for example a science park to offer facilities such as car parking, hotel accommodation 

for attendees, temporary flexible office space, recreation facilities etc.  The potential for this 

development is limited to the needs of employees and customers of the new anchor.  This is 

the most typical model of development for out of town centre conference facilities.   

 Use of an exhibition centre as a focal point to build the prestige of a location and catalyse 

further development.  This targets potential users of the exhibition facility to locate within the 

same development (business use), or to become a focal point for community social activity 

(leisure use).  This gives the site a more permanent industrial base, with UK examples 

including: Torquay, where the exhibition centre is combined with a housing development, 

providing a community area; and the Aberdeen Exhibition and Conference Centre which is 

adjacent to out-of-town business park development focused on the oil and gas industry and hi-

tech engineering.       

Demand for the former is led by user-numbers at the anchor occupier’s facility (a market which is 

subject to significant fluctuations) whilst the latter is determined by local economic conditions, positive 

growth forecasts and availability of suitable space in the vicinity.   

There are a limited number of conferences centre’s within close proximity of RAF Mildenhall with the 

largest centre being at Center Parcs. This has a large conference centre; ‘The Venue’ accommodates 

a range of events and team building activities and caters for up to 450 delegates with flexible meeting 

spaces. In addition to this they offer a range of leisure facilities and team building activities.  

There are also a number of centres in Cambridge linked to the university and accommodating a range 

of conference sizes. Overall, we consider that the capacity for a conference centres at RAF Mildenhall 

is linked to any potential anchor occupier as we are not able to identify unsated demand in this area for 

additional conference facilities (particularly given the range of facilities in and around Cambridge). Page 129



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 43  
 

Clearly, this is dependent on a suitable anchor tenant that demands this type of space in addition to 

their other facilities.  

Leisure and Tourism 

The Forest Heath Local Development Plan 2010 to 2015 shows that key sectors of employment within 

the local leisure economy include horse racing, industrial, agriculture, food processing and warehouse 

industries. 

28% of local residents are currently employed in the leisure industry of which 20% relates to horse 

racing (Newmarket). Located in nearby Elveden and forming part of Thetford Forest Park, Center Parcs 

is the most significant local leisure employer.  

Further to this, the Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury Local Plan (Joint Development Management 

Policies Document 2015), states the current interest of both local authorities in expanding tourism and 

tourist related leisure as a key generator of employment and a revenue driver for the area.  

There is a particular focus from FHDC in developing sustainable tourism. Agriculture accounts for a 

high proportion of local employment, therefore ‘farm diversification’ may present an opportunity to allow 

insurance of long term viability and provide rural employment, building on the existing workforce skill 

set. However, the typical focus of this diversification (farm shops, leisure, recreation, tourism, sporting 

uses and equestrian facilities) is more attributable to individual farms as opposed to major strategic 

sites such as RAF Mildenhall.  

Pre-existing amenity value is an important attractor for leisure schemes in non-urban environments; the 

site’s suitability is limited by its flat and un-dynamic topography with no particularly obvious point of 

interest. 

The point of interest would need to be generated by the occupier and use as opposed to being 

something which is already there and can be built on. Potential forms of leisure which have significant 

land requirements include theme parks, holiday destinations, reservoir/ lakes, race track, safari parks 

and adventure farms. We consider that these options require a greater degree of pre-existing amenity 

value or a more strategic position in terms of the relationship to major population centres.  

This restriction can be overcome where sites have access to significant population centres and easy 

road access. For instance, Paramount are currently promoting a sizeable new theme park near 

Dartford/Gravesend which has limited amenity value but is strategically placed close to the M25 and 

Ebbsfleet railway station with easy access from the London conurbation.  

A leisure based approach may benefit from the existing market demand drawing from leisure customers 

of Center Parcs, Bury St Edmunds and wider Cambridgeshire but would need a concept which played 

to the sites’ strengths; in relation to Center Parcs, this tends to internalise its consumer base which 

limits the spill over effect and ancillary uses. 

With regards to planning, a new leisure facility is likely to be viewed favourably given the regenerative 

nature of leisure development and would boost employment and create a draw to the area. 

Sports Based Leisure  

The Sporting Village concept is relatively new to the UK, with only a few private developers active in 

this sector. Most existing sports facilities (such as leisure centres and sports pitches) within the UK are 

funded by or subject to a partnership with the Local Authority and with an emphasis on: 

 Physical and economic regeneration in areas with high levels of multiple deprivations 
Page 130



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 44  
 

 Providing a focus and acting as a catalyst for other development 

 Public sector realising the value of a land asset through the “enabling” development 

Most major developments of sports pitches with associated community facilities are brought forward 

with the Local Authority having a major input into the development, often as land owners.  

Due to funding cuts since 2010 and limited Private Finance Initiative (PFI) opportunities, strategically 

analysing the inputs of both the public and private sectors is critical in order to achieve a viable entity.  

We are not aware of any active large scale occupier requirements but an example of such a use is St 

Georges Park in Staffordshire.  This is the English Football Association’s (FA) national football centre 

and is set out on a 330 acre site near Burton upon Trent. The FA bought the site for £2m in 2001 

although it wasn’t developed until 2012. The location driver for the FA was a central position within the 

country (and suitable ground conditions). The site has commercial uses including two hotels.  

Proposed/ delivered sites include: 

 Basildon Sporting Village  

 Belle Vue Sports Village, East Manchester  

 Surrey Canal Sporting Village, London  

 Cambridge Sporting Village  

In relation to the Cambridge proposal, this is backed by Grosvenor Developments, the Universities 

Superannuation Scheme and Trumpington Meadows Land. This is awaiting the submission of planning 

but includes significant residential content (which ensures viability and enables the funding of other 

uses):  

 Grass pitches 

 Sports Hub comprising community and leisure uses  

 An indoor artificial 3G sports pitch  

 Outdoor floodlit cycling centre 

 5 fenced and floodlit all-weather artificial 3G turf pitches 

 2 fenced and floodlit sand-based/dressed artificial turf pitches 

 Residential development of 520 dwellings  

Amenity and Social Infrastructure  

Whilst being favourable in terms of market demand as there is a shortage of social infrastructure across 

the country, this is unlikely to promote sustainable new employment opportunities or to create land 

value.  

Therefore, whilst this may form an element of the proposal it is unlikely to be the main driver for 

redevelopment.  

7.1.4 Public Sector-Led Occupations 

C&W has explored the possibility of the site providing a future location for local or national public sector 

led occupations. As such, the following ‘occupational sectors’ have been considered: 

 

 Local Civic Hub 
Page 131



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 45  
 

 Regional Office Hub 

 Local Health – Primary Care 

 Regional Health – Acute 

 Education 

 Science & Innovation 

Local Civic Hub 

Plans for a local civic hub are already progressing in relation to a public sector controlled site in 

Mildenhall town centre.  

The ‘Mildenhall Hub’ (the Hub) is a partnership project that was successfully awarded a place on the 

Government’s One Public Estate (OPE) programme in 2013. The Hub will provide a catalyst for the 

consolidation of a range of public organisations within Mildenhall under ‘one roof’ in order to improve 

public access, service delivery and efficiency. The vision for the Hub is that it could contain the 

headquarters of FHDC (and office space for its shared West Suffolk workforce) and a base for staff 

from Suffolk County Council, CAB, the NHS and the DWP, and also provide Suffolk Constabulary’s and 

Suffolk Fire Service’s facilities in the town. It could also combine all of the town’s post-11 education 

(and some of its primary and preschool provision) with modern and spacious leisure and sports 

facilities. In future phases, linked to the future growth of the town and surrounding area, it will offer the 

scope to expand and integrate health provision with other public services, directly addressing Suffolk’s 

health and wellbeing priorities. As well as saving taxpayers’ money, the proposed co-location of 

different agencies at the Hub will also open up exciting new opportunities for joint working, particularly 

around training and skills.  

Works to the Hub are due to commence in late 2017. The Hub will, therefore, be fully operational before 

the closure of RAF Mildenhall. The design of the Hub is taking into account the growth in demand for 

public services that will arise from future population concentrations arising from a redevelopment of the 

RAF Mildenhall site. 

Regional Government Hubs 

At the time of writing, a ‘re-design’ of the government’s central civil estate is progressing through the 

creation of Regional Hubs.  

Following the November 2015 Spending Review, in early 2016, the Cabinet Office outlined plans to 

significantly reduce the size of the government estate over the next decade. The GPU’s "State of the 

Estate" report suggests that the total number of buildings occupied will fall from 800 to under 200 by 

2023 and departments will be expected to share office space within 18-22 multi-departmental hubs 

across the UK. The exact locations of the regional “hubs” are yet to be announced but will be close to 

good public transport links. The programme will enable “flexible, smarter and mobile working” enabling 

a reduction of civil servant space requirements per person from 8 sq m to less than 6 sq m. 

In spite of the Cabinet Office proposal, HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC) had already announced its 

plan to close all 170 of its offices across the country and establish 13 new regional tax centres under 

the Building our Future programme. The new regional centres will reportedly accommodate between 

1,200 and 7,500 staff each and be supported by four specialist offices. The majority of the proposed 

estate re-alignment and modernisation will occur over a 5 year period. The hub locations have yet to 

be confirmed, though HMRC has confirmed coverage as follows: London, South East and East of 

England (Stratford and Croydon); East Midlands (Nottingham); West Midlands (Birmingham); North 

East (Newcastle); North West (Manchester and Liverpool); Yorkshire and the Humber (Leeds); Wales 

Page 132



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 46  
 

(Cardiff); Northern Ireland (Belfast); Scotland (Glasgow and Edinburgh) and South West (Bristol).  East 

Anglia is not a preferred location for HMRC. 

Local Health – Primary Care 

C&W has engaged with NHS England and the CCG to discuss GP and primary care requirements and 
any opportunities related to the potential future development of RAF Mildenhall. As stated above, the 
Mildenhall Hub is providing an opportunity to integrate health provision alongside with other public 
services and a small surgery is likely to be relocated within the new facility. The redevelopment of RAF 
Mildenhall will undoubtedly give rise to additional primary healthcare facilities. As a general rule, for 
every 1,750 patients some 120 sq m of additional GP/community health care space is required, though 
this will be influenced in part by the government’s move towards a 7-day week. As an indication, 5,000 
new homes will lead to a requirement for a decent sized practice (assuming 2.3 new patients per 
household). Overall, however, future primary care requirements will not be of a significant enough scale 
to influence the overall characteristics of a redevelopment of the site. 

Regional Health - Acute  

West Suffolk Hospital is located within a 45 acre site on the edge of Bury St Edmunds, 18 miles to the 

South East of RAF Mildenhall and a 30 minute drive. The Hospital has c. 430 beds open at any one 

time and serves a population of around 275,000 within an area of approximately 600 square miles. 

C&W contacted the Trust with a view to understanding its future operational requirements and estate 

strategy and whether RAF Mildenhall may represent a future opportunity. 

The Trust is committed to providing an ongoing presence within Bury St Edmunds. However, as the 

current site is over 40 years old, with increasing backlog maintenance and design life issues, a Strategic 

Outline Case is being produced to seek approval to the re-provision of a new facility as part of a health 

campus at Westley. If approvals are forthcoming within the next 5 years, a new Hospital is unlikely to 

be fully functioning until 2030, though delivery would be phased. In the meantime, significant health 

uses as part of a future redevelopment of the RAF Mildenhall site are considered to be highly unlikely. 

We consider that Academic Health Science Partnerships are unlikely to be an option for RAF Mildenhall 

given that they do not have their own funding and rely on NHS and university partnerships. As per 

earlier commentary, we see limited potential for Hospital use on the site or large scale educational uses 

apart from those linked to the aviation sector.   

Education  

C&W’s research suggests that in the case of RAF Mildenhall, large scale education uses have limited 

potential. In order for large scale education to present a viable option, it would need to build on the back 

of an existing specialisms/skill set in terms of the local economy.  

The crux of the location choice for major education providers is links to employers and a specific cluster 

around which a foci can be created. For instance, whilst we understand that the University of Suffolk 

has a number of campuses across the County, the driver of the location for additional centres (from 

them specifically or other organisations) is likely to focus on the ability to partner with others as opposed 

to geographical requirements.  

Given RAF Mildenhall’s current link to aviation the most obvious potential is for an educational base 

centred on aviation – building on the existing site anchor/hub is likely to prove the most deliverable 

educational option. Aviation is a specialist field and therefore creating a new standalone education hub 

for this would be challenging, it would be more feasible to link with an existing institution creating a new 

offering. Educational facilities currently focusing in aviation include: 

 Norwich Aviation Academy - a collaboration between City College, the University of East 

Anglia (UEA) and KLM engineering. Page 133



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 47  
 

 Aviation firms such as Marshall whom have their own in house training.  

 Newcastle Aviation Academy - a study for all “air side” services linking local colleges and 

the local authority. 

 Kingston University is a world leading centre for aviation with a number of satellite centre 

around the UK. 

We are now aware of any current, major requirements for new campus/ relocations from the region’s 

universities at Cambridge and Norwich. In relation to schools, we are not aware of any national 

initiatives relevant for this area and future requirements are considered to be limited to serving the 

growth in the residential community.  

In terms of the potential aviation educational opportunity at the site: 

 Given the current use of RAF Mildenhall there may be the opportunity to utilise the site 

(especially the runway and other aviation facilities); given the USAFE presence at the base 

there may also be the opportunity to create links with US educational institutions focusing 

on aviation.   

 This is supported by Newmarket and District Chamber of Commerce who suggest that 

there is potential to develop an aircraft legacy on the site by building a centre of excellence 

for specialist aviation support. Their briefing note further suggest this could form part of a 

larger hub attract wider business uses.  

Science and Innovation  

National Science – the site could lend itself to major science initiatives (e.g. spaceport, CERN type 

facility). We are not aware of any proposals at the moment. The potential for the spaceport is within the 

aviation sector commentary.  

Innovation/ science parks – there is limited potential given the distance from the M11 corridor and 

Cambridge (no innovation/science park of scale has been delivered at such a distance to Cambridge). 

If a facility could be found to be viable and deliverable, it would operate at a number of levels:  

 Major innovation campus/ research institute e.g. satellite of the agri-tech/ food science/ life 

science clusters at Norwich and Cambridge. 

 Innovation use related to aerospace. 

 General Science Park.  

 Smaller innovation centres integrated into employment site. 

 Extending the 2 multi-site EZs in the area to include Mildenhall using their technology 

themes – Cambridge Compass EZ and Space to Innovate, New Anglia EZ. Or getting a 

new dedicated EZ for Mildenhall with a technology theme. 

Predominantly due to science park take up, Cambridge’s total take up in 2015 amounted to 1.1m sq ft. 

It is considered that large scale parks will continue to draw occupiers in the future as the park expands. 

This, alongside the diminishing supply of built office space, and resultant ‘steep rises in rents (expected 

to climb to £31.50 by the end of 2016) may change the profile of the central zones, with incumbent 

occupiers having to re-locate’, thereby pushing potential demand higher for complementary parks 

further from Cambridge. Supporting this, bodies such as the Cambridge Compass EZ look to draw 

benefits and employment out of Cambridge and re-distribute across the wider sub-region. Some 

success is this regard is now evident in Ely.  

Page 134



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 48  
 

Major science campuses need an anchor in order to establish front end demand, this would typically 

suit a university, research organisation or science based large business. Smaller scale innovation could 

be grown more organically if the site benefits from EZ status. 

Further afield to the District, the clear leading existing employment anchor in the wider sub-region is 

Cambridge University and the science cluster which has emerged around its periphery. 

Specific commercial developments outside Cambridge City Centre include Cambridge Science Park 

which has established a symbiotic relationship with the City Centre. Cambridge Science Park is unique, 

with far reaching ties to knowledge and educational functions in the UK and Europe, therefore tapping 

into demand from niche sectors beyond the scope of the pre-existing commercial market of Cambridge. 

It establishes and stimulates demand in the wider area and exists synergistically with the pre-existing 

Cambridge market. Other science parks in the vicinity include Babrahman Campus located South of 

Cambridge close to the A11 focusing on basic cell and molecular biology and Chesterford Research 

Park located South of Cambridge in a relatively remote location but with access to the M11 focused on 

life sciences and pharmaceuticals.  

Cambridge’s polycentric nature (in terms of employment areas) may present an opportunity for 

Mildenhall to link to existing nodal commercial centres such as the science park and other local 

enterprise centres in the wider area.  

However, given the significant distance to Cambridge, we consider that in order to further stimulate 

demand and benefit from the existing network of commercial centres, Mildenhall would likely need to 

engage with alternative occupier markets which are not already represented in the wider Suffolk and 

Cambridgeshire area in order to establish a point of difference.    

This sort of development is likely to require significant public sector support to become established and 

returns on investment would likely be back loaded. In order to be viable and potentially secure long 

term high returns, an anchor would likely be required in order to attract a blend of occupiers and to 

establish an early differentiator.  

In order to achieve any of these commercial uses RAF Mildenhall would require continued political 

support in the form of infrastructure and finance. With the regional infrastructure focus currently 

predominately focused along on the Cambridge-Stansted corridor (with other focuses around major 

centre such as Ely), there would need to be a shift in addressing the wider infrastructure needs in West 

Suffolk to increase viability in the long term for RAF Mildenhall (Briefing Note, 2016).  

7.1.5 Housing  

Market Housing 

The housing market in Mildenhall and the wider District is relatively slow when compared with the wider 

Suffolk area. Research on Cambridge and the wider market shows that in March 2016, the District had 

the lowest number of sales in the wider Suffolk and Cambridgeshire regions over the last 12 months 

(Cambridge FHDC Update, 2016). In terms of actual sales completions, the District recorded 57% in 

this period - one of the highest in the Cambridge sub-region (Housing Market Bulletin, May 2016). Part 

of the reason for this difference is fluctuations in Total Sales Volumes; the Land Registry data shows 

continuing fluctuations in total sales volumes for the District from 2014 to 2016. Average house prices 

across the District have remained relatively static with a small increase on January 2014 levels to May 

2016 (£161, 000 up to £196, 000) based on Land Registry data. The Land Registry data shows that 

Mildenhall achieved an overall unit price of £172,000 compared to £175,000 in Beckrow, £158,000 in 

Lakenheath and £218,000 at Red Lodge.   

Page 135



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 49  
 

Whilst there is local demand and the Mildenhall housing market is relatively strong, long term and large 

scale development will require additional draws in order to generate a deeper level of demand and 

achieve scale and a viable development. The District offers greater affordability than many other areas 

in the Cambridge sub-region. 

New economic drivers in the area, such as greater employment opportunities or improved transport 

links to Cambridge could attract buyers priced out of Cambridge which has witnessed recent high price 

growth (over the first 3 months of 2016 this reached 4.2%). After London, Cambridge has the highest 

average house price at £491,000 versus a £275,000 UK average. This offers an opportunity for 

Mildenhall to capture demand from this market as rising prices in Cambridge push demand into hitherto 

more peripheral locations such as Mildenhall, thus supporting wider regeneration. 

Forest Heath District and Mildenhall demand projections  

The average household size in West Suffolk is 2.3 people (Forest Heath District) or 2.4 people (St 

Edmundsbury) whilst the average for England average is 2.4 people (Census, 2011). 

Between 2001 and 2011, the number of households in the District increased by 4.1% and in St 

Edmundsbury by 8.5%, compared to an England and Wales average of 3.4% (Census 2011).   

The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) identified the full, objectively assessed housing 

need in the District (between 2011 and 2031) is 6,800 dwellings (equates to 340 per annum (pa)). This 

figure is based on demographic analysis and includes market and affordable housing needs. C&W ’s 

experience is that 340 unit’s pa is relatively high for a secondary market location. These forecasts do 

not consider the full and objective need, and due to this, the figures do not directly link with the NPPF 

in establishing an overarching housing requirement figure. The current Market Signals and Objectively 

Assessed Housing Need (OAN) paper suggest that previously land supply has kept pace with demand 

but this could be contested given the relatively high rental levels from the USAFE base skewing the 

market. The latest household projections published by DCLG in February 2015 forecast an increase in 

the District of 5,900 households in the period 2011-2031. This falls in line with the wider East of England 

Forecast model – 2014 research forecasts demand for an additional 5,200 homes from 2011 to 2031.  

The DCLG review highlights that the current OAN 6,800 dwellings target with 27% affordable housing 

only produces 1,836 affordable units when the need is 2,638. The review suggests that FHDC could 

consider lifting the provisional target above 6,800 dwellings (Market Signals and OAN, 2016). The 

SHMA supports the 6,800 figure, suggesting that whilst the current market position appears to point to 

a much lower requirement, the figures are derived from the Office for National Statistic (ONS) 

population projections and therefore can only provide the starting point for estimating housing need 

(West Suffolk Council, 2014).  

Forest Heath District and Mildenhall supply projections  

FHDC (West Suffolk Housing Appendix A and FHDC update 2016) is targeting the 

delivery of 10,100 dwellings between 2011 and 2031. To put this in perspective, the 

2012 to 2013 period saw 364 homes built compared to the circa 500 unit’s pa which 

this target reflects. 
 

Table 2 - Identified FHDC Population, Jobs and Dwellings projections to 2031 (from 2011)  

Population Jobs Dwellings Ratio of new jobs to dwellings 

Page 136



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 50  
 

15,042 5,200 6,800 0.8 

 

Emerging Residential Sectors (Private Rental Sector, Custom Build, Retirement, Extra Care) 

There is limited information available on emerging residential sectors. West Suffolk Housing Strategy 

Appendix A – states a priority for West Suffolk is to support the provision of specialist housing. In 

relation to retirement and Extra Care housing: 

 West Suffolk Housing Strategy Appendix A – states smaller units are demanded as the need 

for housing that supports the elderly increases.  

 By 2031 over 25% of West Suffolk’s population will be over the age of 65. 

Affordable Housing 

Forest Heath District Housing Strategies 2008-14 states that 831 new affordable homes were delivered, 

representing an investment of around £60m by the registered provider partners, the HCA and private 

developers.  

FHDC Core Strategy CS9 suggested 30% affordable on schemes of 10 plus units. 

The residual affordable need (2,638) is 39% of the residual market need (5,300).  

This indicates that the Single Issue Review needs to plan to provide a residual affordable need of 2,350 

homes, at a residual rate of 131 dwellings pa. Based on past delivery rates, this is not likely to be 

achievable and far exceeds the level required by policy CS9. 

There is therefore continued need for affordable housing and as such it is likely to be viewed favourably 

in terms of planning. Whilst the market demand for affordable housing is high it does not produce high 

land value and so a trade-off is needed between value uplift and meeting the affordable targets.   

Summary 

Housing demand is present within the current Forest Heath market with land supply traditionally keeping 

pace with demand. However, a larger scale development would require reliance on additional 

employment creation and stronger infrastructure links to regional employment hubs. 

A significant housing element of any re-development at RAF Mildenhall is likely to be one logical step 

given the exiting residential centres at Beck Row and Mildenhall allowing for expansion. Housing could 

be favourable in planning terms if the requisite infrastructure could be shown to be capable of being 

put in place. It is likely to produce the highest land values but development at scale (i.e. a new 

settlement) will require significant pump-priming and interventions to increase demand profile. 

Residential development will not generate much additional employment in the long run or reduce the 

impact economically to the area from RAF Mildenhall closing unless a wider mix of uses is developed.   

Overall whilst there is limited evidence for the requirement for emerging residential sectors. There is 

clearly a demand for elderly appropriate accommodation.  

Incremental residential development to complement the existing settlements of Mildenhall, West Row 

and Beck Row is feasible although delivery trajectories are likely to be limited.  

An ambitious and transformational residential scheme at this site could follow the example of former 

airfields such as Northstowe in acting as the basis for a significant new development forming linkages Page 137



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 51  
 

with the existing centre within Mildenhall whilst also creating a hub for additional facilities and 

commercial space. The success and potential for such a development would be driven in part by: 

 Transport links/ accessibility to key job markets (e.g. Cambridge) 

 Employment opportunities to offer highly skilled jobs. 

 A commercially and socially viable centre to support the growing community.  

7.1.6 Emerging Sectors and Institutional Sectors 

Energy generation and sustainable industries  

In the last 20 years, energy generation and sustainable industries have been a popular initiative from 

the perspective of public sector support; however, in recent years, the government has reduced the 

support for solar farms, where solar arrays are ground mounted on either agricultural of brownfield land. 

They have removed subsidy support for solar farms larger than 5 megawatts and have significantly 

reduced the support available for stand-alone projects through the removal of Feed In Tariff (FIT’s) 

accreditation. They have also limited the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) funding to solar farms on 

agricultural land. 

There have been a number of RAF site conversion to solar farms due to their locations in East Anglia 

typically being flat with constrained demand for other uses. For example: 

 RAF Stradishall was purchased by Santander and is one of the UK’s biggest solar farms (2013). 

 RAF Coltishall in Norfolk was converted into £50m solar farm providing power for 10,000 

homes. This is a 600 acre site which was bought by the local council in order to increase 

employment and attract enterprise. It also has some agricultural use with sheep grazing under 

the panels.  

Further to this, as part of the diversification of agriculture and growth in technology, businesses in the 

area can benefit from using renewable energy such as biomass which forms part of agricultural 

diversification with the specific growth of fuel crops.  

These initiatives are likely to provide a small quantum of employment and are subject to limited site 

constraints. However, depending on the type of renewable energy used they do present some planning 

risk and may not be favourable with local residents. This is especially the case for wind farms. Further 

to this, they may limit land value, as little uplift in value is usually seen. 

At RAF Mildenhall, given the expansive and relatively flat land away from major residential development 

as well as the existing infrastructure provision, energy generation is a possible land use which could be 

developed without major subsidies. The main challenge is with regards to solar power infrastructure. In 

order for solar power to be viable there would need to be sufficient infrastructure to allow for energy 

supply to an end user or conversion of power to the National Grid.  

Other alternative uses could include Biomass power; this is a viable option given the large expanse of 

land being located away from residential populations. This would allow for the growth and processing 

of Biomass crops. If this was to be created the power station could act as an anchor tenant attracting 

other firms and educational institutions seeking the ability to cluster.  

Further to this given the large oil storage tanks already located at the site there is further potential for 

fuel storage. But this would need to be in tandem with fuel demanding uses but the much of the 

infrastructure is already in place.  

Page 138



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 52  
 

Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) 

UK Trade & Investment (UKTI) acts as a facilitator for Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) in the UK. It is 

not a site promotion agency but targets various sectors (with 8 strategic focuses) of investment and 

assists in finding locations which match their requirements. As such, the consideration of the potential 

of the site for FDI is based on how well it meets the requirements of key sectors (which are covered 

within this report). A particular focus of many investors is access to skills and a pool of potential 

employees; this points towards an emphasis on the need to build on the existing strengths of RAF 

Mildenhall in terms of the aviation sector.   

Agri-tech and Science Parks  

Significant support from the UK government exists in order to improve the competitiveness of the agri-

tech sector and a £160m UK Strategy for Agricultural Technologies  

Agri-tech is not a quantifiable sector with a known demand profile but rather, a group of enabling 

technologies linked to agriculture; these enabling technologies link IT, engineering, crop breeding, 

software development and testing, allowing for greater efficiency and knowledge sharing.  

There is a relationship between the UK science base and the UK agri-tech sector. Areas of strength 

within the UK agri-tech sector include: 

 Diagnostics 

 Genetics 

 Disease management 

 Nutrition 

 Use of technological applications 

 Emerging areas including: 

o Hydroponics 

o Aquaculture 

o Precision agriculture  

In terms of government support there is currently a £70m agri-tech catalyst fund to help new agricultural 

technologies get to market quicker. £90m has also been reserved for investment in Centres for 

Agricultural Innovation. 

The agri-tech catalyst will fund proposals relating to: 

 Primary crop and livestock production, including aquaculture. 

 Non-food uses of crops including ornamentals (for example, for biomass). 

 Food security and nutrition challenges in international development. 

 Challenges in downstream food processing, provided the solution lies in primary production. 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 139

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/agri-tech-catalyst
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/centres-for-agricultural-innovation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/centres-for-agricultural-innovation


A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 53  
 

Figure 5 - agri-tech catalyst fund map of existing projects 

•  

The following firms are represented on Figure 5: 

 Alpha BioPesticides Limited – (insecticide innovations centre) 

 Isomerase Therapeutics Limited (crop protection compound tech) 

 Tecarhneat Engineering Ltd (Seed UV treatment research) 

 ECOspray Ltd – (Potatoes pesticide tech) 

 Cambivac Limited (Swine Vaccine research) 

KWS UK Ltd (barley fungal disease innovation) 

 

In the 2015 Autumn Statement, the Chancellor announced that the government is investing £68m in 

three new Centres for Agricultural Innovation. Existing examples of agri-tech centres tend to cluster 

near innovation and centres such as science parks. Farmland in proximity to skilled knowledge base 

and education centres may therefore provide the optimum location for new agri-tech centres.  

Suffolk already has two Food EZs (for Babergh and Mid-Suffolk), which were awarded £50,000 each 

in order to be established. These zones benefit from simplified planning rules and the ability to forge 

closer links with the whole supply chain. As such, these zones are considered as a pathway to attracting 

new businesses and jobs to the area and, in turn, boosting a thriving tourism sector and ensuring vibrant 

market towns. The awarding of these two zones within Suffolk are in themselves a strong indication 

that this area is considered a good location for economic growth within the Agricultural Industry. The 

initiative behind Food EZs is to reduce financial pressures on farming businesses and stimulate growth 

in the sector; several additional food EZ’s are planned in Suffolk. 

Whilst they may be potential to create links with existing institutions such as the Norwich Research 

Park (which combines four world-renowned research institutions, all of which engage in agri-tech, 

Page 140



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 54  
 

supported by the research at the UEA and the Norfolk and Norwich University Hospital) the opportunity 

is considered to be limited given the lack of an anchor occupier/ use to build from.  

From C&W’s discussion with Agri-tech East it is apparent that there are a number of sites that have 

been allocated as sites for agri-tech innovation, include Smithson Hill near Cambridge.  

Science parks can link closely with the agri-tech sector but offer a wider base for firms including bio-

tech start-ups and established pharmaceutical firms. This market has established a strong base around 

Cambridge, creating links with educational and research institutions. 

Science park development typically requires a large anchor tenant set within the locality. A significant 

challenge for Mildenhall is the distance from Cambridge, as the majority of life sciences tend to be 

located south of the city towards Addenbrooks Hospital and the research centres. These centres also 

require specific fit-outs with spaces like laboratories incurring higher build costs and as they are tailored 

to the occupier making the space less flexible.  

In contrast to life sciences technology based firms tend to focus towards the North West of Cambridge. 

These firms occupy more flexible space. Examples of case studies where agri-tech and science parks 

have been developed:  

 Colworth Park is a science park encompassing a number of different firms. The main tenant 

(and anchor) is Unilever. Unilever has been at Colworth Park for 60 years and their presence 

has helped to create a centre for innovation and research. Colworth Park also benefits from a 

strong geographical location close to the A6 between Northampton, Cambridge and Bedford 

providing good access and a large employment base.  

 GlaxoSmithKline (GSK) moved to their Stevenage site in the late 1990’s. The site was 

previously used for water analysis and testing as well as a small industrial site. GSK moved to 

the site as they required a large parcel of secure land. The current site is in close proximity to 

the A1(M), M11 and M25 allowing for good road access. The site sits within what is often 

referred to as the ‘Golden triangle’  - many pharmaceutical firms and bio-tech firms aim to be 

located in the triangle between London, Oxford and Cambridge as these are areas of key 

research and innovation. The Stevenage site has since attracted other occupiers such as bio-

tech starts ups who are drawn to the site by the large anchor tenant.  

 Smithson Hill is backed by a member of the farming community and is spearheaded by a lead 

grower. This area incorporates firms for research but also space to test technologies an 

innovation. Providing partial proof and workshops as well as conferences and training events 

such as the agri-trade events.  

Another agri-tech centre is the National Institute of Agricultural Botany (NIAB), situated to the North of 

Cambridge close to the villages of Histon and Impington between the M11, A10 and A14.  The NIAB is 

a major international centre for plant research, crop evaluation and agronomy. The site is internationally 

recognised as a centre for innovation and aims to provide independent science-based research and 

information to support, develop and promote agriculture and horticulture (NIAB, 2016). The aim of the 

NIAB is to directly support the agricultural industry in order to supply food and renewable resources.  

The site in Cambridge currently employs over 220 people and covers a number of core areas including, 

genetics and breeding, varieties and seeds, crops and agronomy and crop trials. Whilst the centre is in 

a relatively rural location to allow for crop trials and scientific research it is still within close proximity to 

Cambridge and major road networks. This centre shows the ability to exist without a current hub to act 

as a catalyst but is located in close proximity to Cambridge and the science research and urban centre; 

a centre like this will be difficult to achieve at RAF Mildenhall given its relatively isolated location.  

Page 141



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 55  
 

Prisons 

Prison populations continue to rise across the UK and therefore there is demand for new prisons. Whilst 

offering employment and reducing the impact of the closure of Mildenhall a prison is likely to be 

unpopular with residents and stakeholders. It is unlikely to generate particularly high land values but 

typically leads to high construction costs.  

7.1.7 Do Minimum  

Agriculture 

The average price of English farmland fell by 3% in the first three months of 2016, according to the 

latest results of the Knight Frank Farmland Index. However, the average value of farmland is still 

almost £8,000 per acre, some 180% higher than it was 10 years ago. 

If the base was to be turned back to purely agricultural land employment would be generated albeit at 

a low rate.  

This would be broadly unaffected in planning terms, however this does not fit with the wider FHDC 

ambition for the area in terms of promoting economic growth. Despite rises in agricultural land values, 

this presents the lowest land value option in the long term when compared to other use classes. 

Productivity for agriculture maybe a challenge as the land has not be used for crop production for some 

time. In order for the land to maximise its commercial value there may need to be tests to improve the 

soil quality. Furthermore, before the land could be used for food production there would have to be 

environmental and soil quality check to assess the impact from aviation use such as the previous oil 

spills. 

Open Storage  

Open Storage has a potential market given the location in close proximity to the A11 and existing 

Industrial Park. 

Open storage would be a viable option given the extensive hard standing around the site. This has 

been finished to a high standard for the current use and could provide good storage space.  However, 

this will do little to minimise the impact of the USAFE base closing and will offer very limited employment 

opportunities.  

This is also a low revenue driver and will not produce a high land value therefore it is likely to be 

unfavourable from a planning perspective. Whilst the site in its current form is suitable for open storage, 

in order for the site to be viable in the long term additional infrastructure would be required to 

accommodate vehicle access.  

This is also likely to be an unpopular strategy given the eyesore it would present but could provide 

immediate land value (although limiting long term revenue generation).   

7.2 Aviation Options  

7.2.1 Summary of Aviation Activity Conclusions and Facilities Requirements 

As with all regional airports, Mildenhall will only be viable if it has a range of activities both aeronautical 

and non-aeronautical. 

 Passenger operations: passenger traffic at Norwich has stabilised at around 0.5m passengers 

and this figure is indicative of the scale of ambition for Mildenhall airport.  An initial analysis of 

the Civil Aviation Authority (CAA) detailed catchment data indicates potential in the area of 

600,000 annual passengers for Mildenhall in today’s market and 750,000 in 2023 if the market 

grows at the Department for Transport (DfT) high UK passenger traffic forecast growth rate of Page 142



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 56  
 

2.6%. Given ‘standard’ airport operating costs and revenues this is unlikely to support a viable 

business on its own but more detailed analysis is required of this and the required capex. 

Stansted now has critical mass and is under-utilised with lots of capacity available. We have 

also undertaken a very ‘high level’ analysis of Mildenhall under ‘best case’ conditions that 

indicate traffic potential could be higher. 

 Cargo services: the basic economic drivers of cargo do not indicate strong potential.  RAF 

Mildenhall is highly unlikely to develop the long haul passenger services that carry air freight 

‘belly hold’.  The region’s ‘integrators’ such as Fedex have enough capacity and better road 

access from Stansted. The type of cargo that could be connected to the airport via a rail link 

could not be flown economically as it is generally heavy, bulky and ‘low yield’. Also, the logistics 

of connecting train times and access to cargo’s final destination at the other end of the rail route 

makes it highly unpopular with the freight forwarders. Stansted has significant cargo capacity 

underutilised. East Midlands airport offers a large cargo hub with DHL (UK) using as their main 

base 

 Maintenance: the region is not close to the UK’s Maintenance, Repair & Overhaul (MRO) 

clusters apart from Marshalls and KLM Engineering at Norwich that is a major narrow body 

MRO centre.  There could be some limited activity supporting specific Marshall’s programmes 

(although they have not given any indication this is the case) and supporting smaller aircraft 

types.  It would be prudent to allow for maintenance areas. This is questioned by Newmarket 

and District Chamber of Commerce, they suggest that RAF Mildenhall has some potential as 

a ‘base’ maintenance facility but the economics of this are extremely challenging as it leaves 

little land for wider development and could reduce viability (Briefing Note, 2016).  

 Composites: this sub-sector of maintenance is relatively immature in the UK and has significant 

growth potential as all future aircraft programmes will be largely composite-based.  The region 

has several firms that are developing in this area.  A case can be made for the detailed 

evaluation of a composite-focused aerospace centre. 

 De-manufacturing: there is a long term problem of de-manufacturing aircraft that have high 

composites content.  This is a business area for which a case could possibly be made subject 

to a detailed feasibility analysis. 

 General Aviation (GA): the ‘GA’ areas of business aviation, private flying, training, helicopters, 

microlights and other activity have all been reviewed in terms of long term market development 

and Mildenhall potential.  There is little potential for Mildenhall in all these areas apart from 

business aviation.  If Cambridge becomes constrained then there would be a strong case for 

relocating the Textron service centre to Mildenhall. 

 The conclusion is that a more detailed business plan is required for the airport taking into 

account the capital expenditure, operating expenditure and revenues of all the business 

streams. In anticipation of a positive result it is recommended that the airfield and supporting 

infrastructure is protected and that an area of 200 acres is protected for aerospace activity. The 

200 acres doesn’t have to be contiguous, however, there are restrictions in height of buildings 

close to the runway and protecting the long term flexibility of the site (such as the building of a 

parallel taxiway that might be needed in the very long term best case for passenger operations) 

requires some contingency.  

7.2.2 Passenger airport 

Summary of the Opportunity 

Page 143



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 57  
 

Mildenhall offers a 2,810 metre runway with no slot or surface access problems but some requirement 

for infrastructure investment. Navigation technology is in place and no obstacles are apparent although 

it is uncertain if 24 hour operations are possible. It is close to the population and industrial centres of 

Cambridge and Norwich  

There are competing airports for commercial aviation at Norwich, Cambridge and Stansted and all have 

capacity to expand albeit with operational constraints and there is probably limited market appetite from 

airlines for a ‘greenfield site’ development of passenger operations unless it can offer extremely 

competitive pricing. There is usually limited attraction to some UK ‘base carriers’ as ‘splitting operations’ 

would make Mildenhall unpalatable to airlines based already at airports serving the region. 

It is extremely challenging to develop a ‘military conversion’ passenger airport; a good example is Robin 

Hood Airport Doncaster-Sheffield (formerly RAF Finningley) that has a much larger catchment in terms 

of population but initially struggled to build traffic (although its recent performance has been more 

encouraging) 

The Regional Air Market 

The East Anglia air passenger market amounted to 6m passengers in 2014 of whom 90% used airports 

outside the region, principally Stansted.  The other main airports were Gatwick, Luton and Norwich of 

which the latter had 8% of the market. 

Table 3 - Passengers in 2014 with Surface Origin and Destination in Norfolk, Suffolk and 

Cambridgeshire by Airport Used 

PASSENGERS IN 2014 WITH SURFACE ORIGIN AND DESTINATION IN NORFOLK, 

SUFFOLK AND CAMBRIDGESHIRE BY AIRPORT USED 

Airport  Passengers  % Total  

Stansted  2,568 42 

Heathrow  1,267 21 

Gatwick  986 16 

Luton  571 9 

Norwich  460 8 

Birmingham  58 1 

London City  55 1 

East Midlands  49 1 

Other  30 0 

Total  6,044 100 

Source: CAA Surveys all passengers with ‘Surface Origin and Destination’ in East Anglia (assume all 

Norwich passengers for East Anglia). 

The main twenty destinations are shown in the Table 4. They are almost all short haul destinations and 

‘southern sunspots’ with two long haul ‘leisure focused’ points, New York and Dubai.  The main local 

airport, Norwich, has direct services to the top two points of Amsterdam and Edinburgh and the main 

two holiday destinations of Alicante and Malaga. Long haul services are operated from Heathrow and 

Gatwick and it is likely that long haul services will re-start from Stansted in the future. 

  

Page 144



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 58  
 

Table 4 - Top Twenty Routes 2014 for East Anglia Passengers 

TOP TWENTY ROUTES 2014 FOR EAST ANGLIA 

PASSENGERS 

  

Destination  Other Airport  Norwich   Total  % of Total  

Amsterdam  115,650 137,380 253,030 4.3 

Edinburgh  95,994 28,460 124,454 2.1 

Dublin 123,880  123,880 2.1 

Malaga 116,815  116,815 2.0 

Palma 97,337 28,584 115,921 2.0 

Tenerife  97,219 16,554 103,773 1.8 

New York JFK 102,958  102,958 1.7 

Dubai 101,395  101,395 1.7 

Alicante 99,720  99,720 1.7 

Madrid 98,434  98,434 1.7 

Geneva 84,517  84,517 1.4 

Barcelona 82,857  82,857 1.4 

Aberdeen 21,427 60,162 81,589 1.4 

Belfast International 78,906  78,906 1.3 

Lisbon  67,384  67,384 1.1 

Berlin 64,115  64,115 1.1 

Naples 61,778  61,778 1.0 

Glasgow  61,291  61,291 1.0 

Faro  60,988  60,998 1.0 

Arrecife  57,921  57,921 1.0 

Source: CAA Surveys all passengers with ‘Surface Origin and Destination’ in East Anglia (assume all 

Norwich passengers for East Anglia). 

The geographic dispersion of passengers leans heavily towards the main population centres; the top 

10 are shown Table 5.  These account for just under 75% of the region’s total and the Cambridgeshire 

district accounts for 28% of the region’s passengers, excluding those flying from Norwich (8% of the 

region’s total).  

A basic test of the gravitation of passengers to airports based on their access times and an assumed 

service level suggests that an airport in the Mildenhall area would attract around 5-10% of the region’s 

total or some 300-600,000 passengers at 2014 traffic levels and 360-750,000 at forecast 2023 traffic 

levels.  This suggests that it might be difficult to make a strong business case for a new airport on the 

basis of only revenues from passengers. 

  

Page 145



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 59  
 

Table 5 - East Anglia Passengers by Main District of Surface Origin and Destination 

EAST ANGLIA PASSENGERS BY MAIN DISTRICT OF SURFACE ORIGIN 

AND DESTINATION 

District  2014 Pa (000)  % 

Cambridge   1,544,837  27.67 

Norwich   588,336  10.54 

Peterborough 454,822  8.15 

Huntingdonshire  373,482  6.69 

Ipswich  300,558  5.38 

South Cambridgeshire 246,462  4.41 

St. Edmundsbury  239,402  4.29 

King's Lynn and West Norfolk  227,595  4.08 

Suffolk Coastal   181,720  3.25 

Forest Heath  163,467  2.93 

Source: CAA 

Existing Airports in the Region 

There are three local airports serving East Anglia – Norwich, Cambridge and Stansted and their journey 

distances to the main population centres of East Anglia are shown in Table 5 with Mildenhall also 

included for comparative purposes.  No airport has a clear distance advantage to the main population 

centres of the widely dispersed East Anglian market. 

Table 5 - Drive Distances (Miles) to Airports Serving East Anglia 

DRIVE DISTANCES (MILES) TO AIRPORTS SERVING EAST ANGLIA 

Airfield Population Mildenhall  Norwich  Cambridge  Stansted  

Peterborough 135,000 57.6 76.8 37.7 61.7 

Norwich 134,857 43  64 84.1 

Cambridge 125,000 23.6 64   31.6 

Kings Lynn 43,000     

Source: Infrata/AA 

Norwich International Airport (NIA) has annual passengers of 460,000 and its main routes are shown 

in Table 4. Its’ main route is to Amsterdam where a large number of passengers will connect onto flights 

across the world.  It also has flights to Edinburgh and Aberdeen, mainly oil company traffic, and a 

number of leisure destinations.  Around 25% of Norwich’s passengers are on helicopter services to the 

oil rigs.   

Page 146



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 60  
 

It has a 1,841 metre runway which means that services beyond Europe are not possible or are payload 

constrained. Its operating hours are 06:00-22:30 and it has 1 passenger terminal, 1 cargo terminal, and 

8 aircraft stands. Its growth is also dependent on the Northern Distributor Road, which will relieve 

congestion and provide strategic connections between the A47/A11 and NIA. This road has already 

been included in the government’s funding programme and is proceeding through the Nationally 

Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIP) process that is well under way.  

Cambridge Airport has a 1,865 metre runway and is 3km from the city and its operating hours are 

08:00-18:00 with more on request. It has 1 passenger terminal, 1 cargo terminal and 3 aircraft stands.  

The development of air service from there has not been successful, largely due to the resurgence of 

Stansted, and it has under 10,000 annual passengers. Cambridge is also home to Marshalls Aerospace 

with a very significant aviation cluster. 

Stansted Airport has a 3,048 metre runway capable of handling B747-8/A380, the highest standard of 

navigation and 24-hour operations.  Passenger traffic there dipped significantly after 2001 but has 

regrown back to around 22m passengers with over 150 destinations.  It has significant cargo operations 

with services by FedEx Express, Royal Mail, and TNT Airway.  Its cargo facilities include a bonded 

warehouse, very large/heavy cargo, express/courier centre and new sheds (14,000 sq m). It has cargo 

handling agents: Aviance UK Cargo, Servisair-Stansted. 

Best Case Conditions 

There are a number of future conditions that might impact on the traffic potential of the airport: 

 If the population of Cambridge was to double over the next 10 years to 250,000 and the 

populations of other towns in the region were also to rise substantially in the near future. 

 Norwich airport were to fail commercially and subsequently close down. 

 Marshalls were to relocate their Cambridge-based operations to Mildenhall while using their 

existing land for much-needed city-centre housing in Cambridge. 

 Necessary road and rail infrastructure on the A11 corridor (and an A14-A11 link) were to be 

upgraded to make access times to Mildenhall significantly quicker and easier? 

The full evaluation of these factors are beyond the scope of this report.  However, in general the 

following comments are possible.   

Assuming that faster population and therefore economic growth lead to regional air demand growing 

50% faster than the DfT UK average gives an annual growth rate of 3.9% and a regional total market 

using all airports of 11.1m by 2030. If Mildenhall performed at a high level of regional airport 

expectations it may take 15% of this, or some 1.7m.  If Norwich grew at the higher national level it could 

be expected to have some 900,000 passengers by that time. The higher traffic projection for Mildenhall 

at this time would be around 2.5m passengers if Norwich closed, Cambridge did not have passenger 

operations, the economy and population grew rapidly and there are significant surface transport 

developments.  This is an extremely ‘high-level’ projection and requires supporting by detailed analysis 

of CAA, population, economic and airline data. 

7.2.3 Cargo airport 

Summary of the opportunity 

The major drivers that affect Mildenhall are described below but, in summary, Mildenhall could not offer 

enough that is likely to be new or ground breaking to penetrate this market: 
Page 147



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 61  
 

 Cargo requires long runway, good surface access, 24 hour operations and land for terminal 

development. Most cargo is trucked to major cargo centres or is flown ‘belly hold’ on passenger 

services 

 ‘Integrator’ cargo business developed at specialist airports – requires access to motorways, 

proximity to population centres, no slot congestion and 24 hour operations.  A good example 

is the DHL operation at East Midlands airport. 

 ‘Low yield, low density’ cargo such as aggregates and industrial produce that is carried by rail 

is highly unlikely to be flown due to the cost and logistics. 

 Air cargo is attracted to growth sectors such as hi-tech industries, pharmaceuticals, automotive 

parts etc. East Anglia may be focusing on these types of industries which require access to air 

services and overseas markets. 

 

The Cargo Market and Mildenhall 

With or without additional runway capacity at London Heathrow (LHR), the forwarders who control 98% 

of general cargo will utilise belly or freighter capacity at either regional or European airports by using, 

as part of their logistics, trucking services. This is not seen within the industry as a negative, in fact in 

some instances it can be a positive. 

Freight forwarders in the UK have concentrated their activities in and around LHR, investing in both 

warehousing and handling facilities at their consolidation centres.  Airfreight is collected from all over 

the UK and trucked to these consolidation centres where it is then aggregated by destination into unit 

loads that attract an advantageous airfreight rate from the airline.   

This concentration of activity (in volume terms) at their LHR bases enables the freight forwarders to 

negotiate extremely competitive rates with airlines and in turn allows them to influence the supply of 

capacity.  Although most freight forwarders have developed branch offices in UK regions, the focus of 

their business remains centred on the London hubs where economies of scale allow more cost effective 

operations. 

Airfreight from around the regions including East Anglia, is delivered by the freight forwarder into its 

own or other consolidation centres at LHR and then built into Unit Load Devices (ULDs). The complete 

ULDs are then delivered into airline handling facilities at LHR and in turn trucked, at the airline’s own 

expense, to the airport of final departure which may be outside of the London hub and could very well 

be within mainland Europe. This process by the airline encourages the freight forwarder to deliver 

critical mass to London hubs and continental hubs such as Amsterdam and hence promotes 

consolidation activities. Scheduled airlines are driven by the passenger demand for a given route and 

it has been advantageous for them to develop a concentration of activities through a principal airport.   

It is not unknown for airfreight destined or originating in the regions to travel to LHR for consolidation 

by the freight forwarder only to be returned to Stansted for a long haul flight. The principal reasons for 

such a process by the freight forwarder is to obtain a lower airfreight rate on the basis of both critical 

mass and the airlines’ willingness to accept the airfreight from the forwarder at their LHR hub.  

Freight forwarders with a LHR hub and full handling facilities can therefore maximise revenues while 

the cost of the trucking in many cases is absorbed into the rate by the airline. There will be a high 

percentage of cargo unloaded or loaded onto regional flights that may have the origins or imports 

Page 148



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 62  
 

destined outside of East Anglia.  This is mainly because of the airlines maximising the capacity they 

have in the UK market.  

Trucking is a major part of the UK airfreight industry and most airlines provide road haulage services 

between the regions and the major London and continental airports to feed their own scheduled 

services. Some are based on dedicated scheduled trailer departures; others operate on a shared user 

basis. Approximately 400 to 500 trucks operate on a daily basis, moving airfreight to/from the major 

airports on dedicated ‘inter–airport’ services in the UK. Major players include Saints Transport, 

Swissport Cargo, Dnata, and British Airways, all of whom operate daily scheduled services between 

most major regional airports. 

The express cargo market in the UK has different needs and requires a different structure to the general 

air cargo market. The express service generally collects cargo from the shipper's premises and delivers 

the cargo directly to the shipper's customer within an agreed time period, known as "door-to-door time 

definite delivery service". To achieve this level of service, these companies operate from a central 

location a "hub". The cargo is collected then delivered by the express company, usually to a local depot 

or "spoke” or local airport. In the case of the East Anglia this would be Stansted airport, before being 

despatched by air to the express company's hub. At the hub the cargo is re-sorted and re-forwarded 

by air to a local airport or "spoke" close to the shipment's destination, where it is then delivered to the 

shipper's customer. These companies are said to operate a "hub-and-spoke distribution system".  

Express operators have specific operational requirements. Generally they require unrestricted flying 

hours (particularly at night-time), efficient ground handling facilities on the ramp and sufficient 

warehouse space to accommodate the sorting and distribution of the air cargo. Location, infrastructure, 

and connections to main road networks also strongly influence an express operator's choice of airport. 

East Anglia is well served with Federal Express from Stansted and the other integrators at LHR. 

7.2.4 Maintenance Repair and Overhaul (MRO) 

Summary of the Opportunity 

There is a proven ability of airports in the region to develop this activity with a major Maintenance, 

Repair and Overhaul (MRO) centre at Cambridge (Marshalls) and there is an emerging civil aviation 

cluster based around NIA where the key businesses, KLM UK Engineering and Air Livery, supported 

by the UEA and Norwich University Technical College are looking to develop an aviation skills academy. 

The ‘Greater Norwich City Deal’ also includes scope for interventions to strengthen this cluster.  There 

is also a key cluster at RAF Marham for maintenance of military fighter aircraft. Also, RAF Woodbridge 

and RAF Wattisham are home to specialist military engineering units.  

The ‘North East Quadrant’ of Norwich supports advanced manufacturing and the energy sector 

(including low carbon). This quadrant includes NIA with its associated employment areas, a complex 

of existing business parks centred on Broadland Business Park, and the Rackheath ecotown proposal. 

The Newmarket and District Chamber of Commerce suggest there is an opportunity for a building of 

business around avionics, metal working, engine component overhaul linking into the ‘off-airport’ 

market utilising the aviation legacy but without requiring access by aircraft (Briefing Note, 2016).  

There are a number of interesting specific opportunities for Mildenhall that have been summarised 

below: 

 Marshalls: probably no plans to expand in UK outside Cambridge although it is worth exploring 

smaller types of aircraft of specific military opportunities with them. Marshalls has previously 

considered relocating from their existing Cambridge site (which has significant residential 

potential) and it is not clear what their current appetite is for such a switch. FHDC consider that Page 149



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 63  
 

Marshalls are interested because of discussions with Cambridge City Council over the future 

of Cambridge Airport (which is subject to housing pressure) - Mildenhall is the obvious back-

up and Marshalls need to know how much of the airport is available. 

 Major maintenance and composites: it would be difficult to attract a major overhaul company 

as their expansion is mainly in lower wage countries in Eastern Europe and Asia.  However, 

the ability to handle highly technical composite sections may prove useful.  Expertise in new 

technologies and specialist areas such as cabin interiors could also be an area of focus. 

 Modifications and cargo conversions: increasing growth opportunity requiring land/hangars, 

labour, runway, usually accompanying existing maintenance activity. Large number of 

modifications expected in market that could put strain on supply especially for C-130 and cargo 

conversions. Development underway at Marshalls, worth exploring potential especially 

regarding C-130 programme. These are usually larger aircraft and Mildenhall’s long runway 

could be an advantage. 

 Military: there is a substantial amount of military work already undertaken in the region.  It is 

unlikely to form an ‘anchor tenant’ but could be a valuable ancillary work stream. 

 Smaller aircraft: these require local service centres e.g. such as Cirrus at Sywell and present 

an opportunity although a detailed examination of this market is required to find a specific 

manufacturer opportunity. 

 Engine overhaul: this is centred on a small number of competent centres. Requires skilled 

labour, land, runway, surface access. Development underway at Marshalls, limited potential 

but worth exploring. 

 Components overhaul:  are usually based around large existing maintenance centres. There 

is sufficient supply at Stansted and Cambridge. 

 Parts stockists: require land for facilities and access to large maintenance centre and there 

is expected to be sufficient supply at Stansted and Cambridge. 

 Aircraft de-manufacturing; this requires specialist skills requiring runway, land, low cost 

labour, and surface access. Requires runway, surface access, labour, and land for buildings.  

Worth exploring potential but more research is required within the sector. KLM UK Engineering 

has composite/ advanced composite capability and decommissioning activities for Boeing 

737’s, Airbus A320's, Fokker 70/100 and BAe146/Avro RJ’s at Norwich.  Our view is that the 

long runway, the availability of land and closer access to the motorway network make 

Mildenhall an excellent long term development option. 

Overview of MRO Sector Developments That Affect Mildenhall 

MRO is an area where demand is likely to grow and is a key capability in the UK aerospace sector with 

services including the increased use of composites and advanced materials – the Airbus A350XWB 

and Boeing 787 aircraft typically have a composite material content reaching 50% by aircraft weight.   

New technologies are also being developed including the increased use of electrical power as opposed 

to hydraulics and pneumatics, in aircraft such as the Boeing 787 Introduction of health monitoring, 

diagnostic and prognostic technologies – e.g. Rolls Royce use real-time Engine Health Monitoring to 

track the health of engines worldwide.  A further area of development is the enhanced cabin 

environment and interiors, such as cabin lighting, noise reduction, improved air quality, in-flight 

connectivity, cabin Wi-Fi, and inflight entertainment systems on the A380 and B787. Page 150



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 64  
 

The UK MRO Industry and Regional Clusters 

There are 1,305 companies actively trading and involved with the provision of MRO services in the UK, 

segmented further by their category and size. They include: 

 195 large companies that comprise 15% of the total population of 1,305; they account for the 

most significant portion of the MRO activities.  

 970 SMEs comprising 75% of the total MRO company population (966 small plus 10 medium 

sized). 

The majority of the companies are located in the southern half of the UK with clusters in Scotland 

located along a line running from Glasgow to Edinburgh as well as Aberdeen and Inverness along the 

north east coastline, supporting the UK’s North Sea oil industry operations. In Northern Ireland they are 

clustered around Belfast and Londonderry. In England there are main clusters around Newcastle upon 

Tyne, Blackpool, Liverpool and Manchester. Further South they are mainly clustered around 

Cheltenham, Cardiff and Bristol, Bournemouth, Southampton, Brighton and around London. 

Figure 6 - Location of Major MRO in England & Wales 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: BIS 

The presence of Marshalls is somewhat anomalous with the majority of aerospace being located 

elsewhere in the country.  This has implications for the availability of labour and the supply chain. It 

should be noted that KLM UK Engineering has EASA Part 145/147 approval at Norwich. 

There is a slightly different picture when military facilities are considered.  There are fewer locations 

and no pronounced geographic clusters.  

  

Page 151



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 65  
 

Figure 7 - Location of MoD Part 145 MRO Companies 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: BIS 

The evidence of the locational analysis of MRO appears to be that there is a limited case for the 

development of heavy civil maintenance at Mildenhall although composites, described below, may offer 

a launch pad for this sector with further growth potential in areas such as cabin interiors and 

modifications. 

Potential spillover from Marshalls 

There is no indication at present that Marshalls Aerospace currently has any interest in Mildenhall and 

the company has stated publicly that it has no interest in acquiring it.  Marshalls sold its automated 

fabrication and paint plant at Mildenhall to engineering manufacturer Tinsley Special Products; the 6.5 

acre site had been working on a MoD contract for Marshall Land Systems, which the company won in 

2005. The contract was to manufacture and fit more than 6,600 specialist loadbeds to vehicle chassis 

supplied by MAN Trucks, for delivery to the British Army. 

Mildenhall provides Marshalls with a long term opportunity to establish a separate maintenance 

operation. As mentioned, there are a large number of modifications expected in market that could put 

strain on supply especially for C-130 and cargo conversions. Development underway at Marshalls is 

worth exploring, especially regarding C-130 programme activity in the future (in the event it wins major 

foreign maintenance contracts).  

Composites 

In aerospace, the growing demand for lower emissions, aligned with advances in composite 

construction techniques, has led to a significant increase in the use of composites in civil aircraft in the 

last few years. This is from a base of around 10-15% of the structural weight to 25% for the Airbus 

A380 and 50% for the Boeing 787 and the Airbus A350 XWB. Further advances in design and 

technology are likely to push this figure higher for the next generation narrow body aircraft. 

Based on the market data available, the UK industry for composites is currently worth £1 billion annually 

in terms of finished parts and this could increase significantly as the production of composite 

components for the new Airbus A350 XWB and the Bombardier CSeries aircraft begins in the UK plus 

products for the for the Eurofighter/Typhoon, Joint Strike Fighter and A400M which will contain a 

significant amount of composite materials. 

There are a number of regional centres of composite excellence and it is a dispersed business with no 

clearly dominant area: 

Page 152



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 66  
 

 Filton (Bristol): the Composite Structure Development Centre at Airbus UK focuses on the 

technological development of large wing structures, including low-cost, high volume 

technologies for the wider structural applications of composite materials. 

 North West Composite Centre: this will establish a Composites Certification and Evaluation 

Facility with funding from the Northwest Development Agency, University of Manchester and 

industry.  

 South Yorkshire: the Advanced Manufacturing Research Centre, was created through a 

partnership between the University of Sheffield and Boeing. It works on the production of small 

structures containing components made from different materials, as well as drilling, machining 

and joining composite materials.  

 Scotland: Spirit AeroSystems has recently opened a new multi-million pound Composite 

Development Centre focusing on design, product development and manufacture of future 

aircraft wing structures.  

East Anglia has already developed a significant composite industry with major aerospace participation: 

 Hexcel: a world leader in carbon fibre and composite materials for commercial and defence 

aircraft, helicopters, engines, satellites and launchers, Hexcel is also a specialist in lightweight 

composite components including engineered core parts, HexMC® components and complete 

structures. 

 AIM Altitude is creating a Centre of Excellence for composites, in Waterbeach, Cambridge. 

Part of the AIM Altitude aircraft interiors group,  

 Huntsman Advanced Materials is a leading global chemical solutions provider with a long 

heritage of pioneering technologically advanced epoxy, acrylic and polyurethane-based 

polymer products.  

Regarding universities that have teaching strengths, the following is illustrative of the breadth of 

capability in this area: 

 Bath University 

 Bolton University 

 Bristol University 

 Cranfield University 

 Glyndwr University 

 Imperial College London 

 Loughborough University 

 Manchester University 

 Nottingham University 

 Plymouth University 

 Queen Mary, University of London Page 153



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 67  
 

 Sheffield University 

 Surrey University 

 Strathclyde University 

 University of Ulster 

Within the research domain a number of research groups will be active in this area. The most likely 

universities will be the research intensives as well as a few others where applied research and 

technology is key, e.g. Cambridge, Oxford, University College London, Queen Mary, Imperial, 

Cranfield, Manchester, Sheffield, Nottingham, Bristol, Edinburgh, Glasgow, Southampton, Queen’s, 

Cardiff, Loughborough, Brunel, Strathclyde, Surrey, Plymouth.  

Other MRO sub-sectors 

There are a number of other sub-sectors that normally only develop to support major maintenance 

facility: 

 Engine overhaul: highly unlikely to be developed outside of major maintenance centre.  Engine 

business is becoming highly centralised and commoditised. 

 Modifications: large number of older aircraft being modified and converted, for example ex-

passenger 767 becoming freighters, this activity is moving to lower labour cost countries 

 Components overhaul: usually ancillary activity to major maintenance centre 

 Parts stockist: usually ancillary activity to major maintenance centre 

 Aircraft de-manufacturing: could present an opportunity with a requirement for land and 

technicians.  Many aircraft contain valuable metals and carbon structures and demand is 

growing as a result of their assets and end-of-life environmental management policies that 

European manufacturers are now having to consider overall environmental management 

standards and responsibilities.  

  

Page 154



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 68  
 

7.2.5 General Aviation  

Summary of the Opportunity 

 Business aviation: Mildenhall has a runway of length 2,800 metres, well more than the normally 

required 2,500 metres. Land is available for a service centre - Cambridge has Textron service 

centre and Marshalls are expanding in the area of business aviation.   

 Private flying/flying clubs: the market needs runway, land for hangars, service centre, club 

buildings, support services. There is existing activity at Cambridge and other smaller airfields. 

This market is in long term decline. 

 Helicopters: market needs access to main business market, hangars, and support services. 

Development underway at Marshalls, limited potential and market.  North Sea is adequately 

served from Norwich. 

 Training centre: market needs runway, land for buildings. Market in general long term decline. 

 Microlights: market needs take off strip, hangar, and support centre. Supplied from numerous 

local airfields 

 Other activity: police, surveying, agricultural. Market requires 800 metre runway, hangar, 

support services. Norwich, Cambridge and smaller local airfields serve this market. 

National demand for business and general aviation has been in general decline over the last 10 years. 

There has been stagnation and even decline in the number of aircraft on the UK register but this has 

slowed over the last three years 

The chart below shows South East and Midlands business aviation movements since 2002. There has 

been a steady and significant decline since the peak in 2002.  The decline has been most marked in 

the ‘aero club’ category with the others remaining generally constraint. 

Aero club is most commonly private flying with aircraft owned by individuals or small groups.  The 

decline is generally a reflection of increased costs and declining disposable incomes due largely to 

rapidly increasing housing costs.  

  

Page 155



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 69  
 

Figure 8 - UK South and East General Aviation Development (Reporting Airports Only) 

 

Source: CAA 

The trend is less pronounced in the other categories of business, air taxi and official which have seen 

a less significant drop as there is a less direct relationship with disposable income and the region is 

well served with local airfields. The map shows airports and airfields within 50 miles of Mildenhall with 

14 general aviation airfields and 2 airports offering scheduled flights. Cranfield and Luton are also 

important to this market, the former is slightly further than 50 miles but has a relatively short access 

time. 

  

Historical Forecast 

0

20,000

40,000

60,000

80,000

100,000

120,000

140,000

160,000

180,000

2
0
0

2

2
0
0

3

2
0
0

4

2
0
0

5

2
0
0

6

2
0
0

7

2
0
0

8

2
0
0

9

2
0
1

0

2
0
1

1

2
0
1

2

2
0
1

3

2
0
1

4

2
0
1

5

2
0
1

6

2
0
1

7

2
0
1

8

2
0
1

9

2
0
2

0

2
0
2

1

2
0
2

2

2
0
2

3

2
0
2

4

2
0
2

5

2
0
2

6

2
0
2

7

2
0
2

8

2
0
2

9

2
0
3

0

2
0
3

1

Air Taxi Aero Club Private Official Business Aviation

Page 156



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 70  
 

Figure 9 - Airports and Airfields within 50 Miles of Mildenhall (excluding military) 

 

Source: Infrata 

Business Aviation: Market Drivers and Trends 

Business aviation includes air taxi operations, in which clients charter whole aircraft, and corporate 

operations in which a company owns and operates its own aircraft using professional pilots.  

After the financial crash of 2008 there was a sharp drop in the UK of business aviation activity – both 

in the number of registered aircraft and flights taken. More recent data suggests there has been a 

strengthening recovery. Based on average economic growth of 1.8% per year the business jet 

manufacturer Bombardier forecasts a fleet compound annual growth rate of 7.0% until 2024.  It expects 

that Europe will remain the second largest market for business jet deliveries. Europe is forecast to 

receive 1,525 deliveries valued at $50 billion. Medium and Large category aircraft will account for 

almost 70% of deliveries. 

The UK is the third largest business jet market in Europe.  There are 300 business jets and 93 turboprop 

corporate aircraft registered in the UK (2012 figures). The majority of the fleet is located in the South 

East of the UK; London is served by 14 airports for private aviation and most business aviation flights 

are from the London airports to France and Switzerland.  

Over the last few years a number of financial models have been developed to bring down the cost of 

corporate flying. There are increasingly affordable charter flight deals, competitive fractional ownership 

schemes - where customers buy a percentage of an aircraft which entitles them to a fixed number of 

flight hours a year - and new jet-card services, where a customer also buys hours in the air but without 

any ownership costs. These have contributed to the flattening of the downward curve of business flying 

and to promote growth in the long term. 

Page 157



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 71  
 

In its 2014 market forecast, Honeywell Aerospace (a major manufacturer of engines for business jets) 

predicted 75% of all expenditure on business jets to 2024 will be on larger-cabin aircraft classes 

“ranging from super midsize through ultra-long-range and business liner,” according to company 

predictions. In the UK, large business jet registrations have been growing in recent years while other 

class of business jet have been stable. 

Table 6 - UK general/business aviation aircraft registrations by aircraft weight 

UK GENERAL/BUSINESS AVIATION AIRCRAFT 

REGISTRATION BY AIRCRAFT WEIGHT   

Year  5,701 – 

15,000 kg  

15,001 – 

50,000 kg 

Over 50,000 

kg  

2015 190 260 806 

2014 200 272 791 

2013 212 289 761 

2012 219 293 755 

2011 228 297 742 

2010 253 306 742 

2009 256 292 766 

2008 270 270 760 

2007 258 257 760 

2006 253 272 712 

2005 254 256 679 

2004 254 271 662 

2003 254 264 644 

2002 267 307 645 

2001 276 296 624 

2000 262 288 592 

Source: General Aviation Manufacturers Association 

While the busiest routes for all types of business aviation flights (jets, piston and turboprops) are internal 

flights, most business aviation flights, measured by movements a day, are between airports in the South 

East of the UK and continental Europe. Four of the most popular business aviation destinations from 

the UK are served from Luton and it is possible that some of this market could also be served from 

another airport such as Mildenhall as the passengers are likely to reside in or have destinations on the 

east and northeast sides of London. 

Table 7 - Major UK Business Aviation Routes 

MAJOR UK BUSINESS AND AVIATION ROUTES  

Departure airport  Destination Airport  Movements a day  

London Luton  Paris Le Bourget  3.5 

Bristol Filton Paris Le Bourget 3.2 

Isle of Man East Midlands  2.9 

Page 158



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 72  
 

MAJOR UK BUSINESS AND AVIATION ROUTES  

Departure airport  Destination Airport  Movements a day  

Farnborough  Paris Le Bourget 2.8 

London Luton Nice 2.8 

Farnborough  Geneva 2.7 

Farnborough  Barrow 2.5 

London Luton Geneva 2.4 

Farnborough Nice 2.4 

London Luton Moscow  2.4 

Guernsey  Jersey  2.1 

London Luton Farnborough  1.8 

London City  Paris Le Bourget 1.7 

Source: Eurocontrol 

Most of the other airfields that serve the region provide the full range of facilities for business aviation.  

 LHR: Limited availability for business aviation. Even for private jet users going through LHR's 

dedicated private jet terminal (FBO), operated by Signature Flight Support, delays are often 

experienced in the air and on the ground and business aviation is being discouraged and priced 

out by high landing fees. 

 Luton: UK's busiest private airport and one of the top 5 in Europe but Luton is becoming 

severely constrained and business aviation is likely to be ‘squeezed out’. 

 Stansted: offers a choice of five private jet terminals (FBOs); 24 hour access; and good 

transport links. However, in the long term business aviation will find it increasingly hard to find 

runway slots. 

 Cranfield: its runway can accommodate all sizes of private jet and, with no runway slots and 

airside access for cars, it offers flexibility and high levels of privacy 

The wider London and South East market is also served by Gatwick, London City, Southend, Northolt, 

Biggin Hill, Farnborough, Blackbushe and Fairoaks. 

Mildenhall has no operational constraints due to its runway length of 2,810 metres.  This means that all 

business jets can use the airfield at maximum take-off weight (MTOW). Mildenhall has potentially 

excellent facilities that could provide a strong “pull factor” for the business aviation community that may 

be growing in the regional economy. However, Mildenhall is not close enough to national major centres 

of business and this may limit its growth. 

There is likely to be an increased overall market in London and the South East England with growth 

expected to revert to its pre-recession 3% pa partly driven by some diversion from constrained 

scheduled services for the business market.  

Helicopters: Market Size and Trends 

In 2014 there were 1,232 helicopters with British “G” registrations, 18% below the peak of 1,495 in 

2009. The UK recession has hit the lower end of the market the most and in only the larger 5,701 to 

Page 159



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 73  
 

15,000 kilogramme (kg) weight range has there been a gradual increase every year for the last ten, 

and a big jump from last year’s figure of 95 to 110 this year.  

The larger helicopters cover most of the offshore North Sea fleet largely served out of Norwich. The UK 

is a major centre for training and operating offshore helicopters and the operating group Douglas-

Westwood forecasts $24 billion in expenditure on offshore helicopter services between 2014 and 2018; 

a 57% increase in comparison to the preceding five-year period. 5    

The bulk of the UK market is in the 751-5,700 kg range - a broad industry categorisation that covers 

everything from single piston helicopters like the Enstrom range through to the Sikorsky S76. The 

number of helicopters in the UK peaked in 2008 and has been in steady decline since then. Table 8 

shows the development of registrations. 

Table 8 - Annual UK Helicopter Registrations 

Source: CAA 

Demand for North Sea helicopter pilots plus the continuing demand for high-end executive helicopter 

services has meant the demand for commercial helicopter pilots in the UK has remained more stable 

than in other European countries, though recreational pilot demand has fallen. Total helicopter 

movements from the region are expected to be approximately 5,000 pa and have declined over the last 

five years and there are significant helicopter opportunities at most of the other regional airfields. Also, 

the long term trend is likely to be downwards due to the need for greater efficiency in the UK North Sea 

oil and gas sector. 

Fixed Wing Training 

There are three types of flying school within the UK GA sector: 

 The large multinational businesses such as CAE Oxford, training pilots for commercial air 

transport operations. 

 Large UK based schools such as Aeros which offer a range of training courses across the 

aviation sector.  

 Small local flying schools at small general aviation airfields. 

While the larger schools are benefitting from an upturn in recruitment by low-cost and network airlines, 

smaller flying schools in the UK are coming under pressure from a number of areas. Costs – insurance, 

fuel, maintenance – remain relatively high and demand remains suppressed by the stagnant disposable 

income of its customer base. Most pilots are self-financing from the start: the General Aviation 

Awareness Council claims that 60–70% of professional pilots have self-financed their flight training at 

GA schools.   

                                              
5(http://www.douglas-westwood.com/shop/shop. 

ANNUAL UK HELICOPTER REGISTRATIONS   

Year  2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 

Registration  1,238 1,314 1,386 1,490 1,495 1,428 1,364 1,299 1,260 1,232 1,231 1,258 

% growth  - 6.14 5.48 7.50 0.34 -4.48 -4.48 -4.77 -3.00 -2.22 -0.08 2.19 

Page 160



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 74  
 

Many flying training schools are economically unviable – instructors are normally paid by the flying hour 

– and exist only through the passion of their owners. There is also the continuing pressure on UK flying 

schools from centres based in other parts of the world, such as Florida and South Africa, which offer 

intense, short term and cost-efficient syllabuses and parts of the world not impacted by poor weather 

conditions found in northern Europe. The UK is a relatively expensive place to acquire a commercial 

pilot’s licence and likely to become more expensive in the future. However, demand for pilots in the 

commercial sector will continue to be high and the 2014 Boeing Pilot and Technician Outlook projects 

that 533,000 new commercial airline pilots and 584,000 new maintenance technicians will be needed 

to fly and maintain the world fleet over the next 20 years. 

New European Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) regulations are also being proposed so that national 

PPLs become European licences, requiring flight schools to upgrade facilities from national registered 

training facility (RTF) status to international Approved Training Organisation (ATO). To help mitigate 

these issues many of the smaller flying schools are replacing their Cessna 152s and 172 with motorised 

gliders, reducing costs of owning and flying aircraft and the hours student pilots will need to qualify for 

a licence – and then upgrading their licence after qualification. 

The recent recovery in the European airline sector and demand for new pilots from low fare airlines has 

ensured that demand for commercial (professional) licences has remained relatively stable over the 

last few years but private pilots have declined to fall in number. 

Table 9 - Pilot licences issued by the CAA 

PILOT LICENCES ISSUED BY THE CAA  

Year   Private % growth Professional % growth 

2015-2016         2,944  - 45  2,305  0  

2014-2015          5,308  -13  2,294  -42  

2013-2014         6,123  125  3,966  32  

2012-2013         2,716  - 5   3,015  - 5  

2011-2012         2,845  14  3,175  30  

2010-2011         2,486  - 3   2,438  - 7  

2009-2010         2,552  - 10   2,611  -10  

2008-2009         2,828  - 4   2,908  - 4  

2007-2008         2,960  - 2   3,015  13  

2006-2007         3,030  - 8   2,679   1  

2005-2006         3,277    3   2,659  11  

2004-2005         3,190  -14  2,400  -14  

Source: CAA 

East Anglia has a wide range of airfields and flying schools of all types. Cambridge has become a 

significant training centre for students wishing to acquire commercial a pilot’s licence and accepts 

Page 161



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 75  
 

students from around the world.  The area benefits from being close to major urban centres in the 

region and London, plus having more unrestricted airspace for training operations. 

Microlights 

A microlight is an aeroplane, capable of flight in the same way as any other. It is restricted to 2 seats, 

it must weigh around 265kg at most and it must be able to fly at low speed.  

There are three main types of microlight; the 3-axis (or fixed wing) type which looks more like a 

conventional aeroplane, the flexwing type which consists of a delta wing similar to a hang glider with a 

'trike' unit suspended underneath it and powered parachutes which have a ram air canopy below which 

is suspended a wheeled power unit often similar to the flexwing type. All three of these types require a 

pilot's licence to fly in the UK.  

According to industry data, the number of microlight pilots in the UK peaked in 2008 and has not yet 

recovered from the years of the crisis – still not reaching the number of registered pilots recorded in 

2004. However, this data may understate the market as very large numbers of microlight flights are not 

recorded. 

It is a market which is primarily driven by the amount of disposable income available. In the UK training 

to fly a microlight will cost £3,000-4,500. The National Private Pilot’s Licence (NPPL) is a UK specific 

pilot’s licence developed in 2002. It is not an internationally recognised licence and does not 

automatically entitle the holder to fly aircraft in other countries. 

The NPPL may include in it aircraft Class Ratings that allow the holder to fly specific classes of aircraft, 

such as microlights. The Microlight Class Rating can be issued with either of two options. The options 

are Without Operational Limitations or With Operational Limitations.  

Table 10 - UK Microlight Flying 

UK MICROLIGHT FLYING  

Year  Microlights  % growth  

2014 3,998 -0.77 

2013 4,029 -0.44 

2012 4,045 0.05 

2011 4,043 -0.69 

2010 4,071 -6.95 

2009 4,375 -1.62 

2008 4,447 1.25 

2007 4,392 3.24 

2006 4,254 3.30 

2005 4,118 1.18 

2004 4,070  

Source: General Aviation Manufacturers Association 

Many other regional airfields provide microlight facilities. However, microlights can also operate from 

smaller grass strip airfields.  

Page 162



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 76  
 

7.2.6 Other 

Beyond aviation, the UK space industry currently has a strong presence in small rocket production, 

Mildenhall may present the opportunity for testing and launching of these rockets. The government has 

identified a number of strategic sites across the UK for a spaceport, with existing companies located in 

North London and Hertfordshire.  

This was considered at RAF St Mawgan, Cornwall; in 2015 the government reviewed the potential for 

the base to be the first UK national space port. This opportunity was suspended but the government 

has now allocated sites with potential for this activity.  

7.3 Strategic fit  

7.3.1 Sector location and investment criteria 

 

In 2009 the overall population of Suffolk was 715,700 with the majority of future predicted growth to be 

driven by economic migration (Suffolk County Council, 2011). This is supported by a strong economy, 

Suffolk County in 2008 reported a GVA of £12,603,000, a 28% increase on the previous 5 years (Suffolk 

County Council, 2008). As a result of a stable economy businesses have also developed with survival 

rates for businesses in 2011 being 81% over 2 years (BDUK, 2011). Property values in Suffolk have 

risen from 2013 to 2015 and specifically from an average of £195,000 in January 2015 to £215,000 in 

April 2016.  

Suffolk is projected to continue this growth; in 2009 Suffolk County Council produced the Western 

Suffolk Land Review, the aim of this report was to support the emerging core strategy for the wider 

Western Suffolk region including Mid- Suffolk, St Edmundsbury and Forest Heath.  

In 2009 when the study was carried out the commercial market in West Suffolk was as follows: 

 Overall focus is in industrial uses with some office stock. 

 Industrial stock is especially present around Mildenhall serving the printing and metal works.  

 

The economic sub-region of Western Suffolk demonstrates a number of distinct economic influences 

in different parts such as: 

 Felixstowe A14 Corridor  

 Ipswich markets (1st and 2nd) 

 A140 Corridor 

 Bury St Edmunds 

 Newmarket  

 Cambridge  

In the 2009 study, employment clusters were shown to be centred around mid-Suffolk North, mid Suffolk 

West and mid Suffolk South; this is largely as a result of the existing transport links by road, whilst rail 

access is largely poor. Local road access supports employment growth in sites such as those within 

the District. The South of the District has significantly stronger links, indicating that this area could 

support greater future growth and employment (Western Suffolk Employment Land Review, 2009). 

Greater employment is likely to be needed given the population trends and predictions for the County. 

The Populations Profile of Suffolk County Report (2012) highlights future population change in Suffolk 
Page 163



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 77  
 

and the shift in demographics based on the Office of National Statistics subnational population 

projections. 

The latest population predictions are based on the most recent 2011 census data incorporating future 

trends around births, deaths and migration based on 2010 subnational population projections. These 

population projections for 2021 can be seen in Figure 10. 

Figure 10 - Projected Population Projections from 2012 to 2021 

 
Source Population Profile of Suffolk County (2012) 

This data can be future divided into projections based on broad age groups as seen in Figure 11. 

Figure 11 - Distribution of estimated and projected population by broad age group for the Local 

Authority districts in West and Central Suffolk 2012-2021  

 
Source Population Profile of Suffolk County (2012) 

Figure 11 indicates that by 2021 the population across Suffolk will have become older (as per the wider 

UK trend). The District maintains high percentages in age ranges 15-44 and 45-64. The people in these 

age ranges are typically economically active and this therefore supports the wider Suffolk evidence of 

job growth being needed in order to support the growing population.  

Page 164



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 78  
 

Rising population supports the rising need for greater employment opportunities. In order to forecast 

the spread of employment growth and allow for analysis per sector the Western Suffolk Employment 

Land review analysed Oxford Economic data from 2001 to 2021. This analysis provide an 

approximation of the divisions of employment between the differing local authorities across the Western 

Suffolk sub-region.  

Table 11 is based on the projections for the East of England and shows the Western Suffolk sub-region 

forecasts for job growth based on Regional Spatial Strategies (RSS).  

Table 11 – RSS Job Split for Western Suffolk 

 Job Number 
2001 

Job Number 
2021 

Change (%) % of Job Growth 

Mid Suffolk  42,295 42,002 -293 -1.5 

St Edmundsbury  55,503 69,721 14,218 72.8 

Forest Heath 28,830 34,407 5,577 28.6 

Total  126,628 146,130 19,502 100 

Source: Oxford Economics/GVA Grimley 2006 

The information in Table 11 can then be further broken down into regionally specific data. This allows 

for examination of employment increases, using the baseline economic forecast from RSS and the 

broad sector growth. This indicates that the District is forecast to see a 27% growth in jobs of the total 

growth across the West Suffolk region.  

Within the District, total employment was forecast to grow by 25% from 2006 to 2026. Major growth 

sectors identified by Suffolk County Council were financial and other business services as well as 

retail/hotels and construction. Employment is projected to fall in areas such as manufacturing, 

mining/utilities, with a smaller decline predicted for agriculture. These sectors are broad generalisations 

and do not shows the different areas within the overall sectors. 

Further examination and refinement of data within the Western Suffolk Land Review led to the 

identification of areas which are projected to have the greatest amount of growth. Across Mid Suffolk 

future growth is predicted to be seen in high-tech manufacturing, forestry and related services, mining 

and quarrying, supporting and auxiliary transport activities. 

Growth in the District is strongly linked to the horse racing industry and wider impacts from Newmarket. 

The recreational and cultural sector has demonstrated strong growth since 1998 (Western Suffolk 

Employment Land Review, 2009). Recreation and leisure is clearly a sector with a strong future in the 

District with a number of ancillary activities attracted to the region.  

Other sectors that are forecast to perform well include the hotels and restaurants sector, traditional B-

Class sectors such as manufacturing and the other service activities sector. The research shows that 

employment in office space is significantly below the numbers employed in Non-B-Class sectors, 

although it is projected to increase in the years up to 2026. Whilst employment levels in warehousing 

are set to remain broadly steady (Western Suffolk Employment Land Review, 2009). 

These predictions fall broadly in line with the current Economic Data Breakdown (NOMIS, 2015/2016), 

which shows the major employment sectors in 2015/16 to focus around Primary Services, 

Manufacturing, Construction and Accommodation & Food. With regards to manufacturing, in recent 

years several firms have re-located and expanded in the District boosted by the New Anglia LEP Fund. 

Page 165



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 79  
 

These are further supported by existing firms such as Witton Chemical Company who have been 

located in Mildenhall since 1974 and newer firms such as Electronic Metalwork Services.   

The West Suffolk Land Review suggest that development and focus in Research & Development sector 

growth is likely to be strong across the Greater Cambridge sub-region (potentially feeding into the 

District). The review further identifies that Mildenhall and Newmarket offer strong potential as sites for 

Hi-Tech Product Development and Manufacturing Campuses. However, the District is not highlighted 

as an area where non-university led Research & Development is likely to prosper, but given the growing 

prices within Cambridge and the strong links and accessibility this may shift moving forwards (although 

we would note the qualitative restrictions of the site potential as highlighted in Section 7.1). 

In some instances, the Western Suffolk Employment Land Review is contradictory to FHDC. The Forest 

Heath Annual Monitoring Report for 2013/14 and 2015/16 highlighted their predictions for employment 

growth. With regards to employment, the District is aiming to achieve the figures stated in their Core 

Strategy of 7,300 additional jobs by 2026 (Annual Monitoring Report 2015/16). This is predicted to be 

met through the provision of employment in land, tourism, leisure, retail and the rural economy (Annual 

Monitoring Report 2015/16).  

Both forecast for the County and FHDC support the growth in the rural economy and leisure. This is 

unsurprising given the focus of the region on agriculture and associated activities and the close 

proximity to Newmarket.   

 

7.3.2 Mildenhall ‘base case’ growth scenario 

West Suffolk is set to benefit from large scale infrastructure investment as the A11 corridor is expanded 

and efforts continue to provide the county with high speed broadband. 

The A11 expansion is a crucial strategic infrastructure investment allowing for a greater volume of traffic 

and access across the county. In 2015 the A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility Study was commissioned, 

this study looked to encompass the three districts of South Norfolk, Breckland and Forest Heath. The 

aim behind this union was to help facilitate development which stretches beyond the A11 expansion in 

order to aid the establishment of a new location for economic investment activity. Newmarket and 

District Chamber of Commerce highlight that this expansion presents a substantial opportunity for 

growth (Briefing Note, 2016). The A11 strategy focuses on developing new technology related 

employment, rebalancing the economy of the region and helping to secure the future for the area (A11 

Growth Corridor Feasibility Study, 2015). This aim was set in order to capitalise on the significant 

infrastructure investment and make the A11 corridor a recognized location for investment activity to 

boost the Cambridge sub-region.  

In order to facilitate this growth off the back of the A11 expansion, the study suggest a number of 

sectors for expansion such as engineering especially advanced manufacturing and agri-tech whilst also 

building on the existing Cambridge knowledge base around life sciences and research. This includes 

linking with existing sites such as Norfolk Research Park, Thetford Enterprise Park and Newmarket 

Business Park. The study suggests across the three areas 8,700 net additional jobs could be created 

and space for 200,000 new homes (A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility Study, 2015).  

Mildenhall is likely to benefit from the A11 expansion with greater access to east coast ports and 

Cambridge. Any additional regeneration and growth is also likely to benefit Mildenhall offering an 

opportunity for greater linkages between existing centres and increasing attractiveness of the area for 

firms given the greater accessibility.  

Page 166



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 80  
 

Supporting this is the initiative aiming to provide Suffolk with greater access to high speed broadband. 

In order for any centre to be established high speed broadband would be required. ‘Better Broadband 

to Suffolk’ is an initiative aiming to facilitate the spread of high speed broadband to homes and 

businesses. The program is funded by Suffolk County Council as well as the Department for Culture, 

Media and Sport and BT (Better Broadband to Suffolk, 2016). In 2011 when the initiative was launched 

the average broadband speed was 5Mbps with significant variation in actual speeds. Since the initiative 

there has been wide spread replacement with fibre based solutions creating greater speeds. Following 

the successful delivery of Phase 1, plans for Phase 2 have been developed and this will be launched 

in the next few years, with an additional £30m of funding. This initiative is not only helping existing firms 

but creating greater economic stability in the region. Suffolk Local Broadband Plan suggest that the 

initiative will assist with greater retention of small businesses, whilst making the region increasingly 

attractive to businesses looking to relocate (Better Broadband to Suffolk, 2011).  

In order to deliver broadband to the rest of Suffolk, Better Broadband to Suffolk has signed a second 

contract with BT to ensure continuing upgrades and delivery of superior broadband to 2019. This 

scheme will ultimately aid delivery of super-fast broadband to 95% of the area. Figure 12 illustrates that 

parts of the RAF Mildenhall site have already been connected to super-fast broadband with other parts 

still with partial or no coverage (upgrades under consideration between 2017 and 2019).  

Figure 12 - Broadband Availability Mildenhall (Better Broadband Suffolk).  

 
 

7.3.3 Future sector trends 

Table 12 summaries the potential for each property sector in terms of the typical requirements of the 

occupier market, a forecast for the wider macro potential/ opportunity offered by the site in 2025 and 

then consideration of the potential interventions required to bring forward these sectors.  

 

  

Page 167



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 81  
 

Table 12 – Sector Requirements/Occupiers/Interventions by Sector  

MILDENHALL PROJECTIONS   

Sector What drives the 
occupier market 

Mildenhall 2025 and beyond Potential and 
interventions required  

Commercial  

Offices, business 

and incubator 

space 

 Ability to cluster.  

 Accessibility and good 

public transport links. 

 ‘Hub’ to attract firms and 

create a destination 

location. 

 Skilled workforce within 

close proximity. 

 Limited existing demand. 

 Future demand for finance and other 

business services is predicted to increase 

by 73% between 2006 and 2026 within 

Forest Heath (GVA, 2009). 

 Office floor space need of 340,000 sq ft in 

Forest Heath from 2006 to 2026 (GVA, 

2009). 

 Economic and population growth in East 

Anglia but no natural cluster here or anchor 

occupier without public sector intervention.  

 Proximity to Cambridge and the 

science clusters located here 

presents the most obvious and 

tangible opportunity to attract 

occupiers and create a cluster.  

 A catalyst in terms of sector specific 

focus and anchor occupier is 

needed.  

 Significant public sector support is 

likely to be required in order to 

establish a market and ‘pump 

prime’ development. 

 IT/ communications infrastructure 

would require improvement – 

depending on scale, some road 

upgrades. 

Industrial, logistics  Accessibility to trunk road 

network.  

 Cleared site with space for 

expansion and nearby uses 

which don’t constrain 

development.  

 Relatively flat topography.  

 Potential for 24 hour 

operation.  

 Flexibility on building 

design/ height/ 

specification.  

 Access to power supplies 

and potential to upgrade.  

 24% increase in employment in distribution 

between 2006 and 2026 in Forest Heath. 

 Advanced manufacturing across Mid-Suffolk 

and South Norfolk accounts for 8,400 

employees (A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility 

Report, 2015). 

 Rise in employment in Forest Heath to 

11,700 by 2031.   

 Mildenhall offers a flat and cleared site.   

 Local agents suggest that demand is 

present although typically local occupiers 

require relatively small units. 

 Proximity to the A11 but the roads 

approaching the site are narrow and not 

suitable for HGV’s 

 The site is in relatively close proximity to 

residential areas and 24 hour access may 

not be suitable on all of the site. 

 In a relatively poor macro location for 

distribution hubs. 

 FHDC forecast growth in high-tech 

manufacturing employment capacity. 

 Development could tie in with the existing 

small industrial site adjacent to RAF 

Mildenhall. 

 

 

 

 Whilst demand is present for 

industrial space at Mildenhall, this is 

on a relatively small scale and is 

often providing space for local firms. 

 Limited potential for large scale, 

national occupiers given site access 

constraints. 

 Road infrastructure upgrades are 

likely to be required for a 

development of any scale in order 

to minimise road impacts on the 

town of Mildenhall.   

 There is some potential to build on 

the existing manufacturing base to 

provide space for high-tech 

specialist suppliers.   

 This may benefit from A11 

expansion. 

Page 168



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 82  
 

Retail and Leisure 

Retail centre, retail 

boxes, retail outlet, 

permeant brand 

expo 

 Scale and the ability to 

create a destination.  

 Large catchment area. 

 Good road accessibility.  

 Accessibility and good 

public transport links. 

 

 The location of Mildenhall limits its 

catchment area and accessibility.  

 Established centres in close proximity at 

Bury St Edmunds and Cambridge. 

 Limited connectivity for outlet centre.  

 As the population grows the employment in 

this sector is predicted to grow by 35% by 

2026 in Forest Heath (GVA, 2009). 

 Retail outlet centres (e.g. Bicester 

Village) can come forward in 

relatively isolated locations but 

catchment is unlikely to be strong 

enough. 

 An anchor/sector driver is required 

in order to deliver brand expo 

space. 

 

Commercial 

leisure, sports 

 Large catchment area and 

access to population. 

 Good accessibility from 

road. 

 Mildenhall has suitable topography for field 

based sports etc. 

 A regional, as opposed to national, 

catchment area.  

 ‘Need’ is predicted to grow given the 

proximity to Newmarket and the horse 

racing Industry (Western Suffolk 

Employment Land Review, 2009). 

 Limited number of occupiers for 

significant space in relation to these 

uses. 

 Current trends are predicted to 

continue e.g. influence from 

Newmarket.  

 Potential for FHDC to promote the 

site to major sports bodies etc. 

could be pursued. 

Hotel, conference 

centre 

 Existing established 

business space in close 

proximity. 

 Existing tourist draw/ site of 

interest. 

 Good transport links. 

 35% growth anticipated in hotels and retail 

demand in the District towards 2026 (GVA, 

2009). 

 Limited attractions for occupiers unless a 

hub exists. 

 The provision of hotels is only likely 

to be necessary if linked to other 

uses on the site (i.e. tourist 

facilities/ business centre). 

 

Tourism related 

leisure 

 Large catchment area. 

 Ability to draw people from 

large population centres.  

 Good accessibility from 

road, rail, air. 

 A unique selling point or 

point/ points of interest. 

 Site is located away from major urban 

conurbations. 

 The site is flat with no obvious features that 

can be used to create a consumer/ tourist 

draw in this location. 

 Limited points of interest in close proximity 

to RAF Mildenhall. 

 Leisure is already a large employer in the 

District (employing 28% of local residents). 

 Some potential to build on the 

existing networks and catchments. 

 Site typography and location limits 

potential. 

Education, Science and Innovation  

Education   Pupil demand and 

catchment area. 

 Away from other 

educational centres. 

 Good accessibility. 

 There is currently no known major 

requirement for new campuses/relation of 

any departments from Norwich or 

Cambridge universities. 

 There are no major school initiatives for this 

area.  

 Given the current use as an RAF base there 

may be some capacity to create a hub 

focused around aviation.   

 

 Can act as a major and critical 

anchor if an occupier can be found.  

 FHDC to liaise with local 

universities and engage in sector 

specific targeting (likely to be the 

most effective and sustainable). 

 IT/communications infrastructure 

would require improvement. 

 Aviation hub encompassing training 

and technology would offer an 

opportunity to build on the existing 

skill set. 

Page 169



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 83  
 

Science and 

Innovation  

 Existing base or anchor.  

 Good transport links. 

 Space to cluster and create 

a ‘hub’ or accommodate a 

large firm. 

 Highly skilled work force or 

the ability to attract skilled 

labour. 

 RAF Mildenhall presents some opportunity 

to link with existing science parks in the 

Cambridge area. 

 The M11 corridor (and particularly the 

Cambridge area) is strong for these uses 

but firms typically want closer access and 

proximity to Cambridge (than the RAF 

Mildenhall site can provide for).  

 RAF Mildenhall is in a strong agricultural 

area which may give the opportunity to link 

into sectors/ area which are tangential.  

 

 There is some potential for science 

parks in this location in the long 

term although the distance from 

Cambridge is a limiting factor. 

 An anchor is essential - typically 

this would be an educational or 

research facility.  

 Uses within the agri-tech sector 

may be appropriate although 

significant public sector intervention 

is likely to be required given the 

location and lack of an existing hub 

to leverage off.  

Housing 

Market Housing   Good accessibility and a 

wide catchment area.  

 Underlying demand.  

 Located close to existing 

and emerging centres of 

employment/commerce. 

 Intertwined with services 

such as hospitals, schools 

or rail links. 

 Potential for development given rising prices 

in the wider region. 

 Actual net dwelling completions from 2011 

to 2015 were 1,123 units (Forest Heath 

Assessment of Five Year Supply of Housing 

Land, 2015). 

 The SHMA assessed the housing need in 

the District to be 7,000 homes between 

2011 and 2031. 

 The Core Strategy Policy adopted by Forest 

Heath indicates that from 2011 to 2031 

there are 5,300 additional homes required.   

 

 The SHMA identifies long term 
housing need and demographic 
changes and the population growth 
anticipated in East Anglia show long 
term demand.   

 Sustainable transport links are 
critical to ensure that residential is 
more than commuter housing and it 
is plugged into the wider economy 
and can begin to dovetail with non-
residential uses. 

Emerging 

residential sectors 

– PRS, Custom 

Build, Retirement, 

Extra Care 

 Good accessibility.  

 Demand for other forms of 

housing beside traditional 

accommodation. 

 Located close to existing 

commercial centres or 

emerging commercial 

centres. 

 Located in close proximity 

to services such as 

hospitals, schools or rail 

links. 

 West Suffolk has an ageing population, with 

25% of the population projected to be over 

60 by 2031. 

 Limited PRS potential in the area, although 

national trend towards renting as opposed 

to home ownership will still be reflected in 

the area.  

 Potential for Custom Build housing given 

relatively low land costs.   

 Research has been commissioned. 

 Opportunity for specialist housing 

aimed at retirees.  

 Intervention likely to be required to 

support other emerging sectors 

such as PRS.   

 Different tenures can help support 

wider, mixed use elements of major 

developments. 

Aviation     

Commercial air 

transport – 

passenger 

 Availability of runway slots 

and terminal. 

 Accessibility and good 

public transport links. 

 Large catchment. 

 Good accessibility from 

road, rail. 

 Low costs for airlines. 

 Existing airports may ‘flatline’ due to lack of 

capacity. 

 Congestion at London airports may make 

alternatives attractive. 

 Some opportunity for regional air 

development but may be limited due to 

small catchment. 

 Airlines may be reluctant to invest in new 

routes from new airport. 

 Road access requires improvement. 

 Commitment in regional plans to 

explore opportunity. 

 Investment required to upgrade to 

commercial airport. 

Page 170



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 84  
 

Commercial air 

transport – cargo 

 ‘General’ cargo flown on 

scheduled long haul ‘belly 

hold. 

 Freight forwarders extreme 

reluctance to develop new 

airports away from cargo 

cluster. 

 ‘Integrators’ need to be 

close to large population 

centres and motorway 

network. 

 24 hour operations 

essential for cargo 

especially integrators. 

 Virtually no trans-shipment 

between rail and air; 

different types of cargo. 

 

 Little potential for long haul scheduled 

flights which implies similar prospects for 

general cargo. 

 Integrators well-developed at Stansted. 

 Little potential for cargo 

development.  

 

General aviation – 

business, flight 

training, 

emergency service 

aviation, 

agricultural 

aviation, aerial 

survey 

 Availability of runway slots 

and terminal. 

 Accessibility and good 

public transport links. 

 Large catchment.  

 Good accessibility from 

road, rail. 

 Low costs.  

 Potential to develop air service centre. 

 Dependent upon ambition of Cambridge in 

this market. 

 Some activity may be diverted from other, 

smaller airfields in the region as larger 

airfield can offer better facilities. 

 Cost will also be a deciding factor. 

  

 Deep survey of market needs 

required to establish user levels. 

 Cost-benefit analysis of providing 

GA facilities – fuel, handling, 

servicing, hangarage. 

 Protect flying rights post departure 

of USAFE. 

 

General aviation – 

recreational and 

leisure 

 Availability of runway slots 

and terminal. 

 Accessibility and good 

public transport links. 

 Large catchment.  

 Good accessibility from 

road, rail. 

 Low costs. 

 Potential to develop air service centre. 

 Dependent upon ambition of Cambridge in 

this market. 

 Some activity may be diverted from other, 

smaller airfields in the region as larger 

airfield can offer better facilities. 

 Cost will also be a deciding factor. 

 

 Deep survey of market needs 

required to establish user levels. 

 Cost-benefit analysis of providing 

GA facilities – fuel, handling, 

servicing, hangarage. 

 Private flying is often a very thin 

margin activity and has significant 

community impact due to noise and 

height of flying. 

Maintenance, 

repair, overhaul 

 Availability of runway slots 

and terminal. 

 Accessibility and good 

public transport links. 

 Availability of investors such 

as Marshall. 

 Good accessibility from 

road, rail. 

 Availability of land. 

 Supply chain: labour, 

components, partner 

companies. 

 Large tracts of land available. 

 Marshall may require more or separate 

facilities. 

 Mildenhall builds on growing regional 

expertise in composites. 

 Mildenhall develops as aircraft de-

manufacturing facility. 

 Some overspill military activity from RAF 

Lakenheath. 

 

 Active development of supply chain. 

 Develop connections to Norwich 

aviation academy and Marshalls. 

 Develop connections to regional 

composites industry. 

 Support continued flying at 

Mildenhall. 

 Build aerospace marketing 

capability. 

 

 

 

 

Emerging Sectors  

Page 171



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 85  
 

Energy Generation 

– solar, wind, 

waste to energy 

 Large parcels of open land. 

 Away from residential 

areas. 

 Reasonable accessibility.  

 Good site access for 

vehicles and machinery.  

 The site at Mildenhall meets all of these 

criteria.  

 Economics and need for subsidy likely to 

have changed – position of regional power 

infrastructure will be important determinant. 

 These initiatives offer some limited 

potential to boost employment and 

there are limited site constraints 

that affect them.  

 Some planning risk and do not offer 

the best potential when considering 

maximising land value.  

Sustainable 

industries 

manufacturing e.g.  

turbines 

 Large parcels of land for 

factories and high tech 

industry.  

 Good accessibility.  

 Good site access for 

vehicles and machinery. 

 Access to upgraded power.  

 The site at Mildenhall meets the majority of 

these criteria. 

 Limited quantum of demand.  

 Limited scale potential. 

 In connection with other agricultural 

enterprise, technology or research 

hub there may be some ability to 

cluster if an anchor operator can be 

found. 

Agri-tech  Some existing agricultural 

expertise and base or food 

enterprise initiative. 

 Ability to cluster and create 

a ‘Hub’ to attract firms and 

create a destination 

location. 

 Skilled workforce within 

close proximity. 

 In 2013 across Mid-Suffolk 21% of firms 

could be classified as being involved in agri-

tech. 

 Breckland, Forest Heath and South Norfolk 

are forecast to see 6% growth in agri-tech 

by 2031 (A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility 

Report, 2015).  

 Employment in this sector across 

Breckland, Forest Heath and South Norfolk 

is predicted to rise 40% by 2031 (A11 

Growth Corridor Feasibility Report, 2015). 

 Given the strong relationship between the 

UK science base and agricultural sector this 

area of study is in growing demand. 

 Suffolk has two food EZs.  

 There are currently a number of agri-tech 

businesses in the area surrounding 

Mildenhall.  

 If an agri-tech cluster of businesses 

can be developed, this could act as 

an anchor for other firms creating 

the ‘hub’ that is needed for 

commercial space to be viable. 

 Challenges may be present given 

the location and proximity to other 

uses.  

 Need to engage with Agri-tech East 

and undertake a comprehensive 

assessment of the conditions 

required to make the site attractive 

to occupiers/parties in this sector. 

Foreign Direct 

Investment (FDI) 

 Opportunity to invest in 

projects and assets.  

 Often focused around 

technology, enterprise or 

suitable development and 

the major 8 sectors 

identified by UKTI. 

 The scale of the site will be sufficient (even 

if partly developed for other uses) to be 

attractive to investor seeking a significant 

land holding. 

 No clear view at present as to long term FDI 

requirements. 

 A focus on the 8 key sectors 

identified by UKTI to establish and 

promote an anchor use at RAF 

Mildenhall is likely to require public 

sector backing, including UKTI in 

relation to any FDI. 

Institutional e.g. 

health, prisons, 

other civic  

 Large land areas. 

 Away from residential area 

(prison). 

 Low cost.  

 Demand is limited for health services given 

the other services in close proximity. 

 Demand is present for prisons as the 

populations rise across the UK. 

 Limited potential. 

Do minimum     

Agricultural   Large amounts of open land 

with minimal contamination. 

 Good access for machinery. 

 Limited/no impact from 

previous uses fuel lines etc. 

 Good soil quality accredited 

by the Soil Association. 

 Is the land in an NVZ 

 8.4% Decline in agricultural employment to 

2031 across Breckland, Forest Heath and 

South Norfolk (A11 Growth Corridor 

Feasibility Report, 2015).  

 Mildenhall is located in a Ground water NVZ 

Area and surface water NVZ Area which 

makes farming the land more complex. 

 Further to this, productivity for agriculture 

maybe a challenge as land has not been 

 In order to maximise value there 

would need to be test and 

examination of the soil to asses any 

impact from aviation use.  

 Agricultural land has a relatively low 

land value when considering the 

long term value and other potential 

use classes. 

 

Page 172



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 86  
 

(Nitrate Vulnerable Zone) 

this affects use, limits 

viability and increases costs 

used for crop production for some time. 

 .  

Open Storage   Good road networks to the 

site in order to 

accommodate large 

vehicles.  

 Good accessibility with 

large amounts of open 

space.  

 Limited surrounding uses to 

minimise disturbance. 

 Open storage has potential given the 

market location and the close proximity to 

the A11. 

   

 There is clear potential for open 

storage however it does not offer 

very good returns in the long run for 

land value when compared with 

other use classes.  

 Challenges for this type of space 

include disruption to residents and 

the lack of suitable road networks 

close to the site. The site has large 

areas of hard standing and 

therefore this could be utilised for 

storage space.  

 

7.3.4 Evaluation criteria 

 

Table 13 demonstrates C&W’s evaluation criteria. Each use was analysed against a number of key 

criteria these include: 

 Integrating new development into the existing communities  

 Planning 

 Market demand 

 Land value 

 Site preparation and remediation costs 

 Residual liabilities  

 Infrastructure requirements 

 Site suitability/competitive advantage 

 Delivery timetable and risks 

 Opportunity  

 Sector/theme  

These criteria where then graded 1 to 6 (colour coded green to red) based on 1 being ‘significantly 

flawed’ and 2 being ‘exceptional fit with criteria. 

Page 173



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 87  
 

Table 13 – Land Use Options 
 

 

Offices , bus iness  space, bus iness  incubation 5 5 3 5 2 2 4 3 4 2 2

Industria l , logis tics 3 4 3 4 4 3 4 3 3 4 4

Retai l  centre, reta i l  boxes , reta i l  outlet, 

permanent brand expo
3 4 2 2 2 4 3 3 2 2 2

Commercia l  leisure, sports 3 4 3 4 3 3 2 2 3 4 3

Hotel , conference centre 3 4 3 3 2 3 3 3 3 2 2

Tourism related leisure 3 3 3 4 3 3 2 2 3 3 3

Amenity/ socia l  infrastructure 2 1 5 5 5 1 4 3 5 5 4

Education 5 5 4 4 2 2 4 3 3 2 2

Science, innovation 5 5 4 5 3 2 4 3 3 3 2

Market hous ing 4 3 4 3 4 6 2 2 2 4 3

Emerging res identia l  sectors  – PRS, Custom 

Bui ld, Reti rement, Extra  Care
4 3 4 3 4 5 2 2 2 4 2

Affordable hous ing 4 3 4 3 5 3 2 2 2 4 3

Commercia l  a i r transport - passenger 2 3 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Commercia l  a i r transport - cargo 2 3 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Genera l  aviation - bus iness , fl ight tra ining, 

emergency services  aviation, agricul tura l  

aviation, aeria l  survey

2 3 3 1 1 1 2 2 2 2 2

Genera l  aviation - recreational  and leisure 2 1 1 2 2 1 2 2 2 2 2

Maintenance, repair and overhaul 2 3 3 1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Energy generation – solar, wind, waste to 

energy
3 2 2 2 3 3 5 4 5 3 3

Susta inable industries  manufacturing eg 

turbines
4 4 3 4 3 3 4 3 3 3 3

Foreign Direct Investment 5 5 3 NA NA NA NA NA NA 3 2

Insti tutional  eg health, prison, other civic 4 4 2 3 4 2 3 3 3 3 3

Agricul tura l 1 1 5 5 3 1 5 6 6 3 6

Open s torage 1 1 2 4 4 2 4 6 5 4 4

Planning Market demand Land value

Emerging 

Sectors

Reta i l  and 

Leisure

Education, 

science and 

innovation 

Hous ing

Aviation

Site Preparation/ 

Remediation Cost

Residual 

liabilities

Infrastructure 

requirements

Site suitability/ 

competitive 

advantage

Delivery timetable 

and risks

Commercia l

Do minimum

Delivery CriteriaLegacy Objectives

Sector/ Theme Opportunity

Minimising 

adverse impacts 

of closure

Creating new 

employment 

opportunities

Integrating new 

development into 

existing 

communities

P
age 174



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 88  
 

 

7.3.5 Assessment Matrix 

The criteria in Table 13 have been selected in order to cover key areas for viable and economically 

sustainable development, these fall into two main categories:  

 Legacy objectives aim to ensure that the impact of the base closure is minimised. These criteria 

look at other uses and how they might help to reduce the impact on the local economy and 

community of the RAF base closing. Key metrics include minimising the impact of the closure, 

create new employment opportunities and integrating new development into existing 

communities. Uses were then scored against these criteria in order to form a view of which 

uses would best serve the local economy and community. 

 Delivery objectives tie into the overarching FHDC legacy objectives as well as practical delivery 

criteria. Delivery objectives are divided into planning, market demand, land value, site 

preparation and remediation, delivery timetable and risk and opportunity. These criteria help to 

assess viability of the different use classes and allow for analysis of which uses present the 

most favourable development options when considering delivery, producing long term land 

values and maximizing the potential of the site.  

Once all these criteria has been assessed an overall score was produced for the sector in order to see 

which broad use classes presented the most favourable opportunities.   

7.3.6 Shortlisted Scenarios 

C&W has shortlisted a number of scenarios that have been modelled (within Section 8). The scenarios 

below include other uses which are not highlighted, in particular, all include an allowance for land for 

energy generation. These  

For clarity, it should be stressed that for the site to come forward, it will be subject to a mix of uses and 

there will be full and part site development options. 

New settlement 

We consider that the most commercial viable scenario is likely to be the creation of a new settlement 

close to Mildenhall of circa 5,000 to 10,000 units. This is based on the clear evidence of long term 

housing demand and need in the region and the growth of Cambridge as an employment centre. This 

type of development would present a number of key challenges around creating a sense of place, the 

actual pace of development and the obvious risk of the settlement becoming a commuter settlement. 

In support of a new settlement significant public funding would be required in order to provide 

appropriate infrastructure such as road and rapid transport systems, as these would be likely to impact 

viability significantly. 

An employment hub of offices, industrial and education alongside residential 

As evident from C&W analysis of the Cambridge sub-region and the Forest Heath District’s employment 

uses, there is limited forecast demand for employment uses at RAF Mildenhall and the site has a 

number of significant constraints in terms of attracting occupiers.  For now and in the near future, any 

development is likely to require significant ‘pump’ prime funding from the public sector. Completely new 

uses such as agri-tech are likely to initially be challenging and unviable, therefore we consider that it 

would be more beneficially to build upon the existing use base of industrial (with a reasonable demand 

profile) whilst seeking to create new education and employment hubs. In order to support development 

Page 175



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 89  
 

of this nature residential development would be necessary to provide cross subsidy as well as large 

scale public sector funding and investment over the long term in order to be viable.  

Aviation  

As seen from the case studies creating a new hub can be challenging especially if the site is bounded 

by limited markets and infrastructure constraints. Therefore, if an existing use can be built upon to 

create a knowledge hub this is likely to be the most deliverable solution and in the long term is likely to 

be the most viable opportunity to bring forward other employment uses. Given RAF Mildenhall’s current 

use as a military air base if there is any scope for aviation activity of some nature to continue this would 

be preferable to the harder task of creating a new centre. If residential development was to be included 

it may have to utilise land outside of the core site area. 

Page 176



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 90  
 

8. VIABILITY ASSESSMENT 

8.1 Indicative development schedules 

8.1.1 Plot uses 

We have undertaken a desktop measurement of the site based on our knowledge of its boundaries, 

which concurs with the brief for C&W’s commission which states a site area of approximately 4.4 square 

kilometres (440 ha).  

Table 14 and Figure 13 – RAF 

Mildenhall Site Area 

SITE AREA UNIT 

4.4 square kilometres 

4,400,000 sq m 

1,087 acres 

440 ha 

 

 

Following from our market assessment, we have arrived at three potential development options for 

which we have undertaken high level viability assessments. Our assessment scenarios explore 

comprehensive solutions to the site but do not necessarily require the entire site area to be utilised in 

each case. We are aware that the DIO has not settled on a decision as to whether to retain all or part 

of the site in their ownership.  

As well as the 440 ha area we are aware of land owned by County Farms (part of Suffolk County 

Council) to the south east of the site which could provide an additional direct physical link to the 

Mildenhall settlement. Therefore in the preferred option we have illustrated how this land may link into 

the main development on the RAF Mildenhall site. Within this scenario we have also allowed for the 

inclusion of the ‘The Hub’ – a potential public services led development envisaged by FHDC and 

outlined in Section 7. Collectively this area is referred to as the ‘expansion land’.     

Scenario 1: New Settlement 

Scenario 1 assumes a residential led development of the site, with housing taking up the largest area 

and yielding 4,000 market dwellings (and 1,750 affordable dwellings). In terms of the density of 

development we have assumed - based on experience - 25 dph (dwellings per hectare) uniformly 

throughout the site and for all options featuring residential uses. We have also assumed an average 

unit size for housing of 100 sq m. 

Assumed development densities for other commercial uses are based on typical plot coverage ratios, 

which establish an assumed footprint, storey height and subsequently a gross (and net) floor space for 

each use. The key assumed input for our assessment is therefore the estimated plot area (in ha) for 

which we have based assumptions on experience as well as comparing typical footprints on 

comparable large development sites, with similar characteristics (see Figure 14). In addition to 

1 Km 1 Km 

Page 177



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 91  
 

developable footprint and floor areas we have also provided a high level estimate of job creation based 

on regional GVA data from the ONS (basis of calculation shown in Table 15). 

Table 15 – GVA Data from the ONS  

USE TYPE SQ M PER FULL TIME EMPLOYEE 

Business space 12 

Industrial & logistics 42 

Aviation (including runway) 36 

 

Table 16 – Scenario 1 Land Use Mix 

 
Gross Plot 
Area (Ha) 

Storeys 
Net Area (sq 

m) 
Dwellings FTE Jobs GVA (m) 

Market housing 160 2 320,000 4,000 0 £0 

Affordable housing 70 2 140,000 1,750 0 £0 

Retail centre 2 1 11,200 0 0 £0 

Business space 3 2 28,800 0 2400 £55 

Industrial & logistics 5 1 16,000 0 386 £9 

Country Park 200  n/a 0 0 £0 

Total 440  516,000 5,750 2786 £64 

 

Scenario 2: Employment Led 

Scenario 2 is employment led and with a significant quantum of business and industrial space 

(educational uses are included within the business space area figure).  

Table 17 – Scenario 2 Land Use Mix 

 
Gross Plot 
Area (Ha) 

Storeys 
Net Area (sq 

m) 
Dwellings FTE Jobs GVA (m) 

Business space 13 2 124,800 0 10400 £240 

Industrial & logistics 10 1 32,000 0 771 £18 

Retail centre 2 1 11,200 0 0 £0 

Market housing 90 2 180,000 2,250 0 £0 

Affordable housing 40 2 80,000 1,000 0 £0 

Country Park 285  n/a 0 0 £0 

Total 440  428,000 3,250 11171 £258 

 

Scenario 3: Aviation Led 

Scenario 3 assumes part retention of the runway and associated terminal for use as a recreational 

airfield. Our desktop measurement of the site estimated circa 250 ha would be required in order to 

retain the runway with associated terminal as well as access from the main road. What land remains is 

assumed to be an industrial based business park with renewable energy provision which we have 

assumed could take the form of a solar panel array.  

 

Page 178



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 92  
 

 

 

Table 18 – Scenario 3 Land Use Mix 

 
Gross Plot 
Area (Ha) 

Storeys 
Net Area 
(sq m) 

Dwellings FTE Jobs GVA (m) 

Aviation (including runway) 250 1 40,000 0 1111 £51 

Industrial & logistics 10 1 32,000 0 771 £18 

Energy generation 60 1 n/a 0 0 £0 

Country Park 120  n/a 0 0 £0 

Total 440  72,000 0 1882 £69 

Scenario 3A: Partial Release  

We have considered a partial release option in order to explore how viability and capacity is affected 

by the MoD retaining a portion of the site (for clarity, we consider that a partial release option is possible 

for scenarios 1 and 2, but have only modelled Scenario 3). We have assumed that in this scenario, the 

MoD would require approximately 165 ha. We have explored different options and concluded that the 

MoD retaining the North of the site allows for the greatest opportunity to achieve FHDC’s objectives on 

the basis that the South then has the potential to tie into the expansion land adjacent to Mildenhall and 

the existence of hangers on the southern part of the site can be utilised for aviation uses. The scheme 

modelled includes a runway on the site and is a variant on Scenario 3 (on a smaller site). 

Table 19 – Scenario 3A Land Use Mix 

 
Gross Plot 
Area (Ha) 

Storeys 
Net Area 
(sq m) 

Dwellings FTE Jobs GVA (m) 

Aviation (including runway) 165 1 26,400 0 733 £34 

Industrial & logistics 10 1 32,000 0 771 £18 

Energy generation 40 1 n/a 0 0 £0 

Country Park 225  n/a 0 0 £0 

Total 440  58,400 0 1504 £52 

Scenario 4: Preferred ‘hybrid’ Option 

Scenario 4 takes into account the testing of the first 3 scenarios and creates a ‘hybrid’ option which is 

aviation led but also includes residential use (based on full land release). We have tested this option 

based on the assumed 25 dph for the residential; however we consider that this could be increased to 

approximately 35 dph in order to increase housing yield if necessary.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 179



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 93  
 

Table 20 – Scenario 4 Land Use Mix 

  
Gross Plot 
Area (ha) 

Storeys 
Net Area 
(sq m) 

Dwellings FTE Jobs GVA (m) 

Aviation (including runway) 250 1 40,000 0 1,111 £51 

Industrial & logistics 10 1 32,000 0 771 £18 

Energy generation 0 1 n/a 0 0 £0 

Market housing 56 2 95,200 1,400 0 £0 

Affordable housing 24 2 40,800 600 0 £0 

Country Park 100  n/a 0 0 £0 

Total 440  224,800 2,000 – 2,800* 1,882 £69 

*at 25 – 35 dph (all other results based on 2,000 dwellings) 

  

Page 180



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 94  
 

8.1.2 Comparable Land uses  

In order to assume the plot areas for the various uses included within the options above, we have 

considered plot coverages of various major developments  

Figure 14 – Scale of Comparable Land Uses 

Maps are to scale (non-standard scale)  

Page 181



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 95  
 

8.1.3 Figure 15 - Indicative plans 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 182



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 96  
 

8.1.4  Figure 16 – Preferred Option 

  

Page 183



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 97  
 

8.2 Viability testing 

8.2.1 Method 

The financial viability assessment is based on undertaking a cashflow assessment of each of the 

respective scenarios for the site. The assessments are based on the proposed development schemes 

and the output is either a development surplus or deficit after allowing for all forecast costs and 

revenues associated with the respective schemes (including input land cost and a developer profit 

requirement). The development costs include all anticipated physical costs required to service land as 

well as the build costs and necessary fees for the landowner to fully develop out each use to a fully 

operational state. In reality a site of this scale would more likely be delivered by a master developer, 

servicing individual plots and subsequently selling them on to individual developers (as serviced 

development land). For the sake of this high level assessment however it is suitable to effectively 

assume the landowner performs all necessary functions in order to develop the land to a fully operation 

use.  

The assessment method utilises a bespoke excel financial model. The approach is residual land value 

based, in that it makes assumptions on revenues as well as development costs, including an upfront 

land cost, build costs all major infrastructure and a fixed developer profit. Assumptions for the sales 

pattern and sales trajectories of the development are plotted in a cash flow on an annual revenue basis 

against the assumed timing of the associated costs. The resulting output of the cash flow is therefore 

a surplus (or deficit) which is indicative of return (or profitability) of the proposed scheme, allowing for 

applicable finance costs (assumed at 100% debt). The project cash flow is structured around the likely 

phasing of the scheme and incorporates the cost of finance and various other fees. This viability testing 

generates a surplus (or deficit) and a comparison of these will indicate the relative indicative viability of 

each scenario and its uses.  

Given the level of information available, it should be noted that these assessments are indicative only 

and the ultimate purpose is to illustrate the relative differences between the sites and the scenarios on 

an order of magnitude basis.  

Indicative densities and Gross External Areas (GEA) of development have been assumed by C&W 

based on our market research.  In summary, the appraisals are a snap shot in time of the potential 

viability of the scenarios for the emerging options based upon a set of assumptions. 

The appraisals are intended to be indicative only and do not represent formal valuations in accordance 

with the RICS Appraisal and Valuation Standards.  They should be treated as being for illustrative 

purposes only in order to support assessments of viability and they should be read in conjunction with 

the assumptions set out by C&W. We outline below the other key assumed inputs to our model.  

8.2.2 Land Costs 

We have allowed for an indicative land acquisition cost of circa £20,000 per acre based on an assumed 

premium to agricultural values. These values are inclusive of the costs of securing vacant possession 

of the full site area. 

The pace of delivery of land will be heavily influenced by the minimum land acquisition cost as the 

higher the level, the higher the barrier to the release of land for development, i.e. all other things being 

equal, a scheme with a minimum land price of £20,000 per acre is going to be significantly more 

deliverable than a scheme with a minimum land price of £50,000 per acre. 

Page 184



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 98  
 

The land acquisition is assumed to be on a phased drawdown basis two years prior to the delivery of 

residential units (i.e. to allow for infrastructure and construction work). No Stamp Duty Land Tax (SDLT) 

or fees have been explicitly allowed for at this level of analysis and they are assumed to be within the 

overall land acquisition allowance.   

8.2.3 Key assumptions  

Construction  

Construction cost assumptions are based on location-adjusted figures from the Build Cost Information 

Service (BCIS) for Quarter 2 2016.  

Values 

Table 21 outlines our assumptions for values for the relevant uses based on our market research; 

Table 21 – Assumptions for individual uses  

USE CLASS 
BUILD COST  

(£PSM)  

RENTAL 

VALUE  

(£PSM)  

YIELD  

CAPITAL 

VALUE  

(£PSM)  

Business space £1,527 £165 7.5% £2,200 

Industrial & logistics £804 £85 6.5% £1,308 

Retail Centre £760 £160 7.5% £2,133 

Market housing £1,061 n/a n/a £2,430 

Affordable housing £1,061 n/a n/a £1,458 

For Scenario 1 (residential led) we have added a 5% premium to the residential values to account for 

the garden community premium, a value increase we would anticipate the settlement to generate itself 

by nature of it size and therefore, ability to step change its own environment and generate value itself.  

We have taken a different approach in relation to: 

 Aviation (including runway) – we have assumed a circa 20% margin on the upfront build cost 

investment in the infrastructure required to convert the runway.    

 Energy – we have assumed a circa 20% margin on the upfront build cost investment into the 

assembly and management of a solar farm.     

8.2.4 Infrastructure  

 

Infrastructure would likely comprise a significant part of the up-front development costs in order to 

realise the various options. Without detailed estimates for infrastructure costs, we have made high level 

assumptions on the necessary infrastructure requirements and associated costs based on comparable 

schemes. These costs are highly variable based on the typography of the land and position of existing 

services. We categories the costs for each scenario as follows: 

Scheme Wide Enabling Works (linked to residential provision)  

1. £16,000 per unit covering on site works that create a series of serviced parcels / plots for 

development and specifically relates to demolition and site preparation, primary and secondary 

highways and drainage and utilities distribution. 

Page 185



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 99  
 

The cost of on-site works would be drawn down incrementally rather than necessarily as a front 

loaded cost. The cost draw down would be proportional to the delivery of the residential 

development on site. For the sake of the modelling we have therefore linked the timing of the 

cost draw down to residential development output.    

Scheme Wide Community Infrastructure (linked to residential provision) 

1. Allowances for education, community and health, open spaces, leisure and sports and 

environmental/ sustainability/ waste - as such this broadly relates to anticipated S106 

contributions. We have not include allowances for separate CIL charging. 

An overall total of £10,000 per residential unit has been assumed based on similar projects. As 

per the on-site cost we have linked the cost draw down for scheme wide infrastructure to 

residential development.  

We have added an additional 5% on top of the total Enabling Works + Community Infrastructure 

costs, in order to reflect the potential requirement of remediation.   

Scheme Wide Other Itemised Infrastructure on Site 

1. A standard cost of £50m for a new train station and track extension. We have only included 

this cost for Scenario 1 only (required to create a new residential community).   

2. A standard cost of £80m for new elements of the road network as well as upgraded pedestrian 

and cycle networks. This includes costs for specific transport, utilities and drainage costs. We 

have only included this cost for Scenario’s 1 and 2 as Scenario 3 is not deemed to require this 

level of infrastructure input.   

3. For Scenario 3 only, we assume the cost of bringing the infrastructure up to the standards of a 

commercial airfield will be in the range of £20-£50m excluding any planning, legal costs and 

road access. Given the unknown nature we have assumed the top of this range (£50m) for our 

appraisals.  

4. The above itemised costs would be required early in the project in order to facilitate the 

comprehensive development of each option. For the modelling we have therefore assumed the 

cost of this is drawn down at the front end of the cashflow, within the first 5 years of the 

construction period.   

8.2.5 Figure 17 - Indicative Road Infrastructure 

As mentioned above we assume major road infrastructure would likely be required in order to facilitate 

comprehensive redevelopment of the site in scenarios 1 and 2. We have taken an indicative view on 

likely routes which could be utilised for a new road in order to connect the site to the wider road network.  

Page 186



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 100  
 

  

 

8.2.6 Professional Fees 

Taking into account architect fees, engineering fees and other specialist consultancy input, the rolled 

up cost of professional advice equates to an approximately 8% sum of build costs. This rate reflects 

several site characteristics which are: 

 The site areas are mostly rural, greenbelt land which does not possess the same degree of 

complications associated with brownfield delivery.  

 The scale of the project affords economies of scale for professional consultants who will 

typically operate at below average rate to reflect the sheer volume of business. 

Page 187



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 101  
 

 Professional fees typically incur a premium charge if the sites and end product are overly 

complex, but it is envisaged that although there will be a variety of development/land use, there 

should be relatively few complications.  

We have also included a Strategic Planning Cost of £500 per unit in our modelling in addition to 

professional fees.  

8.2.7 Growth/Discounting  

Modelling the viability of large scale and in particular long term developments, a discount rate is usually 

utilised in order to account for the time weighted value of money. Given the high level nature of the 

assessment, we have not applied a discount rate to the receipts as we are assuming that the value 

growth would counterbalance the discount rate an investor would assume.  

8.2.8  Purchaser’s Costs 

The land assembly cost is implicit of SDLT charges.  

8.2.9 Marketing Fees 

A rate of 1% on Gross Development Value has been assumed based upon the need to promote the 

new communities and settlements, particularly in relation to the early stages of development.  

8.2.10 Disposal Fees 

This relates to fees on the development as it is being delivered, let and sold to investors/occupiers. 

Residential  

 Sales agency fee for private residential units at 1% of GDV. 

 Sales legal fee at 0.5% on private and affordable residential units. 

Commercial  

 Agency fee - 1% of the sale price. 

 Legal fee - 0.5% of the sale price. 

 No SDLT allowance. 

Lettings Fee 

 Agency fee - 10% of pa commercial rent. 

 Legal fee - 5% of pa commercial rent. 

8.2.11 Finance Rate 

C&W assumes that in all scheme scenarios, costs are 100% debt funded at a flat finance rate of 6.50%. 

This guidance is based on our experience in reviewing strategic schemes of similar size and nature.  

We have not assumed public sector input for funding of infrastructure however this would likely be 

forthcoming for a scheme of this scale. Infrastructure represents a large cost in the appraisal which is 

also subject to finance; in the absence of public sector support, the appraisals incur significant 

borrowing costs which in reality could be significantly reduced with help from the public sector.  

8.2.12 Contingency 

In C&W’s experience typically we would assume a contingency rate on construction costs and 

infrastructure of circa 10-15% for large scale developments in order to provide sufficient cover for 

unforeseen costs. This rate reflects the scale of infrastructure works needed to make this an ‘oven 

Page 188



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 102  
 

ready’ site and the greater degree of risk inherent in building out multiple phases over such a long 

timeframe. This would normally provide a healthy margin to cover unforeseen costs that might arise 

concerning planning, procurement and construction cost overruns. We have therefore assumed the 

upper end of this range for the appraisals (15%).  

8.2.13 S106, Affordable Housing & CIL 

Section 106 costs are accounted for within the assumed infrastructure costs and no Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) allowance has been made. The ‘no CIL’ assumption is based on the strategic 

nature of the proposed schemes and the inclusion of all the direct costs associated with creating the 

infrastructure they require being within this financial assessment.  

In relation to affordable housing allowances, the policy level seeks 35% of residential units.  

These policy levels of affordable housing are subject to tests of viability on individual sites (as per NPPF 

guidance) if achieving the target level is shown to impact on the potential to bring forward the schemes. 

In practice, schemes with the infrastructure burden which exists here are unlikely to achieve target 

levels of affordable housing provision, particularly in the early phases. This would need to be tested as 

strategic site schemes often come forward seeking detailed planning permission is sought at lower 

levels – we have allowed for 30% affordable housing at this stage within the analysis.   

8.3 Viability Results  

Table 22 – Indicative Viability Results (figures in millions) 

 
Scenario 1 
Residential led 

Scenario 2 
Employment led 

Scenario 3 
Aviation led 

Scenario 3A 
Aviation led 

(Partial release) 

Scenario 4 
Preferred Option 

Appraisal Summary 

Gross Development 
Value 

£984 £764 £90 £75 £311 

Less           

Construction Costs £480 £459 £27 £26 £170 

Infrastructure £296 £149 £58 £58 £120 

Land Assembly £22 £22 £22 £22 £22 

Contingency £75 £72 £7 £7 £29 

Professional Fees £40 £38 £4 £4 £15 

Planning £3 £2 £0 £0 £1 

Section 106 & CIL £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

Marketing £7 £3 £0 £0 £2 

Sales, Letting and 
Legal Costs 

£14 £10 £1 £1 £4 

Finance £122 £133 £105 £36 £28 

Profit £0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

Surplus /  Deficit -£75 -£124 -£134 -£79 -£80 

Page 189



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 103  
 

 

 

Figure 18 – Relative Land Split  

 

Scenario 1     Scenario 2       Scenario 3 

 

Scenario     Scenario 4 

 

 

 

8.4 Development Period 

This is a significant site which will take many years to be developed. For the purposes of this 

assessment, we have assumed a fixed 20 year development period including a 3 year lead in time and 

therefore 17 years of development. For an indicative development of 4,000 private units (Scenario 1), 

this therefore equates to a build out and sales rate of 235 units pa, if the settlement is to be delivered 

within the desired timeframe. We have adopted a flat rate throughout the 17 year sales period of the 

cashflow but in reality, the residential trajectory would be sensitive to the introduction of major 

infrastructure (such as significant transport) as well as micro location factors and the overall size of the 

settlement being delivered. A scheme comprising 4,000 private units has the ability to stimulate its own 

value generation when it reaches critical mass.   

Scenario 2 yields 2,250 private units, which equates to circa 131 sales pa assuming the fixed 20 year 

period is maintained.   

Scenario 4 yields 1,400 private units, which equates to circa 93 sales pa. 

We have assumed affordable residential absorption rate is linked to private sales. 

Page 190



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 104  
 

8.5 Commercial trajectories  

We have assumed build out/ take up rates are uniform for all commercial uses. We assume the 

commercial, both retail as well as business space, is absorbed at a fixed rate between year 5 and 20. 

The commercial element of the scheme would have a slight delay from the residential. Table 23 outlines 

the trajectories for each scenario. 

 Table 23 – Development Trajectories (sq m) 

 

 Scenario 1 Scenario 2 Scenario 3 
Scenario 

3A 
Scenario 4 

Business space 28,800 124,800 0 0 0 

Industrial & logistics 16,000 32,000 32,000 32,000 32,000 

Retail centre 11,200 11,200 0 0 0 

Total Commercial Area 56,000 168,000 32,000 32,000 32,000 

      

Commercial pa 3,733 11,200 2,133 2,133 2,133 

 

 

Page 191



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 105  
 

9. INTERVENTIONS & DELIVERY  

9.1 The need for Intervention 

Traditionally sites that requires large scale shifts in use classes and infrastructure funding often have 

support from the public sector. In the case of RAF Mildenhall there is significant need for public sector 

intervention due to a number of factors; 

 Large scale of the site – this makes it too large for any single occupier/developer (apart from 

in exceptional circumstances) and therefore no private sector firm is likely to be able to develop 

the whole site. In order for the potential of the site to be reached, only the public sector is able 

to take a strategic position to create and nurture a vision.  

 Limited potential for continued aviation use – given the location, access and surrounding 

population there is limited use for commercial aviation. This means that the site is unlikely to 

remain focused solely on aviation and other use classes will need to be considered. In order to 

create a viable mix the public sector will have to manage the process.   

 Need to pursue alternative uses that have strategic fit with the legacy objectives. This requires 

public sector intervention to create a wider vision considering not just the site but the wider 

social, economic and physical impacts of the re-development and which use classes would 

best compliment the region as a whole in the long run.  

 Limited pool of demand for other uses creates viability issues – this links with the lack of 

alternative use classes. When there is limited demand driving the market the decision of how 

best to re-develop the site falls to the public sector. This is because the public sector has the 

benefit of a long term payback and time horizon which is unlikely to be delivered by the private 

sector.  

 New uses will constrain the existing infrastructure; access via road is limited and requires going 

through Mildenhall town centre. There is no access via rail or bus to the site – this creates wider 

cost implications. In order for the site to be economically viable there needs to be significant 

infrastructure improvements. These are unlikely to be delivered by the private sector and so 

the public sector must intervene.  

The majority of these limitations and challenges at the RAF Mildenhall site will not be addressed by the 

private sector given the substantial initial costs and limited financial returns in the short run. In contrast 

the public sector has the ability to fund projects over the long term making infrastructure projects 

increasingly viable allowing for wider area improvement and the creation of a ‘vision’.  

9.2 Delivery Options 

9.2.1 Introduction 

 
Currently, FHDC has no control of the site over and above planning policy (which, as per the 
commentary in Section 5, does not exist in any detail for this site). This report seeks to set out a vision 
in order that the full potential of the site can be identified and the key stakeholders can further explore 
the opportunity.  
 
When the USAFE vacate the base and, on the presumption that (whilst no final decision has been 
made), the RAF do not retain a presence, ownership will be retained in the short term by the DIO. The 

Page 192



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 106  
 

DIO’s objectives are to maximise the value of land and to encourage the delivery of houses. As an 
organisation, it is set targets by government to sell land for housing but also to engage with local 
authorities, communities and other stakeholders as appropriate to mitigate the impact of closure. 
Typically, the DIO would transfer the land to the HCA on the basis that their key driver is to increase 
the supply of new affordable and market housing. In a similar manner to the DIO, the HCA is also 
tasked with working with local authorities to ensure that the maximum economic impact is derived from 
its interventions, and that investment takes place in a way that wherever possible aligns with local 
ambitions. 
 
Therefore, FHDC has some leverage and ability to influence the type and form of development through 
other public sector bodies. However, achieving aspirational visions for sites such as RAF Mildenhall 
requires a number of pre-requisites, many of which are dependent on an engaged and committed Local 
Authority (in terms of both financial inputs and partnership arrangements). As per Table 13, the various 
potential land uses are subject to constraints in terms of market demand and deliverability that may 
require the public sector to address.  
 
The public sector should be at the heart of delivering the vision in order that an appropriate strategic 
framework can be established prior to development.  It is envisaged that this will involve a collaborative 
approach with key public sector parties such as FHDC, West Suffolk Council, the DIO, the HCA, the 
LEPs, the Cabinet Office and HMT. Downstream, the involvement of the private sector will be crucial 
to maximise the capacity to deliver the ambitious and significant development programme. 
  
As it currently stands, the DIO intend to transfer ownership to the HCA. In this scenario, the type and 
form of development will be driven to a significant degree by the needs/requirements of the HCA in 
terms of both the outputs of development (housing and job numbers) but also its financial requirements 
and attitude to property risk. It would be important under this scenario that FHDC engages early with 
the HCA and establish an effective governance arrangement in order that FHDC has some real and 
sustained influence.  The case study precedents have shown that this can be effective and the HCA 
has a track record of engaging locally which should give some reassurance that FHDC can exert 
effective influence where it engages effectively. It does however need to be recognised that even with 
a partner with as strong a pedigree as the HCA’s in long term multi stakeholder partnerships, the HCA 
will nevertheless need to balance receipts and value for money along with the resources which are 
available to it. This can be positive in that there may be the potential to access other forms of public 
sector funding and support but it will inevitably mean that FHDC is not in total control of the future 
redevelopment and there could be differences in priorities.  External factors will also determine the 
optimal disposal route including market appetite and conditions at the time that the HCA seeks 
developer(s)/partner(s), lot size and the complexity of actual delivery and optimal returns relative to 
risk.  
 
FHDC could therefore consider an alternative scenario in which it seeks to intervene more directly by 
taking a direct stake in the land, either alongside the HCA or on its own.  This would give FHDC more 
control but would also increase the risk.  As the HCA has a track record of collaboration and is the 
government’s preferred organisation for the disposal of surplus central government land, C&W 
considers that it would be preferable to pursue discussions on the basis that FHDC and the HCA 
become fully aligned rather than FHDC seeking to take full ownership of the site.  This alignment could 
be established through a properly constituted governance structure or could perhaps be achieved with 
some shared interest over part of the site (such as the initial land needed to create a viable early 
employment hub). Regardless of how FHDC engages with the HCA, it might be necessary to work 
across government so that the HCA is not ‘penalised’ either financially or in how it accounts for the  
housing targets that will transfer with the land from the DIO in the event that it sacrifices some housing 
in order to deliver more employment.  
 
Figure 19 illustrates some potential delivery scenarios and their relationship to time/ value and to the 
level of FHDC (or other local authority/County Council formations) participation.  
 

Page 193



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 107  
 

Figure 19 – Delivery Options 

 
 

9.2.2 Unencumbered Sale to Private Sector 

 
An immediate sale would provide for an early and certain receipt to the HCA and would not be 
conditional upon achieving planning consent. The planning and development risk passes to the 
purchaser, which is likely to have an impact on the price achieved. This option does not necessarily 
make best use of the potential to enhance value for the HCA or retain control over what is delivered 
onsite (and when), which is left for the market to determine.  
 
This option would mean that the private sector purchaser would then be responsible for moving the site 
up the value curve through establishing uses in planning terms and promoting the scheme. 
 
The planning and development risk would pass to the purchaser, whom would seek to reflect this in the 
price paid although the long term flexibility in having an unencumbered freehold ownership would be 
attractive. The sale (unlike some other options) would not contain any obligations on the developer 
however so they would be free to pursue whatever scheme they considered maximised value to them 
(subject to planning constraints); there is a risk that such a scheme would not coincide with FHDC’s 
aspirations for the sites. 
 

9.2.3 Development Agreement 

 
This gives the opportunity for the HCA to have a role (and obligations) to enhance values and achieve 
a reasonable degree of control through partnering with a developer. These can take many forms, but 
the main attraction is to share cost, risk, resource and leveraging combined expertise. These options 
involve more risk to the HCA compared to the conventional ‘sale’ routes as there is no upfront receipt 

Page 194



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 108  
 

but they do allow for control over the actual content of the proposed development and mechanisms to 
generate deferred returns (through elements such as overage). Depending on how the Development 
Agreement is drafted they can provide an effective mechanism to leverage public sector funding into 
schemes and provide support for otherwise unviable uses (such as employment land development 
which would require pump priming). 
 

9.2.4 Serviced Land Development 

 
This option is primarily categorised by staggered payments to the HCA as the scheme progresses 
opposed to upfront purchase by the developer. This allows the HCA to share in the development return 
generated by the scheme and any increase in land value/ market upturn. This option may be beneficial 
financially should the HCA be willing to accept delayed payments although carries the risk of a potential 
downturn in the commercial market and the lack of interest from developers willing to commit to such 
a partnership (depending on the level of profit share requested by the HCA). The level of control over 
form of development is compromised compared to the Development Agreement option.  
 

9.2.5 Sale of Serviced Plots 

 
This would require serious investment by the public sector in order to provide readily connected, 
serviced land plots. The public sector would be taking on the construction risk and the development 
risk in terms of providing plots of the correct size for the local market. The upside is that this would 
significantly de-risk the development for individual developers and the profit margin that they sought 
would be reduced in line with this.  
 

9.2.6 HCA Retains the Freehold and is paid a ground rent rather than a capital sum for the 

land 

 
C&W’s assumption is that the HCA would retain the freehold in options 2-5. Therefore, this option is 
identical to Option 2 (Development Agreement) apart from in relation to the land receipt. The land 
receipt agreed at the time of the sale of the asset is converted into a gearing of the income stream. The 
HCA would receive a percentage share of the occupation al rents received from the development. This 
generates a significant saving in interest costs through no land payment having to be made. 
 

9.2.7 FHDC co-invests with HCA or takes full ownership 

 
This scenario envisages FHDC taking an interest in the site, either fully in its own right or in partnership 
with the HCA. This would yield greater control to FHDC but clearly comes with significant additional 
risk. This option requires discussion with the Steering Group to understand the appetite for additional 
risk. 
 

9.2.8 Summary of Delivery Scenarios 

 
In practice there are variations to each of the options reviewed. In addition to the disposal routes 
identified above, there might be circumstances where some direct development (i.e. over and above 
the sale of serviced land plots) may be considered. However, the vast majority of strategic options will 
involve seeking to enhance value through partnering; this allows the sharing of risk, resources and 
leveraging combined expertise for such a large and long term site.  
  
 

Page 195



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 109  
 

9.3 Funding Sources 

Any comprehensive development of RAF Mildenhall is going to require a variety of funding sources 

over a very long period of time. This relates to direct funding repaid from development of the site as 

opposed to the potential for repayment from sources external to the development of the site. 

9.3.1 Funding from Development on ‘the site’ 

Developer 

The simplest and most direct form of funding is for the eventual developer (or consortium of developers 

in partnership with landowners) to fund the upfront infrastructure costs based on the potential for a 

significant increase to the value on their landholdings. However, the scale of the infrastructure costs 

(when considering a comprehensive solution for the site) and the likely elongated payback period are 

likely to be make this difficult for a standard developer to fund.  

Potential payback mechanism: developer’s investment is recovered in the form of increased land values 

which will be created by the new infrastructure (this assumes that the HCA sells the land to them at a 

value which reflects the lack of existing infrastructure).  

HCA funding  

The HCA (in a separate function to its landowner role) provides funding for items which assist in 

delivering significant housing numbers. This funding can come in the way of grant or loan capital. The 

HCA will look to recover its investment where this is possible, either by direct recovery through loans 

with a commercially calculated interest rate, or through overage or profit share type arrangements. 

Where this is not possible then, if the outputs are considered to be of significance, then grant funding 

can be provided. Access to the recoverable capital investment fund is open to private sector 

organisations only but must be through a local authority led bid. In terms of infrastructure funding, it is 

expected that any investment would be at least matched with equal funding from other partners and be 

made on a repayable basis. If specific infrastructure works which enable development were to be 

identified at RAF Mildenhall then this could provide some funding. 

Potential payback mechanism: developer payback from long term development revenue on the site. 

Local Authority Capital Budget or Prudential Borrowing  

The Local Government Act 2003 allows a local authority to borrow for any purpose relevant to its 

functions or for the ‘prudent management of its financial affairs’. Under prudential borrowing, the 

amount of debt and other liabilities which most local authorities can incur is no longer capped by an 

upper limit, instead it must conform to the ‘Prudential Code’ which requires that borrowing be affordable 

and prudential (each local authority must set a total borrowing limit for itself in accordance with this 

which cannot be breached) with an appropriate level of reserves. The limit will be related to the revenue 

streams available to the local authority, with which it can repay the debt. The scale of the investment 

required at RAF Mildenhall is likely to be significant and the appetite for direct local authority funding is 

likely to be limited. 

Potential payback mechanism: New Homes Bonus (NHB), Business Rate Retention. 

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 

A number of recent studies have found there to be scope for LGPS funds to do more to invest for wider 

social and economic benefit. In 2012, DCLG carried out a consultation on possible changes to the 

Page 196



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 110  
 

Investment Regulations. As a result of the consultation, it amended these to increase the proportion of 

the capital value of a fund that could be invested in partnerships. The DCLG said the change would 

give funds more scope to invest in infrastructure projects. A report published by the National Association 

of Pension Funds (NAPF) in May 2013 found a trend in LGPS investments away from investing in 

equities towards other assets such as property and infrastructure. The need for such funding is based 

on the increasing requirement on banks to put aside reserves against all their loans, and their reticence  

to commit to the long term loans needed to develop infrastructure; in contrast, pension funds have a 

long term perspective which matches the funding required to a greater extent. 

Potential payback mechanism: NHB, Business Rate Retention. 

The UK Guarantees Scheme 

The UK Guarantees Scheme was announced in 2012 in order to progress UK infrastructure projects 

held back by adverse credit conditions. The government committed up to £40 billion in guarantees to 

remove barriers to private finance, with contractors charged a fee. Guarantees are awarded via 

Infrastructure UK and are subject to a number of checks and eligibility criteria, including: national 

significance; financial credibility; readiness (construction within 12 months); dependence on the 

guarantee (project must be unlikely to proceed without intervention); and value for money (for the 

taxpayer). The structure of each guarantee differs, with the government having control over the scale, 

timing, risk exposure and relationship elements, depending on the need of the individual project. As of 

April 2014, 40 projects were known to have passed the pre-qualification stage, worth £37 billion in total. 

Therefore, without an extension of the scheme, there are likely to be only a small number of additional 

projects that will qualify for a guarantee. A number of high profile guarantees have been awarded to 

date, including the Northern Line Extension to Battersea (£750m), the Mersey Gateway Bridge (£257m) 

and the Drax Power Station (£75m). The scheme in its current guise is open until 31 December 2016. 

Potential payback mechanism: developer payback from long term development revenue on the site, 

NHB, Business Rate Retention. 

Growth Deal 

The LEPs have been allocated two rounds of Local Growth Funding to date which is used to meet the 

objectives of their strategic economic plans through the provision of infrastructure funding to create 

economic growth and new homes.  The third round bid is currently being made and will be announced 

in the Autumn Statement 2016. Grants would be awarded for capital projects. Growth Deal funding is 

increasingly becoming aligned with devolution deals where the growth targets and strategic sites are 

often the same. The current 5 year period for Growth Deal until 2021 may limit its current use at RAFM 

however future rounds and successor funding could be investigated. 

Potential payback mechanism: to be confirmed. 

Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Deal 

The proposed Suffolk and Norfolk devolution deal could mean control of more than £1 billion of funding 

to improve Norfolk and Suffolk; enabling the creation of 95,000 jobs by 2026, delivering around 200,000 

homes over the lifetime of the deal and providing the skills that employees and businesses want.  In 

that context the development of RAF Mildenhall could be a key project for the new Combined Authority.   

The Norfolk and Suffolk Combined Authority’s ambition is to will work with local authorities, LEPs, 

government departments and agencies, ports, universities, the third sector and business to grow the 

Page 197



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 111  
 

local and national economy whilst improving the life chances and quality of life of people across the 

region. The proposals in the governance scheme set out a number of core initiatives including:  

 A step change in infrastructure delivery with an integrated approach to the planning of roads, 

rail and digital connectivity alongside land for new housing and business; 

 Making East Anglia the UK's truly connected region in respect of communications and transport 

connections, linking research-based growth in the major towns and cities with even the most 

rural villages. Improvements to road and rail infrastructure and using smart ticketing will make 

it easier for residents to participate fully in the economy across transport modes; 

 Devising new models of private/public infrastructure and housing funding to fund strategic 

capital infrastructure; 

 A new partnership between the Universities and Further Education providers in the region to 

drive a programme of co-ordinated skills and educational improvement to deliver the 

knowledge based economy. 

 Areas of joint collaboration with Cambridgeshire and Peterborough, including strategic issues 

of scale, such as transport, skills and key sectors, e.g. agri-tech, as well as other areas that 

represent economic growth opportunities. 

The Combined Authority’s responsibilities will include: 

 A multi-year, consolidated and devolved local transport budget; 

 A new Key Route Network of local authority roads to be managed and maintained by the 

Combined Authority; 

 Strategic planning, creating a non-statutory spatial framework; 

 Increasing new homes delivery; 

 A £25m a year funding allocation over 30 years, to boost growth. 

It is proposed that the Mayor of the Combined Authority will have functions corresponding to those of 

the Mayor of London under Part 8 of the Localism Act 2011 to designate any area of land in the 

Combined Authority area as a Mayoral Development Area leading to the establishment by Order of a 

Mayoral Development Corporation subject to the consent of all Constituent Authorities in which the 

Development Corporation is intended to be based. 

The Growing Places Fund  

Growing Places Fund funding can be used to establish revolving funds to take forward a range of 

projects that can help facilitate economic growth, jobs and house building in the local area, providing 

returns which can be reinvested locally. Examples include infrastructure delivery (such as new roads, 

utilities and broadband), site acquisition and preparation, residential and commercial building 

construction and public realm.  

In order to qualify for the fund, partnerships must demonstrate that they meet certain criteria such as 

how the money they receive from the fund will generate economic activity in the short term by 

addressing immediate infrastructure and site constraints which promote the delivery of jobs and 

Page 198



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 112  
 

housing. Bidders also need to demonstrate that they have match funding in place, be in a position to 

start from the approval date, have private sector involvement or the means of unlocking wider private 

sector development and economic activity and the necessary planning permissions, legal consents and 

land ownership in place. It is currently unclear if there are any plans to advance this programme any 

further or whether it has been superseded by things such as the Cities & Local Growth Unit. 

Potential payback mechanism: this is a revolving infrastructure fund but repayment could be from long 

term development revenue on the site or Business Rate Retention. 

Tax Increment Finance (TIF) schemes  

TIF schemes were approved by the 2010-1015 government as a new mechanism for forward funding 

infrastructure and capital development. TIF schemes use future uplifts in real estate tax revenues to 

finance current public infrastructure improvements, which will in turn create tax gains to help fund future 

projects. The projected increase in taxation is captured in a bond and sold to fund the infrastructure. 

TIF allows local authorities to borrow against different elements of retained business rate revenue. The 

revenue is not to the local authority but goes directly back to the government to repay the loan (i.e. 

central government fund and repay the loan via TIF). TIF is only likely to be suitable where the site is 

cleared to ensure substantial business rate growth is a realistic prospect (we are not aware of the 

position at RAF Mildenhall in this regard). 

New Development Deals which have been negotiated within City Deals for Newcastle, Manchester, or 

Sheffield for example, involve the ring-fencing and dedication of proceeds for future growth through 

TIF. In the absence of more systematic fiscal devolution London First see scope for HMT to apply these 

principles to a wider range of schemes in London so as to enable growth-stimulating infrastructure 

investment to go ahead.  

The Manchester City Deal, which included a TIF scheme, was set up in 2012 and became known as 

the ‘Greater Manchester earn-back scheme’. Under this deal £1.2 billion is being invested up-front in 

transport improvements.  

Potential payback mechanism: repayment from Business Rates. 

9.3.2 Pay Back Mechanisms  

 

Direct Developer  

There are examples where significant land owner(s)/developer(s) have funded infrastructure 

improvements without a mechanism for payback from other potential beneficiaries. For example, 

Woolwich (Berkeley Homes’ Royal Arsenal scheme funded a new Woolwich Crossrail station) and 

Kidbrooke (Berkeley Homes again – funding for a significant railway station upgrade); the payback 

mechanism to them is an increased GDV, a faster pace of absorption and improved land values.  

 

Developer Framework through a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)  

Establishing an SPD for a defined area can help identify infrastructure costs and ensures that the cost 

of providing this is evenly shared between the different land owners in the defined SPD area. A private 

sector developer may fund the key piece of infrastructure to allow a scheme on its land to be brought 

Page 199



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 113  
 

forward and the SPD would create a mechanism where the developer is able to capture contributions 

from developers of other plots of land within the defined SPD area as they develop their schemes at a 

later date and within the timeframe specified within the SPD (benefiting from the infrastructure put in 

place and already funded by the first developer).  

An SPD style approach can also be used in the case of public sector led development, as in the case 

of the Bedford Bypass project. In this example, English Partnerships (EP, now the HCA) forward funded 

the first phase of the Bedford Bypass to support and enable the delivery of some of the key housing 

sites on the west side of Bedford. Under this innovative deal, £17m was put towards the cost of the 

£24m road through Treasury accounting systems. This went to EP which acted as ringmaster and 

forward funder on the project. Money is to subsequently recouped from the housing developers to pay 

back this funding; various thresholds, such as completion of a particular number of homes, triggers 

payments. The remainder of the funding for the road came from the government's Growth Area Fund, 

which provided £5m, and a £2m local transport plan contribution. 

Enterprise Zones (Business Rates) 

In 2012, the UK government established a number of EZs: geographical areas with a range of 

incentives to help to build or grow businesses, including simplified planning and tax relief. Hence EZs 

have a commercial focus rather than being aimed at improving housing supply. Gaining classification 

as an EZ can help fund infrastructure projects as changes to business rates generated by firms locating 

in the defined zone are retained and reinvested in local economic growth for a period of typically 25 

years. This enables a greater share of business rate uplifts to be retained locally, and large 

infrastructure projects such as the Northern Line Extension (NLE) at Battersea have benefitted from 

contributions obtained through a new EZ in the London Borough of Wandsworth and Lambeth.  

The NLE to Battersea is largely being funded by the Public Works Loan Board and paid back by the 

private sector through value uplifts generated by redevelopment in the wider Battersea area; the entire 

funding requirement, including interest costs, is expected to be met through £266m (2012/13 prices) of 

developer contributions from Section 106 and CIL and retained business rates via a new EZ. The zone 

is to be used purely as a funding mechanism for the NLE with no additional incentives available to 

businesses (so distinct from the ‘official EZs’).  

New Homes Bonus  

The NHB is a government scheme aimed at encouraging local authorities to grant planning permission 

for new homes in return for receiving additional revenue. The NHB provides un-ring fenced funds to 

local authorities for each new home completed. The scheme only applied to homes that are completed 

in the previous Spending Review period; that is, to the end of March 2015. There was no announcement 

relating to the NHB in the March 2015 or July 2015 Budgets. Assuming that the bonus is continued, the 

additional residential units would unlock additional funds. The scheme pays out for each new home for 

six years, with an additional payment of £350 for six years for each new affordable home completed. 

The grant is based on the amount of extra Council Tax revenue raised for new-build homes, 

conversions and long term empty homes brought back into use. There is also an extra payment for 

providing affordable homes. The Department for Communities and Local Government set aside £1 

billion for the NHB with an aim for the scheme to produce an additional 140,000 homes over 10 years. 

In 2015 The DCLG announced that almost £3.4 billion had been allocated between 2011 and 2016. 

 

Page 200



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 114  
 

9.4 Public Sector Response 

9.4.1 Clear and Effective Decision Making 

The public sector needs to speak with one voice to unite and put the legacy objectives at the heart of 

future planning for RAF Mildenhall. The OPE programme and potential Norfolk and Suffolk devolution 

deal will help to improve this and RAF Mildenhall can become a showcase for alignment of public sector 

strategies and resources to support growth. 

A project of this scale and long timescale needs sustained and committed leadership from the public 

sector at national and local level to give confidence to local communities, businesses and investors that 

the project has the necessary backing to succeed. 

9.4.2 Infrastructure Interventions 

As the viability section of the report demonstrates there is a need for pump-priming infrastructure 

investment to build confidence in the deliverability of the project and to introduce private investors to 

fund discrete phases of the development; this may require early stage public sector interventions.  

9.4.3 OPE Principles and devolution  

RAF Mildenhall represents an excellent opportunity to drive forward West Suffolk’s OPE Programme 

by contributing to the ambitious place – shaping project for the town and surrounding area through co-

ordinating activities using the public sector asset base.  

The devolution agenda in Suffolk can use RAFM as a flagship to show how sustainable economic 

growth and homes and the provision of infrastructure can be planned and delivered on a major scale 

in the region. 

9.4.4 Potential Delivery Approach  

The report suggests that the public sector could take a pro-active role in maintaining the site in single 

ownership, and taking the role of a ‘master developer’ to provide project leadership and manage the 

planning, consultation and strategic infrastructure stages of the development. This would be followed 

by a series of deals with private sector developers and occupiers to take forward phases in partnership 

with the public sector owners. There are various models of public sector ownership which could be 

explored but a partnership between central government and local partners including FHDC could 

provide a strong combination of land ownership, funding resources, delivery expertise and local 

knowledge and buy-in. 

While we don’t have a steer from the DIO at this stage, we should be highlighting the potential for a 

combined central (for instance DIO/HCA/GPU & Cabinet Office) and local (FHDC/LEP) delivery 

partnership, and how it could be structured. The partnership structure could explore the use of an EZ 

and could incorporate land ownership, funding and other powers for example by utilising a Mayoral 

Development Corporation under the devolution deal or similar delivery mechanism. 

A substantial central/local partnership concept would depend on FHDC’s attitude to taking a long term 

financial stake and bearing risk through borrowing and other investment and/or securing external funds 

for instance the devolution deal. It’s unlikely that central partners would be interested in a forming a 

joint venture unless the local partners bring something to the table. 

We will need to understand the terms on which surplus land would transfer to the HCA or a dedicated 

regeneration partnership. It has been assumed in the study that the  DIO would  transfer land  at ‘market 

value’ but it is feasible that it could be transferred for a for a nominal sum given the uncertainties in the 

Page 201



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 115  
 

site conditions and to facilitate the regeneration partnership, in which case we would expect the DIO to 

seek some form of profit share.  

On the assumption that the first tranches of  land are not transferred for several years there is a 

challenge for a new regeneration partnership to define its purpose and stay relevant during the period 

of project capacity building and feasibility work leading up to the land transfer. Equally this should be 

viewed as an opportunity for the partnership to build its delivery credentials, show leadership and 

engagement with stakeholders and secure and manage the funding for the capacity stage of the project. 

Page 202



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 116  
 

10. CONCLUSIONS 

10.1 Vision 

 No single use or user for the site is likely and based on the available information, we consider 

it reasonable to assume that this can be discounted. 

 For clarity, it should be stressed that for the site to come forward, it will be subject to a mix of 

uses and there will be full and part site development options. Whilst the commentary in Section 

7 assesses uses in isolation, this is for analysis purpose – actual development will be a mix. 

The linkages and inter-dependencies between these uses is critical to the success of any 

scheme.  

 A new settlement with a ‘Garden City’ premium is likely to prove the most viable and deliverable 

development option whilst it would raise complex town planning issues and the danger of 

creating a commuter settlement. 

 Aviation potential is most significant in terms of the MRO sector, particularly if expertise can be 

developed in composites and also address the shortage of sites for aircraft decommissioning. 

Building on the existing expertise and hub within the area is likely to be the most deliverable 

option to generate employment based uses on the site. 

 The site offers reasonable prospects for energy generation uses. 

 Office, science park or agri-tech development of any scale are going to be significantly 

challenged in viability and deliverability terms and the potential to be delivered over time will 

require: 

o A clear delivery platform in place. 

o Quantified data in terms of the existing employment skills base. This might provide a 

clue to the inherent strengths of the airfield – without the USAF in terms of supply chain 

companies on the airfield and the highly skilled labour force that might be a significant 

driver for new uses.   

o Significant campus relocation to pump prime development. 

o Certainty for occupiers through: 

 A unified ownership/delivery strategy for the site. 

 Evidence and demonstration of early infrastructure investment. 

 Marketing and branding of RAF Mildenhall as a place (sustained and 

consistent). 

o EZ designation. 

o Links to an academic institution on site. 

o Public sector direct development. 

Page 203



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 117  
 

 Whilst housing educational facilities would help deliver science park/other uses, this will require 

an existing hub/areas specialism to build off (as opposed to the other way round) which points 

toward aviation use. 

 Whist life sciences are not - on the face of it - a strong contender, there may be some potential 

at the larger industrial end of biotechnology or with life sciences occupiers seeking a very 

secure site away from existing hubs.  

 We do not consider that the site has out of town retail potential. 

 Unsurprisingly, given the limited market demand in this location and the infrastructure burden 

of any significant development, all use combinations for the site are currently unviable in 

property market terms. This does not mean to say that they are undeliverable however and 

given certain assumptions/alterations, they could be viable; in particular: 

o Contribution from other sources towards infrastructure costs which can be considered 

to be serving the wider sub-region as opposed to RAF Mildenhall in isolation. 

o Securing of significant anchor occupiers early within scheme progression. 

o Non policy compliant level of affordable housing. 

o Public sector leadership which is critical to delivery any comprehensive vision on the 

site and the viable delivery of early phases. 

 

10.2 Key Messages to take to the Government  

 

A Shared Vision 

 The public sector needs to speak with one voice to unite and put the legacy objectives at the 

heart of future planning for RAF Mildenhall 

 A residential led commuter town is not the default option and we must avoid mothballing the 

site  

 Government needs to be seen as being ‘on board’ to deliver the vision. 

 We recommend funding is made available for promoting the site and the wider area 

 Discussions with potential key aviation partners should be coordinated across the public sector  

Clear and Effective Decision Making 

 A strong governance structure needs to be established. 

 Government to accelerate and clarify decisions about the timing of the USVF withdrawal and 

any future British military requirement 

Page 204



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 118  
 

 A partial occupation by the British Army could be successful but we need urgent discussions 

to understand the quantum, nature and longevity of any presence. We are ready to collaborate 

with the DIO and Front Line Commands to apportion land uses that enable civilian and military 

uses.   

 The airfield, supporting infrastructure and an area of 200 acres should be protected for 

aerospace 

Infrastructure Interventions 

 Pump-priming infrastructure by the public sector   

 Government to make available capacity funding to assess the costs of infrastructure and to 

develop business cases which demonstrate the return on this investment   

 Government to provide a funding package to be repaid from sale proceeds of the land when it 

becomes developed to meet the costs of the required improvements to infrastructure and 

services to facilitate new development 

 In the event that there is a British military use for the site we ask that the costs of strengthening 

infrastructure is met by government    

 Minimum site closure standards to be applied before the site is transferred from the military or 

a dowry fund should be established to meet the costs. 

OPE Principles and devolution  

 RAF Mildenhall represents an excellent opportunity to drive forward West Suffolk’s OPE 

Programme by contributing to the ambitious place – shaping project for the town and 

surrounding area through co-ordinating activities using the public sector asset base.  

 The devolution agenda in Suffolk can use RAFM as a flagship to show how sustainable 

economic growth and homes and the provision of infrastructure can be planned and delivered 

on a major scale in the region. 

 In the event that the British Army have a requirement for part (or all) of the site, it needs to be 

recognised that this will be a very different presence to an RAF or USVF presence.  We 

therefore ask that in this scenario there is appropriate military community integration planning 

and funding made available. 

 We want to work with the HCA to ensure that they are not ‘penalised’ either financially or in 

how it accounts for the housing targets that will transfer with the land from the DIO in the event 

that our vision means it delivers less housing in order to deliver more employment. 

Delivery Approach  

 We ask that the public sector should take a pro-active role in maintaining the site in single 

ownership in the near term after closure, and taking the role of a ‘master developer’ to provide 

project leadership and manage the planning, consultation and strategic infrastructure stages 

of the development.  

Page 205



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 119  
 

 There are various models of public sector ownership which we want to explore with the DIO 

and the HCA but a partnership between central government such as DIO and HCA and local 

partners including FHDC could provide a strong combination of land ownership, funding 

resources, delivery expertise and local knowledge and buy-in. 

 A coordinated public sector delivery response will ensure that development at RAF Mildenhall 

comes forward holistically, employment uses are seen as a real priority rather than a planning 

condition to release the next phase of housing and that local needs can be delivered – for 

example by ensuring that skill straining is delivered in line with the build-out of new employment 

space or delivering demonstration housing projects that ensure the elderly can continue to live 

independently, safely and sociably.    

 This would likely be followed by a series of deals with private sector developers and occupiers 

to take forward phases in partnership with the public sector owners. 

 We ask that we work together across government to address how viability can be improved to 

deliver better returns to the public purse as well as improving the prospects of creating new 

jobs.  

 We would like capacity funding to pursue a business plan for the aviation uses described in 

this prospectus and to support discussions with potential operators. 

 We want to explore with government the benefits of designations such as Enterprise Zones, 

Housing Zones and development corporations and to support delivery of the Vision. 

 Aside from the delivery of new infrastructure and accommodation on the site there is a 

requirement for advanced skills training to support new employment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 206



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 120  
 

APPENDIX 1 

Issues impacting future use of RAF Mildenhall 

C&W discuss the approach to RAF Mildenhall in Section 2 assessing the scale of the opportunity in 

comparison to the existing geography and economy of the area raises a number of critical issues and 

challenges. C&W outlined a number of areas which the feasibility study needs to address these include: 

 Coordinating national and local government strategies and resources - the scale of the 

development will require input from government departments, HCA, LEPs and local authorities 

among others to maximise the impact of the project at a national and sub regional level. 

 Vision and innovation - a project of this size requires a visionary approach and innovative 

uses to ensure future generations can derive lasting economic and social benefits. For instance 

this could focus on driving the knowledge economy, technology sectors and education and the 

higher level skills base. C&W, through Infrata a specialist aviation sub-consultant, assesses 

the potential to specialise in aviation uses given the existing infrastructure. 

 Public: Private Partnership and leadership - the reference case studies demonstrate that a 

complex and long term project will require committed leadership and political support. The 

public sector bodies have a vital role to play in establishing the vision and credentials for the 

site and attracting private sector partners. 

 Technical challenges - the legacy of military use could mean large abnormal site costs and 

the scale of development is likely to require major off-site infrastructure upgrades. 

 Funding and financial mechanisms - major site development costs are likely to require public 

funding support from government, LEPs, local authorities and other sources. Innovative funding 

mechanisms such as EZs and business rates retention schemes should be considered. 

 Community and stakeholder involvement – another key lesson from many of the reference 

case studies is that existing communities could feel overwhelmed by the scale of this project 

and there is a real need to engage with and involve them in the design and operation of the 

project from the outset to ensure the regeneration brings sustainable benefits. 

 Timescales - this is a long term project. It will be 2020 before any military withdrawal and even 

then there may be some continuing military use. The redevelopment of the site will impact the 

social, economic and physical landscape of Mildenhall and surrounding communities over a 

wide area and regeneration will be phased over at least 20 years. There will be a need for long 

term leadership and continuity to maintain momentum and manage the expectations of the 

local communities. 

In order to ensure the appropriate analysis and scope of study C&W has followed the approach and 

timeline as set out in Figure 20. 

Page 207



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 121  
 

Figure 20 – C&W Methodology 

 

Data Sources  

 
C&W have relied upon the data from reports and assessments including: 
 

 Property Times UK Industrial Q1 2016, C&W Research, (May, 2016) 

 Retail Market Snapshot Q1 201, C&W  Research, (2016) 

 Office Market Snapshot Q1 201, C&W Research, (2016) 

 Western Suffolk Land Review, Suffolk County Council, (2009) 

 Population Profile, Suffolk County Council, (2012) 

 A11 Growth Corridor Feasibility Study, Bruton Knowles and Amion Consulting, (July 2015) 

 Better Broadband Suffolk (2016) 

 Suffolk Local Broadband Plan, Summary Briefing Note, Better Broadband Suffolk, (2011) 

 BDUK Broadband Delivery Project, Local Broadband Plan for Suffolk, Better Broadband 
Suffolk, (2011) 

 Mildenhall and Lakenheath Airbase Group, West Suffolk, (2015) 

Page 208



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 122  
 

 Population, Housing and Employment Forecast, Cambridgeshire Country council, (2013) 

 Monitoring Report for 2013/14 and 2014/15, Forest Heath District Council Local Plan, Forest 
Heath District Council (2015) 

 Population Profile Suffolk, Health and Wellbeing Suffolk, (2014) 

 Rural Vision 2031, St Edmundsbury Council, (2015) 

 Western Suffolk Employment Land Review, Suffolk County Council, GVA Grimley, (2009) 

 Suffolk Growth Strategy, Suffolk County Council, (2013). 

 Joint Development Management Policies Document, Forest Heath and St Edmundsbury Local 
Plan, (Feb 2015) 

 Housing Market Bulletin Cambridge May 2016, Hometrack, (2016) 

 Objectively Assessed housing Need, Forest Heath, Cambridgeshire County Council and 
Cambridge Research Group (January 2016) 

 West Suffolk Housing Strategy, Forest Heath District Council, (2014) 

 Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2011-2026 (with housing projected to 2031), 
Forest Heath District Council Core Strategy CS9, Forest Heath LDF, (2010) 

 Market Ward Information Forest Heath, West Suffolk.gov, (2011) 

 The Cambridge Sub-Region Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), Cambridge 
Insight in (June2013/Updated 2014) 

 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), West Suffolk Council, (April/May 
2015).  

 West Suffolk Council: Single Issue Review (SIR) of Core Strategy Policy CS7 - Overall Housing 
Provision and Distribution - Preferred Option (3rd Regulation 18 Stage), Forest Heath District 
Council, (2016). 

 A UK Strategy for Agricultural Technologies, HM Government, (2013) 

 Retail impact threshold Advice West Suffolk, Strategic Perspectives, (2014)  

 Funding Secures Agri-Tech Research Hub for the East, New Anglia, Local Enterprise 
Partnership for Norfolk and Suffolk, (2015) 

 Prisoner population and overcrowding, Key issues for the 2015 Parliament, UK Parliament, 
(2015). 

 National Policy Planning Framework, (2012) 

 Forest Heath Core Strategy, West Suffolk (2010) 

 Assessment of a five year supply of housing land, Forest Heath District Council,  (published 
March 2016) 

 GDGP LEP (http://www.gcgp.co.uk/) 

Page 209

http://www.gcgp.co.uk/


A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 123  
 

 Briefing Note from the Newmarket and District Chamber of Commerce, The proposed closure 
of RAF Mildenhall and future use of the site, Newmarket & District Chamber of Commerce 
(2016).  

Limitations 

This report is subject to the following limitations: 

 Whilst C&W has sought to test, interrogate and understand the potential for the site, this is a 

visioning exercise which is limited in the extent to be which detailed elements can be modelled 

and allowed for.   The assessment is founded on assessing the macro potential of the site and 

area with allowances made for the obvious and significant constraints and limitations of the 

site.  

 We consider that this analysis and our process provides an appropriate assessment at this - 

very high - level of analysis. Cost assumptions are indicative and flat rates for values have 

been utilised in order to allow for comparison between options. For the avoidance of doubt, no 

advice within this report is to be taken as a C&W formal opinion of value. The information 

provided by third parties. No values referred to in this report are covered by the RICS Valuation 

– Professional Standards 2014 (the ‘Red Book). 

 In light of the recent EU Referendum and the ensuing political and economic uncertainty, 

sentiment towards and requirements for, property across occupiers, lenders, investors and 

developers is likely to be affected in the short term at least.  At this time organisations involved 

in the industry are reflecting on the potential implications of the UK leaving the EU.  Evidence 

of the impact on rental and capital values, along with other elements affecting property 

appraisal is at this time, scarce and largely anecdotal.  C&W continues to closely monitor 

market developments and trends in order that we can provide clients with the most up to date 

advice.  The views contained in this document are provided in the context of this market 

uncertainty and as such our estimates and opinions are susceptible to short term 

change.  Accordingly we advise that clients have regard to this risk and seek updated advice 

before acting on the opinions expressed.  

Page 210



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 124  
 

APPENDIX 2 

SWOT Analysis 

Table 24 – Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities & Threats 

STRENGTHS  WEAKNESSES   

• Large site 440 ha – the scale gives the 

opportunity to create a step change. 

• Vacant possession  

• Located in a rapidly expanding area – 

Suffolk is one of the fastest growing 

counties in the UK, as economic migrants 

move out of other expensive regions.  

• Potential for a creation of place – given 

the large parcel of open land.  

• Strategic location within East Anglia – 

dualled A11, A14 connections, agri-tech 

EZs, continued USAFE presence at 

Lakenheath.  

• Cambridge growth – potential to feed off 

the major regional hub. 

• Existing military presence – gives an 

existing focus to the area/site. 

 

• Location - limited access and limited 

population to draw upon. 

• Infrastructure constraints – limited road 

and rail networks serving the site.  

• Ecologically sensitive area  

• Archaeological potential 

• Challenging local economic and 

property conditions 

• Buildings are tired and nearing the end of 

useful life 

• The opportunities can also become 

constraints (scale could saturate market; 

policy vacuum brings uncertainty; airfield 

could become a millstone)  

OPPORTUNITY   THREATS  

• Scale – single ownership and vacant 

possession removes barriers  

• Local ambition backed by government 

strategies and resources – potential to 

align input across government to maximise 

the impact of interventions and avoid ‘silo’ 

approach 

• Policy ‘whiteboard’ – opportunity to 

shape RAF Mildenhall’s future with limited 

policy constraints 

• Airfield infrastructure – potential to 

specialise in aviation uses given the 

existing infrastructure, subject to demand 

assessment 

• Existing buildings – opportunity to 

generate commercial income stream to 

cross-fund other initiatives 

• Military legacy – contamination hotspots, 

some on-site infrastructure and services 

unsuitable for new uses, unestablished 

market location 

• Unknown future military requirements 

• Competition - from other sites in the area 

that have been strategically allocated.  

• Limited Current Employment market – 

the current market is focused around 

primary Services and Accommodation & 

Food therefore limited existing market with 

scalability.  

• Overreach – in terms of what is deliverable 

and achievable on a site of such scale given 

the number of competitor locations/ sites. 

  

  

Page 211



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 125  
 

APPENDIX 3 - OCCUPIER SITES & COMPETING LAND 
SUPPLY 

In order to assess the competition presented from other major strategic sites in Suffolk, C&W has 

compared a number of major sites to RAF Mildenhall in terms of the integration with existing markets, 

infrastructure constraints and site constraints. C&W has further analysed these sites and applied a 

ranking from 1 to 4 based on their relative deliverability and marketability compared to RAF Mildenhall 

(‘4’ reflects the maximum constraints and challenges and is deemed to reflect RAF Mildenhall’s 

position). A ranking of 1 is the most deliverable of the sites assessed (with relatively few market 

constraints and a strong existing local market). Key criteria that the sites have been assessed against 

are: 

 Integration with existing known property markets 

 Infrastructure constraints 

 Site constraints 

As evident from Table 25 there are a number of significant sites across Suffolk and Cambridgeshire 

that have been allocated for development and will compete with RAF Mildenhall for occupiers/ 

development potential. The strategy for RAF Mildenhall will need to increase the attractiveness of the 

site in order to make it preferable to the competing options. 

Table 25 – Strategic Sites and Competing Land Supply 

Site Size/type Comments Ranking in comparison 
to Mildenhall (1 to 4) 

 

Adastral Park 

2000 

• Strategic site – 2,000 

dwellings, hotel, open 

space and secondary 

school.  

• Greenfield (60%) and 

minerals pits. 

 

Strategic growth location in Local 

Plan: 

• No planning permission/brief.  

• Planning application expected in 

autumn 2016. 

• BT board reluctant to commit 

further funding until a 

development Partner on Board.   

Adastral Park is located in a superior 

position to Mildenhall along the A12 

and in close proximity to Ipswich. 

This gives the site greater access 

however like Mildenhall Adastral 

Park faces a number of market 

challenges.  

Rank 3  

Grange Farm, 

Newnham 

• Strategic site - 44 ha. 

• Medium to High 

Importance for the 

Green Belt.  

• Land is adjacent to Cambridge 

and identified as “very important” 

in a study of Cambridge. 

• Considered for Green Belt 

release in 2002. 

• Was previously proposed for 

development as part of the 

university but was rejected.  

• Issues of the site being 

ecologically important.  

Grange Farm is located in a superior 

position to Mildenhall being in close 

proximity to Cambridge and its 

services.  

Rank 2  

Downing 

Playing Fields 

• 5 ha. 

• Green belt.  

• Site is high importance to the city 

and medium importance to the 

Downing Playing fields whilst being 

close to Cambridge face challenges 

over access to services and 

Page 212



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 126  
 

Granchester 

Road  

green belt.  

• Site put forward by a third party 

and faces challenges over 

sustainability, and accessibility.  

conversion from existing Green Belt 

to new uses. However its proximity 

to Cambridge means that there is 

significant market demand.  

Rank 2  

Cambridge 

South East-

Land south 

Fulbourn Road 

r/o Peterhouse 

Technology 

Park extending 

south & west of 

Beechwood on 

Worts 

Causeway, 

land west of 

Babraham 

P&R 

• 117 ha. • Faces constraints as part of the 

site is affected by Cambridge 

Airport safeguarding constraints. 

• Concerns over loss of protected 

open space. 

• Air quality issues. 

• Poor access by transport. 

• Poor community integration.   

Land to the South East of 

Cambridge faces a number of 

constraints. Some of these are 

similar to Mildenhall (e.g. limited 

transport availability). However, 

Mildenhall is not constrained by 

green belt regulation or issues over 

air quality. Despite planning and 

access constraints due to the 

proximity to Cambridge there is 

significant housing demand in this 

area.  

Rank 3   

Bell School, 

Babraham 

Road 

• 8 ha. • Agricultural and playing fields, 

347 dwellings, 100 student beds. 

• Local Plan 2006 Allocation. 

Planning permission has been 

granted for 347 dwellings and 100‐ 

bed student living accommodation. 

This area has better connectivity 

than Mildenhall and is in close 

proximity to Cambridge and existing 

property markets. 

Rank 2 

Betjeman 

House 

• 1 ha. • Offices and 156 dwellings. 

• Cambridge local plan mixed use 

allocation. 

This land has been allocated under 

the Cambridge local plan for 

conversion from office to residential. 

Betjeman house is located on the 

A1307 with good transport links to 

Cambridge.  

Rank 1  

Clifton Road 

Area 

• 9 ha. • Industrial, office and leisure 

uses. 

•  Maximum capacity of 550 

dwellings at a range of densities 

to reflect residential character 2 

ha employment and leisure 

related uses. 

• There have been issues of 

surface water flooding requires 

mitigation. 

• Contamination requires 

remediation. 

• Open space requirements to 

reflect location adjacent to an 

area of open space deficiency. 

• Issues over Access onto Cherry 

Hinton Road subject to capacity 

analysis and assessment of links 

The site forms the Clifton Road Area 

of Major Change. There are a 

number of constraints and 

challenges to the site. The site is 

located near Cambridge Station and 

in close proximity to the City but 

there a number of challenges to 

overcome. RAF Mildenhall has 

some similar challenges over 

infrastructure and maintaining the 

local character during development. 

Rank 2 

 

Page 213



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 127  
 

into the wider area. 

•  New local plan allocation. 

Ipswich 

Garden 

Suburbs (IGS) 

• 3,500 homes. 

• Greenfield. 

• Strategic site.   

Planning Status: 

• Phase 1 allocated. 

• Phases 2 and 3 draft allocation. 

• No planning permission 

• Current planning application for 

1000 units. 

Main Challenges: 

• Main problem is infrastructure 

e.g. two rail bridges; ransom 

payments; sec school, primary 

schools; Country Park; 

highways. 

IGS is in a superior location to 

Mildenhall, allowing for the draw of 

people and services from Ipswich. 

However, unlike the sites located 

closer to Cambridge market demand 

is not as strong.   

Rank 3  

Chilton Woods 1250 dwellings 20 ha 

employment, 30 ha 

woodland and 3 ha 

education. 

Planning Status: 

• Mixed use Strategic site 

allocation (thereby not subject to 

CIL.). 

• Allocation in Core Strategy for 

1050 dwellings and 

employment- policy CS4 - 

planning application submitted 

by Suffolk County Council –start 

date 13/1/16 – (B/15/1718) and 

currently under consideration by 

LPA). 

Main Challenges: 

• Western access road (subject of 

current external bid to secure 

funding). 

• Potential power supply to 

employment land. 

Chilton Woods has similar 

challenges to Mildenhall as it faces 

issues over access and creating 

sustainable employment land, with 

limited access to existing markets. 

 Rank 4  

Sproughton Strategic Employment site 

of 50 ha.  

Planning Status: 

 Strategic employment site but 

Masterplan work is indicating 

that a mixed development may 

be possible. 

Main challenges: 

 Collaborative work advancing on 

a Masterplan for the site 

Infrastructure provision may 

cause viability issues. 

 Connectivity to Ipswich required 

in infrastructure terms. 

 Power supply issues may be an 

issue.  

Sproughton is located on the 

outskirts of Ipswich close to the A14. 

Therefore whilst it faces some 

infrastructure challenges it presents 

fewer site constraints than Mildenhall 

and can form links with the exiting 

Ipswich property market although 

this market is not as strong as the 

Cambridge market.  

Rank 3  

Snoasis 

Blakenham 

Mixed Use Development – 

including housing railway 

Planning: 

 Planning permission granted 

Located near Stowmarket between 

Bury St Edmunds and Ipswich. 

Page 214



A PROPOSAL FOR 

 

RAF Mildenhall  

 

Cushman & Wakefield | Forest Heath District Council | 128  
 

station and strategic 

leisure provision/ holiday 

lodge accommodation. 

subject to Section 106. 

Main Challenges: 

 Permission granted and part 

commenced-condition discharge 

and reserved matters 

submission outstanding. Large 

scale infrastructure provision 

involved; review likely. 

Whilst near the A14 would need 

improvement in order to provide 

adequate access, there are existing 

markets within the vicinity.  

Rank 3 

Stowmarket 

A14 Gateway 

(Mill Lane) 

Employment site - 57 ha. Planning: 

 Planning permission granted 

subject to Section 106. 

Main Challenges: 

 Permission granted and part 

commenced-condition discharge 

and reserved matters 

submission outstanding. Large 

scale infrastructure provision 

involved; review likely. 

Stowmarket is located in close 

proximity to the A14 and has its own 

station. However road access from 

the A14 to Stowmarket is limited and 

would need upgrading. Stowmarket 

is located between Bury St Edmunds 

and Ipswich and so existing markets 

to access is available although the 

strength of the market to absorb a 

large number of units is unknown.  

Rank 3 

North East 

Bury St 

Edmunds  

1,250 homes +relief road. Planning: 

• Masterplan adopted first phase. 

• Application received Dec 2015. 

Main Challenges: 

• Capacity.  

North East Bury St Edmunds has a 

large existing property market in the 

immediate proximity as well as 

established road network, this is in 

direct contrast to Mildenhall.   

Rank 2  

North West 

Haverhill 

1,150 homes. Planning: 

• Planning permission granted 

with a S106. 

Main Challenges: 

• No progress. 

• Infrastructure concerns. 

Haverhill faces similar challenges to 

Mildenhall as it is not located near 

any main road networks. It is 

however significantly closer to 

Cambridge than Mildenhall and 

therefore more likely to be supported 

by existing property market demand.  

Rank 3 

North East 

Haverhill  

2,500 homes.  Planning:  

• Masterplan Adopted February 

2016. 

• Application for 215 homes and 

Care home received. 

Main Challenges: 

• Viability.  

Haverhill faces similar challenges to 

Mildenhall as it is not located near 

any main road networks. It is 

however significantly closer to 

Cambridge than Mildenhall and 

therefore more likely to be supported 

by existing property market demand.  

Rank 3 

 

 

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 

RAF Mildenhall Vision and Prospectus – public consultation summary 

A five-week public consultation on the Vision and Prospectus for RAF Mildenhall 

took place between 6 September and 11 October. A range of engagement 

activities were undertaken to raise awareness of the project and to encourage 

residents, businesses and other stakeholder groups to have their say. Examples 

of those activities are given below.  

Communication activity 

The consultation and the methods of responding were promoted through a 

variety of channels to raise awareness and encourage responses to the online 

survey. The channels included: 

- West Suffolk website 
- Social media; twitter and facebook 
- Press releases to local media 

- Emails to voluntary sector organisations, town and parish councils, elected 
members and the Council email distribution list for RAF Mildenhall 

- Documents on public display at public locations; district office, parish office, 
bus station, library, swimming pool 

 

Both Facebook and Twitter were used to promote the public consultation. Three 

posts from the Forest Heath Facebook account were shared by 207 users 

creating a reach of over 23,800 Facebook accounts. The highest reach of a 

single post was 12,173 Facebook accounts. The Forest Heath twitter account 

published 60 tweets about the consultation and the maximum reach of a single 

tweet was just over 2400 twitter users. 

The Facebook post was shared with numerous community groups in an effort to 

inform and engage with the communities surrounding Mildenhall. Below are the 

Facebook groups that were shared with: 

Brandon 

1. Brandon Community Union 

2. Parent/toddler things to do in 

Brandon, Suffolk 

3. Brandon People 

Mildenhall 

1. Mildenhall Ads 

2. Mildenhall Community Group 

3. Mildenhall People 

Newmarket 

1. Newmarket Ads  

2. Newmarket businesses 

3. Newmarket Facebook 

Neighbourhood Watch 

4. Newmarket Suffolk Goodwill 

Group 

5. Newmarket what’s wrong with it 

and how can we fix it 

6. Studlands Residents 

Forest Heath rural 

1. Barton Mills 2. Exning Community Page 

Page 217



Appendix C 

3. Lakenheath Community Group 

4. Lakenheath People 

5. A safer Lakenheath 

6. Moulton Village, Suffolk 

7. Red Lodge Community Group 

8. Red Lodge Community Page 

9. West Row 

 

In addition to the social media campaign details of the consultation were also 

emailed to stakeholders such as elected members, parish and town councils, 

local businesses, community and voluntary organisations and residents that had 

attended the Council-led RAF Mildenhall engagement sessions and agreed to be 

added to the email list.   

Consultation events 

Forest Heath hosted two public drop-in events, one at the District Offices and 

one at the Jubilee Centre in Mildenhall. The drop-in events were held in separate 

weeks between 4pm and 8pm on a Wednesday and a Thursday. The events were 

advertised through social media and press releases. Attendees at the sessions 

were provided details of both the Vision and Prospectus and the consultation. 

Representatives from Forest Heath District Council, Suffolk County Council and 

the New Anglia LEP were available to answer questions.  

In addition to this Forest Heath worked with the Chamber of Commerce to host 

an event for local businesses. Speakers on the panel at the event were Matthew 

Darroch-Thompson, Chair of Suffolk Chamber in Newmarket & District, Jill 

Korwin, Director of Forest Heath District Council, Francis Truss, Cushman & 

Wakefield and Richard Alecock member of Suffolk Chamber in Newmarket & 

District. Delegates were then given the opportunity to ask the panel questions 

regarding the Vision and Prospectus. 

Written responses 

An online consultation was hosted on the West Suffolk website and people were 

encouraged to read the Vision and Prospectus document before completing the 

survey. The Vision and Prospectus and consultation document was made 

available for collection from several locations across Mildenhall and on request to 

make it as accessible as widely possible.  

In addition to the online and paper survey people were also able to respond to 

the consultation in email, in writing or through social media. This enabled people 

who felt constrained by the online/paper survey to express their views in the 

order and format that they wished to. All written responses were reviewed and a 

summary of the responses is included with the summary of comments received 

through the online/paper survey.  

The survey was opened with a question about the respondent interest in 

responding to the survey, for example as a business owner or a local resident, 

and then asked four questions regarding the Vision and Prospectus and offered 

the respondent the chance to fill in a free text box at the end of each question. 

At the end of the survey the respondent was given the chance to provide their 

contact details to be used for future RAF Mildenhall updates and consultations.   

Page 218



Appendix C 

In total 106 online and hardcopy survey responses were received. It is important 

to note that those who responded to the survey were self-selecting and 

therefore not statistically representative of the population.  

1. What best describes your interest/response? 

 

 

 

  

Page 219



Appendix C 

 

2. Do you support the vision for RAF Mildenhall? 

 

Additional comments from respondents who selected ‘yes’. The responses were 

grouped into themes as shown below:  

 
0 1 2 3 4 5 6

Welcome the opportunities  presented

New homes for local people and people wanting to get on
the housing ladder

Restrict the number of homes

New business and job opportunities

It is important that infrastructure requirements are
identified, understood and planned for

Try to attract the aviation industry of the future to the
site

Other

Vision =  'yes'

Page 220



Appendix C 

Additional comments from respondents who selected ‘no’. The responses were 

grouped into themes as shown below: 

 

Additional comments from respondents who selected ‘don’t know’. The 

responses were grouped into themes as shown below: 

 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Main use for the site should be aviation; cargo or
passenger

Uncertainty whether the U.S. will actually withdraw from
RAF Mildenhall

Industrial estate has empty units, why extend it?

Local business won't be able to compete

Do not need or support more housing on this site

There should be more housing on the site

It would be a commuter town for Cambridge employees

Infrastructure would not cope and must be planned for in
advance

The site is too contaminated

It would change the rural character of the area

Premature proposal. Should be included as part of local
plan

Other

Vision = 'no'

0 1 2 3 4 5 6

Main use for the site should be aviation; cargo or
passenger

Too much focus on aviation

Unsure regarding businesses being attracted to this area

Concerned regarding potential loss of rural village identity

Infrastructure would not cope and must be planned for in
advance

Concern that new properties will all be 'buy to let'

Housing isn't needed when a lot of properties will be
made available after the USVF leave

Other

Vision: 'don't know'

Page 221



Appendix C 

 

3. Do you agree or disagree with the preferred scenario for RAF Mildenhall? 

 

Additional comments from respondents who selected ‘agree’. The responses 

were grouped into themes as shown below: 

 

  

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5

Aviaion use should be a freight hub

More shops and leisure facilities are needed

Restrict the number of homes

Great opportunity for increased number of homes and a
thriving and vibrant community

Like the idea of public open space

Must retain village identities

Homes too close to the runway.

Land contamination must be looked at first

Scenario: 'agree'

Page 222



Appendix C 

Additional comments from respondents who selected ‘disagree’. The responses 

were grouped into themes as shown below: 

 

Additional comments from respondents who selected ‘don’t know’. The 

responses were grouped into themes as shown below: 

 

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Main use for the site should be aviation; cargo or
passenger

Oppose inclusion of an aviation use.  Housing should be
the main land use.

Will the USVF share airspace with non-military flight
movements?

Industrial estate has empty units, why extend it?

Employment area is too small and housing area too big

Would be a Commuter town for Cambridge

Agree that part of the site should be used for housing and
to generate employment

Infrastructure would not cope and must be planned for in
advance

Homes too close to the runway

Site proposed for public open space and housing contains
assets that would be ideal for aviation use

Site is too contaminated

Other

Scenario: 'disagree'

0 0.5 1 1.5 2 2.5

Main use for the site should be aviation; cargo or
passenger

Would like to see more land used for recreation/ leisure
use

Depends on the proportion of land allocation; aviation to
have the highest

Is there demand for aviation mainetance in this area?

Unsure regarding businesses being attracted to this area

Plan seems sensible. However it needs to be flexible if the
aviation use isn't successful.

Infrastructure would not cope and must be planned for in
advance

Scenario: 'don't know'

Page 223



Appendix C 

 
4. Do you agree or disagree with the range of potential land uses that have 

been assessed? 

 

 
5. Do you agree or disagree with the preferred delivery options? 

 

Summary of other comments received as part of the online consultation 

or through social media and email:  

Aviation: 

The main use for the site should be aviation, maximising the existing facilities 
and infrastructure on the site. 

A regional airport or cargo hub releasing capacity at Heathrow, Gatwick and 
Stansted.  

There is no practical use for an aviation use and Mildenhall can’t compete in 
this space.  

 

 

 Page 224



Appendix C 

Jobs: 

Encouraging that there's a vision to create new and varied employment 
opportunities in the area 

More land should be allocated for employment use. 

The future use for the site should be a mix of business, housing and services 

The manufacturing industry should be the focus of employment space as this 
is the dominant industry in Mildenhall and suits the labour skills available in 

the area.  

The vision for jobs must be in the industry of the 2020s and bring technical 

jobs to the area 

The level of potential jobs proposed in the consultation document does not 

reflect the empty units on the industrial estate. 

 

Housing 

Affordable housing should be provided relative to the needs of the local area. 

Jobs should be the priority and housing should follow so that Mildenhall doesn't 

become a commuter town for Cambridge. 

Mix of housing, business and services is wise but the space needs to be 

flexible to change with need. 

The properties currently being occupied by USVF need to be considered as part 

of the housing need assessment 

 

Infrastructure 

Transport links will be required, for example improvements to five-ways 

roundabout, road links from the A11 to the airbase and rail from Shippea Hill 

Improvements to the roads should be considered in advance of any 

construction traffic needing to use them.   

An assessment of utility infrastructure will be required so that the companies 

can plan in advance of the airbase closure. 

The schools in the area are at capacity therefore any development will need to 

include new schools. 

There will be a need for up-front investment to ensure that supply of key 

infrastructure takes place at the start of the project. 

 

Contamination 

A full and thorough survey of the land needs to be completed immediately before 
any more proposals or planning work is done to determine the cost of 
decontamination. 

 

Social/ leisure 

The existing leisure facilities, gym, bowling, cinema etc. should be retained for 

community use. 

Housing development should have a retail development of its own. 

Trails, bike paths, and play-areas should be included as part of the public open 
space. 

The site should be left to become a large nature reserve. 

Would it be possible for the old runways and perimiter track to be used for low 

budget motor sport? 

 

Locality identity Page 225



Appendix C 

The market town, village and rural identity should be retained as part of any 
future plans. 

 

Other comments 

The possible reversal of the USVF decision should not be discounted from the 

plans. 

The site should be offered to British, UN or EU forces as a base. 

The future of the site should be included as part of the local plan consultation. 

 

 

 

Page 226



COU.FH.16.025 

Extraordinary 
Council 

 
Title of Report: Community Governance 

Review 

Report No: COU/FH/16/025 

Report to and 

date/s: 
Council 22 November 2016 

Portfolio holder: Not applicable – electoral matters are not a Cabinet 

function 
 

Lead officer: Fiona Osman 
Elections Manager 

Tel: 01284 757105 
Email: Fiona.osman@westsuffolk.gov.uk  
 

Purpose of report: To update Councillors on the timetable for a 
Community Governance Review (further to the report 

to Council in June 2016) and on the timing of 
consultation on terms of reference. 

 

Recommendation: It is recommended that the content of this report 

is noted.   
 

Consultation:  Internal and external consultation will be a 

major element of the review, and the 
terms of reference will be based on the 
first stage of consultation. 

Alternative option(s):  Not to carry out a review before the 2019 
elections. 

Implications:  

Are there any financial implications? 

If yes, please give details 

Yes ☐    No ☒ 

 Depending on the method of 

consultation chosen, it should be 
possible to carry out the reviews 

with very little direct additional 
expenditure. 

Are there any staffing implications? 
If yes, please give details 

Yes ☐    No ☒ 

 

Are there any ICT implications? If 
yes, please give details 

Yes ☐    No ☒ 

 

Page 227

Agenda Item 6

mailto:Fiona.osman@westsuffolk.gov.uk


COU.FH.16.025 

Are there any legal and/or policy 
implications? If yes, please give 

details 

Yes ☒    No ☐ 

 If agreed, review would be carried 
out under existing legislation and 
guidance 

Are there any equality implications? 
If yes, please give details 

Yes ☐    No ☒ 

 

Risk/opportunity assessment: (potential hazards or opportunities affecting 

corporate, service or project objectives) 
Risk area Inherent level of 

risk (before 

controls) 

Controls Residual risk (after 

controls) 

Parishes are unable to 
have any proposals 
for changes to their 
electoral 

arrangements 
considered before the 

next elections 

High Carry out a review Low 

Electoral 
arrangements 
between parish and 

district get out of step 

High Carry out a 
Community 
Governance Review 

to coincide with the 
Electoral Review. 

Low 

Review does not 
reflect local views 

Medium Consult on terms of 
reference 

Low 

Ward(s) affected: All Ward/s 

Background papers: 

(all background papers are to be 
published on the website and a link 
included) 

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/policy-and-

publications/guidance.    

 

Documents attached: None 
 

 

  

Page 228

https://www.lgbce.org.uk/policy-and-publications/guidance
https://www.lgbce.org.uk/policy-and-publications/guidance


COU.FH.16.025 

1. Key issues and reasons for recommendation(s) 
 

1.1 In June 2016, Council agreed to request the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England (LGBCE) to carry out an Electoral Review of its own 

electoral arrangements before the 2019 elections.  The Commission has agreed 
to that review taking place, and a start time in summer/autumn 2017 is 

expected.   
 

1.2 At the same meeting, the Council agreed that officers could consult on the terms 
of a reference of a Community Governance Review (CGR) of parish electoral 

arrangements before the 2019 elections; the timing of this CGR to be before or 
after the LGBCE’s review of the district council, depending on the timetable 

chosen by the Commission (since the two reviews cannot overlap significantly).   
 

1.3 In the June report it was envisaged that the Commission would finish its 

Electoral Review by early 2018, with a CGR immediately following.  We now 
know that the Commission will not be likely to finish its own review until later in 
2018, making it very difficult for FHDC to conclude a CGR, with full consultation, 

before November of that year (which is the cut-off date for electoral reviews 
before the 2019 elections).   
 

1.4 Accordingly, it has been discussed with the LGBCE that the Council should, 
instead, carry out its CGR in the early part of 2017, and conclude it before any 
consultation is undertaken by the Commission on new arrangements for district 

wards. 
 

1.5 Since it is already known that some parishes wish to propose changes to their 

electoral arrangements before the 2019 elections this timetable would appear to 
be the strongest available option.   This means, as an advantage, that the CGR 
can feed directly into the district electoral review, which is the normal sequence 

of events (since parishes are the building blocks of district wards).   However, it 
will also mean that there is not scope to take into account the outcome of the 

local plan process and, if applicable (which is not implicit), this may require 
separate CGRs at a later date, after the 2019 elections.   
 

1.6 The first step in a CGR is to consult on its terms of reference.  Technically, there 

is no new decision needed by the Council, since officers were authorised to 
determine the timing of any such consultation based on the decision of the 

Commission.  However, since there is a change in what was envisaged, this 
report has been presented for information.    

 
1.7 The consultation on the terms of reference will start immediately and run until 

the early new year.  A report will then be brought to Council in February 2017, 

at which time councillors will agree the terms of reference and some draft 
recommendations to test through formal consultation in spring 2017.  The 

Council will take its final decision based on that consultation in summer 2017.  
Orders to implement any changes will be made in 2018, and they will come into 
effect on 1 April 2019. 
 

1.8 Consultation on the terms of reference will be targeted at stakeholders i.e. 
parish and town councillors, district and county councillors, the MP and partner 

organisations.  However, since all views are welcomed, parish and town councils 
will be asked to publicise the consultation and FHDC will also issue its request 
for views through its website and conventional and social media.  Consultation 

on the terms of reference is important because, once they are adopted, new 
issues cannot be easily added to the review. In advance of a CGR, some 

Page 229



COU.FH.16.025 

common questions ward councillors may receive are: 
 

1. What can be looked at in a CGR? 
All electoral issues affecting parishes:  parish boundaries; creation or abolition of 

parishes; changing from a parish meeting to a council, and vice-versa; name of a 
parish; number of councillors; creating parish wards; etc.  

 

2. Can we look at parish governance outside of Forest Heath? 
No.  A CGR can only look at parish matters within the boundary of Forest Heath 
District.  However, the process can identify issues affecting the FHDC and/or Suffolk 

boundary, and these can be raised with the Local Government Boundary 
Commission for England who may choose to look at them in a future Principal Area 

Boundary Review. 
 

3. Who decides what is looked at in a CGR? 

The district council, although local communities can require a CGR is carried out via 
a petition from local electors. 

 

4. How does the district council decide what to include? 

The district council may be aware of issues that already require examination, 
typically associated with planned or recent development, or minor electoral 

anomalies revealed through the conduct of elections (e.g. properties split by 
boundaries) and it may make its own decision to include those issues in a CGR.   In 
addition, the Council will consult on terms of reference for the CGR, which will allow 

parishes and electors themselves to identify the issues they want examined in their 
own communities.   

 

5. What if parishes don’t want a CGR? 
Ultimately this is a decision for the district council.  However, the district council will 
only want to carry out CGR where it has good reason to believe one is needed or 

desired and, for this reason, it is quite possible that some parishes will not be 
involved in a CGR.  Also, carrying out a CGR does not imply change must take 

place, only that the current electoral arrangements are properly examined to see if 
there is evidence for making a change.   In some instances (most typically 
boundary issues) a review may be requested by only one of the affected parishes, 

or by the electors themselves.  A parish cannot veto such a review taking place.  
Generally, in such instances, the district council would use a CGR to test the issue 

through consultation with both parishes and the affected electors.    
 

6. How do parishes influence the outcome of a CGR? 

Through the various stages of consultation, and by engaging their own electorates 
in their submissions.  A CGR should be evidence led, and parishes will want to 
demonstrate to Forest Heath how what they are arguing (change or no change) 

meets the criteria in the national guidance (broadly speaking, reflecting community 
identity and life and providing effective and convenient local government) and the 

wishes of their community.     
 

7. What if two parishes disagree on the way forward? 
Both parishes will be treated on an equal basis in the review, and the district council 

will make an independent decision about whether any change is justified, based on 
the quality of evidence received during the review (see answer above).   In the case 

of a boundary change where existing electors are directly affected, the district 
council will also normally seek their view as well, and this could have a significant 
bearing on the council’s recommendations and final decisions.  

 

Page 230


	Agenda
	4 Norfolk and Suffolk Devolution Agreement
	COU.FH.16.023 Devolution - Appendix A
	COU.FH.16.023 Devolution - Appendix B (part 1)
	COU.FH.16.023 Devolution - Appendix B (part 2)

	5 RAF Mildenhall Vision and Prospectus
	COU.FH.16.024 RAF Mildnehall - Appendix A
	COU.FH.16.024 RAF Mildnehall - Appendix B
	COU.FH.16.024 RAF Mildnehall - Appendix C

	6 Community Governance Review



